

Ph.D in Biology XXXV Cycle

Innovative methods for marine research and automated culture of aquatic model organisms

Coordinator Prof. Sergio Esposito **Candidate** Francesca Glaviano

Tutor

Dr. Valerio Zupo, Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Naples Dr. Maria Costantini, Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Naples Prof. Anna Di Cosmo, Università Federico II, Naples

ACADEMIC YEAR 2021/2022

Table of contents

General introduction	1
Aims and structure of the thesis	9
Summary of the thesis	16
Section 1	32
Chapter 1: Management and Sustainable Exploitation of Marine	
Environments through Smart	33
1.1 Monitoring and Automation	33
1.2 Current Policies for Environmental Monitoring and Conservation	34
1.3 Sensing and e-Noses	35
1.4 Autonomous Vehicles and Monitoring Platforms	38
1.5 Experimental Data	39
1.6 Autonomous Monitoring Networks	41
1.7 Marine Permanent Infrastructures	42
1.8 IoT Hardware Modules	44
1.9 The IoT Applied to Marine Environmental Monitoring	46
1.10 Monitoring Applied to Aquaculture and Fishery Productions	47
1.11 Conclusions	49
Chapter 2: Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science	60
2.1 Introduction: culture of Crustaceans for ornamental market,	
research, and aquaculture purposes	61
2.1.2 How automation and digitalization support aquaculture	63
2.1.3 Automatic feeding system for aquaculture	64
2.1.4 Automatic live food production and administration	67
2.1.5 Automatic monitoring and control of shrimp aquaculture	69
2.1.6 The internet of things revolution	71
Section 2	77
Chapter 3: Morphologic and genic effects of organic pollution on the	
reproductive physiology of Paracentrotus lividus Lmk: a mesocosm	
experiment	78
3 Introduction	84
3.1 Materials and methods	86
3.1.1 Biotic and abiotic variables	87
3.1.2 In vitro fertilization for morphological and molecular analyses	88
3.1.3 Histological analyses	88
3.1.4 Variations of gene expression	88
3.1.5 Data collection and statistical analyses	89
3.2 Results	91
3.2.1 Seawater chemistry	91

3.2.2 Survival rates and water conditions	94
3.2.3 Efficiency of in-vitro fertilization tests and gonadosomatic	
indices	96
3.2.4 Histological analyses	98
3.2.5 Stress genes	100
3.2.6 Development and differentiation genes	101
3.2.7 Detoxification genes	101
3.3 Discussion	104
Chapter 4: Gene Expression Detects the Factors Influencing the	
Reproductive Success and the Survival Rates of <i>Paracentrotus lividus</i>	112
4 Introduction	113
4 Introduction 4.1. Easters Influencing Lemma Development	114
4.1 Factors influencing Larval Development	115
4.2 Results	116
4.2.1 Genes Involved in Stress Response	119
4.3 Discussion	121
4.4 Materials and Method	123
4.4.1 Gamete Collection and Embryo Culture	123
4.4.2 Statistical Analyses	124
4.4.3 RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis	124
4.4.4 Real Time qPCR Experiments	124
Chapter 5: Two Benthic Diatoms, <i>Nanofrustulum shiloi</i> and <i>Striatella</i> <i>unipunctata</i> , Encapsulated in Alginate Beads, Influence the Reproductive Efficiency of <i>Paracentrotus lividus</i> by Modulating the	
Gene Expression	129
5 Introduction	130
5.1 Results	132
5.1.1 Species Identification by Morphological and Molecular	
Analyses	132
5.1.2 Diatom's Encapsulation	133
5.1.3 Effects of Feeding Tests on Sea Urchin Progeny	133
5.1.4 Gene Expression by Real Time (RT)-qPCR	133
5.2 Discussion	137
5.2.1 Effects of Feeding Tests by Morphological Observations	137
5.2.2 Effects of Feeding Tests on Gene Pathways	137
5.3 Materials and Methods	140
5.3.1 Ethics Statement	140
5.3.2 Isolation of S. unipunctata and Culturing	140
5.3.3 Species Characterization	110
5.3.4 Morphological Analysis of Frustules	140
5.3.5 Molecular Identification of Diatom Species	140 140
	140 140 140
5.3.6 Diatom Encapsulation in Alginate Beads	140 140 140 141
5.3.6 Diatom Encapsulation in Alginate Beads 5.3.7 Feeding Gametes Collection Evaluation of	140 140 140 141

5.3.8 Abnormal Plutei

5.3.9 Molecular Analysis on Sea Urchin Plutei	141
5.3.10 Statistical Analysis	142
5.4 Conclusions	
	142
Chapter 6: Emerging molecular approaches as an alternative to	147
G Introduction	14/
6.1 Metarials and methods	148
6.1.1. Samples collection and culture	150
6.1.2 DNA extraction and aDNA sunthasis	151
6.1.2 KINA extraction and CDINA synthesis	151
6.1.5 Gene expression by Real- Time qPCR	154
6.1.4 Statistical analysis	155
6.2 1 Evaluation of quantity/quality of DNA	155
6.2.1 Evaluation of quantity/quanty of KINA	155
6.2.2 Gene expression	15/
6.2.3 Discussion	158
6.3 Supplementary materials	163
Chapter 7: Automated culture techniques applied to a continuous	
rearing of an ascidian <i>Botryllus schlosseri</i>	178
7 Introduction	179
7.1 Model organisms: rearing for scientific research	179
7.1.1 Botryllus schlosseri as model organism	180
7.1.2 Culture systems for research purposes	182
7.1.3 Aims	183
7.2 Materials and methods	184
7.2.3 Collection of colonies	185
7.2.4 Culture systems	185
7.2.5 Feeding	188
7.2.6 Experimental set-up	189
7.2.7 Water parameters	191
7.3 Results	192
7.3.1 Water parameters	192
7.3.2 Juveniles' survival rate and health status	193
7.3.3 Adult growth rates and health status	195
7.4 Discussion	196
Chapter 8: A smart automated culture system for aquatic model	
organisms tested on the isopod Idotea baltica basteri	204
8 Introduction	206
8.1 Automatic culture of model organisms	206
8.1.1 State of art	208
8.1.2 Development of the smart automatic culture system	210

8.1.3 Programming with CRBasic	214
Culture system and sensors	
8.1.4 Logic configuration of the system	217
8.1.5 Water parameters	221
8.2 Experimental Evaluation	221
8.3 Discussion	223
8.4 Idotea baltica as a model organism	224
8.4.1 Experimental plan	227
Section 3	232
Chapter 8: Lower hypoxia thresholds can affect behaviour in early life	000
stages of cuttlefish	233
9.1 Introduction	234
9.1.1 Biodiversity response to climate change: physiology and	236
912 Senia officinalis	230
9.2 Materials and methods	230
9.2 Matchais and methods 9.2.1 Collections	240
9.2.7 Concetions 9.2.7 Experimental system	241
9.2.2 Experimental system 9.2.3 Behavioural tests	244
9.2.5 Denavioural tests 9.2.4 Statistical analyses	244
9.3 Results	245
0.3.1 Ventilation rate	245
9.3.2 Rehavioural response choices to the stimulus	245
9.4 Discussion	240
	249
Section 4	256
General conclusions	257

General introduction

The research of scientific knowledge refers to the process of discovering new information, understanding phenomena, and developing theories through the use of scientific methods (Edquist, 2004). This process involves observing, measuring, and experimenting to collect data, analysing that data to draw conclusions, and testing those conclusions through further experimentation and observation (Edguist, 2004; Hubbell et al., 2018). Scientific research is often conducted by scientists in universities, government agencies, and private companies, with the goal of expanding human knowledge and understanding the natural world (Beck et al., 2022; Emerson, 2018). This process is often iterative and collaborative, with scientists building on previous knowledge and working with peers to validate and improve upon their findings. Moreover, in the context where technology and knowledge are interconnected, an economy of expanding knowledge emerges, reinterpreting it as a resource as valuable as traditional productive factors such as property, labour, and capital (Emerson, 2018). Knowledge becomes a concrete resource that can be mobilized to gain a competitive edge (Devenport and Prusak, 1998); acquiring an economic value that makes it objective and marketable. Consequently, new issues constantly arise as: i) how to improve the tools to expand it; ii) how to use and reuse acquired knowledge; iii) how knowledge production occurs, and how scientific communities create their own objects of knowledge within their scientific production fields (Gherardi, Nicolini, 2004).

With the term "approach" in scientific research we refer to the methodology and strategy used to conduct research in order to gain new insights and understanding. So the scientific method is a systematic and logical approach to investigate a phenomenon, acquiring new knowledge, or correcting and integrating previous knowledge (Asrizal et al., 2018).

Scientific approach is widely considered as a reliable method for gaining new insights and understanding, but it can have several limitations. One of the main limitations is the so called "bias", as the researcher's own biases and preconceptions can influence the design of the study, the interpretation of the data, and the conclusions drawn (Rosli et al., 2021). Additionally, scientific research is often focused on a specific question or problem, and the results may not be generalizable to other populations or situations. The replicability of scientific findings is also an issue, as scientific findings are not always easily replicated, which can call into question the validity of the original results (Pinto, 2019; Schiffer, 2005). Furthermore, scientific research can be highly time-consuming and *expensive*: not all the questions can be answered, sometimes due to lack of right resources (Schiffer, 2005). Moreover, even when scientific research has been conducted, the understanding of a subject might still be limited by the current state of knowledge, or the methods used. This can occur for several reasons. For example, the current state of knowledge in a particular field may not be advanced enough to fully understand a complex phenomenon. Additionally, the methods used in scientific research are not always able to provide a complete understanding of the subject at hand. Additionally, the limitations of the available technology or equipment may also affect the accuracy or precision of the measurements. Furthermore, certain research methods have limitations in terms of what they can reveal about a subject. For example, observational studies can provide information about correlations between variables, but cannot establish causality. As well, some research methods are better suited for certain types of questions than others (Schiffer, 2005).

It's important to note that the scientific approach is continuously evolving and improving, and scientists are constantly working to address these limitations and improve the quality of research (Milojevic, 2014). In fact, it has undergone significant changes in recent years,

1

driven by advances in approaches, technology and changes in funding and policy (Hubbell et al., 2018). Consequently, by combining different methods and techniques, and by incorporating new technologies, scientists are able to gain a more complete understanding of the subject. This is where innovation in scientific research can play a key role, as they can lead to new discoveries and a deeper understanding of the studied subject (Beck et al., 2022). New and innovative approaches can also lead to the development of new technologies and methodologies, having a significant impact in a range of fields and can help researchers overcome obstacles and limitations in their work, opening up new areas of research that were previously impossible. They can take many forms over technological and methodological improvements such as multidisciplinary approach, the use of large data sets and machine learning, or adopting Open Science (Hemminger et al., 2015). For example, new technologies such as CRISPR gene editing or super-resolution microscopy can enable researchers to conduct experiments and make observations that were not previously possible (Kalajdzic & Schetelig, 2017). Researchers from different fields can collaborate to tackle problems that cannot be solved by a single discipline, using techniques or theories from one field to make new discoveries in another field. By using large data sets and machine learning, scientists can analyse and make predictions from large amounts of data, which can speed up scientific discoveries (Qiu et al., 2016). Additionally, by sharing data, methods and results more openly, researchers can increase efficiency, trust, and reproducibility in the scientific process. In conclusion, innovation is important because it can open up new areas of investigation and can lead to new and unexpected discoveries that can have a significant impact on our understanding of the world (Djeflat, 2011; Kirkman, 1996).

Mainly, scientific research relies on traditional protocols. They involve the use of established methods and techniques within a single field of study to investigate a research

question. These methods are typically well-established and have been validated through previous studies (Maul, 2017). A key aspect of traditional protocols is replication, which is the process of repeating a study using the same methods to confirm or disprove the original findings. Nonetheless, traditional protocols can act as limits in a number of ways (Maul, 2017; Payne, 2006). They may limit the types of questions that can be asked or the methods that can be used to answer those questions. They may also limit the flexibility of the research design and not allow for adjustments based on new information or unexpected findings (Kira & A. Rendell, 2017). This can make it difficult to adapt to changing circumstances and can result in missed opportunities for important discoveries. Additionally, traditional protocols can create biases in the research by favoring certain types of studies or outcomes over others (Dwan et al., 2008). Studies that are more likely to produce statistically significant results may be given more weight than those that do not. This can skew the overall findings of the research and lead to inaccurate conclusions (Robinson-Cimpian, 2014). Several potential solutions reduce the limitations linked to traditional research protocols. Some of these include adopting a more flexible research design based on innovative methods.

To encourage interdisciplinary collaboration, bringing together ideas and approaches from different fields, can help as well to break down the limitations of traditional protocols and explore new and innovative approaches (Hedesan & Tendler, 2017). Moreover, replication must be promoted by reproducing previous studies, not only with the well-established protocols but also integrating new methods, to confirm or refute previous findings and build a more robust body of evidence. Another potential solution could be promoting diversity in the research community, to help to minimize the potential for bias and increase the diversity of perspectives and ideas in the field. It is worth mentioning that many of these solutions are already in place or in progress (Chang & Chen, 2004).

Multidisciplinary, in particular, is a solution increasingly popular in the modern scientific research. Innovative multidisciplinary approaches involve the collaboration of researchers from multiple fields of study to investigate a research question. This approach allows for the integration of different perspectives and methods, which can lead to a more comprehensive understanding of the research question. Multidisciplinary research can also lead to the development of new and innovative methods and techniques (Edquist, 2004).

The integration of different perspectives, methods, and techniques can also help to validate findings and increase the robustness of the research. Multidisciplinary research can be applied in almost every scientific field, and it often leads to more comprehensive, in-depth and complex research projects, opening new areas of research and new opportunities for discovery (Mohs & Greig, 2017). This approach can also help to address complex, real-world problems that cannot be effectively addressed by one discipline, and it can also lead to more effective and efficient use of resources.

Several new multidisciplinary approaches in biology research are gaining popularity (Bowes & Jaffee, 2013). An example is the systems biology, which aims at understanding the interactions between different parts of a biological system, such as a cell or organism, by studying the system as a whole (Chuang et al., 2010). This approach involves the use of mathematical and computational methods to model complex biological systems and analyse large amounts of data (Oussous et al., 2018). Another possible approach is represented by synthetic biology, which involves the design new devices and systems that do not exist in nature. This field combines the principles of engineering and biology to

create new biological tools and systems for a variety of applications, such as medicine and biotechnology (Endy, 2005).

An additional new multidisciplinary approach is the field of bioinformatics which uses computational methods to analyse and interpret biological data(Wieser et al., 2011). This field combines biology, computer science, and statistics to analyse and understand biological data, such as DNA sequencing data, gene expression data, and protein structure data (Zrimec et al., 2021). It plays important roles in understanding the complexity of genome and other omics data in biology (Grigoriev et al., 2021). This is a growing method that combines engineering methods and advanced technologies to investigate biological systems.(Day, 2005)

New methods and approaches to improve marine research

Marine research is a prime example of the diverse and complex nature of scientific research, as it encompasses a wide range of disciplines and is critical for understanding the ocean and its impact on the planet (Muller-Karger et al., 2018). In fact, ocean cover more than 70% of the Earth's surface and play a vital role in regulating the Earth's climate, providing food and resources for human populations (Penesyan et al., 2010). Marine ecosystems are vital to the health of the planet and play a crucial role in maintaining the Earth's biodiversity (Lacroix et al., 2016). However, the study of these ecosystems has been facing significant challenges due to the vastness and complexity of the oceans, as well as the difficulties in accessing and observing marine organisms and habitats (Lacroix et al., 2016).

In recent years, innovative methods and technology improvements have played a crucial role in advancing our understanding of marine ecosystems, including advances in underwater imaging, remote sensing, and sensor technology, automated culture systems as well as the applications of these technologies in various fields of marine research (Glaviano et al., 2022). Underwater imaging technology has been applied in the study of population dynamics, ecosystem function, and conservation of marine organisms, such as coral reef fishes and invertebrates, as well as in the study of deep-sea habitats, such as hydrothermal vents and cold seeps (Chen et al., 2017).

Remote sensing technology has been applied in the study of oceanographic processes, like ocean currents and temperature, as well as the distribution and abundance of marine organisms, such as phytoplankton and zooplankton which are important components of marine food webs(Tilstone et al., 2012).

Sensor technology has also been an important tool, particularly for long-term monitoring of oceanographic dynamics. Autonomous underwater gliders and moorings have been used to collect long-term data sets on physical and biological oceanographic variables (Franks et al., 2013).

Moreover, automated culture systems have revolutionized the way aquatic model organisms are cultured, allowing for precise control of environmental conditions and high-throughput experimentation (Horinouchi et al., 2014). This technology has been particularly useful for aquaculture, but also for the culture of aquatic model organisms for scientific purposes. Model organisms are species that have been chosen for their particular genetic, physiological, or behavioural characteristics that make them useful tools for scientific research (Baldridge et al., 2021). These organisms are used to study biological processes that are common to other species, including humans. By studying a model organism, scientists can gain insight into the underlying mechanisms of a wide range of biological phenomena, including development, genetics, disease, and evolution (Brenner, 2003). For this purpose, automated culture systems can provide precise control of physical and chemical parameters such as temperature, light, and nutrients, which

allows for the accurate simulation of in situ conditions (Mutalipassi, Maibam, et al., 2018).

Recent developments in technology have also enabled the creation of more compact culture systems, which are particularly useful for the culture of small aquatic organisms, such as planktonic larvae. These miniaturized systems reduce the need for large amounts of culture media and provide greater control over the culture environment, resulting in more precise and efficient experimentation (Mutalipassi, Maibam, et al., 2018).

Aims and structure of the thesis

According to all these considerations, two main approaches for promoting innovation in scientific research were attempted in this thesis: i) Optimizing innovative protocols within multidisciplinary studies, and ii) Implementing automatic culture techniques for aquatic model organisms.

On the overall, the primary objective of this thesis was to address the following research question: "How can innovative methods and automated culture techniques be used to improve the efficiency, accuracy, and reproducibility of marine research?"

Consequently, the specific purposes of this thesis were:

- A) To explore the possibilities of incorporating new techniques and a multidisciplinary approach by bringing together different fields of engineering, pharmacology, and molecular sciences to face research questions as previously approached.
- B) To develop the use of automatic culture techniques for aquatic model organisms to improve the efficiency and reproducibility of research experiments.

In recent years, there has been a growing interest in the use of smart monitoring and automation in the management and sustainable exploitation of marine environments (Glaviano et al., 2022). This is driven by the need to respond promptly to the frequent caused by drilling stations and intense transportation of dangerous materials over ocean routes, as well as the changing coastal ecosystems due to increasing human activities, climate change, tourism, industrial impacts, and conservation practices (Magris et al., 2019). For these reasons, the current state of the art in terms of the technology and

methods used in smart monitoring and automation was reviewed in the Section 1, as well as the challenges and the opportunities associated with this approach.

The use of smart monitoring and automation in marine environments and model organism culture (such as crustaceans) has the potential to revolutionize the way we manage and exploit these resources (Mutalipassi, di Natale, et al., 2018a). By providing accurate and precise measurements and automating tasks such as feeding and monitoring, we can improve efficiency, reduce costs, and decrease the need for personnel. However, further research is needed to fully realize the potential of these technologies and to address the challenges and opportunities associated with their use.

The studies focused on research questions that had already previously approached and that have shown potential for the introduction of a new innovative approaches were presented in the Section 2.

Paracentrotus lividus, is a species of sea urchin economically relevant for the seafood market and plays a crucial role in the ecology of Mediterranean coastal ecosystems (Boudouresque & Verlaque, 2001). Moreover, it is commonly used as a model organism for studying a wide range of biological processes. In fact, research on *P. lividus* has led to many key discoveries in developmental biology, including the identification of genes involved in the control of cell division and differentiation, and the understanding of how environmental factors can affect embryonic development(Boudouresque & Verlaque, 2020). Additionally, *P. lividus* has been used to study the mechanisms of response to stressors, such as exposure to pollutants and changes in water temperature or acidification. *P. lividus* is also an important model organism for studying the genetics and molecular biology of echinoderms (Roccheri & Matranga, 2010). Its genome has been sequenced, and researchers have used this information to identify genes involved in a variety of biological processes, including development, immunity, response to

environmental stressors, biotechnology (Gambardella et al., 2021; Laport et al., 2018). This organism was selected as part of this thesis because of its role in modern sciences. In particular, in this work it was used as a tool to implement new research methods and protocols, as well as to increase our knowledge on this species to make it an even more valuable model organism.

At first, *P. lividus* was proposed to test a realistic mesocosm in combination with molecular analyses as an innovative approach to better understand the impacts of complex combinations of stressors and accumulation of organic contaminants. This approach aimed at addressing the limitations of standard ecotoxicology tests (Hellou, 2011) and improve the understanding of how pollutants impact coastal ecosystems and communities. The study also suggested that understanding the molecular processes involved in sensing and dealing with contaminants in this specific model organism could be useful for creating predictive diagnostic tools to assess threats to the marine environment.

Therefore, *P. lividus* larvae are an important resource for scientific research because they are easy to maintain in the laboratory and they have a well-defined developmental program that makes them an excellent model for studying the molecular and cellular mechanisms of development. They are used in aquaculture research as potential food source for other marine species of interest and they are also considered a promising candidate for the cultivation of sea urchins as a source of food for human consumption (Castilla-Gavilán et al., 2018; Zupo et al., 2018). For all these reasons, we aimed to investigate, for the first time through a molecular approach, the impact of maternal influences and culture conditions on the development and growth of *P. lividus* offspring. In fact, the larval stage of this animal is a bottleneck in the species' life cycle. This means that the survival rate during this stage is much lower compared to other stages, making it

a critical point (Zupo et al., 2018). This can be due to a variety of factors such as more sensitivity to environmental conditions, predation, and competition for resources [75-76]. Therefore, understanding factors that can affect the survival of sea urchin larvae is crucial for better evaluate results during an experiment, to better understanding the population dynamics of this species and more in general the health of the marine ecosystems in which they live. The findings from this investigation can help to increase our knowledge on this key species and, in addition, can help to develop protocols for the mass production of *P. lividus* for both research and aquaculture purposes.

Thus, previous studies have shown that *P. lividus* can be an appropriate model organism for studying algal metabolites potential(Ruocco et al., 2018) [77]. To study these active compounds from algal metabolites, researchers mainly use biological assays to test the activity on target model organisms. Bioassay-guided fractionation are generally used to isolate these compounds, characterize and study them for potential applications (Andras et al., 2012; Walton et al., 2014). One of the most common applications is in drug development [80]. For example, pigments like have been found to have antiinflammatory, anti-cancer, and antioxidant properties (Kuczynska et al., 2015; Lourenço-Lopes et al., 2020; Pistelli et al., 2021). Furthermore, polysaccharides from diatoms have been found to have immunomodulatory properties, and lipids have been found to have anti-inflammatory and anti-cancer properties as well (Abdul et al., 2016; Somanader et al., 2022). In biotechnology, polysaccharides from diatoms have been found to be useful in the production of biofuels, and lipids from diatoms have been found to be useful in the production of biodiesel and bio-lubricants (Davis et al., 2012; Yi et al., 2017). Furthermore, diatom-derived pigments have been found to be useful in the food, cosmetic and pharmaceutical industries (Lebeau & Robert, 2003). Overall, the active compounds from diatoms have a great potential and could be used in various industries. Studies continue to explore the potential of these compounds and to identify new ones with potential applications.

Considering this, an innovative method was tested for administering algal extracts, and eventually to carry out bioassay investigations, using *P. lividus* as a model organism. Indeed, traditional approach involves observing the behaviour of target animals forced to graze on them, but this method may reveal limitations, particularly in terms of how the compounds must be administered through suitable feeds and supplements and how to preserve their characteristics (Glaviano et al., 2021; María et al., 2014). For this reason, we proposed the use of encapsulation techniques as an innovative method to preserve their active compounds and administer them to an aquatic model organism. In details this study specifically focused on two types of benthic diatoms, *Nanofrustulum shiloi* and *Striatella unipunctata*, and investigated their effects when included in alginate matrices, which are a biocompatible and non-toxic delivery system, and fed to the sea urchins. The results obtained confirm that this inclusion in alginate beads may be a useful technique for isolating diatom-derived bioactive compounds.

In conclusion, given the importance of compounds derived from algae, as already mentioned, and given the success of the introduction of the molecular approach in the studies listed above, we decided to use this same method as a new approach aimed to study the mechanisms involved in the peculiar correlation between an early sexual shift in the shrimp *Hippolyte inermis* and the ingestion of *Cocconeis* spp. diatom. In summary, this shrimp undergoes a peculiar process of sex reversal promoted by the food ingested, in which it has been proposed that a specific algal compound from the diatom *Cocconeis* spp. triggers the development of the female phenotype (Zupo, 1994, 2001). However, traditional bioassays to identify this compound are complex and highly time-consuming. Therefore, this new approach has been proposed as an alternative to optimize the protocol

for an earlier identification of the molecular structure of this active compound. Nevertheless, *H. inermis* is not a model organism commonly used in other research fields and there are still few molecular tools available to study this species. For these reasons several steps were necessary in order to optimise a suitable protocol.

Section 3 reports a deeper approach into the implementation of automatic culture techniques for aquatic model organisms. Several animal and plant organisms are widely used in biological research to understand the functions of life forms and in aquaculture as live foods or as targets of production (Murthy & Ram, 2015). The use of small programmable devices can significantly reduce production costs and the need for personnel and fixed setups, by consistently and cost-effectively repeating standard operations with higher precision. The use of aquatic models in scientific research and aquaculture presents both opportunities and challenges. Studies from diet, culturing density, management of facility spaces, up to animal psychiatry with the aim of optimizing protocols and procedures, make them simpler, cheaper and more efficient as a fundamental step for the success of any model species (Calado et al., 2003, 2005). Although adult specimens collected in the field are usually prone to captivity problems, the management of conditioned organisms implies a wide spectrum of issues such as definition of long-term complete diets, set-up of high-density re-circulating systems, reduction of water-volume/organism ratio. Therefore, it is important to develop flexible, programmable and modular culture systems that facilitate the automatic production of demanding species, both for scientific and aquaculture purposes (Mutalipassi, di Natale, et al., 2018b). In the system outlined in chapter 7, an existing and patented system was employed, focused on its optimization to make it applicable to innovative cultures. In chapter 8, however, a new system as devised with the help of a technologically advanced central control unit. As previously argued, a multidisciplinary approach and collaboration from multiple fields of study can revolutionize the way to face a research demand and can also lead to the development of new and innovative techniques. In line with this goal, we collaborated with a team of engineers to make it possible. In details, this thesis is structured as follows: Summary of the thesis

Section 1

This first section contains the review chapters 1 and 2.

Chapter 1 comprehends the published review "Management and Sustainable Exploitation of Marine Environments through Smart Monitoring and Automation" (Glaviano et al., 2022), which explores the recent literature on the use of smart monitoring and automation in the management and sustainable exploitation of marine environments. The paper highlights the current state of the art in terms of the technology and methods used, as well as the challenges and opportunities associated with this approach.

In details, in this section I reviewed how monitoring of aquatic ecosystems has traditionally been done through intensive campaigns of direct measurements using probes and other boat instruments, as well as indirect methods such as aero-photogrammetry and satellite detection. These methods have been used for many years and have made significant, but limited, advancements. However, recent advancements in smart devices and networking technology, such as the Internet of Things (IoT), offer new opportunities for more accurate and precise measurements over larger areas. This is particularly important in light of the need to respond promptly to the frequent catastrophic impacts caused by drilling stations and intense transportation of dangerous materials over ocean routes. The coastal ecosystems are constantly changing due to increasing human activities, climate change, tourism, industrial impacts and conservation practices. Smart buoy networks (SBNs), autonomous underwater vehicles (AUVs), and multi-sensor microsystems (MSMs) can learn specific patterns of ecological conditions and with the use of electronic "noses", they enable the setting of innovative low-cost monitoring stations that can react in real-time to the signals of marine environments by autonomously

adapting their monitoring programs, and eventually sending alarm messages to prompt human intervention. These tools, according to multimodal scenarios, are dramatically changing both the coastal monitoring operations and investigations over large oceanic areas by yielding huge amounts of information, and partially computing them in order to provide intelligent responses. However, the major effects of these tools on the management of marine environments are yet to be realized, and they are likely to become evident in the next decade. This review also examines the most striking innovations applied by various research groups around the world from an ecological perspective and analyses their advantages and limitations to depict scenarios of monitoring activities that will be possible in the next decade.

Chapter 2 contains the book chapter "Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science" (Glaviano & Mutalipassi, 2022). It offers an overview about traditional methods of cultivation that require large space and trained operators. To overcome this, modern research and aquaculture are increasingly turning towards integrating new technologies to improve efficiency, reduce costs and decrease the need for personnel. This is done by automating tasks such as feeding, live food production, and monitoring and controlling the culture's conditions. This can enhance the growth rate of the crustaceans and improve their overall health. Additionally, constant monitoring can also help prevent potential losses due to random problems. Several proposals have been designed and several prototypes and systems are currently in use. The main approaches are automatic feeding systems, automatic live food production and administration, and automatic monitoring and control of the culture. In this section, examples are focused on crustaceans in detail, because they are considered to be very important in various fields such as scientific research, aquaculture, and the ornamental market. They are often used as aquatic models in scientific research to study the functions of living organisms and ecosystems. In aquaculture, they are considered as a valuable food source and in the ornamental market, they have a high value for their rarity.

Overall, this chapter aimed at providing a comprehensive overview of the current state of the art in terms of new technologies for marine research and automated culture techniques for aquatic model organisms, highlighting the most recent developments, challenges, and opportunities in these fields.

Section 2

This section contains the Chapters from 3 to 6, as reported below.

Chapter 3 focuses on the study "Morphologic and genic effects of organic pollution on the reproductive physiology of *Paracentrotus lividus* Lmk: a mesocosm experiment" (Glaviano et al., submitted). Conventional ecotoxicity tests enable the identification of one or few more substances which can have a major harmful effect on organisms. The benefits of such methods are clear because they may provide important information on the impacts of a single pollutant on the physiology of a model species, but they do not consider the impact of a mix of natural pollutants, as they are normally co-present in the environment. Consequently, an implementation of methods to fully understand the environmental impacts of complex combinations of contaminants is required. This may be accomplished by concentrating the seawater and testing the physiological responses of individuals and communities employing a more realistic mesocosm. Such a kind of investigations could enable significant progresses in understanding how contaminants actually impact coastal ecosystems and communities. To this purpose, in this study, we employed the common sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus as a model organism. This sea urchin represents an economically relevant species for the seafood market and a resource for scientific research. In addition, it plays a crucial role in the ecology of Mediterranean coastal ecosystems because it is one of the main grazers in algal and seagrass ecosystems. Therefore, increasing pollution events impacting shallow coastal ecosystems might influence its reproductive potential and the ecology of economically relevant communities. As an innovative approach to face the limitations of standard ecotoxicology tests, we proposed a realistic mesocosm, in combination with the introduction of molecular analyses, to better understand the impacts of complex combinations of stressors and accumulation of organic contaminants in this well-known model organism and more in general in the marine environment. In addition, the understanding of the effects of substances discharged from human activities into the season marine species can be extremely important for forecasting and managing the possible environmental damage associated with their rise and spread. Understanding the molecular processes involved in sensing and dealing with classical or new contaminants in such a useful model, might be highly useful for creating predictive diagnostic tools to assess the threats to marine environment.

Chapter 4 focuses on the published paper "Gene expression detects the factors influencing the reproductive success and the survival rates of *Paracentrotus lividus* offspring" (Federico et al., 2022). In this investigation, for the first time, molecular approaches were applied on cultured sea urchins to understand the impact of maternal influences on the development and growth of their offspring, as well as how culture conditions affect these outcomes. The growing demand for *P. lividus* roe, a popular food

delicacy, is putting pressure on its wild populations. To mitigate this, aquaculture facilities can help reduce the impact of human activities on these stocks. To do this, research is needed to improve the efficiency of aquaculture practices for *P. lividus*. The results showed that the outcomes of in vitro fertilization of this animal are influenced by maternal influences, but these effects are largely determined by culture conditions. Additionally, 23 genes related to stress response and skeletogenesis were found to be differently expressed in sea urchins cultured under different conditions, and these effects were largely modified in offspring from different groups of females. These findings will be important for developing protocols for the mass production of *P. lividus* for both research and industrial purposes.

Chapter 5 focuses on the published study "Two benthic diatoms, *Nanofrustulum shiloi* and *Striatella unipunctata*, encapsulated in alginate beads, influence the reproductive efficiency of *Paracentrotus lividus* by modulating the gene expression" (Glaviano et al., 2021).

Understanding the physiological effects of algal metabolites is crucial for the identification of bioactive compounds. Invertebrates can be fed live diatoms or dried and pelletized diatoms that are added to compound feeds. However, these methods may have limitations, as some compounds may be released in the water before they are ingested. In this study, it has been proposed, as an innovative method, encapsulation techniques. They can be an effective step in bioassay-guided fractionation, as it helps to preserve active compounds. In details we investigated the effects of including two benthic diatoms, *Nanofrustulum shiloi* and *Striatella unipunctata*, in alginate matrices (a biocompatible and non-toxic delivery system) were tested when fed to sea urchins *Paracentrotus lividus*. The results showed that *N. shiloi*, which is known to have toxic effects on sea urchin

larvae, fully retained its activity after being included in alginate beads. Additionally, both diatoms affected the embryogenesis of *P. lividus* by altering the expression of several genes involved in stress response, development, skeletogenesis, and detoxification processes. The study suggests that the inclusion in alginate beads may be a useful technique for isolating diatom-derived bioactive compounds.

Chapter 6 focuses on the study "Emerging molecular approaches as an alternative to traditional bioassays" (Glaviano et al., manuscript to be submitted).

The study proposes a new molecular protocol as an innovative approach to investigate H. inermis shrimp. This shrimp is of special interest due to its unique process of fooddetermined sex reversal, in which an algal compound can induce the early development of the female phenotype. This is a result of co-evolution with a specific diatom, *Cocconeis* spp. Traditional bioassays for identifying the molecular structure of this algal compound are a long and complex process, which leads to various challenges such as finding a sufficient number of ovigerous females, given the anthropogenic threat to Posidonia meadows where these animals live. Additionally, culturing a large number of sensitive larvae and post-larvae poses a risk to their health and stress levels. This protocol may also lead to insufficient numbers of animals available for evaluating the distribution of sexes in treatment replicates. Furthermore, animals may be too stressed at the end of the culture period, potentially altering their biological response to treatment. Thus, the establishment of a new molecular approach, as an alternative and support to traditional bioassays, is crucial to optimize investigations and identify the molecular structure of this apoptogenic compound. The final phase of the study was to determine the effectiveness of this molecular approach by validating previously obtained transcriptome results.

1.3.1 Section 3 contains Chapters 7 and 8.

Chapter 7 focuses on the study "Automated culture techniques applied to a continuous rearing of an ascidian Botryllus schlosseri" (Glaviano et al., manuscript in preparation). Specimen models are extensively used in biological and chemical sciences to test specific hypotheses. Ascidians are well-developed models, because they share common ancestors with vertebrates. Among them, the colonial ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri* is classically adopted within a range of biological disciplines, due to its unique life cycle, including cyclical events of programmed cell death and also due to an aptitude to regenerate the whole-body. In addition, it exhibits interesting cellular processes of self/non-selfrecognition (histocompatibility). The improvement of culture protocols and rearing systems is important to correctly exploit model-organisms for scientific purposes, providing a continuous supply of individuals for experiments. The development of flexible and modular systems that may help the automatic production of delicate species is also important to reduce the rearing costs. Here, we provide evidence that specifically designed automatic systems are efficient, as compared to manual rearing systems, for maintaining healthy colonies in the laboratory for medium-term or long-term experimentations. In fact, a remarkable advantage of the system herein proposed is represented by the reduced daily cares required, that also moderate the involvement of experienced operators.

Chapter 9 focus on "A smart automated culture system for aquatic model organisms tested on the isopod *Idotea baltica basteri*", using a CR1000X data logger. The system is designed to control two tanks through the use of various sensors to monitor the tanks and effectors to control and react to changes in desired parameters.

The automation of culture systems for aquatic model organisms has the potential to transform the way scientific research is conducted. The ability to control and monitor the environment where these organisms are grown can improve the quality and the consistency of the data collected, as well as reduce the need for expensive daily care or the involvement of experienced operators. The use of a CR1000X data logger is a powerful tool in automating these systems, as it allows for the collection, analysis, and storage of data, as well as the control of various sensors and effectors.

Here, we investigated the potential set up of an automatic culture system for aquatic model organism, using a CR1000X data logger. The system was designed to control two tanks through the use of various sensors to monitor the tanks and effectors to control and react to changes in desired parameters. Our aim was to make this system fully automatic, with the ability to analyse data and adjust settings to optimize the culture and the set-up. The data logger was programmed to perform data analyses, such as calculating averages, determining maximum and minimum values, and more. This could allow for the identification of patterns and trends in the data, which can be used to optimize the conditions for the aquatic culture. Additionally, the system aimed to eliminate the need for significant daily care or the involvement of experienced operators, and to make it possible to monitor and control the system remotely. The data logger was configured to send data via a communication protocol such as Ethernet, which allowed for remote monitoring and control of the system.

This chapter aimed at describing the details the system and its logic along with the results obtained applying it to the culture of a model species for the marine research. In order to investigate its potential use for scientific researches, we tested the system with the culture of the isopod *Idotea baltica basteri*. However, this is intended to be a proof of concept, because it can be applied to other aquatic model organisms.

22

Section 3

Period abroad

During my Ph.D., I spent three months abroad in Portugal collaborating with Professor Rui Rosa, who is based at Laboratório Marítimo da Guia, in Cascais and a Professor at the University of Lisbon. The goal of Professor Rosa research is to comprehend the effects of climate change on marine life, encompassing everything from cells to ecosystems, through a multi-disciplinary and comprehensive approach. His team is actually investigating the collective impact of climate change stressors such as ocean warming, acidification, and hypoxia on marine invertebrates and vertebrates of ecological significance.

In line with the objective of my Ph.D. project, I took advantage of this opportunity to engage with a new field of biological research and work with a new model organism (*Sepia officinalis*). My background about model organism culture allowed me to interface and optimize the experimental system for simulating hypoxic conditions to expose the model organisms for experimental purposes through programming an Arduino with C. The results shown in the chapter are preliminary and will be reviewed with additional analysis planned in our collaboration.

In detail, this study "Lower hypoxia threshold can affect behaviour in early life stages of cuttlefish" aimed to explore the innate chemical recognition abilities of newly hatched cuttlefish in both normal and severe hypoxia conditions. This was accomplished by exposing the cuttlefish to odors from both predator (*Scyliorhinus canicula*) and non-predator (conspecific *S. officinalis*) sources. The research aimed to shed light on the effect of hypoxia on the chemical recognition abilities of cuttlefish and its potential implications for their survival and behaviour in their natural habitats. The results of this study would

provide insights into the impact of hypoxia on the sensory abilities of marine organisms and how it affects their interactions with their environment.

Section 4 contains only the conclusions and future directions taking into account the findings presented in previous chapters.

References

- Abdul, Q. A., Choi, R. J., Jung, H. A., & Choi, J. S. (2016). Health benefit of fucosterol from marine algae: A review. In *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* (Vol. 96, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.7489
- Andras, T. D., Alexander, T. S., Gahlena, A., Parry, R. M., Fernandez, F. M., Kubanek, J., Wang, M. D., & Hay, M. E. (2012). Seaweed Allelopathy Against Coral: Surface Distribution of a Seaweed Secondary Metabolite by Imaging Mass Spectrometry. *Journal* of Chemical Ecology, 38(10). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10886-012-0204-9
- Asrizal, Amran, A., Ananda, A., Festiyed, F., & Sumarmin, R. (2018). The development of integrated science instructional materials to improve students' digital literacy in scientific approach. Jurnal Pendidikan IPA Indonesia, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.15294/jpii.v7i4.13613
- Baldridge, D., Wangler, M. F., Bowman, A. N., Yamamoto, S., Schedl, T., Pak, S. C.,
 Postlethwait, J. H., Shin, J., Solnica-Krezel, L., Bellen, H. J., & Westerfield, M. (2021).
 Model organisms contribute to diagnosis and discovery in the undiagnosed diseases
 network: Current state and a future vision. *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases*, 16(1).
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s13023-021-01839-9
- Beck, S., Bergenholtz, C., Bogers, M., Brasseur, T. M., Conradsen, M. L., di Marco, D., Distel, A. P., Dobusch, L., Dörler, D., Effert, A., Fecher, B., Filiou, D., Frederiksen, L., Gillier, T., Grimpe, C., Gruber, M., Haeussler, C., Heigl, F., Hoisl, K., ... Xu, S. M. (2022). The Open Innovation in Science research field: a collaborative conceptualisation approach. *Industry and Innovation*, 29(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/13662716.2020.1792274
- Boudouresque, C. F., & Verlaque, M. (2001). Ecology of Paracentrotus lividus. In Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science (Vol. 32, Issue C). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-9309(01)80013-2
- Boudouresque, C. F., & Verlaque, M. (2020). Paracentrotus lividus. Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science, 43, 447–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819570-3.00026-3
- Bowes, L., & Jaffee, S. R. (2013). Biology, Genes, and Resilience: Toward a Multidisciplinary Approach. In *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse* (Vol. 14, Issue 3). https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838013487807
- Brenner, S. (2003). Nobel lecture. Nature's gift to science. *Bioscience Reports*, 23(5–6). https://doi.org/10.1023/b:bire.0000019186.48208.f3
- Calado, R., Figueiredo, J., Rosa, R., Nunes, M. L., & Narciso, L. (2005). Effects of temperature, density, and diet on development, survival, settlement synchronism, and fatty acid profile of the ornamental shrimp *Lysmata seticaudata*. *Aquaculture*, 245(1–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2004.11.034
- Calado, R., Narciso, L., Morais, S., Rhyne, A. L., & Lin, J. (2003). A rearing system for the culture of ornamental decapod crustacean larvae. *Aquaculture*, 218(1–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(02)00583-5

- Castilla-Gavilán, M., Buzin, F., Cognie, B., Dumay, J., Turpin, V., & Decottignies, P. (2018). Optimising microalgae diets in sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* larviculture to promote aquaculture diversification. *Aquaculture*, 490, 251–259.
- Chang, Y. C., & Chen, M. H. (2004). Comparing approaches to systems of innovation: The knowledge perspective. *Technology in Society*, 26(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2003.10.002
- Chen, Y., Zhen, Z., Yu, H., & Xu, J. (2017). Application of fault tree analysis and fuzzy neural networks to fault diagnosis in the internet of things (IoT) for aquaculture. *Sensors* (*Switzerland*), 17(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/s17010153
- Chuang, H. Y., Hofree, M., & Ideker, T. (2010). A decade of systems biology. In *Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology* (Vol. 26). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100109-104122
- Davis, A. K., Hildebrand, M., Traller, J. C., Abbriano, R., & Smith, S. R. (2012). The place of diatoms in the biofuels industry. *Biofuels*, 3(2), 221–240. https://doi.org/10.4155/bfs.11.157
- Day, W. (2005). Engineering precision into variable biological systems. *Annals of Applied Biology*, *146*(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7348.2005.040064.x
- Djeflat, A. (2011). Emerging Innovation Systems (EIS) and Take off: Evidence from the North African Countries. *African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development*, *3*(2).
- Dwan, K., Altman, D. G., Arnaiz, J. A., Bloom, J., Chan, A. W., Cronin, E., Decullier, E., Easterbrook, P. J., von Elm, E., Gamble, C., Ghersi, D., Ioannidis, J. P. A., Simes, J., & Williamson, P. R. (2008). Systematic review of the empirical evidence of study publication bias and outcome reporting bias. In *PLoS ONE* (Vol. 3, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0003081
- Edquist, C. (2004). Reflections on the systems of innovation approach. *Science and Public Policy*, *31*(6). https://doi.org/10.3152/147154304781779741
- Emerson, K. (2018). Launching Perspectives on Public Management & Governance. In Perspectives on Public Management and Governance (Vol. 1, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1093/ppmgov/gvx008
- Endy, D. (2005). Foundations for engineering biology. In *Nature* (Vol. 438, Issue 7067). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04342
- Federico, S., Glaviano, F., Esposito, R., Pinto, B., Gharbi, M., di Cosmo, A., Costantini, M., & Zupo, V. (2022). Gene expression detects the factors influencing the reproductive success and the survival rates of Paracentrotus lividus offspring. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 23(21), 12790.
- Franks, P. J. S., di Lorenzo, E., Goebel, N. L., Chenillat, F., Rivière, P., Edwards, C. A., & Miller, A. J. (2013). Modeling physical-biological responses to climate change in the California current system. *Oceanography*, 26(3). https://doi.org/10.5670/oceanog.2013.42
- Gambardella, C., Marcellini, F., Falugi, C., Varrella, S., & Corinaldesi, C. (2021). Early-stage anomalies in the sea urchin (*Paracentrotus lividus*) as bioindicators of multiple stressors in the marine environment: Overview and future perspectives. In *Environmental Pollution* (Vol. 287). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.117608

- Glaviano, F., Esposito, R., di Cosmo, A., Esposito, F., Gerevini, L., Ria, A., Molinara, M., Bruschi, P., Costantini, M., & Zupo, V. (2022). Management and Sustainable Exploitation of Marine Environments through Smart Monitoring and Automation. In *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering* (Vol. 10, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.3390/jmse10020297
- Glaviano, F., & Mutalipassi, M. (2022). Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science. *Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture*.
- Glaviano, F., Ruocco, N., Somma, E., de Rosa, G., Campani, V., Ametrano, P., Caramiello, D., Costantini, M., & Zupo, V. (2021). Two Benthic Diatoms, *Nanofrustulum shiloi* and *Striatella unipunctata*, Encapsulated in Alginate Beads, Influence the Reproductive Efficiency of *Paracentrotus lividus* by Modulating the Gene Expression. *Marine Drugs*, 19(04), 230.
- Grigoriev, I. v., Hayes, R. D., Calhoun, S., Kamel, B., Wang, A., Ahrendt, S., Dusheyko, S., Nikitin, R., Mondo, S. J., Salamov, A., Shabalov, I., & Kuo, A. (2021). PhycoCosm, a comparative algal genomics resource. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(D1). https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa898
- Hedesan, J., & Tendler, J. (2017). The structure of scientific revolutions. In *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions*. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781912281589
- Hellou, J. (2011). Behavioural ecotoxicology, an 'early warning' signal to assess environmental quality. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-010-0367-2
- Hemminger, J. C., Sarrao, J., Crabtree, G., Fleming, G., & Ratner, M. (2015). Challenges at the Frontiers of Matter and Energy : Transformative Opportunities for Discovery Science. BESAC Subcommittee on Challenges at the Frontiers of Matter and Energy.
- Horinouchi, T., Minamoto, T., Suzuki, S., Shimizu, H., & Furusawa, C. (2014). Development of an Automated Culture System for Laboratory Evolution. *Journal of Laboratory Automation*, 19(5). https://doi.org/10.1177/2211068214521417
- Hubbell, B. J., Kaufman, A., Rivers, L., Schulte, K., Hagler, G., Clougherty, J., Cascio, W., & Costa, D. (2018). Understanding social and behavioral drivers and impacts of air quality sensor use. In *Science of the Total Environment* (Vol. 621). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.275
- Kalajdzic, P., & Schetelig, M. F. (2017). CRISPR/Cas-mediated gene editing using purified protein in Drosophila suzukii. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 164(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/eea.12599
- Kira, K., & A. Rendell, L. (2017). The Feature Selection Problem: Traditional Methods and a New Algorithm. 2016 8th International Symposium on Telecommunications, IST 2016.
- Kirkman, H. (1996). Baseline and monitoring methods for seagrass meadows. Journal of Environmental Management, 47(2), 191–201. https://doi.org/10.1006/jema.1996.0045
- Kuczynska, P., Jemiola-Rzeminska, M., & Strzalka, K. (2015). Photosynthetic pigments in diatoms. In *Marine Drugs* (Vol. 13, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.3390/md13095847
- Lacroix, D., David, B., Lamblin, V., de Menthière, N., de Lattre-Gasquet, M., Guigon, A., Jannès-Ober, E., Hervieu, H., Potier, F., Ragain, G., & Hoummady, M. (2016).
 Interactions between oceans and societies in 2030: Challenges and issues for research. *European Journal of Futures Research*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40309-016-0089-x

- Laport, M. S., Bauwens, M., Collard, M., & George, I. (2018). Phylogeny and Antagonistic Activities of Culturable Bacteria Associated with the Gut Microbiota of the Sea Urchin (*Paracentrotus lividus*). *Current Microbiology*, 75(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-017-1389-5
- Lebeau, T., & Robert, J. M. (2003). Diatom cultivation and biotechnologically relevant products. Part II: Current and putative products. In *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* (Vol. 60, Issue 6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-002-1177-3
- Lourenço-Lopes, C., Garcia-Oliveira, P., Carpena, M., Fraga-Corral, M., Jimenez-Lopez, C., Pereira, A. G., Prieto, M. A., & Simal-Gandara, J. (2020). Scientific approaches on extraction, purification and stability for the commercialization of fucoxanthin recovered from brown algae. In *Foods* (Vol. 9, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9081113
- Magris, R. A., Marta-Almeida, M., Monteiro, J. A. F., & Ban, N. C. (2019). A modelling approach to assess the impact of land mining on marine biodiversity: Assessment in coastal catchments experiencing catastrophic events (SW Brazil). *Science of the Total Environment*, 659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.12.238
- María, F. C., Natalia, V., M. Carmen, L., & Luis M., B. (2014). Sensitivity improvement of an immuno-detection method for azaspiracids based on the use of microspheres coupled to a flow-fluorimetry system. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/conf.fmars.2014.02.00166
- Maul, A. (2017). Rethinking Traditional Methods of Survey Validation. *Measurement*, 15(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/15366367.2017.1348108
- Milojevic, S. (2014). Principles of scientific research team formation and evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(11). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1309723111
- Mohs, R. C., & Greig, N. H. (2017). Drug discovery and development: Role of basic biological research. In *Alzheimer's and Dementia: Translational Research and Clinical Interventions* (Vol. 3, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trci.2017.10.005
- Muller-Karger, F. E., Miloslavich, P., Bax, N. J., Simmons, S., Costello, M. J., Pinto, I. S., Canonico, G., Turner, W., Gill, M., Montes, E., Best, B. D., Pearlman, J., Halpin, P., Dunn, D., Benson, A., Martin, C. S., Weatherdon, L. v., Appeltans, W., Provoost, P., ... Geller, G. (2018). Advancing marine biological observations and data requirements of the complementary Essential Ocean Variables (EOVs) and Essential Biodiversity Variables (EBVs) frameworks. In *Frontiers in Marine Science* (Vol. 5, Issue JUN). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00211
- Murthy, M., & Ram, J. L. (2015). Invertebrates as model organisms for research on aging biology. *Invertebrate Reproduction and Development*, 59. https://doi.org/10.1080/07924259.2014.970002
- Mutalipassi, M., di Natale, M., Mazzella, V., & Zupo, V. (2018a). Automated culture of aquatic model organisms: shrimp larvae husbandry for the needs of research and aquaculture. *Animal : An International Journal of Animal Bioscience*, 12(1), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117000908
- Mutalipassi, M., di Natale, M., Mazzella, V., & Zupo, V. (2018b). Automated culture of aquatic model organisms: Shrimp larvae husbandry for the needs of research and aquaculture. *Animal*, 12(1), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117000908

- Mutalipassi, M., Maibam, C., & Zupo, V. (2018). The sex change of the caridean shrimp *Hippolyte inermis* Leach: temporal development of the gonopore morphology. *Zoomorphology*, 137(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00435-018-0405-z
- Oussous, A., Benjelloun, F. Z., Ait Lahcen, A., & Belfkih, S. (2018). Big Data technologies: A survey. In *Journal of King Saud University - Computer and Information Sciences* (Vol. 30, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksuci.2017.06.001
- Payne, R. W. (2006). New and traditional methods for the analysis of unreplicated experiments. *Crop Science*, 46(6). https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2006.04.0273
- Penesyan, A., Kjelleberg, S., & Egan, S. (2010). Development of novel drugs from marine surface associated microorganisms. *Marine Drugs*, 8(3), 438–459. https://doi.org/10.3390/md8030438
- Pinto, M. F. (2019). Scientific ignorance: Probing the limits of scientific research and knowledge production. *Theoria (Spain)*, 34(2). https://doi.org/10.1387/theoria.19329
- Pistelli, L., Sansone, C., Smerilli, A., Festa, M., Noonan, D. M., Albini, A., & Brunet, C. (2021). Mmp-9 and il-1β as targets for diatoxanthin and related microalgal pigments: Potential chemopreventive and photoprotective agents. *Marine Drugs*, 19(7). https://doi.org/10.3390/md19070354
- Qiu, J., Wu, Q., Ding, G., Xu, Y., & Feng, S. (2016). A survey of machine learning for big data processing. In *Eurasip Journal on Advances in Signal Processing* (Vol. 2016, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13634-016-0355-x
- Robinson-Cimpian, J. P. (2014). Inaccurate estimation of disparities due to mischievous responders: Several suggestions to assess conclusions. *Educational Researcher*, 43(4). https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X14534297
- Roccheri, M. C., & Matranga, V. (2010). Cellular, biochemical and molecular effects of cadmium on marine invertebrates: Focus on *Paracentrotus lividus* sea urchin development. In *Cadmium in the Environment*.
- Rosli, M. S., Saleh, N. S., Alshammari, S. H., Ibrahim, M. M., Atan, A. S., & Atan, N. A. (2021). Improving Questionnaire Reliability using Construct Reliability for Researches in Educational Technology. *International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies*, 15(4). https://doi.org/10.3991/IJIM.V15I04.20199
- Ruocco, N., Costantini, S., Zupo, V., Lauritano, C., Caramiello, D., Ianora, A., Budillon, A., Romano, G., Nuzzo, G., & D'Ippolito, G. (2018). Toxigenic effects of two benthic diatoms upon grazing activity of the sea urchin: Morphological, metabolomic and de novo transcriptomic analysis. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1–13.
- Schiffer, D. (2005). The limits of scientific research. *Neurological Sciences*, 25(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-004-0371-8
- Somanader, E., Sreenivas, R., Siavash, G., Rodriguez, N., Gao, T., Ehrlich, H., & Rahman, M. A. (2022). Polysaccharide Stalks in *Didymosphenia geminata* Diatom: Real World Applications and Strategies to Combat Its Spread. *Polysaccharides*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/polysaccharides3010004
- Tilstone, G. H., Peters, S. W. M., van der Woerd, H. J., Eleveld, M. A., Ruddick, K., Schönfeld, W., Krasemann, H., Martinez-Vicente, V., Blondeau-Patissier, D., Röttgers, R., Sørensen, K., Jørgensen, P. v., & Shutler, J. D. (2012). Variability in specific-absorption properties

and their use in a semi-analytical ocean colour algorithm for MERIS in North Sea and Western English Channel Coastal Waters. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, *118*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2011.11.019

- Walton, K., Gantar, M., Gibbs, P. D. L., Schmale, M. C., & Berry, J. P. (2014). Indole alkaloids from Fischerella inhibit vertebrate development in the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) embryo model. *Toxins*, 6(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins6123568
- Wieser, D., Papatheodorou, I., Ziehm, M., & Thornton, J. M. (2011). Computational biology for ageing. In *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* (Vol. 366, Issue 1561). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0286
- Yi, Z., Xu, M., Di, X., Brynjolfsson, S., & Fu, W. (2017). Exploring valuable lipids in diatoms. In *Frontiers in Marine Science* (Vol. 4, Issue JAN). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00017
- Zrimec, J., Buric, F., Kokina, M., Garcia, V., & Zelezniak, A. (2021). Learning the Regulatory Code of Gene Expression. In *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences* (Vol. 8). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2021.673363
- Zupo, V. (1994). Strategies of sexual inversion in *Hippolyte inermis* Leach (Crustacea, Decapoda) from a Mediterranean seagrass meadow. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 178(1), 131–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(94)90229-1
- Zupo, V. (2001). Influence of diet on sex differentiation of *Hippolyte inermis* Leach (Decapoda: Natantia) in the field. *Hydrobiologia*. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017553422113
- Zupo, V., Glaviano, F., Caramiello, D., & Mutalipassi, M. (2018). Effect of five benthic diatoms on the survival and development of *Paracentrotus lividus* post-larvae in the laboratory. *Aquaculture*, 495, 13–20.
Section 1

Chapter 1





Management and Sustainable Exploitation of Marine Environments through Smart Monitoring and Automation

Francesca Glaviano ^{1,2}, Roberta Esposito ^{1,2}, Anna Di Cosmo ², Francesco Esposito ¹, Luca Gerevini ^{3,4}, Andrea Ria ^{3,5}, Mario Molinara ⁴, Paolo Bruschi ⁵, Maria Costantini ^{1,*} and Valerio Zupo ^{1,*}

- Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Department of Ecosustainable Marine Biotechnology, Villa Comunale, 80121 Naples, Italy; francesca.glaviano@szn.it (F.G.); roberta.esposito@szn.it (R.E.); francesco.esposito@szn.it (F.E.)
- ² Department of Biology, University of Naples Federico II, Complesso Universitario di Monte Sant'Angelo, Via Cinthia 21, 80126 Naples, Italy; anna.dicosmo@unina.it
- ³ Sensichips Srl., Via Fanciulla d'Anzio 9, 00042 Anzio, Italy; luca.gerevini@unicas.it (L.G.); andrea.ria@sensichips.com (A.R.)
- ⁴ DIEI—Dipartimento di Ingegneria Elettrica e dell'Informazione, Università di Cassino e del Lazio Meridionale, Via G. Di Biasio 43, 03043 Cassino, Italy; m.molinara@unicas.it
- ⁵ Dipartimento di Ingegneria dell'Informazione, Università di Pisa, Via Caruso 16, 56122 Pisa, Italy; paolo.bruschi@unipi.it
- * Correspondence: maria.costantini@szn.it (M.C.); vzupo@szn.it (V.Z.)

Abstract: Monitoring of aquatic ecosystems has been historically accomplished by intensive campaigns of direct measurements (by probes and other boat instruments) and indirect extensive methods such as aero-photogrammetry and satellite detection. These measurements characterized the research in the last century, with significant but limited improvements within those technological boundaries. The newest advances in the field of smart devices and increased networking capabilities provided by emerging tools, such as the Internet of Things (IoT), offer increasing opportunities to provide accurate and precise measurements over larger areas. These perspectives also correspond to an increasing need to promptly respond to frequent catastrophic impacts produced by drilling stations and intense transportation activities of dangerous materials over ocean routes. The shape of coastal ecosystems continuously varies due to increasing anthropic activities and climatic changes, aside from touristic activities, industrial impacts, and conservation practices. Smart buoy networks (SBNs), autonomous underwater vehicles (AUVs), and multi-sensor microsystems (MSMs) such as smart cable water (SCW) are able to learn specific patterns of ecological conditions, along with electronic "noses", permitting them to set innovative low-cost monitoring stations reacting in real time to the signals of marine environments by autonomously adapting their monitoring programs and eventually sending alarm messages to prompt human intervention. These opportunities, according to multimodal scenarios, are dramatically changing both the coastal monitoring operations and the investigations over large oceanic areas by yielding huge amounts of information and partially computing them in order to provide intelligent responses. However, the major effects of these tools on the management of marine environments are still to be realized, and they are likely to become evident in the next decade. In this review, we examined from an ecological perspective the most striking innovations applied by various research groups around the world and analyzed their advantages and limits to depict scenarios of monitoring activities made possible for the next decade.

Keywords: IoT; buoy; aquaculture; coastal; connectivity; transmission; real time; network

1. Current Policies for Environmental Monitoring and Conservation

The monitoring of marine environments has attracted increasing attention due to the growing concerns about climate change, along with intensified transportation activities, possibly producing direct, indirect, and stochastic impacts. In fact, a key challenge in



Citation: Glaviano, F.; Esposito, R.; Cosmo, A.D.; Esposito, F.; Gerevini, L.; Ria, A.; Molinara, M.; Bruschi, P.; Costantini, M.; Zupo, V. Management and Sustainable Exploitation of Marine Environments through Smart Monitoring and Automation. J. Mar. Sci. Eng. 2022, 10, 297. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jmse10020297

Academic Editors: Gabriella Caruso, Francesco Tiralongo and Yannis N. Krestenitis

Received: 30 October 2021 Accepted: 10 February 2022 Published: 21 February 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). contemporary ecology and conservation management is the accuracy of tracking of the spatial distribution of human impacts, including oil spills and chemical pollution, along with the evaluation of environmental quality and fishery activities [1]. Automation is an important part of the new generation of information technology, and it represents the ultimate achievement in the development of ocean monitoring programs. Various emerging technologies developed in the last decade include smart devices for the collection of information and their sharing over networks, as well as emerging technologies such as the Internet of Things (IoT), often foreseen as the future solution to an intelligent monitoring assembly [2].

The systems currently in use generally consist of observatories connected to a network system lying on the seafloor or connected to the surface by, for example, a buoy. In the first case, an example of a stable observatory is the Dense Ocean Floor Network System for Earthquakes and Tsunamis (DONET) by the Japan Agency for Marine-Earth Science and Technology (JAMSTEC). DONET is a submarine-cabled real-time seafloor observatory network intended for large-scale research and earthquake and tsunami monitoring. The program, which began in 2006, consists of several phases involving an increase in the number of observatories.

This system concept consists of a high-reliability backbone cable, which provides the power line and the communications channel, connecting several nodes with different measurement instruments [3].

Buoy systems are widely applied as well to monitor ocean environments, and meteorological and oceanographic instrumentation platforms able to share meteorological and environmental data in real time are critical to promptly respond to critical events. The development of newer buoys is able to improve early detection and real-time reporting of events in the open oceans, which is fundamental for the forecasting and reporting of tsunamis. For example, forecasting and reporting of tsunamis were made possible by the development of newer buoys able to improve early detection and real-time reporting of events in the open oceans [4,5]. Similarly, the realization of systems able to detect the presence of pollutants in the marine environment (including hydrocarbons, often requiring prompt reactions due to ship collisions and other disasters) has become extremely complex, involving various technologies and integrated know-how [6] further discussed below. Stations for deep-ocean assessment and reporting of tsunamis were developed ad hoc by NOAA (https://www.ndbc.noaa.gov/dart/dart.shtml; accessed on 30 November 2021) to acquire critical data for real-time forecasts in key regions [7]. The network is presently composed of 39 stations (Figure 1). This station system was named DART[®], and it consists of bottom pressure recorders (BPRs) anchored to the seafloor coupled with a companion moored surface buoy for real-time communications [4]. An acoustic link transmits data from the BPR on the seafloor to the surface buoy. However, the main constraint for ocean monitoring systems is represented by communications, because it is almost impossible to deliver the measured data to remote monitoring sites without the aid of satellite communications [8]. To extend the communication coverage of a buoy network, a wireless mesh network (WMN) can be adopted (i.e., a communication network containing multiple radio nodes consisting of mesh routers and clients organized into a mesh topology). Since mesh routers can forward a message deriving from other nodes (even outside the transmission coverage of their destination), a multi-hop relay network (MHRN) may be arranged. An MHRN can extend the coverage of wireless communications, and it provides line-of-sight (LOS) links between couples of nodes. Mesh networks provide many advantages, including reliability, robustness, self-organization, and self-configuration [9].





Thus far, it is evident that marine monitoring of natural environments is a tremendously wide field of study, taking advantage of various disciplines and comprising several aspects including the biology of species, the ecology of aquatic environments, the technology of new devices, and the chemistry of water as revealed by probes, with the inclusion of newer smart tools for detection and transmission. A complete analysis of all these aspects cannot be achieved and discussed within a single literature synthesis. For this reason, here we analyze the current literature to present several (but not necessarily all) recently developed methodologies and technologies to improve marine monitoring methods in order to highlight new trends and modern perspectives on the study of coastal and offshore environments, which are changing fast due the introduction of important innovations. In addition, we introduce some newly developed tools and experimental data collected at our laboratory in order to broaden the analysis of coastal tools with the introduction of smart sensors and autonomous monitoring buoys, facilitating video monitoring and immediate answers to critical events.

2. Sensing and e-Noses

The technological limits of probes and transmission devices must be taken into account when planning innovative monitoring stations and vessels. Some critical issues impose specific requirements for probes and monitoring stations, including simplicity, autonomy [10], adaptability, scalability, and robustness [11]. Some features should be assured due to the harsh characteristics of the marine environments [12]. Among these, we need to address the following specifically [13]:

- Self-standing devices: equipment should be designed against possible acts of vandalism, which are more frequent than commonly expected;
- Hardware robustness: all equipment needs strong resistance due to currents, waves, tides, typhoons, and other physical impacts producing frequent aggressions to weak structures;
- Salinity: sensor and actuator nodes need to have very high levels of robustness against corrosion and be adapted to a high electrical resistance to the medium;

- Stability of communications: specific techniques must be adapted to bad weather conditions (that can affect the stability of radio signals) and to the oscillation of the antennas due to waves and storms, which can cause unstable communications [14];
- Costs: energy storage and collection (eventually using energy accumulators) must be considered due to long communication distances and the need for probe functioning, data storage and transmission, and ultimately motion structures;
- Distance between receiving stations and buoy or mooring devices: sensor coverage needs to be carefully calculated because of the large areas often covered by a monitoring network [15];
- Stationary position: in the case of both fixed buoys and autonomous vehicles, the
 position of the sensor nodes should be assured, and its location should be assessed
 with high reliability because of the continuous movement in the fluid environment;
- The optical signal response is too low when compared with other targets and that one may have under certain circumstances of vegetation, soils, and also strong geometric effects (e.g., sun-view angle effects from optical data).

For these reasons, various monitoring systems have been developed in different areas, also according to the specific variables under analysis. Among them, the most powerful approaches employed to obtain sensitive data and rapidly compute them include synthetic aperture radar (SAR) [16], computer-aided imaging, and network analysis [17]. All these approaches account for some critical issues, including low detection capability (i.e., when wind speeds that are too low or too high influence the functioning of the SAR) or worse functioning during given times (e.g., at night, when sunlight is not available). In addition, both in oceanic environments and in coastal areas, hyperspectral and thermal imaging [18] and hydrodynamic mathematical modeling of stationary phenomena [19] may represent a possible solution.

Among the most modern and powerful systems, however, we must consider the chemical sensors for electronic nose-like systems [20–22]. Recently, a smart system based on electronic noses able to monitor the presence of pollutants (particularly hydrocarbons) on the sea surface was proposed [20]. The system was suggested to be employed, together with traditional methods, for a complete and exhaustive analysis of the marine pollution caused by hydrocarbons. It is composed of an array of sensors, a flow chamber, and electronics, and it was initially tested at the laboratory bench and then in the sea, demonstrating its efficiency and reliability in the detection of hydrocarbon pollutants present on the surface. It allows for an early intervention strategy from designated entities, as well as from the autonomous underwater vehicles (AUVs) themselves, when equipped for these circumstances. In addition, an e-nose-like technology may be integrated into an AUV in order to perform a dynamic check of the pollution status over a given area, and this possibility is increasingly stimulating various research groups because various noses are presently under study for implementation into smart vehicles able to independently monitor large coastal and oceanic areas [23-25]. This extension to the basic functions of AUVs was also performed by earlier prototypes [6], and it could embody an invaluable innovative contribution to the prevention strategies presently adopted throughout the world in this field, possibly establishing the basis for future multimodal marine monitoring implementations.

A number of different approaches have been employed to provide real-time acquisition of environmental data, especially to provide immediate reaction to incidents involving petroleum tanks or oil spills in coastal or oceanic areas, where continuous monitoring may be limited by economic or technical constraints [16]. Spills or leaks, as well as accidents [26,27], can induce dramatic consequences on the marine environments, and their immediate localization (followed by restoration activities) is critical to reduce long-term impacts over the marine biota. In these cases, various monitoring approaches have been widely applied in the past, such as hyperspectral and thermal imaging [18] and hydrodynamic mathematical modelling [19]. However, these large-scale approaches exhibit some limitations when the pollution sources are of a small size and the waves of pollution have not yet been distributed over larger areas. In addition, weather conditions and light availability may drastically reduce their detection capabilities. To this end, newer intelligent technologies primed the development of AUVs (described in the next paragraph), independently sailing over large areas and able to ride out customized or pre-loaded explorations according to the needs of scientists and administrators [6]. This innovative approach is based on signals produced by electrochemical sensors reacting to the presence of possible pollutants [22], the signal of which is immediately sent to reference stations where the signal may be interpreted and eventually converted into an alert message, prompting the intervention of specialized personnel to assure marine environment preservation.

In parallel to atmospheric issues, as mentioned above, hydrocarbon pollution is one of the most serious concerns for the health of marine ecosystems, and the strategies for its timely monitoring have grown in complexity and number in the last decade. To this end, an AUV equipped with an *e*-nose-like system was proposed [20], employing sensors set both at the laboratory bench and at sea. The results confirmed the feasibility of the approach and the good reliability of the data acquired, confirming the possible employment of this system within an integrated marine monitoring tool.

The high costs of offshore mooring systems and traditional oceanographic cruises have suggested the use of innovative technologies, often based on intelligent devices and small monitoring platforms automatically collecting a wide range of environmental and meteorological data [28]. These approaches reached lower costs thanks to the new opportunities offered by emergent tools, representing cost-effective solutions to the need of modularity, flexibility, and real-time observing systems. Their affordability is guaranteed by the efforts dedicated to the design, development, and realization of new oceanographic devices, leading to rapid advances in the fields of probes and intelligent vehicles. In addition, innovative molecular technologies tremendously improved biodiversity studies, particularly in the case of microbes, rare species, "soft species" (or extremely small species), and cryptic species (to be studied combining molecular and morphological information [29,30], while new sensors and in situ technologies are being applied to the identification of life forms in remote deep-sea habitats [31,32].

In general terms, e-nose technologies are based on arrays of sensors connected to specific unit boards able to analyze the sensor's signals, compare their results, and compute an answer according to pollution thresholds set by the user. For some applications, photoionization detectors were employed, whose driving force relies on vacuum ultra-violet radiation capable of ionizing the volatile organic compounds (VOCs) contained in the air over the seawater [6]. In this case, the sensors do not analyze the chemical or physical properties of the seawater. They detect the VOCs present in the air immediately over the water surface, just like a "nose" exploring large areas along the coastline searching for the "smell" of petrol [20]. For these applications, a concentration of 100 ppm of each hydrocarbon among the ones most frequently present in polluted seas (e.g., gasoline, kerosene, diesel fuel, and crude oil) is considered sufficient [26,27]. The smart modules employed for these purposes are normally trained to evaluate the responses of various probes after the determination of the most relevant features among all the data collected by e-noses by means of principal component analysis (PCA). Using this system, the detected stimuli may be classified according to different levels of warning, depending on the intensity of the concentration of pollutants.

3. Autonomous Vehicles and Monitoring Platforms

Unmanned vehicles (UMVs) represent a significant innovation, improving the quality, affordability, and costs of environmental monitoring (Table 1). They are also used in the military field for the inspection of areas and targets of strategic interest [33], and they are divided into three kinds: AUVs, autonomous surface vehicles (ASVs), and remotely operated underwater vehicles (ROUVs). These vehicles can be also deployed in the air (unmanned aerial systems (UASs)), at the sea's surface (ASVs, also known as unmanned surface vessels (USVs)), or in the water column (AUVs). UMVs have various applications,

such as gathering oceanographic and meteorological data [34–39] and monitoring sea ice [40] and wildlife [41–44]. Most ROUVs are equipped with at least a video camera and lights. The main difference between these types is that an operator controls the ROUV, while AUVs and ASVs operate autonomously. Thus, some innovative vehicles are capable of sensing the environment and navigating on their own. UMVs include semi-submersibles and unmanned surface crafts.

Table 1. Features of unmanned vehicles (UMVs) classified according to the types (unmanned aerial system (UAS), autonomous surface vehicle or unmanned surface vessel (ASV/USV), autonomous underwater vessel (AUV), remotely operated underwater vessel (ROUV), and gliders). The main features are indicated in terms of environment explored, control, navigation system, and propulsion type.

	Operates			Controlled by		Navigation System		Propulsion	
UMV	In Air	Water Surface	Under Water	Operator	Independent	GPS Navigation	<i>e-</i> Compass	Propellers	Variable Buoyancy
UAS	Х			Х	Х	Х		Х	
ASV/USV		Х			Х	Х		Х	
AUV			Х		Х		Х	Х	
ROUV			Х	Х			Х	Х	
Glider	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х		Х

The advantage, with respect to aerial photogrammetry and other large-scale monitoring approaches, is that the measures are quite direct, punctual, and characterized by precision and accuracy, even if large territories may be explored for longer times by smart AUVs. Their employment in association with other classical monitoring systems can increase accuracy and efficiency, because the movements of autonomous vehicles can be semi-randomly influenced by alarms sent by satellites or other monitoring sources, modifying the programmed maps of cruises. Such systems may also find wide application in critical coastal zones, such as in marine protected areas (MPAs), because they are left free to iteratively explore transects and continuously transfer to reference centers (on land) signals of "all normal" conditions or, alternatively, warning messages prompting immediate inspection by coastal guards or other marine authorities [45–47]. Several MPAs have been set in Europe in the last decade after the evaluation of marine sites of ecological interest [48], where ship transits are totally or partially forbidden, and consequently, oil spills should be avoided. Since continuous and punctual environmental monitoring in these areas is critical, automation of smart monitoring activities may represent an obvious solution.

AUVs are widely used for monitoring survey and data collection. They can be equipped with various types of sensors, such as sonar, video cameras, and the means for measuring conductivity, temperature, pressure, and salinity, among other factors. AUVs collect information through sensors. Parameters such as the water temperature and speed are simply measured and easily interpreted. Other types of data are more complex to collect and analyze because they require further interpretation to convert the records into meaningful information. Therefore, the selection of sensors is important for successful detection. Equally important is the diagnosis of the problem, which requires the ability to analyze and interpret the data collected by eliminating sensor noise and therefore making the data reliable [49–52]. They have the advantage of huge spatial coverage, but they are limited by a small resolution [53]. The risk is that the collected data might not be representative from a temporal point of view. As part of the research, they can be involved in data collection for bathymetric and magnetic fields and conformation of the seabed [54]. They are also used for the evaluation of water parameters in specific locations, such as in the areas surrounding hydrothermal processes or coral reefs [55]. Currently, they find application in various fields ranging from scientific research to industrial purposes. In industrial applications, AUVs are used for the monitoring and maintenance management of oil, gas ducts, and electrical lines [56]. Evidently, AUVs and ASVs represent the most

recent advances in the field of smart tools compared with ROUVs, which were introduced several decades ago and have been improved in terms of efficiency and cost in the last few years. Additional equipment is commonly added to expand the vehicle's capabilities. These may include sonars, magnetometers, a still camera, a manipulator or cutting arm, water samplers, and instruments that measure the water clarity, water temperature, water density, sound velocity, light penetration, and temperature [57].

ASVs and AUVs suitable for marine monitoring can vary from relatively small vehicles lifted by one or two persons and deployed from a small inflatable boat to large diesel-powered surface vessels [58]. In particular, smaller vessels are able to operate with a high level of autonomy and are also capable of staying at sea for several months. In contrast, larger surface vehicles often tend to be more tightly controlled. Surface vehicles have the advantage of being able to continuously receive GPS position data while navigating, and their locations can be accurately recorded at all times. Subsurface vehicles do not receive GPS data while they are immersed and therefore must generally rely on depth measurements and dead reckoning using electronic compasses [59,60]. Moreover, ASVs can operate safely in hazardous locations and at night and can cover much larger areas, mitigating the risk of crew fatigue. In some cases, they can independently operate off large ships [61].

ASVs started to be developed at an academic level in 1993, when the MIT presented its first vessel, called ARTEMIS [62,63]. The newer ASV, called the Shallow Water Autonomous Multipurpose Platform (SWAMP), is a full-electric catamaran built with the purpose of being a modular multi-functional vehicle, having several applications for a range of missions, such as geomorphological analysis, water sampling, and physical and chemical data collection in harsh environments [64]. This vehicle has four thrusters, azimuth pump-jet thrusters that are flush with the hull, small-draft soft foam, an unsinkable hull structure with high modularity, and a flexible hardware and software architecture [64]. Generally, USVs are associated with unmanned surface vehicles (USVs) [65]. Usually, USVs are equipped with a central processing unit and different memories for saving and providing a preliminary management of the acquired data (e.g., compression and classification). In addition, batteries and photovoltaic panels are equipped to increase the electrical autonomy as much as possible, which generally turns out to be one of the major limiting factors [60]. ENDURUNS is an example of a system that integrates both an AUV and an USV system. The USV is equipped to support the power requests of both systems with photovoltaic panels and rechargeable battery packs. The peculiarity of this AUV is the ability to move using two different modes. The first, thruster mode, allows it to move in a precise and controlled way to perform transects parallel to the seabed and collect data with great accuracy. The second mode is called glider mode and allows it to cover larger areas for a longer time, as consumption is significantly reduced [66–68]. The USV autonomously follows the AUV, providing information for accurate geo-localization of the acquired data. Data transfers between the AUV and the USV are realized through acoustics communication or through a wireless connection [53]. It is also important to establish threshold values at the beginning of the mission for correct data processing. The last phase is represented by adaptation, in which the mission plan can be redesigned by changing the detection scheme and the trajectory of the vehicle [69]. The AUTOSUB Long Range 1500, which is being designed, built, and operated by the National Oceanography Center, is a highly capable AUV with the potential of providing measurements that would have been previously impossible to collect, therefore allowing key advances in marine ecology studies. This vehicle will be built to be able to reach a depth of 1500 m [70,71].

Finally, an underwater "glider" (Table 1) is a specific type of AUV which employs variable-buoyancy propulsion instead of traditional propellers or thrusters. It houses sensors capable of making multidisciplinary oceanographic observations with long-term deployments (months) and has the ability to cover large distances (hundreds to thousands of kilometers) because it has significantly greater endurance compared with traditional AUVs [72]. The typical up-and-down, sawtooth-like profile followed by a glider can

provide data on temporal and spatial scales unattainable by powered AUVs and which are much more costly to sample using traditional shipboard techniques. Four commercially available electric underwater gliders represent the main opportunities in this field: the Slocum electric [73], the Seaglider [34], the Coastal glider [74], and the Sea Explorer [75]. In addition, other gliders are under development, including Spray [76]. Coastal gliders are designed to be applied in the littoral zone (they are self-ballasting from essentially fresh to full ocean water) with a faster maximum speed (2 knots, according to Imlach and Mahr [74]). The Deep Glider, on the other hand, is designed to operate at depths of 6000 m [77]. These vehicles mostly extract energy from wave motion and convert it directly into forward motion. The vehicles also use solar or wind power to charge batteries used to power the navigation systems and the sensor payload.

4. Experimental Data

As mentioned above, the main advantage of coupling e-noses with smart autonomous vehicles relies on the possible customization of analytical procedures, as well as on the rapidity in intervention policies suddenly made possible after an accident or any type of pollution event. Attempts to quantify the ecological effects of special coastal areas, such as MPAs and MPA networks, are usually hampered by a lack of well-designed monitoring studies [78,79]. The management plans for an MPA network aim at protecting and conserving biodiversity and other natural values within protected areas. However, coastal monitoring in an MPA is not limited to the detection of oil pollution and the mapping of VOCs, because various ecological descriptors may be crucial to follow the chemical and physical state of key environments along the coastal waters in a timely manner [80,81], such as in seagrass meadows and recruitment areas. To this end, we designed and realized an innovative system for marine environmental monitoring whose main features are represented by the employment of an innovative probe carried aboard a smart ASV (Figure 2). Although the realization of the monitoring system is still in progress, it may be worth it to present the data obtained to date as a preliminary description of these innovative tools based on the newest technologies appearing on the market. In particular, we designed the prototype of a simple and inexpensive floating ASV able to independently move within an MPA located around the Isand of Ischia and send real-time data to a land-based station located at the local laboratory of Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn. The floating ASV was equipped with three electric propellers mounted under a floating plastic base, containing a glass bell that protected the main components. One of the main innovations was represented by the presence of pioneering probe technology.

The probe was a multi-metal detector produced by SensiChips [82], named "smart cable water" (SCW), based on the impedance generated by the presence of various pollutants. Such probes must be trained prior to be applied for ecological purposes, because their reactions to patterns of various substances are singular and not-linear. In this light, they represent a complex though interesting means to afford biomonitoring of coastal ecosystems. SCW is a multi-sensor microsystem (MSM) produced to monitor the presence of toxic chemicals (TICs), pollutants, hydrocarbons, and organics in water [83,84]. At the core of SCW there is SENSIPLUS, a microsensor platform which can interrogate on-chip and off-chip sensors with its versatile electrical impedance spectrometer (EIS) and potentio-stat. Analyses performed with EIS allow for exploiting the RedOx dynamics of catalytic noble metals to aid the fine discrimination of chemicals along with the measurement of the conductivity and permittivity spectra. The on-chip potentiostat is used for a number of voltammetric or amperometric measurements and real-time discrimination of pollutants.

By cycling the electrodes with overvoltage, the device prevents or mitigates the formation of biofouling. Consequently, SCW may be considered a reliable multiparametric water analysis microsystem. Thanks to its analytical instruments and availability of catalytic interdigitated electrodes, SCW (Table 2) also represents an experimental microsystem for discriminative measurements (Figure 3).



Figure 2. An experimental ASV equipped with an innovative probe under development in our laboratory. An SCW is located on board an ASV, and the CPU directs the movements of the instrument over a network of fixed points to transmit data sets and, eventually, alarms according to thresholds set by local administrators. The probe is automatically extracted from the marine water at given time intervals and mopped to avoid corrosion of the metal plates.

Table 2. Technica	l specifications of SC	W used for our sm	nart monitoring test.
-------------------	------------------------	-------------------	-----------------------

ELECTRICAL					
Supply voltage	1.5–3.6 V				
Max current	0.4 mA continuous when reading on-chip sensors with EIS				
Size	12×15 mm, 3 mm thickness				
Interface	I ² C or SENSIBUS, single data wire multidrop sensor array				
Interface	cable interface, 1.5–3.6 V				
Unique identifier	OTP 48 bits unique device identifier, 16 bits user-defined				
ELECTRICAL IMPEDANCE SPECTROSCOPY					
Frequency	From 3.1 mHz to 1.2 MHz				
Vpp output sinewave	From 156 mV to 2.8 Vpp				
Coherent demodulation	1st, 2nd, or 3rd harmonic				
Output	Reciprocal of real or imagery component				
Wide measurement range	From ohms to $100 \text{ M}\Omega$				
TEMPERATURE					
Range	-40-125 °C				
Accuracy	±0.1 °C				
Thermodynamics	Calorimetry, enthalpy, and exothermic or endothermic				
ELECTROCHEMICAL METHODS					
pН	From 3 to 14, potential of platinum vs. clads-platinum				
ORP	Total oxidation and reduction potentials				
RedOx	Reduction or oxidation activity (free chlorine, hardness)				
Voltammetry	Specific reduction or oxidation potentials				
Anodic stripping voltammetry	Measures heavy metals				
Electro-catalysis	Noble metal IDEs measure current specifically				
IMPEDANCE METHODS					
Conductivity spectroscopy	Resistivity, salinity, EC, TDS, and absorption dynamics				
Dielectric spectroscopy	Turbidity, SS, biomass total and active, and hydrocarbon detection				



Figure 3. Front (left) and rear (right) sides of SCW adopted to produce a smart ASV for coastal monitoring (see Figure 2).

As mentioned above, an SCW needs to be trained to recognize pollutants and other substances of ecological interest. For this purpose, various amounts of key compounds (such as nitrogen and phosphorus compounds) were tested and used to calibrate the probe. Our results indicate that low amounts of important pollutants were detected by the instrument, but a full set of permutated measurements is needed to train the instrument to recognize compounds in any pattern of reciprocal concentrations.

Another constraint is represented by the oxidizing power of the seawater, because continuous immersion in water rich in NaCl produces fast deterioration of some of the metal plates, drastically reducing the performance, as demonstrated by our tests. For this reason, the SCW was mounted over the ASV by means of an immersion device able to move the SCW up and down at various time intervals, protecting it with frequent washes in distilled water followed by mopping and drying of its surface. However, this SCW-equipped ASV was demonstrated to be quite promising for coastal monitoring, because its performance may improve through auto-training and also because of the easy installation over small smart vehicles wirelessly connected to the control stations on land.

5. Autonomous Monitoring Networks

The increase in the exploitation of marine resources enforces the necessity to develop new methods of environmental monitoring which, with the integration of new technologies, make the reaching of new frontiers possible in the field of biological features, namely for environmental, physical, and chemical parameters and sampling surveys [85]. In fact, in recent years, several projects had the goal of identifying new tools for the optimization of monitoring and sampling techniques for the improved assessment of an environmental status, which is the basis of several international management policies [86,87]. The conception of new models of structures for data collection is necessary to cope with the different types of marine environments in which the survey is carried out to increase the operational range either in time or space [64]. While multiparametric cabled bases are a well-proven solution for the remote and continuous monitoring of marine environments [84], the implementation of more autonomous solutions is an important future prospect to ideally allow data collection at any depth and distance from the coast. In this light, network complementation with surface or aerial (radio frequency transmission) and underwater (acoustic) video monitoring may represent the smartest solution.

Video monitoring, in fact, can also be realized by taking advantage of a fixed-point cabled camera installed over a platform [88] or a mobile underwater television (UWTV) consisting of a towed camera sled. The sled is positioned on the seabed and dragged along

a transept. Care must be taken to try to keep the vessel speed stable, as it is affected by the surface conditions [89]. The advantages of the UWTV solution lay in the fact that if used properly, it allows for obtaining a relatively constant measurement while being more accurate and less invasive than trawling surveys. For example, the Scottish government and Joint Nature Conservation Committee [90] considered the use of UWTVs an excellent solution to identifying any new areas potentially eligible to become MPAs [91].

Upon the set-up of various autonomous monitoring vehicles (AUVs), a network composed of AUVs moving around a single buoy may produce timely maps of the marine areas under control (Figure 4). The network should contain a master buoy equipped with a wireless link receiving data from the AUVs and, eventually, satellite communication to an inshore station in order to raise warning signals to the station as well as to check the real-time evolution of pollution events.



Figure 4. Real-time marine monitoring multimodal scenario (from [20], modified). A master buoy (red) receives pollution data from the AUVs (two gray vessels) and sends data to the land through satellite communications.

6. Marine Permanent Infrastructures

Currently, the largest existing networks of underwater observing stations are represented by permanent infrastructures specifically intended for multidisciplinary monitoring and research in the fields of geology, oceanography, and ecology. The advantage of permanent infrastructural networks is that they can be connected directly to the coast or through a succession of nodes [85,86]. Connection by a cable transmission line directly provides power and real-time data transmission to and from the marine observatory. However, networks of this magnitude are very expensive.

The operation costs for this kind of infrastructure are really high, considering the involvement of suitable ships and specialized equipment. Moreover, given the complexity and multidisciplinary nature of the projects, the use of specialized personnel is required in various areas, such as engineers, marine scientists, and data analysts [85,92]. Although the possibility of having a connection with the shore confers numerous advantages by finding an easy solution to the problems of energy supply and data transmission, at the same time, these prove to be a limit if the site of interest is not close enough to the coast [93]. Permanent

structures tend to also be limited due to their restricted spatial coverage and unpredictable bias in monitoring results that can be influenced by the infrastructure's presence [68]. To overcome these limitations, most of these infrastructures are integrated with mobile nodes that allow observations to be extended over a much larger area, taking into account different geographical gradients and different depths. A network designed by different nodes, including mobile ones, allows for collecting data in a more extensive and continuous way, making it possible to follow animal movement across different spatial gradients [94] and energy flux interchanges [95]. The data collected are transmitted through a cyber infrastructure, making it possible for anyone with an Internet connection to download the data in real time. Raw data are archived and read by a system code that separates them into data streams based on the content. According to the requirements, multiple levels of data products are processed with different algorithms to make them easier to consult at different levels of complexity. Each platform hosts several integrated scientific instruments, and they can contain multiple "nodes" to which the integrated instruments are attached, as well as a means for transmitting the data to the shore. Some examples of cabled observatories that integrate remote control systems and interactive sensors are the following.

The Ocean Networks of Canada (ONC) [96] is a research facility hosted and owned by the University of Victoria. This network operates with several ocean observatories in the deep ocean and coastal waters of Canada from the west and east coasts and the Arctic. It continuously collects data in real time, which are made available for scientific research, governments, and industry. Through the use of cabled observatories and remote-control systems, the ONC enables the development of several projects [97].

NEPTUNE is among the largest observatories. This observatory has several nodes, with various cabled instrument platforms and mobile crawlers that can cover around 15 km of linear distance with a depth oscillation of about 500 m [85]. This observatory is equipped with various instruments that can be used in different applications, such as a seismograph to monitor earthquake activity, bottom pressure recorders for real-time tsunami monitoring systems around the world, and specialized hydrophones to track marine mammals' activities [98,99] and investigate how they are influenced by human activities. Specialized sensors, cameras, and remotely controlled sampling devices make NEPTUNE's site easily adaptable for monitoring [98] commercially relevant fishery resources (such as the sablefish *Anoplopoma fimbria*) with life cycles that involve small-scale and large-scale geographic movements with both vertical and horizontal changes [100,101].

The American Ocean Observatory Initiative (OOI) funded by the National Science Foundation was designed as a long-term project to collect ocean data. The Ocean Observatories Initiative is made up of five major research components with several associated arrays located in the northern and southern Atlantic and Pacific according to the demand of the scientific community. Each array is composed of fixed and mobile platforms [102]. A platform can be stable, fixed, or mobile. Mobile components can move up and down in the water column or be a glider, which is able to move in three dimensions. Each platform hosts several integrated scientific instruments and can contain multiple "nodes" to which the integrated instruments are attached, as well as a means for transmitting the data to the shore. The OOI instrumentation is involved in the support of several research projects, including climate variability, ocean food webs, biogeochemical cycles, and coastal ocean dynamics and ecosystems.

The European Multidisciplinary Seafloor and water column Observatory (EMSO) [103] consists of a system of regional observatories located at key sites around Europe. Each platform is equipped with multiple sensors sited along the water column and on the seafloor. They constantly measure different parameters. Data are collected and available to different users, from scientists and industries to institutions and policy makers [104]. The EMSO infrastructure range runs at the European scale from the coastal area to the deep sea and open ocean, operating with both stand-alone observing systems and nodes connected to shore stations through fiber optic cable [105]. The data in both cases are transmitted in real time either through the cables or through acoustic networks featured by satellite-linked

buoys [106]. Data are collected from the surface of the ocean to the seafloor. In addition to generic sensors, specific modules with different instrument combinations are deployed to be able to respond to specific objectives [107]. Many physical and biological applications require observation of the physical and ecological parameters (such as concentrations of oxygen and chlorophyll) at high-resolution time series data over long periods. Other systems for marine ecological research require photo and video imaging, acoustic recording, and in situ collections [65–85].

KM3NeT is a research infrastructure located in the Mediterranean Sea which houses the next-generation neutrino telescopes. Still nearing completion, this structure aims to have a detector volume of several cubic kilometers of clear seawater [108]. The main purpose of this project is to allow an innovative framework for studying neutrinos from distant astrophysical sources. Nonetheless, given the arrays of thousands of sensor modules, this research infrastructure will also house instrumentation for other scientific investigations for long-term and online monitoring that may find application in such fields as marine biology, oceanography, and geophysics [108].

The Joint European Research Infrastructure of Coastal Observatories (JERICO) is a network of coastal observatories providing a European Research Infrastructure (RI) dedicated to the observation and monitoring of marine coastal seas to provide high-quality environmental data as tools for scientific researchers and societal and policy needs [109,110]. It comprises JERICO-S3. In parallel, JERICO-RI is an integrated pan-European multidisciplinary and multi-platform research infrastructure dedicated to the assessment of changes in the coastal marine system. JERICO-S3 officially started in 2020, entitled Marine coastal observatories, facilities, expertise, and data for Europe. Its aim is to be involved in the cooperation of coastal observatories in Europe by the implementation and improvement of the coastal structures of a European Ocean Observing System and to cooperate with other European initiatives. There are currently 10 structures between the different partner nations. These facilities provide wired observatories, AUVs, fixed and multi-platform structures, and calibration laboratories to allow the carrying out of different projects [111]. An example of some of these projects currently underway is the study focused on Algerian Basin (AB) circulation through the monitoring line ABACUS [112] through the AB between Palma de Mallorca and the southern part of the basin [113]. These projects involve partners both public (e.g., university and research institutes) and private (e.g., private non-profit research institutes) from European and non-European countries.

7. IoT Hardware Modules

The European Research Cluster of the Internet of Things defined the IoT as a technological revolution, consisting of a dynamic global network infrastructure with self-configuring capabilities. It is based on standard and interoperable communication protocols. In this system, physical and virtual "things" have identities, physical attributes, and virtual personalities, and they use intelligent interfaces natively integrated into an information network [114]. The IoT is characterized by the integration of various devices equipped with sensing, identification, processing, communication, actuation, and networking capabilities [115] (Figure 5).

The term Internet of Things was initially created in 1999 by Kevin Ashton, an expert in digital innovation [117]. IoTes (i.e., the "objects" taking part of the network) can be variously defined. Firstly, IoTes can be defined as intelligent objects, or "things having identities and virtual personalities" operating in smart spaces and using intelligent interfaces to connect and communicate within social, environmental, and user contexts [118]. IoTes are also considered an extension of the Internet with objects, devices, sensors, and items not ordinarily considered computers [119]. In addition, the IoT is understood as a global network infrastructure linking physical and virtual objects (IoTes) through the exploitation of data capture and communication capabilities [120]. Finally, the IoT can be regarded as a way to promote information interaction by linking people, things, and objects autonomously and intelligently without any temporal or spatial constraints [121,122].



Figure 5. Knowledge integration for the logical relationships among the digital and cyber world as connected with the real world ([116], modified).

Even if the IoT and IoTes are still evolving, their effects are beginning to be seen and are making great strides, offering universal solution media for an interconnected scenario [123]. This is mainly due to the fact that the IoT guarantees high-speed and accurate data with secure processing and an improved client or user experience [124,125]. Its development depends on dynamic technical innovation in a number of important fields, from wireless sensors to nanotechnology [126]. In fact, the IoT can be applied to various fields of our daily life, such as eHealth (a relatively recent health care practice supported by electronic processes and communication) [127], security, entertainment, smart cities, defense, and many other fields [128]. The IoT can be used to manage soil moisture, irrigation and drainage systems, and crops in smart farming systems. Finally, the IoT is useful to monitor the conditions of marine environments, allowing scientists to monitoring such physical parameters as the water temperature, dissolved oxygen, salinity, pH, and turbidity [129]. Smart health sensors are used to collect human physiology information as well and use gateways and clouds to analyze and store the information and wirelessly send the analyzed data to caregivers for further analysis and review [130]. The IoT can also be operated in smart cities for (1) improving infrastructure, public transportation [125], and electrical conductivity thanks to smart grids that combine the information and communications technologies into an electricity network [131] and (2) helping predict natural disasters with the combination of sensors and their autonomous coordination and simulation [132]. However, the IoT is not limited to public uses. It can also be privately adopted for smart home and security systems, such as by natively connecting several household devices to the Internet [133].

Domingo [134] proposed the architecture of an IoT network in three layers: (1) perception, (2) network, and (3) application. The main function of the perception layer is to identify specific objects and gather information. It is formed mainly by sensors, actuators, monitoring stations (such as cell phones, tablet PCs, smart phones, and PDAs), nano-nodes, RFID tags, and readers and writers. Depending on the type of sensor, the information to be referred can be the location, temperature, orientation, motion, vibration, acceleration, humidity, or chemical changes, among other details. The collected information is then passed to the network layer for its secure transmission to the information processing system. This network layer consists of converging, privately owned, wired, or wireless networks where the transmission technology can be chosen (e.g., 3G, UMTS, Wi-fi, Bluetooth, infrared, or ZigBee) depending upon the features of sensor devices. Its main function is to transfer the information obtained from the perception layer to the middleware layer. It receives the information from the network layer, stores it in the database, and autonomously makes some decisions based on the results and the agreed protocols. The application layer provides global management based on the object's information processed in the middleware layer. Finally, the business layer is responsible for the overall management of the IoT system, including applications and services. In particular, this layer eventually builds management models, graphs, and flowcharts, and it proposes the future actions and operative strategies based on the data received from the application layer [132].

Evidently, the IoT represents a future challenge in many technological applications, minimizing efforts, offering the use of efficient resources, and guaranteeing accurate quality data and a high speed of reaction. The reliability and validity of the data, performance, security, and privacy are additional advantages. However, various issues will need to be addressed in the future, such as privacy issues (hackers can break into the system and steal the data) and unemployment, because some activities performed by human operators will be replaced by machines [125,133].

8. The IoT Applied to Marine Environmental Monitoring

IoT-based technologies, as well as wireless sensor networks (WSNs), a subset of IoT, can be applied to the monitoring and protection of marine environments [13]. In particular, monitoring activities employing IoT technology can be used for ocean sensing and monitoring of water quality [134], coral reef protection, offshore and deep-sea fish farms, and wave and current watching [13].

The development of an adaptive, scalable WSN must foresee such critical properties as autonomy, scalability, adaptability, durability, and simplicity [135]. On the other hand, the design and deployment of a lasting and scalable WSN for marine environment monitoring should consider all of the following peculiar challenges mentioned in the second paragraph. Other issues can concern the devices and sensor nodes, which can be highly reliable because of the difficult deployment and maintenance. In addition, their coverage needs to be carefully evaluated, because their application over large areas far from direct control and with expensive, delicate equipment should be protected against possible acts of vandalism [13,135].

Overall, an online marine monitoring system needs (1) sensors adequate to measure seawater features, (2) a controller or processor unit to compute the data from sensors, and (3) communication equipment to send data from the processing unit to the cloud via ground stations. Sending large amounts of data (as large images or videos) to the cloud requires the combination of the IoT and cloud computing, because satellite communications may be expensive, in terms of both money and energy consumed [136,137] (Figure 6), and sensing stations should be relatively small and light.



Figure 6. Physical architecture of smart monitoring systems with data collection networks.

9. Monitoring Applied to Aquaculture and Fishery Productions

Various technological applications of artificial intelligence (AI) were set for improving the sustainability of monitoring in coastal waters and oceans, as well as in aquaculture and smart fishery plants, and they are widespread nowadays [138]. In particular, the attention of scientists in AI-inspired fisheries focused mostly on monitoring the automation of fishery resources (mainly detection, identification, and classification). However, it is still unclear how fishers perceive AI needs and how governments exhibit a tangible strategy on the regulation of AI concerning smart fishery systems to promote the value and potential of the techniques of AI-inspired fisheries. AI has great influence on catch monitoring across fishery systems at sea [139], and several AI applications improved fishing activities, helping the economic evaluation of commercial fleets [140]. In addition, a fishery may be helped by electronic monitoring of the catch and bycatch [141], as well as the detection and forecasting of fishing grounds [142], eventually applying mathematical models to simulate fishing vessel behavior [143]. This also helps to reduce fishery wastes [144] by optimizing the sorting operations. Finally, automation of the monitoring of illegal fishery methods [145] is also possible for reducing the negative impacts of fisheries on coastal areas. The AI technologies of fish farming mainly focus on the means for optimizing the efficient use of resources in ecosystem management [146]. In several instances, fishery and ecological monitoring have been strictly interconnected. In fact, sustainable fisheries are related to environmental monitoring [147]. Various authors stressed the scope of smart fisheries because of the "epidemic of plastics entering the sea". This warrants urgent action if humanity is to stave off a collapse in fish stocks. Additionally, oil spills [148] and global changes [149], as mentioned above, are topics of great concern [150], prompting not only issues of environmental conservation but also large impacts on fisheries [151], requiring accurate and modern monitoring activities. The employment of smart systems able to autonomously tune their activities according to local perturbations and able to be trained for the detection of various compounds (both in the water and over the water, evolving into e-noses) is boosting improvements in various fields of environmental monitoring.

A special case of monitoring marine environments is the one applied to aquaculture activities [152,153], primarily because these activities may impact various coastal areas when practiced in cages, pens, floating tanks, and raceways deployed in open waters [154]. There is great concern about the potential environmental effects of marine finfish cages on the water quality [155] and a large interest in developing an ecologically responsible industry [156,157]. Several reviews [158] have broadly addressed this topic [159–161].

In addition, aquaculture ponds may be considered very special marine environments, and they need continuous monitoring and real-time reactions to negative changes impacting the organisms contained therein [162]. In addition, in this case, artificial intelligence and IoT devices may be applied to improve production efficiency and reduce impacts and risks. In fact, the connection between good environmental conditions and seafood health in aquaculture has been documented [163–165]. Sea cages can be more than 45 m in diameter and 30 m deep, and they need frequent inspections. Although a single cage can contain high value production [166,167], the level of surveillance of the product and of the closer environments is often low [168]. As for tank aquaculture, various remote sensor systems were proposed to have a conveyed gathering of sensor hubs organized together and be able to exchange the crude information up to a base station through an IoT network [169,170]. Using Arduino-like hardware and a few simple probes, automatic farming systems were developed based on IoT platforms (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Block diagram of the system proposed in [169] for IoT control of aquaculture productions (modified).

All IoT systems for aquaculture are to be considered smart systems based on intelligent sensors, intelligent processing, and intelligent control. Their functions consist of data collection, real-time image acquisition, wireless transmission, intelligent processing, warning messages, and auxiliary decision making [171-173]. Any aquaculture IoT monitoring system fundamentally consists of water quality monitoring stations, including meteorological stations, water quality control stations, and on-site and remote monitoring centers. These structures are supported by a central cloud-processing platform [174]. The water monitoring stations are provided with monitoring sensors and take advantage of wireless data collection terminals. Local data are collected in ponds and transmitted to monitoring centers. In particular, such water quality parameters as dissolved oxygen, pH, and ammonia concentration are key elements to allow prompt answers to production issues. Generally, weather stations are also used to acquire in real time such meteorological data as wind speed, wind direction, and air humidity. The system analyzes the relationships between the water quality parameters and weather changes to predict water quality trends and ensure the optimal water quality in the culture tanks. The tank controllers include independent control terminals, an electrical control box, aerators, and other equipment, with the control terminal receiving wireless instruction from the control equipment. On-site and remote monitoring centers based on wireless sensor networks and the Global System for Mobile Communications (GSM) central servers with central cloud processing platforms are included, favoring an intelligent control algorithm for water quality to achieve data acquisition, smart data processing, alarms, and their mailing to human managers [175]. Central cloud processing platforms provide the basis for decision making for farmers by providing a variety of models and algorithms of quality monitoring, feeding, and pond management [176]. These strategies reduce the risks of product losses, reduce the pollution of local environments by increasing the efficiency of culture procedures, and also reduce the need for using drugs, with obvious advantages for local environments.

10. Conclusions

Environmental monitoring solutions must be adapted to each individual situation, because communication systems and the rapidity of responses differently influence the monitoring activities in various environments. Evidently, pollution is concentrated off the coastal areas [177], where anthropized urban settlements are mainly located and maritime traffic is intense [178]. In the case of the Mediterranean, for example, which is almost completely surrounded by lands, ecosystems may be extremely fragile and vulnerable because their waters are slowly renewable, thus making them sensitive to all kinds of pollutants, especially when derived from commercial traffic, industrial pollution, or touristic activities [179]. In parallel, these areas are characterized by valuable and fragile environments such as seagrass meadows and coralligenous areas [180,181], and they deserve a higher degree of monitoring and conservation practices [182]. This task is partially accomplished by the institution of MPAs and sanctuaries, but again, they require a higher level of monitoring and immediate reaction to stresses produced by anthropic activities in order to conserve key reproductive areas and fragile environments [183,184]. In this case, communications are not the most important problem, since the presence of coasts closer to the monitoring areas guarantee a fast transfer of information to the computing centers [176]. In contrast, oil pollution has become a matter of serious environmental concern in all oceans [26], with petroleum hydrocarbons (gasoline, kerosene, fuel oil, etc.) penetrating shallow and deeper environments through spills or leaks, as well as after frequent accidents [27]. Here, the rapid delivery of signals becomes critical because coastal stations are quite far away, and satellite communications become indispensable.

An ocean-sensing and monitoring network is a monitoring system that has basically been applied since the last century because oceanographic and hydrographic research vessels were previously adopted for this purpose. A water quality monitoring system usually monitors water conditions and quality, including water temperature, pH, turbidity, conductivity, and dissolved oxygen (DO) in bays, lakes, rivers, and other water bodies. A coral reef monitoring system typically monitors coral reef habitats and the surrounding environments. A marine fish farm monitoring system checks water conditions and quality, including the temperature and pH. It measures the levels of waste and uneaten feed in a fish farm, as well as fish conditions and activities including the presence of dead fish. A wave and current monitoring system measures waves and currents for safe and secure waterway navigation [13]. The most common tools traditionally used to monitor marine environments are satellite imagery, underwater devices with various sensors, and buoys [184]. These devices transmit data by means of satellite communications or close-range base stations, which present several limitations and elevated infrastructure costs. Unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), as described above, are an alternative for remote environmental monitoring which provides new types of data and ease of use. These techniques are mainly used in video capture-related applications in its various light spectra and do not provide the same data as sensing buoys, nor can they be used for extended periods of time [184]. However, it is important to stress that monitoring the marine environment is quite challenging, because it requires waterproof robust technology to endure the high levels of humidity and salinity, wave collisions, and extreme weather conditions [135].

In this light, the development of newer "noses", coupled with the powerful features of various kinds of UMVs as classified above, may represent a tremendous innovation toward the collection of data in an efficient way, with minimum costs and fast delivery of strategic information. In this review, we have described, from an historical perspective, the main strategies of monitoring coastal and ocean areas, showing that several smart solutions are presently available, although most of them still need complete engineering to reach full applicability, perfect automation, and their best performance.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.C. and V.Z.; methodology, F.G., F.E.; software, F.G., L.G., A.R., M.M., P.B. and R.E.; formal analysis, V.Z. and F.G.; resources, M.C., V.Z., F.E.; data curation, M.C.; writing—original draft preparation, F.G., M.C. and V.Z.; writing—review and editing, V.Z. and M.C.; supervision, A.D.C., M.C. and V.Z. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Ethical review and approval are not applicable for this review.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: SENSIPLUS is a microsensor platform developed by Sensichips.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Chuaysi, B.; Kiattisin, S. Fishing Vessels Behavior Identification for Combating IUU Fishing: Enable Traceability at Sea. *Wirel. Pers. Commun.* **2020**, *115*, 2971–2993. [CrossRef]
- Al-Absi, M.A.; Kamolov, A.; Al-Absi, A.A.; Sain, M.; Lee, H.J. IoT Technology with Marine Environment Protection and Monitoring. In *International Conference on Smart Computing and Cyber Security*; Springer: Singapore, 2021; pp. 81–89.
- 3. DONET System Concept. Available online: https://www.jamstec.go.jp/donet/e/ (accessed on 16 January 2022).
- González, F.I.; Milburn, H.B.; Bernard, E.N.; Newman, J. Deep-Ocean Assessment and Reporting of Tsunamis (DART[®]): Brief Overview and Status Report. In Proceedings of the International Workshop on Tsunami Disaster Mitigation, Tokyo, Japan, 19 January 1998; pp. 19–22.
- 5. Meinig, C.; Stalin, S.; Stalin, S.E.; Nakamura, A.I.; Milburn, H.B. Real-Time Deep-Ocean Tsunami Measuring, Monitoring, and Reporting System: The NOAA DART II Description and Disclosure; NOAA: Washington, DC, USA, 2005.
- Tonacci, A.; Lippa, M.A.; Pioggia, G.; Domenici, C.; Lacava, G.; Lupi, L.; Gualdesi, L.; Cocco, M. A Smart Multimodal Innovative Model For Marine Environmental Monitoring. In Proceedings of the 29th European Conference on Modelling and Simulation ECMS, Albena, Bulgaria, 26–29 May 2015; pp. 455–461.
- Milburn, H.B.; Nakamura, A.I.; Gonzalez, F.I. Real-Time Tsunami Reporting from the Deep Ocean. In Proceedings of the Oceans Conference Record (IEEE), Lauderdale, FL, USA, 3–26 September 1996; Volume 1, pp. 390–394.
- Kim, S.; Lee, W.; Kwon, H.; Kim, J. Design and Preliminary Implementation of an IoT-Based System for Ocean Observation Buoys. In Proceedings of the ITC-CSCC, Okinawa, Japan, 10 July 2016; pp. 865–867.
- Kim, S.M.; Lee, U.H.; Kwon, H.J.; Kim, J.Y.; Kim, J. Development of an IoT Platform for Ocean Observation Buoys. *IEIE Trans.* Smart Process. Comput. 2017, 6, 109–116. [CrossRef]
- Boonma, P.; Suzuki, J. An Adaptive, Scalable and Self-Healing Sensor Network Architecture for Autonomous Coastal Environmental Monitoring. In Proceedings of the IEEE Conference on Technologies for Homeland Security, Woburn, MA, USA, 16–17 May 2007; p. 18.
- Albaladejo, C.; Sánchez, P.; Iborra, A.; Soto, F.; López, J.A.; Torres, R. Wireless Sensor Networks for Oceanographic Monitoring: A Systematic Review. Sensors 2010, 10, 6948–6968. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 12. Hadim, S.; Mohamed, N. Middleware: Middleware Challenges and Approaches for Wireless Sensor Networks. *IEEE Distrib. Syst. Online* **2006**, *7*, 1–23. [CrossRef]
- 13. Xu, G.; Shi, Y.; Sun, X.; Shen, W. Internet of Things in Marine Environment Monitoring: A Review. *Sensors* **2019**, *19*, 1711. [CrossRef]
- Alippi, C.; Camplani, R.; Galperti, C.; Roveri, M. Effective Design of WSNs: From the Lab to the Real World. In Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Sensing Technology, ICST 2008, Taipei, Taiwan, 30 November–3 December 2008; pp. 1–9. [CrossRef]
- 15. Cardei, M.; Wu, J. Energy-Efficient Coverage Problems in Wireless Ad-Hoc Sensor Networks. *Comput. Commun.* **2006**, *29*, 413–420. [CrossRef]

- Alpers, W.; Hühnerfuss, H. The Damping of Ocean Waves by Surface Films: A New Look at an Old Problem. J. Geophys. Res. Ocean. 1989, 94, 6251–6265. [CrossRef]
- 17. Topouzelis, K.; Karathanassi, V.; Pavlakis, P.; Rokos, D. Detection and Discrimination between Oil Spills and Look-Alike Phenomena through Neural Networks. *ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens.* **2007**, *62*, 264–270. [CrossRef]
- Van der Meer, F.; Jong, S. De Imaging spectrometry: Basic principles and prospective applications. In *Basic Principles of Imaging Spectrometry*; Kluwer Academic: Alphen aan den Rijn, The Netherlands, 2001; pp. 21–23.
- 19. Martins, F.; Leitão, P.; Silva, A.; Neves, R. 3D Modelling in the Sado Estuary Using a New Generic Vertical Discretization Approach. Oceanol. Acta 2001, 24, 51–62. [CrossRef]
- 20. Tonacci, A.; Corda, D.; Tartarisco, G.; Pioggia, G.; Domenici, C. A Smart Sensor System for Detecting Hydrocarbon Volatile Organic Compounds in Sea Water. *CLEAN–Soil Air Water* **2015**, *43*, 147–152. [CrossRef]
- 21. Bourgeois, W.; Stuetz, R.M. Use of a Chemical Sensor Array for Detecting Pollutants in Domestic Wastewater. *Water Res.* 2002, *36*, 4505–4512. [CrossRef]
- Sobański, T.; Szczurek, A.; Nitsch, K.; Licznerski, B.W.; Radwan, W. Electronic Nose Applied to Automotive Fuel Qualification. Sens. Actuators B Chem. 2006, 116, 207–212. [CrossRef]
- Pieri, G.; Cocco, M.; Salvetti, O. A Marine Information System for Environmental Monitoring: ARGO-MIS. J. Mar. Sci. Eng. 2018, 6, 15. [CrossRef]
- Moroni, D.; Pieri, G.; Tampucci, M.; Salvetti, O. Environmental Monitoring Integrated with a Proactive Marine Information System. *Proceedings* 2018, 2, 98. [CrossRef]
- 25. Tonacci, A.; Lacava, G.; Lippa, M.A.; Lupi, L.; Cocco, M.; Domenici, C. Electronic Nose and AUV: A Novel Perspective in Marine Pollution Monitoring. *Mar. Technol. Soc. J.* 2015, 49, 18–24. [CrossRef]
- 26. Ines, Z.; Amina, B.; Mahmoud, R.; Dalila, S.-M. Aliphatic and Aromatic Biomarkers for Petroleum Hydrocarbon Monitoring in Khniss Tunisian-Coast, (Mediterranean Sea). *Procedia Environ. Sci.* **2013**, *18*, 211–220. [CrossRef]
- Mille, G.; Asia, L.; Guiliano, M.; Malleret, L.; Doumenq, P. Hydrocarbons in Coastal Sediments from the Mediterranean Sea (Gulf of Fos Area, France). *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 2007, 54, 566–575. [CrossRef]
- Marcelli, M.; Piermattei, V.; Gerin, R.; Brunetti, F.; Pietrosemoli, E.; Addo, S.A.M.; Boudaya, L.; Coleman, R.; Nubi, O.A.; Jojannes, R. Toward the Widespread Application of Low-Cost Technologies in Coastal Ocean Observing (Internet of Things for the Ocean). *Mediterr. Mar. Sci.* 2021, 22, 255–269. [CrossRef]
- Derycke, S.; Remerie, T.; Vierstraete, A.; Backeljau, T.; Vanfleteren, J.; Vincx, M.; Moens, T. Mitochondrial DNA Variation and Cryptic Speciation within the Free-Living Marine Nematode Pellioditis Marina. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 2005, 300, 91–103. [CrossRef]
- 30. Sogin, M.L.; Morrison, H.G.; Huber, J.A.; Welch, D.M.; Huse, S.M.; Neal, P.R.; Arrieta, J.M.; Herndl, G.J. Microbial Diversity in the Deep Sea and the Underexplored "Rare Biosphere". *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2006**, *103*, 12115–12120. [CrossRef]
- Danovaro, R.; Gambi, C.; Dell'Anno, A.; Corinaldesi, C.; Fraschetti, S.; Vanreusel, A.; Vincx, M.; Gooday, A.J. Exponential Decline of Deep-Sea Ecosystem Functioning Linked to Benthic Biodiversity Loss. *Curr. Biol.* 2008, 18, 1–8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Danovaro, R.; Snelgrove, P.V.R.; Tyler, P. Challenging the Paradigms of Deep-Sea Ecology. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* **2014**, *29*, 465–475. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Aguado, E.; Milosevic, Z.; Hernández, C.; Sanz, R.; Garzon, M.; Bozhinoski, D.; Rossi, C. Functional Self-Awareness and Metacontrol for Underwater. Robot Autonomy. Sensors 2021, 21, 1210. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Eriksen, C.C.; Osse, T.J.; Light, R.D.; Wen, T.; Lehman, T.W.; Sabin, P.L.; Ballard, J.W.; Chiodi, A.M. Seaglider: A Long-Range Autonomous Underwater Vehicle for Oceanographic Research. *IEEE J. Ocean. Eng.* **2001**, *26*, 424–436. [CrossRef]
- Funaki, M.; Hirasawa, N. Outline of a Small Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (Ant-Plane) Designed for Antarctic Research. *Polar Sci.* 2008, 2, 129–142. [CrossRef]
- Leong, S.C.Y.; Tkalich, P.; Patrikalakis, N.M. Monitoring Harmful Algal Blooms in Singapore: Developing a HABs Observing System. In Proceedings of the Program Book-OCEANS 2012 MTS/IEEE Yeosu: The Living Ocean and Coast-Diversity of Resources and Sustainable Activities, Yeosu, Korea, 21–24 May 2012. [CrossRef]
- 37. Meyer, D. Glider Technology for Ocean Observations: A Review. Ocean. Sci. Discuss. 2016, 40, 1–26. [CrossRef]
- Williams, S.B.; Pizarro, O.; Webster, J.M.; Beaman, R.J.; Mahon, I.; Johnson-Roberson, M.; Bridge, T.C.L. Autonomous Underwater Vehicle–Assisted Surveying of Drowned Reefs on the Shelf Edge of the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. J. Field Robot. 2010, 27, 675–697. [CrossRef]
- Wynn, R.B.; Huvenne, V.A.I.; Le Bas, T.P.; Murton, B.J.; Connelly, D.P.; Bett, B.J.; Ruhl, H.A.; Morris, K.J.; Peakall, J.; Parsons, D.R.; et al. Autonomous Underwater Vehicles (AUVs): Their Past, Present and Future Contributions to the Advancement of Marine Geoscience. *Mar. Geol.* 2014, 352, 451–468. [CrossRef]
- Inoue, J.; Curry, J.A.; Maslanik, J.A. Application of Aerosondes to Melt-Pond Observations over Arctic Sea Ice. J. Atmos. Ocean. Technol. 2008, 25, 327–334. [CrossRef]
- Forney, K.A.; Ferguson, M.C.; Becker, E.A.; Fiedler, P.C.; Redfern, J.V.; Barlow, J.; Vilchis, I.L.; Ballance, L.T. Habitat-Based Spatial Models of Cetacean Density in the Eastern Pacific Ocean. *Endanger. Species Res.* 2012, *16*, 113–133. [CrossRef]
- 42. Hodgson, A.J.; Noad, M.; Marsh, H.; Lanyon, J.; Kniest, E. Using Unmanned Aerial Vehicles for Surveys of Marine Mammals in Australia: Test of Concept. Available online: https://espace.library.uq.edu.au/view/UQ:690328 (accessed on 31 July 2021).

- 43. Koski, W.R.; Allen, T.; Ireland, D.; Buck, G.; Smith, P.R.; Macrander, A.M.; Halick, M.A.; Rushing, C.; Sliwa, D.J.; Mcdonald, T.L. Evaluation of an Unmanned Airborne System for Monitoring Marine Mammals. *Aquat. Mamm.* **2009**, *35*, 347–357. [CrossRef]
- 44. Lyons, C.; Koski, W.R.; Ireland, D.S. Unmanned Aerial Surveys. In *Joint Monitoring Program in the Chukchi and Beaufort Seas, Open Water Seasons 2006*; LGL Alaska Research Associates: Anchorage, AK, USA, 2008; Chapter 8; 15p.
- 45. Llewellyn, L.E.; Bainbridge, S.J. Getting up Close and Personal: The Need to Immerse Autonomous Vehicles in Coral Reefs. In Proceedings of the OCEANS 2015-MTS/IEEE, Washington, DC, USA, 19–22 October 2016. [CrossRef]
- 46. Huvenne, V.A.I.; Bett, B.J.; Masson, D.G.; Le Bas, T.P.; Wheeler, A.J. Effectiveness of a Deep-Sea Cold-Water Coral Marine Protected Area, Following Eight Years of Fisheries Closure. *Biol. Conserv.* **2016**, *200*, 60–69. [CrossRef]
- Benoist, N.M.A.; Morris, K.J.; Bett, B.J.; Durden, J.M.; Huvenne, V.A.I.; Le Bas, T.P.; Wynn, R.B.; Ware, S.J.; Ruhl, H.A. Monitoring Mosaic Biotopes in a Marine Conservation Zone by Autonomous Underwater Vehicle. *Conserv. Biol.* 2019, 33, 1174–1186. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 48. European Environment. Agency Marine Protected Areas-Designed to Conserve Europe's Marine Life, Marine Protected Areas Are a Globally Recognised Tool for Managing and Enhancing Our Marine Ecosystems; European Environment Agency (EEA): Copenhagen, Denmark, 2018.
- Furlong, M.E.; Paxton, D.; Stevenson, P.; Pebody, M.; McPhail, S.D.; Perrett, J. Autosub Long Range: A Long Range Deep Diving AUV for Ocean Monitoring. In Proceedings of the 2012 IEEE/OES Autonomous Underwater Vehicles, AUV 2012, Southampton, UK, 24–27 September 2012. [CrossRef]
- 50. Smale, D.A.; Kendrick, G.A.; Harvey, E.S.; Langlois, T.J.; Hovey, R.K.; Van Niel, K.P.; Waddington, K.I.; Bellchambers, L.M.; Pember, M.B.; Babcock, R.C.; et al. Regional-Scale Benthic Monitoring for Ecosystem-Based Fisheries Management (EBFM) Using an Autonomous Underwater Vehicle (AUV). *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 2012, *69*, 1108–1118. [CrossRef]
- 51. Robbins, I.C.; Kirkpatrick, G.J.; Blackwell, S.M.; Hillier, J.; Knight, C.A.; Moline, M.A. Improved Monitoring of HABs Using Autonomous Underwater Vehicles (AUV). *Harmful Algae* 2006, *5*, 749–761. [CrossRef]
- 52. Ramos, P.; Cruz, N.; Matos, A.; Neves, M.V.; Pereira, F.L. Monitoring an Ocean Outfall Using an AUV. In Proceedings of the Oceans Conference Record (IEEE), Honolulu, HI, USA, 5–8 November 2001; Volume 3, pp. 2009–2014. [CrossRef]
- Marini, S.; Gjeci, N.; Govindaraj, S.; But, A.; Sportich, B.; Ottaviani, E.; Márquez, F.; Sánchez, P.J.B.; Pedersen, J.; Clausen, C.V.; et al. ENDURUNS: An Integrated and Flexible Approach for Seabed Survey Through Autonomous Mobile Vehicles. *J. Mar. Sci. Eng.* 2020, *8*, 633. [CrossRef]
- Jones, D.O.B.; Gates, A.R.; Huvenne, V.A.I.; Phillips, A.B.; Bett, B.J. Autonomous Marine Environmental Monitoring: Application in Decommissioned Oil Fields. Sci. Total Environ. 2019, 668, 835–853. [CrossRef]
- 55. Huvenne, V.A.I.; Robert, K.; Marsh, L.; Lo Iacono, C.; Le Bas, T.; Wynn, R.B. ROVs and AUVs. In *Submarine Geomorphology*; Springer Geology: Cham, Swizerland, 2018; pp. 93–108. [CrossRef]
- Jawhar, I.; Mohamed, N.; Al-Jaroodi, J.; Zhang, S. An Architecture for Using Autonomous Underwater Vehicles in Wireless Sensor Networks for Underwater Pipeline Monitoring. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Inform.* 2019, 15, 1329–1340. [CrossRef]
- He, Y.; Wang, D.B.; Ali, Z.A. A Review of Different Designs and Control Models of Remotely Operated Underwater Vehicle. *Meas. Control.* 2020, 53, 1561–1570. [CrossRef]
- 58. Griffiths, G. *Technology and Applications of Autonomous Underwater Vehicles-Google Libri;* CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2002; Volume 2.
- Wynn, R.B.; Evans, A.J.; Griffiths, G.; Jones, V.A.I.; Palmer, A.R.; Dove, M.R.; Boyd, J.A. NERC-MAREMAP Report to Defra: AUVs and Gliders for MPA Mapping and Monitoring. Available online: https://eprints.soton.ac.uk/372785/1/DEFRA_MB011 8%2528Wynn%2529_FINAL.pdf (accessed on 31 July 2021).
- Verfuss, U.K.; Aniceto, A.S.; Harris, D.V.; Gillespie, D.; Fielding, S.; Jiménez, G.; Johnston, P.; Sinclair, R.R.; Sivertsen, A.; Solbø, S.A.; et al. A Review of Unmanned Vehicles for the Detection and Monitoring of Marine Fauna. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 2019, 140, 17–29. [CrossRef]
- 61. Majid, M.H.A.; Arshad, M.R. Design of an Autonomous Surface Vehicle (ASV) for Swarming Application. In Proceedings of the Autonomous Underwater Vehicles 2016, AUV 2016, Tokyo, Japan, 6–9 November 2016; pp. 230–235. [CrossRef]
- 62. Rodriguez-Ortiz, C.D. Automated Bathymetry Mapping Using an Autonomous Surface Craft. Ph.D. Thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, USA, 1996.
- 63. Pahl, J.; Voß, S. Maritime Load Dependent Lead Times-An Analysis; Springer: Cham, Swizerland, 2017; Volume 10572, ISBN 9783319684956.
- 64. Odetti, A.; Bruzzone, G.; Altosole, M.; Viviani, M.; Caccia, M. SWAMP, an Autonomous Surface Vehicle Expressly Designed for Extremely Shallow Waters. *Ocean. Eng.* **2020**, *216*, 108205. [CrossRef]
- Aguzzi, J.; Chatzievangelou, D.; Marini, S.; Fanelli, E.; Danovaro, R.; Flögel, S.; Lebris, N.; Juanes, F.; De Leo, F.C.; Del Rio, J.; et al. New High-Tech Flexible Networks for the Monitoring of Deep-Sea Ecosystems. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2019, *53*, 6616–6631. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, F.; Zhu, J.; Chen, L.; Zuo, Y.; Hu, X.; Yang, Y. Autonomous and In Situ Ocean Environmental Monitoring on Optofluidic Platform. *Micromachines* 2020, 11, 69. [CrossRef]
- 67. Zhang, Y.; Ryan, J.P.; Kieft, B.; Hobson, B.W.; McEwen, R.S.; Godin, M.A.; Harvey, J.B.; Bellingham, J.G.; Birch, J.M.; Scholin, C.A.; et al. Targeted Sampling by Autonomous Underwater Vehicles. *Front. Mar. Sci.* **2019**, *6*, 415. [CrossRef]

- 68. Rountree, R.A.; Aguzzi, J.; Marini, S.; Fanelli, E.; De Leo, F.C.; Del Rio, J.; Juanes, F. Towards an optimal design for ecosystem-level ocean observatories. In *Oceanography and Marine Biology*; Taylor & Francis: Abingdon, UK, 2020.
- 69. Hwang, J.; Bose, N.; Fan, S. AUV Adaptive Sampling Methods: A Review. Appl. Sci. 2019, 9, 3145. [CrossRef]
- Roper, D.T.; Phillips, A.B.; Harris, C.A.; Salavasidis, G.; Pebody, M.; Templeton, R.; Amma, S.V.S.; Smart, M.; McPhail, S. Autosub Long Range 1500: An Ultra-Endurance AUV with 6000 Km Range. In OCEANS 2017-Aberdeen; IEEE: Piscataway, NJ, USA, 2017; pp. 1–5. [CrossRef]
- 71. Roper, D.; Harris, C.A.; Salavasidis, G.; Pebody, M.; Templeton, R.; Prampart, T.; Kingsland, M.; Morrison, R.; Furlong, M.; Phillips, A.B.; et al. Autosub Long Range 6000: A Multiple-Month Endurance AUV for Deep-Ocean Monitoring and Survey. *IEEE J. Ocean. Eng.* 2021, *46*, 1179–1191. [CrossRef]
- 72. Davis, R.E.; Eriksen, C.C.; Jones, C.P. Autonomous Buoyancy-Driven Underwater Gliders. In *The Technology and Applications of Autonomous Underwater Vehicles*; CRC Press: London, UK, 2002; pp. 37–58.
- Webb, D.C.; Simonetti, P.J.; Jones, C.P. SLOCUM: An Underwater Glider Propelled by Environmental Energy. *IEEE J. Ocean. Eng.* 2001, 26, 447–452. [CrossRef]
- Imlach, J.; Mahr, R. Modification of a Military Grade Glider for Coastal Scientific Applications. In Proceedings of the OCEANS 2012 MTS/IEEE: Harnessing the Power of the Ocean, Hampton Roads, VA, USA, 14–19 October 2012. [CrossRef]
- 75. ODYSSEA | Operating a Network of Integrated Observatory Systems in the Mediterranean Sea. Available online: https://odysseaplatform.eu/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- 76. Sherman, J.; Davis, R.E.; Owens, W.B.; Valdes, J. The Autonomous Underwater Glider "Spray". *IEEE J. Ocean. Eng.* 2001, 26, 437–446. [CrossRef]
- 77. Osse, T.J.; Eriksen, C.C. The Deepglider: A Full Ocean Depth Glider for Oceanographic Research. In Proceedings of the Oceans Conference Record (IEEE), Vancouver, BC, Canada, 29 September–4 October 2007. [CrossRef]
- 78. Guidetti, P. The Importance of Experimental Design in Detecting the Effects of Protection Measures on Fish in Mediterranean MPAs. *Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.* **2002**, *12*, 619–634. [CrossRef]
- Sciberras, M.; Jenkins, S.R.; Kaiser, M.J.; Hawkins, S.J.; Pullin, A.S. Evaluating the Biological Effectiveness of Fully and Partially Protected Marine Areas. *Environ. Evid.* 2013, 2, 4. [CrossRef]
- Hayes, K.R.; Hosack, G.R.; Lawrence, E.; Hedge, P.; Barrett, N.S.; Przeslawski, R.; Caley, M.J.; Foster, S.D. Designing Monitoring Programs for Marine Protected Areas Within an Evidence Based Decision Making Paradigm. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 2019, *6*, 746. [CrossRef]
- 81. Farrell, J.A.; Pang, S.; Li, W. Chemical Plume Tracing via an Autonomous Underwater Vehicle. *IEEE J. Ocean. Eng.* 2005, 30, 428–442. [CrossRef]
- 82. Sensichips: Learning Microsensors. Available online: https://sensichips.com/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- Bria, A.; Cerro, G.; Ferdinandi, M.; Marrocco, C.; Molinara, M. An IoT-Ready Solution for Automated Recognition of Water Contaminants. *Pattern Recognit. Lett.* 2020, 135, 188–195. [CrossRef]
- Bourelly, C.; Bria, A.; Ferrigno, L.; Gerevini, L.; Marrocco, C.; Molinara, M.; Cerro, G.; Cicalini, M.; Ria, A. A Preliminary Solution for Anomaly Detection in Water Quality Monitoring. In Proceedings of the 2020 IEEE International Conference on Smart Computing, Bologna, Italy, 14–17 September 2020; Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers Inc.: Piscataway, NJ, USA, 2020; pp. 410–415.
- 85. Aguzzi, J.; Chatzievangelou, D.; Company, J.B.; Thomsen, L.; Marini, S.; Bonofiglio, F.; Juanes, F.; Rountree, R.; Berry, A.; Chumbinho, R.; et al. The Potential of Video Imagery from Worldwide Cabled Observatory Networks to Provide Information Supporting Fish-Stock and Biodiversity Assessment. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* **2020**, *77*, 2396–2410. [CrossRef]
- Danovaro, R.; Aguzzi, J.; Fanelli, E.; Billett, D.; Gjerde, K.; Jamieson, A.; Ramirez-Llodra, E.; Smith, C.; Snelgrove, P.; Van Dover, C. An Ecosystem-Based Deep-Ocean Strategy. *Science* 2017, 355, 452–454. [CrossRef]
- Danovaro, R.; Fanelli, E.; Aguzzi, J.; Billett, D.; Carugati, L.; Corinaldesi, C.; Dell'Anno, A.; Gjerde, K.; Jamieson, A.J.; Kark, S.; et al. Ecological Variables for Developing a Global Deep-Ocean Monitoring and Conservation Strategy. *Nat. Ecol. Evol.* 2020, 4, 181–192. [CrossRef]
- 88. Gaughan, P.J.; Kolar, H.R. Implementing a Smartbay on the West Coast of Ireland. J. Ocean. Technol. 2010, 5, 55–70.
- 89. Leocádio, A.; Weetman, A.; Wieland, K. (Eds.) *Using Underwater Television Surveys to Assess and Advise on Nephrops Stocks;* International Council for the Exploration of the Sea. ICES Cooperative: UK, 2018; ISBN 9788774822127.
- 90. JNCC. Joint Nature Conservation Committee Scientific Advice on Possible Offshore Marine Conservation Zones Considered for Consultation in 2015; JNCC: Peterborough, UK, 2014.
- Bell, E.; Clements, A.; Dobby, H.; Doyle, J.; Feekings, J.; Leocádio, A.; Lordan, C.; Weetman, A.; Wieland, K. Using Underwater Television Surveys to Assess and Advise on Nephrops Stocks. In *ICES Cooperative Research Report*; International Council for the Exploration of the Sea: Copenhagen, Denmark, 2018.
- 92. Cristini, L.; Lampitt, R.S.; Cardin, V.; Delory, E.; Haugan, P.; O'Neill, N.; Petihakis, G.; Ruhl, H.A. Cost and Value of Multidisciplinary Fixed-Point Ocean Observatories. *Mar. Policy* **2016**, *71*, 138–146. [CrossRef]
- Locascio, J.; Mann, D.; Wilcox, K.; Luther, M. Incorporation of Acoustic Sensors on a Coastal Ocean Monitoring Platform for Measurements of Biological Activity. *Mar. Technol. Soc. J.* 2018, 52, 64–70. [CrossRef]

- Aguzzi, J.; Doya, C.; Tecchio, S.; De Leo, F.C.; Azzurro, E.; Costa, C.; Sbragaglia, V.; Del Río, J.; Navarro, J.; Ruhl, H.A.; et al. Coastal Observatories for Monitoring of Fish Behaviour and Their Responses to Environmental Changes. *Rev. Fish Biol. Fish.* 2015, 25, 463–483. [CrossRef]
- 95. Thomsen, L.; Aguzzi, J.; Costa, C.; De Leo, F.; Ogston, A.; Purser, A. The Oceanic Biological Pump: Rapid Carbon Transfer to Depth at Continental Margins during Winter. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 10763. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 96. Ocean Networks Canada. Available online: https://www.oceannetworks.ca/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- Ten Years (2006–2016) of Oceanographic Temperature, Salinity, Pressure, Density and Dissolved Oxygen Data from the Saanich Inlet Cabled Observatory-Ocean Networks Canada. Available online: https://www.oceannetworks.ca/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- Blondel, P.; Hatta, A.A.Z. Acoustic Soundscapes and Biodiversity–Comparing Metrics, Seasons and Depths with Data from the Neptune Ocean Observatory Offshore British Columbia. In Proceedings of the UACE2017-4th Underwater Acoustics Conference and Exhibition ACOUSTIC, Skiathos, Greece, 11 September 2017; pp. 763–768.
- 99. Hendricks, B.; Wray, J.L.; Keen, E.M.; Alidina, H.M.; Gulliver, T.A.; Picard, C.R. Automated Localization of Whales in Coastal Fjords. *J. Acoust. Soc. Am.* **2019**, *146*, 4672. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 100. Orlov, A. Possible Ways of Exchange between Asian and American Ichthyofaunas in the North Pacific Ocean. ICES CM 2003, Q:09 (2003b). Available online: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228961925_Possible_ways_of_exchange_between_ Asian_and_American_ichthyofaunas_in_the_North_Pacific_Ocean (accessed on 31 July 2021).
- 101. Hanselman, D.; Heifetz, J.; Echave, K.; Dressel, S. Move It or Lose It: Movement and Mortality of Sablefish Tagged in Alaska. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* **2014**, *72*, 238–251. [CrossRef]
- Ocean Observatories Initiative–A New Era of Oceanography. Available online: https://oceanobservatories.org/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- 103. EMSO–Observing the Ocean to Save the Earth. Available online: http://emso.eu/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- 104. Favali, P.; Beranzoli, L. Seafloor Observatory Science: A Review. Geophys 2006, 49, 515–567. [CrossRef]
- 105. Best, M.; Favali, P.; Beranzoli, L.; Cannat, M.; Cagatay, N.; Dañobeitia, J.J.; Delory, E.; De Stigter, H.; Ferré, B.; Gillooly, M.; et al. EMSO: A Distributed Infrastructure for Addressing Geohazards and Global Ocean Change. *Oceanography* 2014, 27, 167–169. [CrossRef]
- 106. Ruhl, H.A.; André, M.; Beranzoli, L.; Çaĝatay, M.N.; Colaço, A.; Cannat, M.; Dañobeitia, J.J.; Favali, P.; Géli, L.; Gillooly, M.; et al. Societal Need for Improved Understanding of Climate Change, Anthropogenic Impacts, and Geo-Hazard Warning Drive Development of Ocean Observatories in European Seas. *Prog. Oceanogr.* 2011, *91*, 1–33. [CrossRef]
- 107. KM3NeT-Opens a New Window on Our Universe. Available online: https://www.km3net.org/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- Breton, L.; Collaboration, N. KM3NeT: Next-generation neutrino telescope in the Mediterranean Sea. Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. Sect. A Accel. Spectrometers Detect. Assoc. Equip. 2019, 936, 204–207. [CrossRef]
- JERICO-S3 | Joint European Research Infrastructure for Coastal Observatories. Available online: https://www.jerico-ri.eu/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- Puillat, I.; Farcy, P.; Durand, D.; Karlson, B.; Petihakis, G.; Seppälä, J.; Sparnocchia, S. Progress in Marine Science Supported by European Joint Coastal Observation Systems: The JERICO-RI Research Infrastructure. J. Mar. Syst. 2016, 162, 1–3. [CrossRef]
- Cotroneo, Y.; Aulicino, G.; Ruiz, S.; Sánchez Román, A.; Torner Tomàs, M.; Pascual, A.; Fusco, G.; Heslop, E.; Tintoré, J.; Budillon, G. Glider Data Collected during the Algerian Basin Circulation Unmanned Survey. *Earth Syst. Sci. Data* 2019, 11, 147–161. [CrossRef]
- 112. First Call | JERICO Research Infrastructure. Available online: https://www.jerico-ri.eu/ta/call-program/first-call/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- 113. Van Kranenburg, R. *The Internet of Things: A Critique of Ambient Technology and the All-Seeing Network of RFID;* Institute of Network Cultures: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2008.
- 114. Yang, C.; Shen, W.; Wang, X. The Internet of Things in Manufacturing: Key Issues and Potential Applications. *IEEE Syst. Man Cybern. Mag.* 2018, *4*, 6–15. [CrossRef]
- 115. IERC-European Research Cluster on the Internet of Things. Available online: http://internet-of-things-research.eu/ (accessed on 24 September 2021).
- 116. Li, C.Z.E.; Deng, Z.W. The Embedded Modules Solution of Household Internet of Things System and The Future Development. *Procedia Comput. Sci.* **2020**, *166*, 350–356. [CrossRef]
- 117. DG INFSO; EPoSS. Internet of Things: A Roadmap for the Future. INFSO D 2008, 4, 3–27.
- Rose, K.; Eldridge, S.; Chapin, L. The Internet of Things: An Overview Understanding the Issues and Challenges of a More Connected World. *Proc. Internet Soc. (ISOC)* 2015, 57, 1–53.
- 119. Tarkoma, S.; Katasonov, A. Internet of Things Strategic Research Agenda. In Finnish Strategic Centre for Science, Technology and Innovation. Available online: http://www.internetofthings.fi/ (accessed on 12 December 2021).
- 120. Fang, S.; Xu, L.D.; Zhu, Y.; Ahati, J.; Pei, H.; Yan, J.; Liu, Z. An Integrated System for Regional Environmental Monitoring and Management Based on Internet of Things. *IEEE Trans. Ind. Inform.* 2014, 10, 1596–1605. [CrossRef]
- 121. Fleisch, E. What is the internet of things? An economic prospective. Econ. Manag. Financ. Mark. 2010, 5, 125–157.
- 122. Ray, P.P. A Survey on Internet of Things Architectures. J. King Saud Univ. -Comput. Inf. Sci. 2018, 30, 291–319. [CrossRef]

- 123. Mallon, S. IoT Is the Most Important Development of the 21st Century. Available online: https://www.smartdatacolletive.com/ iot-most-important-development-of-21st-century/ (accessed on 12 December 2021).
- 124. Sarika, A.K.; Vinit, D.; Durafe, M.A. A Review Paper on Internet of Things and It's Applications. *Int. Res. J. Eng. Technol.* 2019, 6, 1623–1630.
- 125. Madakam, S.; Ramaswamy, R.; Tripathi, S. Internet of Things (IoT): A Literature Review. *Comput. Commun.* 2015, *3*, 164–173. [CrossRef]
- 126. Eysenbach, G. What Is E-Health? J. Med. Internet Res. 2001, 3, e20. [CrossRef]
- 127. Ahmed, B.S.; Bures, M.; Frajtak, K.; Cerny, T. Aspects of Quality in Internet of Things (IoT) Solutions: A Systematic Mapping Study. *IEEE Access* 2019, *7*, 13758–13780. [CrossRef]
- 128. Tziortzioti, C.; Amaxilatis, D.; Mavrommati, I.; Chatzigiannakis, I. IoT Sensors in Sea Water Environment: Ahoy! Experiences from a Short Summer Trial. *Electron. Notes Theor. Comput. Sci.* **2019**, *343*, 117–130. [CrossRef]
- 129. Zeinab, K.; Elmustafa, S. Internet of Things Applications, Challenges and Related Future Technologies. *World Sci. News* **2017**, *67*, 126–148.
- 130. Al Nuaimi, E.; Al Neyadi, H.; Mohamed, N.; Al-Jaroodi, J. Applications of Big Data to Smart Cities. *J. Internet Serv. Appl.* **2015**, *6*, 15. [CrossRef]
- Khan, R.; Khan, S.U.; Zaheer, R.; Khan, S. Future Internet: The Internet of Things Architecture, Possible Applications and Key Challenges. In Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Frontiers of Information Technology, FIT 2012, Islamabad, Pakistan, 17–19 December 2012; pp. 257–260.
- 132. Hong, W.J.; Shamsuddin, N.; Abas, E.; Apong, R.A.; Masri, Z.; Suhaimi, H.; Gödeke, S.H.; Noh, M.N.A. Water Quality Monitoring with Arduino Based Sensors. *Environments* **2021**, *8*, 6. [CrossRef]
- 133. Domingo, M.C. An Overview of the Internet of Things for People with Disabilities. J. Netw. Comput. Appl. 2012, 35, 584–596. [CrossRef]
- Xu, G.; Shen, W.; Wang, X. Applications of Wireless Sensor Networks in Marine Environment Monitoring: A Survey. Sensors 2014, 14, 16932–16954. [CrossRef]
- 135. Sanchez-Iborra, R.; Liaño, I.G.; Simoes, C.; Couñago, E.; Skarmeta, A.F. Tracking and Monitoring System Based on LoRa Technology for Lightweight Boats. *Electronics* **2019**, *8*, 15. [CrossRef]
- 136. Al-Zaidi, R.; Woods, J.; Al-Khalidi, M.; Alheeti, K.M.A.; McDonald-Maier, K. Next Generation Marine Data Networks in an IoT Environment. In Proceedings of the 2017 2nd International Conference on Fog and Mobile Edge Computing, FMEC 2017, Valencia, Spain, 8–11 May 2017; pp. 50–55. [CrossRef]
- 137. Ebrahimi, S.H.; Ossewaarde, M.; Need, A. Smart Fishery: A Systematic Review and Research Agenda for Sustainable Fisheries in the Age of AI. *Sustainability* **2021**, *13*, 6037. [CrossRef]
- Kritzer, J.P. Influences of At-Sea Fishery Monitoring on Science, Management, and Fleet Dynamics. Aquac. Fish. 2020, 5, 107–112. [CrossRef]
- 139. Sala, E.; Mayorga, J.; Costello, C.; Kroodsma, D.; Palomares, M.; Pauly, D.; Sumaila, U.; Zeller, D. The Economics of Fishing the High Seas. *Sci. Adv.* **2018**, *4*. [CrossRef]
- 140. Bartholomew, D.C.; Mangel, J.C.; Alfaro-Shigueto, J.; Pingo, S.; Jimenez, A.; Godley, B.J. Remote Electronic Monitoring as a Potential Alternative to On-Board Observers in Small-Scale Fisheries. *Biol. Conserv.* **2018**, *219*, 35–45. [CrossRef]
- Luan, J.; Zhang, C.; Xu, B.; Xue, Y.; Ren, Y. The Predictive Performances of Random Forest Models with Limited Sample Size and Different Species Traits. *Fish. Res.* 2020, 227, 105534. [CrossRef]
- 142. Gloaguen, P.; Mahévas, S.; Rivot, E.; Woillez, M.; Guitton, J.; Vermard, Y.; Etienne, M.P. An Autoregressive Model to Describe Fishing Vessel Movement and Activity. *Environmetrics* **2015**, *26*, 17–28. [CrossRef]
- 143. Mutalipassi, M.; Esposito, R.; Ruocco, N.; Viel, T.; Costantini, M.; Zupo, V. Bioactive Compounds of Nutraceutical Value from Fishery and Aquaculture Discards. *Foods* **2021**, *10*, 1495. [CrossRef]
- 144. Franceschini, S.; Mattei, F.; D'Andrea, L.; Di Nardi, A.; Fiorentino, F.; Garofalo, G.; Scardi, M.; Cataudella, S.; Russo, T. Rummaging through the Bin: Modelling Marine Litter Distribution Using Artificial Neural Networks. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 2019, 149, 110580. [CrossRef]
- 145. Yang, X.; Zhang, S.; Liu, J.; Gao, Q.; Dong, S.; Zhou, C. Deep Learning for Smart Fish Farming: Applications, Opportunities and Challenges. *Rev. Aquac.* 2021, *13*, 66–90. [CrossRef]
- 146. Kylili, K.; Hadjistassou, C.; Artusi, A. An Intelligent Way for Discerning Plastics at the Shorelines and the Seas. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* **2020**, 27, 42631–42643. [CrossRef]
- 147. Cantorna, D.; Dafonte, C.; Iglesias, A.; Arcay, B. Oil Spill Segmentation in SAR Images Using Convolutional Neural Networks. A Comparative Analysis with Clustering and Logistic Regression Algorithms. *Appl. Soft Comput.* **2019**, *84*, 105716. [CrossRef]
- 148. Liu, S.; Liu, Y.; Alabia, I.; Tian, Y.; Ye, Z.; Yu, H.; Li, J.; Cheng, J. Impact of Climate Change on Wintering Ground of Japanese Anchovy (Engraulis Japonicus) Using Marine Geospatial Statistics. *Front. Mar. Sci.* **2020**, *7*, 604. [CrossRef]
- Song, D.; Zhen, Z.; Wang, B.; Li, X.; Gao, L.; Wang, N.; Xie, T.; Zhang, T. A Novel Marine Oil Spillage Identification Scheme Based on Convolution Neural Network Feature Extraction from Fully Polarimetric SAR Imagery. *IEEE Access* 2020, *8*, 59801–59820. [CrossRef]
- 150. Al-Ruzouq, R.; Gibril, M.B.A.; Shanableh, A.; Kais, A.; Hamed, O.; Al-Mansoori, S.; Khalil, M.A. Sensors, Features, and Machine Learning for Oil Spill Detection and Monitoring: A Review. *Remote Sens.* **2020**, *12*, 3338. [CrossRef]

- 151. Pittenger, R.; Anderson, B.; Benetti, D.D.; Dayton, P. Sustainable Marine Aquaculture: Fulfilling the Promise; Managing the Risks; Marine Aquaculture Task Force: Takoma Park, MD, USA, 2007.
- 152. Goldburg, R.J.; Elliott, M.S.; Nayor, R.L. Marine Aquaculture in the United States: Environmental Impacts and Policy Options. In *Pew Oceans Commission*; PEWOC: Arlington, VA, USA, 2001.
- 153. Braaten, B.R. Cage Aquaculture and Environmental Impacts. In *Aquacultural Engineering and Environment;* Research Signpost: Trivandrum, India, 2007; pp. 49–92.
- 154. Goldburg Future Seascapes, Fishing, and Fish Farming. Front. Ecol. Environ. 2005, 3, 21–28. [CrossRef]
- 155. Neill, W.H.; Brandes, T.S.; Burke, B.J.; Craig, S.R.; Dimichele, L.V.; Duchin, K.; Edwards, R.E.; Fontaine, L.P.; Gatlin, D.M.; Hutchins, C.; et al. Ecophys.Fish: A Simulation Model of Fish Growth in Time-Varying Environmental Regimes. *Rev. Fish. Sci.* 2004, 12, 233–288. [CrossRef]
- 156. Holmer, M. Environmental Issues of Fish Farming in Offshore Waters: Perspectives, Concerns and Research Needs. *Aquac. Environ. Interact.* **2010**, *1*, 57–70. [CrossRef]
- 157. Wu, R.S.S. The Environmental Impact of Marine Fish Culture: Towards a Sustainable Future. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* **1995**, *31*, 159–166. [CrossRef]
- Pearson, T.H.; Black, K.D. The Environmental Impacts of Marine Fish Cage Culture. In *Environmental Impacts of Aquaculture*; Sheffield Academic Press: UK, 2000; pp. 1–31. Available online: https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20013012517 (accessed on 31 July 2021).
- 159. Hargrave, B.T. Far-Field Environmental Effects of Marine Finfish Aquaculture. A Scientific Review of the Potential Environmental Effects of Aquaculture in Aquatic Ecosystems. *Can. Tech. Rep. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* **2003**, *1*, 1–35.
- 160. Grigorakis, K.; Rigos, G. Aquaculture Effects on Environmental and Public Welfare–The Case of Mediterranean Mariculture. *Chemosphere* **2011**, *85*, 899–919. [CrossRef]
- 161. Mustafa, F.H.; Bagul, A.H.B.P.; Senoo, S.; Shapawi, R. A Review of Smart Fish Farming Systems. J. Aquac. Eng. Fish. Res. 2016, 2, 193–200. [CrossRef]
- 162. Huntingford, F.A.; Adams, C.; Braithwaite, V.A.; Kadri, S.; Pottinger, T.G.; Sandøe, P.; Turnbull, J.F. Current Issues in Fish Welfare. J. Fish Biol. 2006, 68, 332–372. [CrossRef]
- 163. Conte, F.S. Stress and the Welfare of Cultured Fish. Appl. Animal Behav. Sci. 2004, 86, 205–223. [CrossRef]
- 164. Black, K.D. The environmental interactions associated with fish culture. In *Biology of Farmed Fish*; Sheffield Academic Press: Cambridge, MA, USA, 1998; pp. 284–326.
- 165. Pennell, W.; Barton, B.A. Principles of Salmonid Culture. In *Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science*; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 1996.
- 166. Beyan, C.; Browman, H.I. Setting the Stage for the Machine Intelligence Era in Marine Science. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 2020, 77, 1267–1273. [CrossRef]
- 167. Stien, L.H.; Gytre, T.; Torgersen, T.; Sagen, H.; Kristiansen, T.S. A System for Online Assessment of Fish Welfare in Aquaculture. *ICES CM* 2008, R:18. Available online: https://imr.brage.unit.no/imr-xmlui/handle/11250/102545 (accessed on 31 July 2021).
- 168. Neeraja, Y.; Scholar, U. An IOT Based Remote Aquaculture Monitoring System. Int. J. Eng. Trends Appl. (IJETA) 2014, 5, 188.
- 169. Halpin, T. Conceptual Schema & Relational Database Design; WytLytPub: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 1999.
- Zhang, Y.; Hua, J.; Wang, Y. Bin Application Effect of Aquaculture IOT System. In *Applied Mechanics and Materials*; Trans Tech Publications Ltd.: Stafa-Zurich, Switzerland, 2013; Volume 303–306, pp. 1395–1401. [CrossRef]
- 171. Li, D.; Fu, Z. Aquaculture Digital Integrated Systeme; Electronic Industry Press: Beijing, China, 2010.
- 172. Li, D.; Fu, Z.; Ma, L. Intelligent Aquaculture Information System Design and Preliminary Realizationtle. *Agric. Eng. J.* **2000**, *4*, 135–138.
- Cario, G.; Casavola, A.; Gjanci, P.; Lupia, M.; Petrioli, C.; Spaccini, D. Long Lasting Underwater Wireless Sensors Network for Water Quality Monitoring in Fish Farms. In Proceedings of the OCEANS 2017-Aberdeen 2017, Aberdeen, UK, 19–22 June 2017; pp. 1–6. [CrossRef]
- 174. An, J. The Freshwater Fish Feed Expert System Research Based on the WEB; China Agricultural University: Guangzhou, China, 2002.
- 175. Xu, G. National Intelligent Information Technology in Agriculture Popularization and Application of Basic Operation Mechanism Research Summary. *Hunan Agric. Sci.* 2004, 2, 57–59.
- 176. Vikas, M.; Dwarakish, G.S. Coastal Pollution: A Review. Aquat. Procedia 2015, 4, 381–388. [CrossRef]
- 177. Pirotta, V.; Grech, A.; Jonsen, I.D.; Laurance, W.F.; Harcourt, R.G. Consequences of Global Shipping Traffic for Marine Giants. *Front. Ecol. Environ.* **2019**, *17*, 39–47. [CrossRef]
- 178. Er-Raioui, H.; Bouzid, S.; Marhraoui, M.; Saliot, A. Hydrocarbon Pollution of the Mediterranean Coastline of Morocco. *Ocean. Coast. Manag.* **2009**, *52*, 124–129. [CrossRef]
- 179. Orfanidis, S.; Panayotidis, P.; Stamatis, N. Ecological Evaluation of Transitional and Coastal Waters: A Marine Benthic Macrophytes-Based Model. *Mediterr. Mar. Sci.* 2001, 2, 45–66. [CrossRef]
- 180. Boudouresque, C.F.; Mayot, N.; Pergent, G. The Outstanding Traits of The Functioning of the *Posidonia Oceanica* Seagrass Ecosystem. *Biol. Mar. Medit.* **2006**, *13*, 109–113.
- 181. Micheli, F.; Levin, N.; Giakoumi, S.; Katsanevakis, S.; Abdulla, A.; Coll, M.; Fraschetti, S.; Kark, S.; Koutsoubas, D.; Mackelworth, P.; et al. Setting Priorities for Regional Conservation Planning in the Mediterranean Sea. *PLoS ONE* 2013, *8*, e59038. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 182. Notarbartolo di Sciara, G.; Zanardelli, M.; Jahoda, M.; Panigada, S.; Airoldi, S. The Fin Whale Balaenoptera Physalus (L. 1758) in the Mediterranean Sea. *Mammal Rev.* 2003, *33*, 105–150. [CrossRef]
- Azzellino, A.; Panigada, S.; Lanfredi, C.; Zanardelli, M.; Airoldi, S.; Notarbartolo di Sciara, G. Predictive Habitat Models for Managing Marine Areas: Spatial and Temporal Distribution of Marine Mammals within the Pelagos Sanctuary (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea). Ocean. Coast. Manag. 2012, 67, 63–74. [CrossRef]
- Trasviña-Moreno, C.A.; Blasco, R.; Marco, Á.; Casas, R.; Trasviña-Castro, A. Unmanned Aerial Vehicle Based Wireless Sensor Network for Marine-Coastal Environment Monitoring. Sensors 2017, 17, 460. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Chapter 2

Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science

Francesca Glaviano^{1,2,#} and Mirko Mutalipassi^{3,#}

Introduction: culture of Crustaceans for ornamental market, research, and aquaculture purposes

Crustaceans are emerging model organisms in various fields ranging from marine biology to ecotoxicology and physiology. They are part of a wide variety of aquatic models used to investigate the function of live organisms and ecosystems. Crustaceans have some key characteristics that give them many advantages as models: they are small in size, cheap to culture and maintain if compared to vertebrates, for example mice and rats [1]. Small research centres need facilities able to culture various aquatic organisms that can answer researcher's needs. Non-automatized procedures, although capable of good efficiency, need plenty of space and trained operators [2].

Modern research and aquaculture are increasingly projected towards the integration of new technologies, through the use of automated and intelligent control systems. These implementations can lead to a more efficient control of the culture's conditions, such as water quality, stocking density and feeding rate allowing a constant and automatic regulation of the conditions of cultivated organisms (Figure 1).

The chance to make automatic measurements of values such as temperature, oxygen, pH, ORP, etc., it allows to optimize their efficiency by reducing labour and utility costs.

¹ Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Department of Ecosustainable Marine Biotechnology, Villa Comunale, 80121 Naples, Italy.

² Department of Biology, University of Naples Federico II, Complesso Universitario di Monte Sant'Angelo, 80126 Naples, Italy.

³ Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Department of Marine Animal Conservation and Public Engagement, Calabria Research Centre, C. da Torre Spaccata, 87071 Amendolara (CS) – Italy. # Both authors contributed equally to this work



Figure 1. Summary of the potential application related to crustacean's automation.

Automatic devices can not only improve a large-scale system as for aquaculture but they can also largely simplify the culture of small laboratory organisms and it offers interesting applications for the purposes of scientific or biotechnological research [1]. If automated culture systems of established aquatic model organisms, such as Danio rerio, are widely present on the market, few researchers and industries focused on the development of small, flexible, programmable, and modular culture systems able to culture various aquatic species, such as crustaceans. The culture of Crustaceans, not only for aquaculture but for ornamental and research purposes too, can be considered a multimillionaire market [3]. In fact, species belonging to Palaemon, Lysmata, Stenopus, Periclimenes, Hymenocera, Clibanarius e Mithraculus genera were reared and studied in the frame of the optimization and, in some cases, automation of culture techniques [2]. Among this interesting species, many studies focused on Lysmata ones due to their interesting physiology, i.e., peculiar sex reversal and hermaphroditism, but also the high selling price in the ornamental market [3]. Rearing systems, such as *planktokreisel*, has been extensively used to achieve the reproduction of species with demanding larval phases, such as Jasus edwardsii, and it is one of the first devices on the long road to automation of farming systems. The idea of semi-automatic devices, able to remove degrading organic matter or change water to achieve optimal chemical parameters or assure an optimal water flux, has led scientist to accomplish the reproduction and rearing of various marine species of crustaceans, assuring low mortality. Variation of the original productive plant designed in 70', 80' and 90' were made to optimize recirculation, water flow and to simplify maintenance and operation activities [2]. Such modification assured a different movement of water inside the cone-truncated cylinders as well as a reduction in potential damage to larval feeding and swimming appendices. Although these rearing apparatuses were not able to culture all the considered species, as in the case of Mithraculus forceps larvae, they can in general assure not only a high output in term of biomass and number of individuals, but also

Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science

the healthy state of reared organisms, making them useful for scientific purposes, where physiological responses of model organisms can be altered by stress.

Small culture systems, able to administer food, to check and maintain chemical and physical water parameters, may dramatically reduce production costs and the need for personnel. In addition, the ability of such devices to be monitored continuously may reduce potential losses related to power failure or caused by breakage of water pumps or other instruments [4]. Mutalipassi developed a compact culture system that can be modulated on the necessity of various cultured aquatic organisms. Various software, in Ladder language, can be uploaded into the central control unit (PLC) to meet the needs of a range of species. In addition, this system can be used to culture different life stages, not only adult individuals but also larvae of delicate and demanding species. This automatic culture system, set to work without the intervention of trained biologists and intensive daily maintenance, has been devised to meet the needs of cultured species and reduce research and laboratory resources while optimizing spaces and the manpower. The efficiency of automatic culture system depends, as demonstrated in many automatic or semi-automatic culture systems [2], on various chemical, biological and mechanical parameters can influence the efficiency of automatic culture systems, as demonstrated in many automatic or semi-automatic culture systems. The efficiency, in terms of health as well as production and costs, can be improved including in the system a robust mechanical and chemical filtration, frequent water changes, a correct feeding, the use of ozone and a careful setting of optimal densities of cultured individuals. Culture process was also improved by a fine tuning of the operational software, providing efficient water changes.

In addition to decapods, various copepod species have been used as model organisms in various research fields. For example, *Tigriopus fulvus* has been used as a model for ecotoxicological studies. Other species, such as *Temora stylifera* and *Centropages typicus*, were used as live feed for a variety of aquaculture species, as substitution of rotifers and other species. Copepods production had to face many issues linked both to feeding unicity and needs and to management difficulties due to the small size of nauplii and larval phases [3].

How automation and digitalization support aquaculture

Aquaculture researchers produced a great amount of knowledge that contributed to the industrialization of this productive field. Aquaculture operations require sophisticated tools and specially designed facilities, which "have evolved through intensive research and a great deal of innovation". As seen in other fields, advancements in technology have supported the development of aquaculture despite many products of technology not developed specifically for application in farming systems have found applications in this area. The improvements in aquaculture technologies have provided a supporting basis to the evolution of aquaculture systems where artificial intelligence, automation and integrated management are key points of the productive system.

The use of computer monitoring and automation in aquaculture has grown during the last years. Benefits aims at: reduction of energy and water waste; greater process efficiency; reduction of labor costs; optimization of animal health conditions.

Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture

Robotics has made substantial advances in a wide range of applicative fields including aquaculture [5]. In this field, robotics acquired an important role in many applications, ranging from feeding to monitoring water quality, to the cleaning of fouling on the cages and the monitoring, through ROVs, of cage integrities, finishing with security surveillance in open sea. Automation projects play a fundamental role in improving economic profitability. For example, optimization and appropriate management of feeding improves the growth rate of the marine animal and the realtime monitoring of physicochemical parameters of water provides information used to carry out corrective actions for optimal conditions of cultivation [5]. The main factors to consider in the design of an intelligent control software are ease of use and intuitiveness, otherwise the non-expert user in the informatic sector will not be able to interface with it; flexibility and adaptability, so that the chosen software is interchangeable with other products. Aquaculture is becoming increasingly important for global food production. On one side oceans are dramatically overfished, limiting the future development of fishing activities; on the other side, only 2–3% of the global food production comes from the oceans despite the oceans cover more than 70% of the earth surface. In addition, aquaculture for non-food purposes is a growing industry that can encompass great revenues with its direct and indirect association with human activities. In fact, beyond human consumption, marine organisms provide various services that can be used, such as biotechnology [6]. Non-food aquaculture can provide live feeds, food production, natural restocking and can provide bioactive molecules for pharmaceutical, cosmeceutical and nutraceutical industries, among others. To ensure sustainable and efficient aquaculture production, modern technology should meet aquaculture production needs with the aims to improve energy efficiency, plant availability, product quality, and overall productivity. In an integrated shrimp aquaculture, biological entities (the cultured organisms but also cocultured species or biological filters) and non-biological components, such as water parameters or instruments, should be monitored together [5]. All the sampled data is channelled to a central command system, which responds by sending signals (motor pathways) to regulators (for example, aerators, water flow control devices) which in turn act according to information fed into the system in the form of algorithms. The continuous monitoring of all the aspects of shrimp aquaculture, from environmental conditions to physiological parameters and metabolic outputs, allow commercial aquaculture facilities to optimize their efficiency by reducing labour and utility costs, and decreasing the environmental impacts.

Automatic feeding system for aquaculture

Shrimps are popular seafood and among all the cultured species, *Litopenaeus vannamei* is the preferred one due to its culture characteristics and consumer acceptance. The shrimp farming, not differently from the rest of the aquaculture field, relies on intensification, improved feed management and reductions in labour costs to expand and produce wealth. Into the frame of the limitation of production costs, the amount of used food for kilogram of produced shrimp, the source of nutrients and the biological wastes produced are important variables that should be taken into consideration. The cost and quality of shrimp food is generally adequate, and the development of the new techniques is focused on the reduction of the waste, of the

Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science

personnel work-time and on the environmental improvements in aquaculture farms [7]. In aquaculture, personnel have to face many problems in relation with the feeding routines. These involve the depth of the pond or the shape and culture nets, the differences among solid, liquid feed and, in case, medicines, the risk of working on operational boats in open sea, sometimes miles away from the coast. Automatic feeding systems, expressly conceived for aquaculture, were designed to face these issues in both indoor (plastic or concrete tanks) and outdoor (ponds, cages, river estuaries) aquaculture. First experimental automatic feeders were food dispensers, able to pump a volume of water containing live food or dry food, triggered by an electronic timer. The following step was to develop a system that could be activated, providing food, through photoelectric and motion sensors that detect certain animal behaviour. At the same time, commercial feeding robots were developed to feed different foods, in various tanks, differentially. Usually, these projects are based on a robot that move on a rail and that is managed by a PLC or via Wi-Fi by a computer (Storvik feeding robot) and Arvo-Tec robot feeder system (Arvo-Tec 2010). In some other cases, automation of the aquaculture processes led to the development of an automatic boat, designed to operate in ponds, by untrained personnel [8]. The aim is to sell on the market a system that can be used by farmers, with low or no instruction, but involved in aquaculture activities. The boat can be easily controlled by remote, due to a RF transmitter and receiver that can operate up to a range of 3–5 kilometres. In addition, the inbuilt video transmitter and receiver enable the farmer to have a "first person" point of view of the boat movements. The boat is built with an electric engine, powered by LiPo battery (or by solar plate). This technic solution has two advantages: on one side, it allows to reduce noise that can disturb cultured organisms, on the other side it helps to contain building and maintenance costs. It is provided with two different food-pumping mechanisms, the first mechanism was designed for dosing solid food, the second for dosing liquid food and medicines. In addition, the system can be easily modified, for example changing the RF wireless communication with Wi-Fi module. With Wi-Fi, the operators can manage all the operations from anywhere in the world.

This cheap, low-tech system cannot be easily adapted to large, highly productive farms. Digitalized feed monitoring and distributor is the answer in terms of automation as well as digitalization of the feeding process. The development of integrated feeders is one-step through the optimization of the aquaculture performances, especially if referred to shrimp aquaculture. In fact, generally, benthic shrimps are grazers that externally masticate their feed. Cultured species are usually benthic and they have a limited capacity to store food inside their digestive tract which result in the need to eat reduced amount of food throughout the day. For this reason, as the number of feedings is increased, shrimp performance in aquaculture is improved [9]. This also means that food that has not been eaten immediately is exposed to leaching and, as consequence, to a decrease in nutritional value. In fact, many of the essential nutrients are water-soluble and evidences demonstrate significant reductions in growth for shrimp offered feeds leached for more than one hour [9]. Consequently, industry is moving towards the development of automated feeders that would allow to dose multiply small quickly consumed meals throughout the day minimizing the effect of leaching and addressing the shrimp physiological needs to have access to nourish over a prolonged period [10]. Integrated feeding

Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture

systems have been developed coupled with automatic aerator and monitoring system. Automatic feeder, working with pre-set feeding rate at different times of the day and night, comprises a control panel and a real-time alarm system able to send SMS messages to operators in case of problems thanks to the embedded microcontroller. The activities of the feeder are subjected to feedback given by temperature, salinity and oxygen probe connected to the monitoring system that, at the same time, can power the aerator in case of needs. Offering multiple meals can be very labour intensive and economically impracticable and the only way is to use automatic and, if possible, digitized devices. Several investigations demonstrated an enhancement of growth performance in shrimp cultured with multiple feeding throughout the day [9]. The enhancement is not only due to an increasing in the availability of feeds but also to a reduced degradation and degeneration of the food that is in contact with water for a reduced amount of time.

In addition, in the frame of the new concept of aquaculture farm where digitalization and automation should be fully integrated in the management of the production process, the automated feeders are developing to be more "accurate" not only in the set dose, but also in the prediction of the "optimized dose" that should be administered, and some methods were developed to detect left over feed to stop feeding. Initially, estimated food waste was measured by suspending a sheet below the sea cage during the feeding period, retrieving it after feeding, and counting the left over feed pellets and then by using an underwater camera and image analysis tool to detect and count leftover pellets. To automatically detect the optimal dose of food that should be administered, acoustic technologies have been applied in this field in fish aquaculture and then, in Tasmania, Australia, in a shrimp aquaculture plant [9]. This sensor-based feed control system uses sonic technology to obtain indirect measure of feeding intensity, thanks to complex filtering algorithms that can analyse and recognise the unique sound of shrimp feeding and identify its intensity. This acoustic system, coupled with temperature and dissolved oxygen probes, allows a complete management of the feeding procedure as well as real time observation of water parameters, such as dissolved oxygen, that can give indirect indications on how the water parameters change over time as consequence of the food dosage. This acoustic system can be applied in many aquaculture farms, with various productive methods ranging from extensive to super intensive conditions, giving the possibility to provide real time adjustment of feed input based on the real needs of the cultured shrimps. Experiment performed in pond culture of Pacific whit shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei, comparing acoustic feeding system with standard feeding strategies demonstrated the advantages of integrated, automatic, and digitized system in terms of growth performance, production, water quality and economic returns [9]. In addition, on-demand acoustic feedback feeding system has been developed and has proved to be a reliable tool in shrimp farming. This acoustic on-demand system responds to the signature clicking noise produced by shrimp feeding and produced a higher production and value of L. vannamei produced in semi-intensive pond culture [10].

Similar systems, used in fish aquaculture but that can be easily converted for shrimp farm purposes, are commercially available. These systems are based on Doppler pellet sensor, CAS pellet sensor and camera sensor (Akvasmart, Norway). Visual systems were developed to obtain the status of growth and health of the shrimp

Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science

culture, data that can be integrated with other water parameters. Underwater image visibility technology, developed for aquaculture in ocean environments, were used in association with image defogging technology to work in culture ponds too. The visual system was improved and enhanced with detection technology that can give feeds to automatic feeding devices about the remaining feed at the bottom of the pond [11]. The increase of the number of daily feedings in conjunction with a system able to administrate the right amount of food, allow an increase in feed inputs with the consequence of an increased intake and growth as well as an increase value of each production, without the negative consequence related to an overfeeding (increase in productive costs, pollution etc.).

Automatic live food production and administration

Aquaculture needs live feeds for its productions. Live food production is a very intensive and costly manner. Automatized and/or integrated live food production systems have been developed by many authors to simplify, standardize, and kept constant production of the most common or interesting species. Dehasque et al. (1997) developed two culture systems designed to culture Artemia salina and Rotifers, respectively [12]. In the first system, the one dedicated to A. salina, repeated decapsulation procedure, automatic rinsing, concentration, hatching, enrichment, and feeding are completely automatized and take place in one recipient, reducing of approximately four times the manpower needed if compared with the manual method. Rotifers automated culture system was designated with a reversed filter system, in which, during the harvest, the rotifers first pass through a bigger filter (about $300 \,\mu m$) with the function of debris removal and provided an aeration collar to avoid clogging of the filter screen. Rotifers are then concentrated outside the central cylindrical filter (about 60 µm). After harvest, the settling of the rotifers occurs in the same recipient. Papandroulakis developed at the Aquaculture Department of the University of Crete, an automatized system able to culture phytoplankton, rotifers, and crustaceans, such as Artemia salina, with the aim to produce feeds for aquaculture [13]. Another intensive system to culture crustaceans, but also shellfishes and fishes, as live food, was developed by the University of Trømso in collaboration with the Aquaculture Department Polarmiljosenteret of the Norwegian Polar Institute as part of the ALFA project (Development of an automated innovative system for continuous live feed production in aquaculture hatchery units), founded by EU (https://cordis.europa. eu/project/id/512789/reporting). The system is coupled with photobioreactors and rotifers culture system (CROPS), to cover all the aspects of the larval development. A novel optical algal density monitoring system based on colour image analysis techniques was also developed for the continuous assessment of algal density and the control of quality and growth rate of the culture. The project was integrated by system led to the footprint reduction, such as solar panels as electricity source, as well as with devices to control carbon dioxide concentration, pH, nutrient contents, and other parameters. Two full-scale complete systems were built and tested in Greece and Norway and adaptations were made to optimise output according to local conditions.

Alternative live foods have been developed to replace traditionally used living organisms such as *Artemia* nauplii and rotifers. Nematodes appear to be a promising food source for commercial penaeid larval culture and various studies have been
Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture

performed to find the most promising species. Among various nematode species, *Panagrellus redivivus* demonstrated to be a highly promising species on both mass production and nutritional value point of view. Schlechtriem et al. (2004) investigated various techniques to mass culture nematodes with an enhancement of their nutritional values [14]. These techniques, based on oat media, enable shrimp hatchery operators to rely on an inexpensive, standardized, semi-automatized and permanently available live food for first-feeding fish larvae.

Copepods have been demonstrated to be interesting organisms for scientific (as model organisms) and aquaculture (as live food, especially for larvae) purposes. Various systems have been developed for intensive copepod production, taking into consideration that different species need different environments, i.e., harpacticoid copepods need larger surfaces instead of deeper tanks needed by calanoids [15]. Whatever the species considered, tanks for copepod culture are usually of a volume of 100-1000 litres, with gentle aeration and they are renewed every 3 weeks, and recirculating systems are equipped with specific filtration systems [3]. Payne and Rippingale developed a semiautomatic system designed for the brackish water copepod Gladioferens imparipes [16]. This semiautomatic system is designed to separate the various larval stages thanks to a complex system of decreasing mesh nets. A first net, with a pore diameter of 150 µm, was used in the cylinder dedicated to the culture of males and ovigerous females. A second net, with a pore diameter of 53 µm was used to collect nauplii and it works, in addition, as an overflow system. The system was automatized by a PLC produced by Toshiba that allows the routine activities of valves, pumps, lights etc. Buttino and colleagues developed in 2012 at the Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn of Naples a complex system of intensive aquaculture designed for the copepods Temora stylifera and Centropages typicus [17]. This system used and improved the ideas of Payne and Rippingale allowing the concentration of larval stages using positive phototaxis and the selective division of different larval stages using nets with various pore diameters. The system was designed with an efficient filtration system made by a protein skimmer, UV sterilizer lamp and a bio-mechanical filter and it was managed by a PLC.

Finally, automatic culture and administration of marine micro-algae should be taken into consideration. In fact, marine microalgae are increasingly used as both feed for marine organism, constituting both a source of energy as well as the essential vitamins and PUFAs (as in the case of Penaeid larviculture), and as source of high value fine chemicals, therapeutics, and health foods. Large scale microalgae culture systems provide the possibility of delivering a continuous supply of high-quality microalgae although the newest culture systems appear quite expensive and with high operational costs. Control over the growing culture is necessary to maximize the production and an automated control system should take important decisions with respect to fertilising, harvesting, lighting and temperature to prevent the reduction of the efficiency and economical losses. Several control systems have been developed for this purpose, especially for the in-situ growth monitoring of the unicellular cultures. Most promising technologies are flow injection analysis, based on turbidimetric measurements, technique based on the monitoring of oxygen production, based on the measurement of the pressure inside a closed reactor and the use of optical density as a turbidimetric measure of biomass through spectrophotometry [18]. Sananurak designed a small scale (260 litres), highly

Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science

sophisticated, although expensive, integrated continuous production system for *Tetraselmis suecica* and the zooplanktonic rotifer *Brachionus plicatilis* [28]. Considering the huge needs of microalgae in Penaeidae aquaculture plant, the increase in efficiency scaling up the production system and the need for an automatic control of culture conditions, Erbland and colleagues designed a large scale photobioreactor (170 litres of volume) built using cone-bottom, polyethylene tank, equipped with fluorescent lamps, monitoring and control system that measured temperature, pH and optical density of the microalgal culture [20].

Automatic monitoring and control of shrimp aquaculture

Real time monitoring of environmental parameters are very important for both shrimp aquaculture and paddy farming. Constant control of the water quality to keep the concentration of the water environment parameters in the ideal range can enhance the growth rate of cultured organisms, affect dietary utilization, and reduce the probability of diseases. Gathering information of water physic-chemical parameters is the key activity to perform the appropriate technical intervention to prevent harm to aquaculture production and is crucial to keep up sufficient conditions and avoid unfortunate circumstances that cause the failure of aquaculture [21]. Automatic monitoring and control systems can be used to face some serious issues like wastage of water. An integrated aquaculture can be controlled using aquaponics plants, which requires consistent water quality checking procedures that depend on intense information securing, communication, and handling. The connection between the hydroponic and aquaculture sections, that are the two main components of aquaponics, relies on ideal water quality conditions and on the monitoring of them.

Real time monitoring take advantage of various probes and sensors, which are the source of data for the automatic system, and actuators. Sensors and actuators are usually connected to microcontrollers built using various boards, for example Arduino or Raspberry [22]. The latter is preferred by some authors due to the intrinsic Wi-Fi module. Microcontroller monitors the output of sensors and it logs all the data using a data logging system. Actuators are activated or stopped, or in some cases their activity can be modulated, on the base of the software loaded on the microcontrollers and according with sensors output and pre-set thresholds. Several authors focused their attention on few kinds of sensors, such as turbidity, dissolved oxygen, and pH, although modern aquaculture relies on the real time monitoring of a large variety of physical and chemical parameters, such as Ammonia, Carbonates, Nitrate, etc.

The environmental monitoring of the water parameters, in both aquaculture plant or ponds, can be improved including Internet of Things (IoT) ZigBee-based wireless sensor network based on low power microcontrollers that are capable of collecting, analysing and presenting the whole data using an easy-to-access Graphical User Interface. Preetham proposed an IOT based aquaculture monitoring and control system, able to continuously observe the water quality factor and to take preventive steps early to harm for water animals [21]. The proposed architecture is composed by power module, sensor module, controller module and output module. In addition, a large variety of innovative sensors, that use new concepts and techniques, are replacing the traditional methods of water quality measurement, based mainly on UV measurement, Mass Spectrometry and amperometric sensors. Optical sensors,

Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture

Microelectronic Mechanical System and Biosensors are used to measure different water quality parameters. These sensors that use emerging techniques can be merged in a single system as demonstrated by some authors [23]. They are, if compared with the previous generation of probes and sensors, more selective, sensitive, cheap and user friendly. The combined use of ZigBee wireless network and new probes allow aquaculture plants to apply wireless and highly efficient systems for real time monitoring to aquatic animal production. To make the communication network more efficient, sensors and microcontrollers should be connected using a MESH topology, where all nodes cooperate to distribute data amongst each other, with routers linked to end-devices and a coordinator node. These technologies have been applied successfully on aquaculture shrimp. Internet of Things in many cases was applied in rural context, such as tiger shrimp aquaculture in south east of Asia thanks to the low required power, the redundancy of nodes and the user-friendly graphical user interface. The automatic monitoring is strictly linked to the real-time alarms provided by the control system. On one side, automatic monitoring and control systems for aquaculture should monitor data coming from probes in continuous to identify abnormalities and identify thresholds in critical parameters, acting consequently on the actuators to mitigate or solve incoming issues. On the other side the automatic monitoring and control system, using the Internet of Things, should interact with the operator(s), that can be based all over the world, communicating issues and action taken to solve them. The interaction between operator(s) and controlling system via open-source app, such as instant messenger service, allows a two-ways communication, where operators are not only passive spectators of the controller routines, but they can issue orders based on the analysis of data available online [22]. For these reasons, monitoring and control system in aquaculture plant should meet four fundamental requirements:

- The operating routing should be systematic, performing the programmed activities at regular intervals with minimum or no deviation.
- Information should be always available and easy to access also for low trained personnel.
- Basing on the data collected by the system and available online, personnel should be able to interact with the system, giving new commands and reacting promptly to the encountered issues, via open-source software(s).
- Data should be organised and used for planning and decision making in the future, with the prospect of software implementation of new commands and routines to face common issues.

Considering the attention that has been given in recent years in the implementation of automation and intelligent systems applied to aquaculture and industrial systems, several models have been designed and tested [24]. There are automated control systems used in aquaculture whose main purpose is to acquire and record data; programmable logic controller (PLC) systems [4] and systems that integrate artificial intelligence for a more complex control, advanced interpretation and problem solving.

Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science

Understanding the basic architecture of these systems, making it intuitive and integrable, can allow not only to use new and completely innovative systems, but also to update and renew systems already in use without excessive economic expenditure.

As a guideline, a typical process control software application is composed of various modules in which the different tasks are sorted. It includes: data acquisition, communication between the different hardware components, information acquisition and management, creation of an easily accessible database, graphic interface for interaction with the user who can control the system through specific functions. The acquisition of information, through probes and smart devices, uses analogue and digital inputs and outputs, each with its own reference protocols [5]. The manmachine interface is made up of blocks (that is, a set of functions that encoded the instructions that perform specific activities) in turn connected in such a way that they can cooperate in creating an effector monitoring and/or control circuit. The process control software must be able to make available both data spreadsheets and graphical diagrams that are simpler and more immediate to interpret, which at the same time allow simple consultation even to the interaction of processes [21].

Through these automated control systems, it is possible to access both real-time data and historical databases and any alarm signals. Furthermore, if, in addition to automation, one can integrate an artificial intelligence, it may be able to process information collected, immediately and based on historical data, to develop useful statistics and future forecasts. To maximize the efficiency of these systems, a remote controller software is required. It allows you to interact with the system remotely, through dedicated control nodes. In this way, in addition to receiving alerts and messages in real time changes can be made to database blocks.

The internet of things revolution

Industrialization processes are associated with technology improvements. No other period has been as rich in scientific breakthroughs and technological innovations as the 20th century. Science and technology have been protagonists of these changes: the technology of the twentieth century has improved the lives of billions of people, while science has changed the very conception of man has of himself and of his role in the universe. At the same time and in sync with the latest technological developments that have revolutionized the last few decades, radically changing our lives, a new means of communication has also developed: the Internet, which in just over twenty years has grown exponentially, passing from a few thousands of connections, estimates of the International Telecommunications Union, which counted at the end of the 1980s and a few billion people connected all over the world through the use of different terminals such as computers, smartphones and tablets. The evolution of the Internet has experienced two distinct phases that have revolutionized the lifestyles, habits, and behaviours of everyone, from citizens to institutions to companies: the World Wide Web phase in the 1990s and the Mobile Internet phase in the 2000s. Today, the Internet is entering its third phase of development: The Internet of Things or "Internet of Things" which, as Kevin Ashton, co-founder of the Auto-ID Centre at the Massachusetts Institute of Technologies (MIT) argues, "the Internet of Things have the potential to change the world, just like the internet did. Maybe even more".

Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture

The potential of this new evolution lies in the fact that with the Internet of Things the devices connected to the network, which are therefore able to exchange information, will grow exponentially since they will be able to connect to the network not only computers and mobile phones, but also everyday objects from means of transport to household appliances. This will generate a mole of information many orders of magnitude higher than the one the Internet has generated which, if used correctly, will allow the creation of new products and services for users.

The Internet of Things (IoT) is the extension of the internet in the sense known today, from people to objects. It is the construction of a network that places objects and their interaction in the centre [25]. More properly, it is the passage of a connection network for end-user-devices to an interconnection network made of physical objects able to communicate and cooperate (Figure 2) with each other through the internet connection, becoming smart devices (intelligent devices). To apply the IoT concepts it is necessary that various conditions are met. The most important is to make sure that all the devices used, which need to make communications on the network, have the ability to access the Internet, directly or indirectly. Moreover, they must have a unique digital identity to be recognized and distinguished. In the presence of simpler



Figure 2. Interdependence of Internet of Things.

devices (such as simple sensors) which do not natively have network cards, it will be possible to connect them to a device that has gateway functions, or that is responsible for forwarding to the central server all the information received.

The integration of sensors in the network gives the possibility to obtain and elaborate data. When we refer to the elaboration of the collected data, a fundamental part concerns the management of Big Data. Big Data is a field that deals with the ways to analyse and then extract information from a large amount of data that would otherwise be too large or complex to be managed. Furthermore, although a survey

Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science

with many cases offers greater statistical power, at the same time a very extensive data collection in terms of volume, speed and variety is very difficult to consult and can potentially lead to a higher rate of false interpretations.

The life sciences have a long history of dealing with large quantities of data, and recent advances in experimental capabilities have vastly increased the amount of data that needs to be stored and analysed. Biology is notoriously fragmented in its methods, goals, instruments, and conceptual frameworks. Often, different groupseven within the same subfield-disagree over preferred terminology, research organisms, and experimental methods and protocols [26]. Using interoperable databases and file formats to integrate data from different sources so that they can be used and re-used across a variety of research contexts. Databases need to be accessed through a common 'query' system, and this raises the question of which terminologies should be used to classify the data and integrate them with other data, and what are the implications of such choices. We should acknowledge that no data are 'raw' in the sense of being independent from human interpretation, assessing which data are reliable and which are not. But it does not take into account that data are often extensively processed artefacts resulting from highly planned interactions with the world; nor does it do justice to the observation that biologists have different views of what counts as reliable data, or what counts as data in the first place [27].

In details, the data are collected through the sensors, stored generally in a cloud where they are analysed, and the information obtained is available for the users according to the designer's purposes. The sensory network that the IoT allows to implement is able to produce data that, compared to the current ones, are more reliable and derive from statistically more relevant samplings [28]. In fact, many of the barriers due to the various passages that the information must go through from the moment of its acquisition to use/interpretation are removed. This is understood as the possibility of constant monitoring of all events and processes of a given environment/ business. In general, the IoT allows devices to be monitored and controlled remotely through special network infrastructures, creating a direct interaction between the real world and computer-based systems. The application of these concepts to the world of industry makes it possible to improve the efficiency and accuracy of the processes, as well as obtaining economic benefits, thanks also to the fact that the cases in which human intervention is required are reduced. The Internet of Things is in fact revolutionizing the market and numerous opportunities for growth and development are being created. The use of a system implemented by IoT applied to the culture of marine organisms such as crustaceans, both as model organisms for scientific research purposes and for production for commercial purposes, could be extremely useful and revolutionary. The idea is to have an intelligent system with special sensors for measuring the fundamental parameters for breeding and special effectors to intervene autonomously in such a way that all measured values always remain within the optimal limits (Figure 3).

Therefore, the primary purpose would focus on optimizing the production processes, making them on the one hand more efficient in terms of quantity and quality of the product and at the same time lowering production costs (intended both from an economic and temporal point of view since it would reduce the use of human resources). Considering a crustacean culture, with the use of IoT it could be possible to optimize the use of water and primary resources, in consequence of an adequate

Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture

real-time analysis of the values in the tanks and an intelligent management of food additions and supplements. The changes of water, if necessary, will be regulated by the intelligent system itself which will consider every variable, even the weather forecast (which, in some cases, can affect the quality of the incoming water where it is possible to directly draw on sources of external natural water), consulting both local sensors and open-data environmental/meteorological services.



Figure 3. "Interactive operators" capable of reading environmental signals, carry out assessments and respond with programmed actions.

These sensors must be connected to the internet and the measurements made will be sent to an online platform, which will have the purpose of collecting the data. This platform will give the possibility to clearly view the data collected, for example by generating intuitive and easily understandable graphs. The system itself will also be able to analyse these data and understand where it will be necessary to intervene (however, leaving manual intervention possible) to correct them, for example through specific actuators for each value. Furthermore, the platform will be able to autonomously interrogate open-access platforms or private databases to consult data collected in previous comparable farms, to be able to reason on the actual need to intervene based on current conditions. In details, the data are collected through the

Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science

sensors, stored generally in a cloud where they are analysed, and the information obtained is available for the users according to the designer's purposes. The sensory network that the IoT allows to implement is able to produce data that, compared to the current ones, are more reliable and derive from statistically more relevant samplings [28]. In fact, many of the barriers due to the various passages that the information must go through from the moment of its acquisition to use/interpretation are removed. This is understood as the possibility of constant monitoring of all events and processes of a given environment/business.

In general, the IoT allows devices to be monitored and controlled remotely through special network infrastructures, creating a direct interaction between the real world and computer-based systems. The application of these concepts to the world of industry makes it possible to improve the efficiency and accuracy of the processes, as well as obtaining economic benefits, thanks also to the fact that the cases in which human intervention is required are reduced. The Internet of Things is in fact revolutionizing the market and numerous opportunities for growth and development are being created. The use of a system implemented by IoT applied to the culture of marine organisms such as crustaceans, both as model organisms for scientific research purposes and for production for commercial purposes, could be extremely useful and revolutionary. The idea is to have an intelligent system with special sensors for measuring the fundamental parameters for breeding and special effectors to intervene autonomously in such a way that all measured values always remain within the optimal limits. Therefore, the primary purpose would focus on optimizing the production processes, making them on the one hand more efficient in terms of quantity and quality of the product and at the same time lowering production costs (intended both from an economic and temporal point of view since it would reduce the use of human resources). Considering a crustacean culture, with the use of IoT it could be possible to optimize the use of water and primary resources, in consequence of an adequate real-time analysis of the values in the tanks and an intelligent management of food additions and supplements. The changes of water, if necessary, will be regulated by the intelligent system itself which will consider every variable, even the weather forecast (which can affect the quality of the incoming water where it is possible to directly draw on sources of external natural water), consulting both local sensors and open-data environmental/meteorological services. These sensors must be connected to the internet and the measurements made will be sent to an online platform, which will have the purpose of collecting the data. This platform will give the possibility to clearly view the data collected, for example by generating intuitive and easily understandable graphs. The system itself will also be able to analyse these data and understand where it will be necessary to intervene (however, leaving manual intervention possible) to correct them, for example through specific actuators for each value. Furthermore, the platform will be able to autonomously interrogate openaccess platforms or private databases to consult data collected in previous comparable farms, to be able to reason on the actual need to intervene based on current conditions.

References

1. M. Mutalipassi. (2019). Ph.D. Thesis, The Open University.

 R. Calado, T. Pimentel, A. Vitorino, G. Dionísio, and M.T. Dinis. (2008). Aquaculture 285: 1–4, 264–269. Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture

- 3. R. Calado, I. Olivotto, M.P. Oliver, and G.J. Holt. (2017). J. Fish Biol. 91: 1250–1251.
- 4. M. Mutalipassi, M. Di Natale, V. Mazzella, and V. Zupo. (2018). Animal. 12(1): 155-163.
- 5. F. Antonucci, and C. Costa. (2020). Aquaculture International. 28: 41-57.
- 6. C. Campanati, D. Willer, J. Schubert, and D.C. Aldridge. (2021). Rev. Fish. Sci. Aquac. 1–50.
- 7. T.P.T.H. Van, M.A. Rhodes, Y. Zhou, and D.A. Davis. (2017). Aquac. Res. 48: 5346–5355.
- 8. K. Krishna Kishore, P. Vamsi Krishna, and D. Srikanth. (2017). ICSSS 4: 26-429.
- C. Ullman, M. Rhodes, T. Hanson, D. Cline, and D.A. Davis. (2019). J. World Aquac. Soc. 50: 54– 64.
- J. Reis, R. Novriadi, A. Swanepoel, G. Jingping, M. Rhodes, and D.A. Davis. (2020). Aquaculture 519: 734759.
- 11. I.J. Huang, C.C. Hung, S.R. Kuang, Y.N. Chang, K.Y. Huang, C.R. Tsai, and K.L. Feng. (2018). *ICAM* 177–180.
- 12. M. Dehasque, B. Ooghe, M. Wille, P. Candreva, Y. Cladas, and P. Lavens. (1997). Aquacult. Int. 5: 179–182.
- 13. N. Papandroulakis, P. Dimitris, and D. Pascal. (2002). Aquacul. Eng. 26(1): 13-26.
- 14. C. Schlechtriem, M. Ricci, U. Focken, and K. Becker. (2004). J. Appl. Ichthyol. 20: 161-168.
- 15. J.G. Stottrup. (2000). Aquacult. Res. 31: 703-711.
- 16. M.F. Payne, and R.J. Rippingale. (2001). Aquaculture 201: 329–342.
- 17. I. Buttino, A. Ianora, S. Buono, V. Vitiello, M.G. Malzone et al. (2012). Aqua. Res. 43: 247-259.
- J.M. Sandnes, T. Ringstad, D. Wenner, P.H. Heyerdahl, T. Källqvist, and H.R. Gislerød. (2006). J. Biotechnol. 122: 209–215.
- 19. C. Sananurak, T. Lirdwitayaprasit, and P. Menasveta. (2009). Science Asia. 35: 118–124.
- 20. P. Erbland, S. Caron, M. Peterson, and A. Alyokhin. (2020). Aquacult. Eng. 90: 102103.
- 21. K. Preetham, B.C. Mallikarjun, K. Umesha, F.M. Mahesh, and S. Neethan. (2019). Int. J. Adv. Res. Ideas Inn. Tech. 5: 4–7.
- 22. P.S. Sneha, and V.S. Rakesh. (2018). Proc. Int. Conf. Inven. Comput. Inf. ICICI 1085-1089.
- Y. Qin, A.U. Alam, S. Pan, M.M.R. Howlader, R. Ghosh et al. (2018). Sens. Actuators Chemic. 255: 781–790.
- 24. G. Xu, Y. Shi, X. Sun, and W. Shen. (2019). Sensors 19: 12-22.
- 25. D. Miorandi, S. Sicari, F. De Pellegrini, and I. Chlamtac. (2012). Ad. Hoc Net. 10: 1497-1516.
- 26. S. Leonelli. (2019). eLif. 8: 123-145.
- 27. J. Calvert. (2018). New Genet. Soc. 37: 275-277.
- 28. L. Atzori, A. Iera, and G. Morabito. (2010). Comput. Netw. 54: 2787-2805.

Section 2

Chapter 3

Morphologic and genic effects of organic pollution on the reproductive physiology of *Paracentrotus lividus* Lmk: a mesocosm experiment

Glaviano F.^{1,2}, Federico S.³, Pinto B.², Gharbi M.^{2,4}, Russo T.², Di Cosmo A.², Polese G.²,

Costantini M.^{3*}, Zupo V.¹

¹ Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Department of Ecosustainable Marine Biotechnology, Ischia Marine Centre, Naples, Italy, Email: emanuele.somma@szn.it, francesca.glaviano@szn.it, vzupo@szn.it

² Department of Biology, University of Naples Federico II, Complesso Universitario di Monte Sant'Angelo, Via Cinthia 21, 80126 Naples, Italy

³ Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Department of Ecosustainable Marine Biotechnology, Via Ammiraglio Ferdinando Acton n. 55, 80133 Napoli, Italy, Email: maria.costantini@szn.it

⁴ Present address: General Fisheries Commission for the Mediterranean (GFCM) Palazzo Blumenstihl Via Vittoria Colonna, 1, 00193, Rome, Italy

Keywords: dissolved organic compounds; recirculated aquaculture systems; gene

expression; larvae; sea urchin

Abstract

A considerable amount of coastal contamination is caused by organic wastes, even if our attention is commonly focused on chemical pollutants and contaminants. Most organic pollutants are represented by highly dilute soluble compounds and particles deriving from dead organisms. This complex combination, consisting of suspended particles and dissolved macromolecules, has a significant impact on coastal planktonic and benthic organisms, also playing an active role in the global cycles of carbon. In addition, production practices are nowadays shifting towards recirculated aquaculture systems (RAS) and the genic responses of target organisms to the organic pollution are still scarcely addressed by scientific investigations. The reservoir of organic matter dissolved in the seawater is by far the least understood if compared to that on land, cause only a few compounds have been identified and their impacts on animals and plants are poorly understood. The tendency of these compounds to concentrate at interfaces facilitates the absorption of dissolved organic compound (DOC) onto suspended particles. Some DOC components are chemically combined with dissolved metals and form complexes, affecting the chemical properties of the seawater and the life of the coastal biota.

In this research, we compared the reproductive performances of the common sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* cultured in open-cycle tanks to those cultured in a recirculating aquaculture system (RAS), where organic pollution progressively increased during the experiment, even not reaching deadly concentrations. Sea urchins were cultured for seven months under these two conditions and their gametes were collected. Embryos resulting by *in vitro* fertilization were analyzed by *Real Time qPCR* to identify possible effects of pollution-induced stress. The fertility of sea urchins was evaluated, as well as the gonadosomatic indices and the histological features of gonads. Our results indicate that

organic pollution, event at sub-lethal concentrations, may hardly impact the reproductive potential of this key species and that chronic effects of stress are revealed by the analyses of survival rates and gene expression.

Introduction

Global concern about the possible negative impacts of pollutants on ecosystems and humans has extensively increased in the last decades. Thousands of pollutants, most of which are organic. have entered the environment because of such human activities as industrialization, agriculture and coastal urbanization (Daughton, 2005; Dachs and Méjanelle, 2010). Indeed, coastal areas, including transitional waters, are subject to considerable human influences on a global scale, because a major proportion of the world's population historically resides in regions near the water bodies, inducing increased anthropogenic stresses to coastal ecosystems (Muir and Howard, 2006; Steffen et al., 2007). Even if the effects of organic contaminants on aquatic organisms are well-known, the shortterm consequences of several compounds released into the marine environment received insufficient attention (Asher et al., 2007; Grzybowski et al., 2009). Organic pollutants, in coastal areas and elsewhere, have not been thoroughly investigated, partially due to analytical limitations and the limited cooperation among different scientific fields, such as environmental and analytical chemistry, marine biology and oceanography (Asher et al., 2007; Valiela, 2016). An undetermined number of chemicals have potentially been released into the environment, but they have still not been acknowledged in the scientific literature (Gigliotti et al., 2005; Jurado et al., 2005; Asher et al., 2007). In addition, the classical methods of investigation only permitted the identification of a small number of organic contaminants, using costly and time-consuming procedures (Valiela, 2016). Nowadays, due to huge advancements in analytical instruments, hundreds of emerging contaminants were identified up to trace levels in the last decades, tracking their actual accumulation. Several compounds deriving from a variety of applications, including drugs and cosmetics, agricultural herbicides, combustibles, detergents, aquaculture effluents and others, are constantly introduced into the marine environment (Gibbs, 1993; Muir and Howard, 2006).

particular, it has been stated that aquaculture practices locally affect the In 2006). The aquatic surroundings (Aubin al.. inorganic nutrient et accumulation (mainly nitrogen and phosphorus) leads to eutrophication, and an increase in organic wastes in the ecosystems produces various negative effects both to the aquatic biota and to the same organisms cultured in RAS (recirculating aquaculture systems) tanks (Cole et al., 2009). Taken together, these issues and the chemical pollution can lead to oxygen depletion, alteration of the water quality, decline of aquatic communities, algal blooms, mass mortality and habitat loss (Boesch and Paul, 2001). Organic pollutants can access the coastlines through a variety of pathways, and they enter the biogeochemical cycles by sinking, and through bioaccumulation processes, after their first introduction (Gigliotti et al., 2005). Their environmental distribution strongly relies on the physical-chemical characteristics of the compounds, except in the proximity of source points. Once these compounds reach the water, they flow until they are either decomposed, absorbed on sediments, or become sinking particles (Fleeger et al., 2003; Steffen et al., 2007)

The majority of ecotoxicology research have focused on evaluating the effects of single contaminants or simple combinations of pollutants (Muir and Howard, 2006). To mirror these realities, ecotoxicological investigations and approaches must undergo significant innovations (Jurado et al., 2005; Dueri et al., 2008), because several evidences indicate the

81

direct and indirect effects of organic pollutants on aquatic habitats, despite only 20% of previous studies focuses on oceans (Fleeger et al., 2003). In addition, aquaculture practices in RAS have been largely improved and the present trends of research are aimed at implementing new culture techniques in recirculating systems (Ahmed and Turchini, 2021), because of the urgent need to reduce the water consumption and the impacts of polluted wastes on marine coastal communities (Midilli et al., 2012). To this end, several species historically cultured in open-cycle tanks, or even in cages, are progressively transferred to RAS, in order to reduce the impacts, and in view of green aquaculture technologies (Gunning et al., 2016). This shift, however, also imposes to have clear mind about the actual effects of pollutants normally increasing in RAS, when the density of cultured organisms is high and the limits of the life support systems (LSS) are met (Zohar et al., 2005). To this end, a good knowledge of the effects of organic pollutants on the physiology of cultured organisms, along with their genic responses, becomes vital.

In this study, we employed the common sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* as a model organism. This sea urchin represents an economically relevant species for the seafood market and a resource for scientific research. In addition, it plays a crucial role in the ecology of Mediterranean coastal ecosystems because it is one of the main grazers in algal and seagrass ecosystems. Therefore, increasing pollution events impacting shallow coastal ecosystems might influence its reproductive potential and the ecology of economically relevant communities. In addition, *P. lividus* is extensively adopted in embryological and developmental biology studies, and it is a perfect model organism for ecotoxicological and physiological surveys, thanks to its easy management in the laboratory and the transparency of embryos, which permits to follow the early stages of development.

Embryotoxicity tests on sea urchin embryos can be rapidly completed (currently, at 24, 48 and 72 h; (Matranga et al., 2010) on a huge number of individuals at the same time (Bonaventura et al., 2005), and the effects on embryonic differentiation can be observed both at the morphological level and the molecular level (Roccheri et al., 2004; Pinsino et al., 2011). Moreover, while the planktonic larval stage represents a useful indicator for shortterm events, the settled individuals of *P. lividus* can be indicators for long-term phenomena. Here, we aimed at investigating the effects of waters contaminated with organic pollution on the sea urchin *P. lividus* at morphological and molecular levels, by adopting a mesocosm experiment. In particular, adult sea urchins were cultured for seven months in open-cycle tanks and compared to individuals cultured in a recirculating aquaculture system (RAS), where organic pollution progressively increased during the experiment, in the absence of water changes. The reproductive performances of the sea urchins in these two conditions were analysed, as well as the gonadosomatic indices and the gonadic state, investigated by means of histological techniques. The expression levels of seventy-nine genes involved in the stress response, as well as in development/differentiation processes (such as those involved in the skeletogenesis) were evaluated by Real Time qPCR, to identify the functional pathways affected by organic compounds.

Materials and methods

Experimental set-up

Adult sea urchins, *Paracentrotus lividus*, were collected by scuba divers in the Gulf of Napoli (Italy) and carried to the laboratory in thermostatic bags, to avoid stressing increases of temperature. They were gradually acclimatized in open-cycle tanks for two weeks prior to start the experiment, that was carried out for 7 months in four adjacent circular tanks. The

diameter of tanks was 90 cm on average and the height was 66 cm (until the surface water level). Each tank was filled with 405 litres of filtered saltwater, previously pumped from a pipeline located off the harbour of the Procida Island (about 60 m off the seashore). Two tanks were set as a Recirculating Aquaculture System (RAS), where organic pollution progressively increased during the experiment, never reaching deadly concentrations. Each RAS tank was equipped with an external mechanical filter (Whale, SICCE, Italy) and a skimmer (Seachem Aquavitro, Italy). In addition, the RAS tanks were equipped by a set of five submersible smart pumps XStream SDC (SICCE, Italy) mounted on the inner walls of the tanks through magnetic supports coated with protective gum, to dissipate vibrations. The pumps were managed by the smartphone app *Contrall* (Apple store and Google Play store), in order to become smart devices controlled through Wi-Fi connection. The app Contrall provided real-time feedback on the status of the pumps and an alarm system which was activated in case of anomalies. The pumps in the upper part of the tanks were positioned in counter-clockwise and upward direction, and three pumps in the lower side were positioned in clockwise and downwards direction. These settings allowed to create two different and contrary currents that mixed and oxygenated the water. The pumps were also connected to an ORP probe, constantly measuring the value in each tank. The ORP controller permitted to set an ORP lower limit and, when the probe read values under a threshold, the pumps were activated mixing and aerating the water until the ORP values reached values above the set threshold.

The two control tanks, in their turn, were managed in open cycle conditions, to guarantee a continuous exchange of seawater. They continuously received clean seawater pumped from a pipeline set off the harbour of the Procida Island (Bay of Naples), filtered into a large sump connected to a protein skimmer, and finally directed into a distribution pipeline reaching the

tanks. The output water was re-directed to the sump, where an overflow permitted to wash it out in the harbour of Procida. Twelve complete water changes per day (every 2 h) were assured by the water pumped into the open cycle system. An aeration device was also set inside each experimental and each control tank, to maintain dissolved oxygen (DO) at healthy levels for sea urchins and guarantee water circulation in the tanks.

After the complete setup, thirty sea urchins (*P. lividus*) were added to each tank (both test tanks and control tanks), i.e., 20 females and 10 males (female/male ratio of 2:1). The sex of sea urchins was previously determined under the optical microscope, based on the dimorphism in terms of shape and size of five dermal plaques visible around the anus (Brundu et al., 2022) During the experiment, the sea urchins reared in RAS tanks and those in the control tanks were fed twice a week *ad libitum* on a highly proteic pellet (Greenvet, Italy). The main water parameters, namely temperature, dissolved oxygen, redox potential, salinity and pH were checked manually three times a week. Nitrites, nitrates, phosphates and ammonia concentrations were checked using a colorimetric test (by adopting standard analytical kits for the photometer AL450, Aqualytic, Germany). The above-mentioned data measured in RAS tanks were compared to those measured in open cycle tanks.

Biotic and abiotic variables

Physical and chemical variables of the seawater were measured every three days in each tank. Water samples were collected in 50 ml beakers from the tanks to be analysed by the filter photometer AL450 (Aqualytic, Germany). Chemical analyses served to monitor the concentration (ppm) of nitrites, nitrates, ammonia and phosphates. Physical variables were also monitored. Temperature was daily recorded at noon by an alcohol thermometer; salinity was measured by means of a refractometer (TTBH Pte Ltd, Singapore); dissolved O₂ was measured by means of an Oxygen portable meter (ProfiLine oxi 3310, WTW, Germany); the pH was measured by a multiparametric probe (XS Instruments®, PC 7 Vio, Italy). In addition, behaviour, spawning, mortality and the health status of sea urchins were daily checked in the tanks and recorded in a spreadsheet.

In vitro fertilization for morphological and molecular analyses

Five sea urchins of each gender were injected with 1 ml of 0.5 M KCl through the peristomal membrane, to stimulate the contraction of gonads and to obtain the gametes. The subjects were then vigorously shaken, and females were placed with their mouths up, over 50 ml beakers, until the gametes were released into filtered (0.22 µm Millipore) seawater, to facilitate the collection of oocytes, which were rinsed three times with clean seawater to remove possible organic residuals. Sperms were collected dry from the gonophores to avoid premature activation that takes place when the sperms remain in direct contact with seawater. The eggs obtained were pooled in Petri dishes (diameter 14 cm) filled with filtered seawater. Embryos were incubated in a thermostatic chamber at 18°C for 48h until reaching of the *pluteus* stage; subsequently larvae were fixed in glutaraldehyde (4%) and observed under an optical microscope to evaluate the percentage of malformations, according to (Mcedward, 1984; Pagano et al., 1986). The significance of differences was determined by means of t-tests.

After 48 hours post-fertilization, about 5,000 fertilised eggs were collected from each of five females. The samples were centrifuged at 4 °C for 15 minutes at 3,500 rpm. The embryos were then conserved in RNAlater (Qiagen, Hildesheim, Germany), frozen in liquid nitrogen and then stored at -80°C until use.

86

Total RNA was extracted using *Aurum Total RNA Mini Kit* (BioRad, Hercules, California, USA). Using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (ND1000 UVVIS Spectrophotometer; NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA). The quantity of total RNA extracted was determined by the absorbance at 260 nm and the purity by the 260/280 and 260/230 nm ratios. To obtain cDNA, 1000 ng of total RNA was retrotranscribed for each sample using an *iScript cDNA Synthesis kit* (BioRad, Milan, Italy). Additionally,

adults were weighed, sacrificed and dissected; their gonads were extracted and weighed (fresh weight) for the evaluation of the gonadic indices (GI%). The evaluations of the GI% were performed on all specimens in the test tanks as compared with all the specimens still present in the control tanks at the end of the experiment.

Histological analyses

The gonads of one male and four females for each treatment were collected, fixed in Glutaraldehyde solution (4%), dehydrated in ascendant ethanol, clarified in methyl benzoate and included in paraffin according to Zupo et al., 2018. Sections of 5 μ m were obtained with the microtome (Leica) and stained with haematoxylin to observe the presence of morphological alterations. Histopathological indices were calculated according to (Costa et al., 2013).

Variations of gene expression

The variations in the expression of 27 genes involved in the stress response, 43 genes involved in development/differentiation processes, 8 genes involved into skeletogenesis and 9 in detoxification processes (see Table S1 in the Supplementary Materials for their biological functions) were evaluated by *Real Time qPCR*. Undiluted cDNA was used as a

template in a reaction containing a final concentration of 0.3 mM for each primer and 1× FastStart SYBR Green master mix (total volume of 10 μ L) (Applied Biosystems, Monza, Italy). PCR amplifications were performed *CFX96 Touch Real-Time PCR Detection System* (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.), using the following thermal profile: 95° C for 10 min, one cycle for cDNA denaturation; 95° C for 15 s and 60° C for 1 min, 40 cycles for amplification; 72° C for 5 min, one cycle for final elongation; one cycle for melting curve analysis (from 60° C to 95° C) to verify the presence of a single product. Each assay included a no-template control for each primer pair. To capture intra-assay variability, all real-time qPCR reactions were carried out in triplicate.

For all Real-Time qPCR assays, the results of each cDNA sample were standardised with the mRNA level of the housekeeping genes *18S rRNA* and Cytochrome c oxidase used as reference genes, whose expression levels are rather stable throughout the development. Fluorescence was measured using *Bio-Rad CFX Maestro software* (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc.). The values of C(t) obtained and the efficiency values for each pair of oligonucleotides are analysed and normalised against the internal control by REST programme (*Relative Expression Software Tool*) based on the Pfaffl method, and the expression values of the gene of interest relative to the control were reported (Pfaffl, 2001; Pfaffl et al., 2002). Relative expression ratios greater than ± 1.5 were considered significant.

Data collection and statistical analyses

A Student *t*-test was applied to determine the significance of differences between two sets of samples whose normality of variance was previously tested by means of a Shapiro-Wilk test. In trials where a larger number of groups were compared, one-way ANOVA was adopted, based on the type of data to be analysed, to determine the significance of differences between

experimental groups. In the same experiment, similarity matrices were obtained for all considered parameters, in order to check the relationships among variables, for all the considered datasets. Correlation matrix analyses were used to display the correlation coefficients among the seawater parameters and mortality events in the tanks. For the evaluation of the GI%, sea urchins were weighed, sacrificed and dissected; their gonads were extracted and weighed (fresh weight) and the index was calculated according to the formula proposed by Fabbrocini and D'Adamo (2010) and Keshavarz et al. (2017):

1) GI = gonadal wet weight (g)/sea urchin wet weight (g) × 100

Histopathological indices were calculated using the formula proposed by (Costa et al., 2013):

$$I_h = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{j} w_j a_{jh}}{\sum_{j=1}^{j} M_j}$$

where, Ih is the histopathological index for the individual h; wj is the weight of the jth histopathological alteration; ajh is the score attributed to the hth individual for the jth alteration and Mj is the maximum attributable value for the jth alteration (in the case all alteration are present at the maximum diffusion). The Ih was determined following the concepts of the differential biological significance of each analysed alteration (weight) and its diffusion (score). The weights ranged from 1 (minimum severity) to 3 (maximum severity), while the score varied from 0 (not present) to 6 (diffuse). As histopathological alterations, we considered: the presence of lipofuscin (w=1); cells in atresia (w=2); cells in necrosis (w=3). The diffusion was calculated using the presence/absence of each alteration in 6 random pictures taken at magnification of 40x for each specimen. A PERMANOVA test was performed to determine the significance of differences in the Ih index among all

treatments. All graphs and statistical analyses were processed using GraphPad Prism 8.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA, www.graphpad.com).

Results

Seawater chemistry

The concentration of NH₄ in the water of both RAS tanks (test tanks), ranged between 0 and 1.8 ppm (a maximum at 1.8 ppm was recorded at the end of the experiment). Taking into account the average between the mean weekly concentrations of NH₄ (Figure 1E) it showed similar time trends in both RAS tanks. In the control tanks (open cycle) the concentration of NH₄ was characterized by a gradual increase from the 60th day until a stable concentration of 0.9 ppm in the last days of the experiment (Figure 1E). The trends of ammonium concentration significantly differed in experimental tanks with respect to the control tanks in (p < 0.05; Table S2). The concentration of NO₂ in the water of RAS tanks, ranged between 0 and 0.39 while in control tanks (Figure 1C) it ranged between 0 and 0.12. The Student *t*-test showed a significant difference between RAS tanks and the control tanks, (p < 0.05; Table S3). The concentrations of NO_3 in the water of RAS tanks exhibited very irregular trends and ranged between 4.1 and 18.5. The weekly average of NO_3 concentrations indicated trends from the two RAS tanks with a significant deviation in almost every time, as compared to the control tanks (Figure 1D). The nitrate concentration in control tanks ranged between 3.1 and 7.3, thus it remained consistently lower than in the RAS tanks (Figure 1D) (p < 0.05; Table S4). The concentration of PO_4 ranged between 0 and 5.6 in the RAS tank 1 and between 0 and 0.45 in RAS tank 2 (Figure 1F). The mean concentration of phosphates in control tanks ranged between 0 and 0.3, with no significant differences between the RAS and the control tanks (p>0.05; Table S5). The temperature in the RAS tanks varied along with external temperature, continuously increasing from March to August (Figure 1A). In the control tanks the temperature trends were characterized by a gradual increase, but the maximum was 23.5°C, reached in the last period. The Student *t*-test indicated significance of the difference (p < 0.05; Table S6). The pH ranged between 7.8 and 8.2 in RAS tanks (Figure 1H) while in the control tanks the pH significantly differed (p < 0.05; Table S7) and it was consistently above 8. The concentration of dissolved O₂ was between 3.5 and 7.4 ppm in RAS tanks while in the control tanks it was significantly different (p < 0.05; Table S8) and ranged between 6.1 and 7.4 ppm (Figure 1G). The salinity of water ranged between 38 PSU and 40 PSU in RAS tanks while in control tanks it significantly differed (p < 0.05; Table S9) and remained stably around 38 PSU, with a few increases at 39 PSU (Figure 1B).











Figure 1: Chemical and physical water parameters trend in RAS tanks and control (ctrl) tanks.

Survival rates and water conditions

Significant mortality differences were detected between control tanks, where no mortality was detected, and RAS tanks (p < 0.05; Table S10; Figure 2). The water descriptors in RAS tank 1 and 2, analysed by means of correlation matrices, indicated a significant relationship between sea urchin mortality and the presence of records of water descriptors out their optimal ranges. In particular, a significant difference between RAS systems and the control tanks was detected in all physical and chemical descriptors of water in the last days of the experiment, when an increase of mortality was recorded, especially in the last days (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Mortality rates of animals reared in the RAS tanks and control tanks.

The correlation matrix (Figure 3A) for the RAS tank 1 showed that NH₄ is negatively correlated (-0.35) with NO₃, and positively correlated (0.41) with PO₄. NO₂ exhibited a moderate positive correlation (0.45) with PO₄. As well, NO₃ was positively correlated with temperature (0.41), and a negatively with the pH (-0.49). PO₄ was positively correlated (0.42) with temperature. The pH exhibited a positive correlation (0.57) with the dissolved O₂ and in fact the two parameters increased in parallel. The dissolved oxygen exhibited a negative correlation with the mortality (-0.51). A moderate negative correlation (-0.61) between temperature and pH was also observed, as well as a moderate positive correlation (0.42) with the salinity. However, temperature exhibited a moderate correlation (0.45) as well with sea urchin mortality in all the tanks and a negative correlation (-0.79) with the dissolved oxygen, indicating a strong decrease in the dissolved oxygen of the water when the temperature increased.

In the RAS tank 2, the correlation matrix (Figure 3B) showed for NH_4 a positive moderate correlation with temperature (0.33), while the correlation indices were 0.47 with salinity,

0.41 with pH and 0.42 with dissolved O_2 . NO₂ exhibited a strong positive correlation (0.84) with PO₄ and temperature (0.75). As well, a moderate positive correlation between NO₂ and salinity (0.6) was indicated by this analysis. PO₄ exhibited a strong correlation with temperature (0.82), as well as a moderate correlation with mortality (0.29) and salinity (0.59). Temperature showed a moderate negative correlation with pH (-0.65), while its correlation indices were 0.45 vs. mortality, and 0.81 vs. salinity. The pH showed a moderate correlation with the dissolved O₂ (0.53). The dissolved oxygen exhibited a negative correlation with the mortality (-0,49). Increases of NO₂ concentration corresponded to increases of PO₄, and when also phosphates increased, mortality events were recorded. In contrast, the corelation matrices in control tanks did not indicate any relationship of the seawater descriptors with mortality events, because of a total absence of mortality.



Figure 3: Correlation matrix for different measures from RAS tank 1 (on the left). Correlation matrix for different measures from RAS tank 2 (on the right).

Efficiency of *in-vitro* fertilization tests and gonadosomatic indices

Fertilization rates ranging from 98% to 100% were observed using gametes deriving from animals from both RAS and control tanks (p > 0.05). In contrast, different results of larval

development and malformations were observed between the two types of treatments. In fact, the tests in the RAS systems produced at 48 hpf: 20,93% (\pm 2,23) of embryos still at the blastula stage; 21,75% (\pm 2,76) of embryos still at the gastrula stage; 5,85% (\pm 4,31) still at prism stage (Table S11A); 26,4% (\pm 8,91) malformed plutei and only 31,85% (\pm 4,3) of normal plutei (Figure 4A; Table S11B). Inversely, the control tanks produced only 0,15% (\pm 0,07) of embryos still at the blastula stage; 27,4% (\pm 4,81; Table S11A) of malformed plutei and 72,45% (\pm 4,88) of normal plutei (Figure 4B).



Figure 4: Percentage of malformed and delayed embryos at 48h post fertilization from sea urchins reared in RAS tanks.

The differences between the two treatments were significant (p < 0.05; Table S11B). Despite the significant differences in the production of healthy offspring, the adult sea urchins collected at the end of the experiment exhibited not significant differences in the gonadosomatic indices between the two different culturing systems (Figure 5, Table S12).



Figure 5 Gonadosomatic indices recorded at the end of the experimental period from sea urchins reared in RAS tanks and control tanks.

Histological analyses

The histological analyses indicated that all tested specimens were at the stage of sexual maturity, with no substantial differences among the housing methods (Figure 6). The only noticeable differences between the open system and the RAS consisted in the absence of sperms in the interstitial spaces of the testis belonging to specimens cultivated in RAS (Figure 6 A, B, C).



Figure 6. Overview of gonads sections from specimens raised with different water circuitry. A, B, C, testicles; D - I ovary sections; CTL: control system; (* lipofuscin aggregate, a atrasia, n necrosis) scale bar = 100 μ m

The ovaries exhibited a similar pattern in control and in RAS-reared specimens, but variable maturation levels were exhibited, with the presence of mature eggs in the interstitial gonad space. The histopathological index, as well, did not reveal significant differences among treatments (Figure 7)



Figure 7. Ih: the graph shows the comparison of Ih among difference treatments, C = control tanks, V1 and V2 = RAS.

Stress genes

The variation of gene expression levels was followed by Real Time qPCR (Table S1, Figure 8) for the genes of interest, belonging to four functional classes. The results referred to twenty-seven genes analysed showed that the plutei deriving from the RAS tanks had a significant variation in the expression for most of the genes analysed (Figure 8; Table S1). In the case of plutei deriving from RAS tank 1, twelve genes increased their expression levels (Figure 8): *caspase 3/7*, *CASP8*, *ChE*, *GS*, *GST*, *hsp56*, *hsp60*, *hsp70*, *hsp75*, *hsp90*, *NF-kB*, *PARP* and *p53*. Six genes reduced their expression levels: *CYP-2UI*, *cytb*, *GRHPR*, *HIF1A*, *MTase* and *TNF*. Similarly, in the case of plutei deriving from the RAS tank 2, fourteen genes increased their expression levels (Figure 8): *ARF1*, *caspase 3/7*, *CASP8*, *ChE*, *GS*, *GST*, *hsp56*, *hsp60*, *hsp70*, *hsp75*, *hsp90*, *NF-kB*, *PARP* and and *p53*. Six genes decreased their expression levels (Figure 8): *CYP-2UI*, *cytb*, *GRHPR*, *HIF1A*, *hsp56*, *hsp60*, *hsp70*, *hsp75*, *hsp90*, *NF-kB*, *PARP* and and *p53*. Six genes decreased their expression levels (Figure 8): *ARF1*, *caspase 3/7*, *CASP8*, *ChE*, *GS*, *GST*, *hsp56*, *hsp60*, *hsp70*, *hsp75*, *hsp90*, *NF-kB*, *PARP* and and *p53*. Six genes decreased their expression levels: *CYP-2UI*, *cytb*, *GRHPR*, *HIF1A*, *hsp56*, *hsp60*, *hsp70*, *hsp75*, *hsp90*, *NF-kB*, *PARP* and and *p53*. Six genes decreased their expression levels: *CYP-2UI*, *cytb*, *GRHPR*, *HIF1A*, *MTase* and*TNF*.

Development and differentiation genes.

Concerning the forty-five genes involved in the development and differentiation processes, the results showed that the plutei deriving from the RAS tanks have a further significant variation in expression for most of the genes analysed (Figure 8; Table S14A). In the case of plutei deriving from RAS tank 1, six genes increased their expression levels: *CM-K*, *FOXA*, *FoxG*, *Foxo*, *Wnt5* and *Wnt6*. Instead, sixteen genes decreased their expression levels: *BRA*, *CREB*, *FZ*-7, *GF11*, *GOOS*, *H3.3*, *HH*, *JAK*, *JNK*, *KIF19*, *nodal*, *OneCut*, *TAK1*, *tcf4*, *TCF7* and *VEGF*. Similarly, in the case of plutei deriving from RAS tank 2, eight genes decreased their expression levels (Table S14B): *CM-K*, *FZ-7*, *FOXA*, *FoxG*, *Foxo*, *Wnt5*, *Wnt6* and *Wnt8*. Conversely, sixteen genes decreased their expression levels: *BRA*, *CREB*, *H3.3*, *HH*, *JAK*, *JNK*, *KIF19*, *nodal*, *OneCut*, *TAK1*, *tcf4*, *TCF7*, *GOOS*, *H3.3*, *HH*, *JAK*, *JNK*, *KIF19*, *nodal*, *FoxG*, *Foxo*, *Wnt5*, *Wnt6* and *Wnt8*. Conversely, sixteen genes decreased their expression levels: *BRA*, *CREB*, *FZ-7*, *GF11*, *GOOS*, *H3.3*, *HH*, *JAK*, *JNK*, *KIF19*, *nodal*, *OneCut*, *TAK1*, *tcf4*, *TCF7* and *VEGF*.

Skeletogenic genes

The results referred to eight genes involved in skeletogenesis showed that the plutei deriving from the RAS tanks had consistently a significant expression variation for most genes analysed, resulting down regulated. In the case of plutei deriving from the RAS tank 1 (Figure 8; Table S15A): *C-jun*, *Nec*, *p16*, *p19*, SM50 and *Uni* were down-regulated. Similarly, in the case of plutei deriving from RAS tank 2 (Table S15B): *BMP5-7*, *C-jun*, *Nec*, *p16*, *p19*, *SM30*, *SM50* and *Uni* were down-regulated.

Detoxification genes

The genes involved in detoxification processes showed that the plutei deriving from the RAS tanks had an expression variation for some genes analysed. In the case of plutei deriving from RAS tank 1 (Figure 8; Table S16A), *CA*, *MDR1* and *NADH* exhibited significant variation

of their expression. Similarly, in the case of plutei deriving from RAS tank 2 (Table S16B), *CAT*, *MDR1*, *MT* and *NADH* exhibited significant variation.



ADMP2	2.00				1.00
Alix	0.40				-0.30
B lim p	0.20				-1.10
B P 1 0	1.10			0.20	o
BRA	-1.40				3.90
СМ-К	-1.30	-1.50	3.20		6.10
CREB	+7.00	+6.30			-0.30
DELTA	+6.00				-0.20
d - 2 - caten in	o				o
EGF	2.10				-0.90
F Z - 7	3.90				2.90
FOXA	2.60				1.90
FoxG	3.10		0.30		3.50
Foxo	-0.40	2.20			4.50
G F I 1	0.10				0.50
GOOS	-3.70				1.00
hat	0.90		0	-1.00	-0.90
Н 3.3	0.90			-4.10	0.70
нн	0.50				-3.40
ЈА К	-2.20				-1.40
л к	0.70				0.30
K F 1 9	-1.90				-1.10
Lefty	0.20				o
M-Vg1	-0.20				• 0 . 2 0
NLK	-0.40				o
nodal	-2.70				-3.70
N O T C H	0.10				0.30
NOTCHLESS	0.30				0.60
OneCut	-2.70		-3.70	-4.70	•0.20
Ptc	0.20		0	1.00	0.90
PLC	1.30				0
PLAUF 3	0.50				1.20
SMAD6	0.20				+1.30
Smo	-0.30				•0.20
s o x 9	0.20				•0.30
STAT1	0.20				0.80
ТАК 1	-2.20	+4.90		-4.40	+1.50
tc f 4	0.10		-1.80	0.90	0.40
TCF7	-4.90				0.30
VEGF	0.30	0.70	-5.40	-2.50	+4.70
Wnt5	1.00		2.50		3.20
Wnt6	3.60	3.80			0.30
Wnt8	5.60	0.30			3.00

с

в

D Е

D evelopm ent/D ifferentiation

ADMP2

Alix B lim p B P 1 0 BRA С М - К CREB DELTA d - 2 - catenin EGF
 2.1
 2.5
 0.6
 1.9

 2.7
 3.5
 1.9
 2.1

 .0.5
 0.6
 1.5
 2.6
F Z - 7 FOXA FoxG Foxo G F I 1 -4.9 -1.0 -2.8 GOOS hat Н 3.3 нн -4.8 -0.2 ЈАК JNK - 4 . 4 K | F 1 9 Lefty M-Vg1 NLK nodal м о т с н NOTCHLESS OneCut Ptc PLC PLAUF 3 SMAD6 Smo s o x 9 S T A T 1 Т А К 1 -6.4 tc f 4 TCF7 VEGF 4.9 0.2 2.2 1.4 Wnt5 Wnt6 Wnt8 в с

A

D

Е

102

0

- 7

-7.00

0


Figure 8: Heatmaps showing the expression profiles and hierarchical clustering of genes analysed by real-time qPCR in embryos deriving from *P. lividus* sea urchins reared in RAS tank 1 (on the left) and RAS tank 2 (on the right). A-B-C-D-E are the different replicates coming from different females. Colour code: red, up-regulated genes respect to the control; blue, down-regulated genes.

Discussion

Conventional ecotoxicity tests enable the identification of one or a few more substances, which can have a major harmful effect on organisms. The benefits of such methods are evident, because they may provide important information on the impacts of a single pollutant on the physiology of a model species, but they do not consider the impact of a mixture of natural pollutants, as they are normally co-present in the environment. Consequently, an implementation of methods enabling fully understanding of the impacts of complex combinations of contaminants is required. This may be accomplished by concentrating the seawater and testing the physiological responses of individuals and communities employing a more realistic mesocosm. Such a kind of investigations could enable significant progresses in understanding how contaminants actually impact coastal ecosystems and communities (Dachs and Méjanelle, 2010).

In our experimental set-up, despite the presence of the skimmers, pumps and the external filters and their constant maintenance, the increase in nutrients and waste substances concentration, as well as the stochastic mortality events, induced gradual alteration of the water quality. As a result, the abiotic and biotic descriptors showed significant variations within a larger range in RAS tanks, as compared to those measured in the control tanks. Considering the high organic loads and the low dilution rates, nitrites, nitrates, phosphates, temperature and salinity might, as expected, accumulate more in RAS systems than in the controls reaching higher concentrations, while pH and DO were lower.

The most relevant difference in the systems was represented by a total absence of mortality in the control tanks, revealing good health conditions of the animals in the open system, while mortality events occurred, often contemporaneously, in the RAS tanks. The correlation matrix of data collected in RAS tanks indicated that, rather than a single descriptor or factor, the continuous exposure and the additive effects over time led to stress responses and, consequently, to death. However, their effects may still be considered "sub-lethal", since most reared individuals reached the end of the experiment. The increase of temperature and dissolved oxygen have already been identified as critical factors in aquaculture in general (Qiang et al., 2019) and in echinoculture in particular (Siikavuopio et al., 2007). For this reason and according to the correlation matrixes, we can affirm that the increase in temperature and the decrease of oxygen strongly affected the general quality of the water and the health state of the sea urchins, leading to mortality events in both RAS tanks. The volume of water in the RAS tanks was limited and, without any water changes, its quality was strongly influenced by high temperature, which in turn could amplify pollution effects. In fact, this evidence was well supported by the other water quality descriptors, which were strictly correlated with both variables. Accordingly, the temperature increases also induced an increase of salinity and PO₄ concentrations. The increase of the salinity was also moderately correlated with the decrease of DO in the RAS tank 1, while in the RAS tank 2 the salinity was moderately correlated with the increase of NH₄, NO₂ and PO₄. Considering its ecological adaptations, P. lividus has a considerable tolerance for salinity variations (Santos et al., 2022), but salinity increases can also lead to alteration in the microbial community influencing nitrification and denitrification processes (Xia et al., 2019). Dissolved oxygen is a crucial variable as well. It not only directly affects the health of sea urchins (Siikavuopio et al., 2007), but it is also fundamental for the decomposition of toxic substances (Zhang et al., 2020). Moreover, low levels of dissolved oxygen can limit nitrification and lead to the increase in CO₂ content, and consequently to the decrease of the pH value. In both RAS tanks, dissolved oxygen presented a negative correlation with mortality, indicating that the water quality was highly altered by a low concentration of dissolved oxygen. In fact, dissolved oxygen in aquaculture drops significantly when temperature and density organic matter increase (Zang et al., 2011). These variations were not recorded in the control tanks, where the water was continuously renewed.

Sea urchins are well known for being very sensitive to environmental fluctuations (Fernandez and Boudouresque, 1997), which can affect their reproductive cycle and lead to fertility decreases, or abnormal larval developmental (Byrne et al., 2011; Perez and Lehner, 2019).

Subsequently, in this study we reported how the progressive increase of organic pollution can affect the reproduction success of *P. lividus*.

Interestingly, the two different culture conditions did not affect sea urchin gonad growth. In fact, at the end of the experimental period, the gonadosomatic index exhibited no significant differences among the animals reared in the RAS system and in the control system. Sea urchin gonads are considered as structural storage tissue; the reserve take place both through gonad increase in size or lipids and carbohydrates accumulation (Klinger et al., 1988; Fernandez, 1997). Generally, nutrient storage and gonadic development in P. lividus (Boudouresque and Verlaque, 2001) and other echinoderms (Barker et al., 1998) were considered mostly linked to food quality and availability, instead of the water temperature. For this reason, during the experimental period, all the sea urchins were fed on the same diet ad libitum, to avoid any effect on the physiology of gonads. Nevertheless, gametogenesis can be affected by water temperature (Shpigel et al., 2004). Our histological analyses confirmed that all the adults tested (both males and females) achieved a sexual maturity stage, with no substantial differences. On the other hand, the results herein obtained from both the morphological observations on the larvae and the molecular analyses, indicate that an increased organic pollution may hardly impact the reproductive potential of this species. In fact, there is a significant difference between the percentage of malformed plutei at 48h, deriving from gametes produced by animals reared in the RAS system. Furthermore, our findings showed that more than 50% of embryos were delayed, being at 48 hpf at at the blastula or gastrula stage, some of them with evident apoptotic signals. These results evidenced a strong effect on P. lividus reproductive efficiency. These morphological observations are well supported by the evaluation of the expression of several genes related to different functional processes as stress response, development, differentiation,

skeletogenesis and detoxification. Almost all genes under analysis switched on, as compared to the controls. Most of the genes involved in development and skeletogenesis were downregulated, justifying the morphological low success of embryonic development observed. In addition, it is evident that sea urchins exposed to these treatments attempted to detoxify, by increasing the expression of the specific genes involved in detoxification pathways. These findings indicated that the prolonged exposure of sea urchins to organic pollution, even if not inhibiting their gonadal maturation, was sufficient to affect common molecular pathways, altering some physiological mechanisms, which in turn can lead to morphological malformations in their offspring. Reproductive success is vital for the survival of any species. Failure of adult sea urchins to obtain embryos able to correctly develop, can might induce strong impacts on their natural stocks.

Considering the limitations of standard ecotoxicology tests, the realistic mesocosm tested in this study can be considered as an effective method which, in combination with molecular analyses, helps our understanding of the impacts of complex combinations of stressors and accumulation of organic contaminants in marine environments. In addition, the understanding of the effects of toxic substances discharged from human activities can be extremely important to forecast and manage possible environmental damages associated with their rise and spread. Understanding the molecular processes involved in sensing and dealing with classical or new contaminants might be useful to produce diagnostic tools to timely assess various threats to the marine environment.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Mr M. Trapanese and Miss C. Trapanese for providing space and tools for our experiments at the firm Echinoidea, in Procida (Naples, Italy). Francesca Glaviano was supported by a PhD (PhD in Biology, University of Naples Federico II) fellowship at the

Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn.

References

- Ahmed, N., and Turchini, G. M. (2021). Recirculating aquaculture systems (RAS): Environmental solution and climate change adaptation. *J Clean Prod* 297. doi: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126604.
- Asher, B. J., Wong, C. S., and Rodenburg, L. A. (2007). Chiral source apportionment of polychlorinated biphenyls to the Hudson River estuary atmosphere and food web. *Environ Sci Technol* 41. doi: 10.1021/es070763n.
- Aubin, J., Papatryphon, E., van der Werf, H. M. G., Petit, J., and Morvan, Y. M. (2006). Characterisation of the environmental impact of a turbot (Scophthalmus maximus) recirculating production system using Life Cycle Assessment. *Aquaculture* 261. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2006.09.008.
- Barker, M. F., Keogh, J. A., Lawrence, J. M., and Lawrence, A. L. (1998). Feeding rate, absorption efficiencies, growth, and enhancement of gonad production in the New Zealand sea urchin Evechinus chloroticus valenciennes (Echinoidea: Echinometridae) fed prepared and natural diets. in *Journal of Shellfish Research*.
- Boesch, D. F., and Paul, J. F. (2001). An overview of coastal environmental health indicators. *Hum Ecol Risk Assess* 7. doi: 10.1080/20018091095096.
- Bonaventura, R., Poma, V., Costa, C., and Matranga, V. (2005). UVB radiation prevents skeleton growth and stimulates the expression of stress markers in sea urchin embryos. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 328, 150–157. doi: 10.1016/J.BBRC.2004.12.161.
- Boudouresque, C. F., and Verlaque, M. (2001). "Ecology of Paracentrotus lividus," in *Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science* doi: 10.1016/S0167-9309(01)80013-2.
- Brundu, G., Cannavacciuolo, A., Nannini, M., Somma, E., Munari, M., Zupo, V., et al. (2022). Development of an efficient, noninvasive method for identifying gender year-round in the sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus. *Aquaculture* 564, 739082. doi: 10.1016/J.AQUACULTURE.2022.739082.
- Byrne, M., Selvakumaraswamy, P., Ho, M. A., Woolsey, E., and Nguyen, H. D. (2011). Sea urchin development in a global change hotspot, potential for southerly migration of thermotolerant propagules. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography* 58, 712–719.
- Cole, D. W., Cole, R., Gaydos, S. J., Gray, J., Hyland, G., Jacques, M. L., et al. (2009). Aquaculture: Environmental, toxicological, and health issues. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 212. doi: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2008.08.003.

- Costa, P. M., Carreira, S., Costa, M. H., and Caeiro, S. (2013). Development of histopathological indices in a commercial marine bivalve (Ruditapes decussatus) to determine environmental quality. *Aquatic Toxicology* 126. doi: 10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.08.013.
- Dachs, J., and Méjanelle, L. (2010). Organic pollutants in coastal waters, sediments, and biota: A relevant driver for ecosystems during the anthropocene? *Estuaries and Coasts* 33, 1–14. doi: 10.1007/S12237-009-9255-8/FIGURES/2.
- Daughton, C. G. (2005). "Emerging" chemicals as pollutants in the environment: A 21st century perspective. *Renewable Resources Journal* 23.
- Dueri, S., Castro-Jiménez, J., and Comenges, J. M. Z. (2008). On the use of the partitioning approach to derive Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) for persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in sediments: A review of existing data. *Science of the Total Environment* 403. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.05.016.
- Fabbrocini, A., and D'Adamo, R. (2010). Gamete maturation and gonad growth in fed and starved sea urchin paracentrotus lividus (Lamarck, 1816). J Shellfish Res 29. doi: 10.2983/035.029.0407.
- Fernandez, C. (1997). Effect of diet on the biochemical composition of Paracentrotus lividus (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) under natural and rearing conditions (Effect of diet on biochemical composition of urchins). *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - A Physiology* 118. doi: 10.1016/S0300-9629(97)00221-1.
- Fernandez, C., and Boudouresque, C. F. (1997). Phenotypic plasticity of Paracentrotus lividus (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) in a lagoonal environment. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 152. doi: 10.3354/meps152145.
- Fleeger, J. W., Carman, K. R., and Nisbet, R. M. (2003). Indirect effects of contaminants in aquatic ecosystems. *Science of the Total Environment* 317. doi: 10.1016/S0048-9697(03)00141-4.
- Gibbs, D. E. (1993). Environmental organic chemistry (Schwarzenback, Rene P.; Gschwend, Philip M.; Imboden, Dieter, M.). *J Chem Educ* 70. doi: 10.1021/ed070pa251.1.
- Gigliotti, C. L., Totten, L. A., Offenberg, J. H., Dachs, J., Reinfelder, J. R., Nelson, E. D., et al. (2005). Atmospheric concentrations and deposition of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons to the Mid-Atlantic East Coast region. *Environ Sci Technol* 39. doi: 10.1021/es050401k.
- Grzybowski, B. A., Bishop, K. J. M., Kowalczyk, B., and Wilmer, C. E. (2009). The "wired" universe of organic chemistry. *Nat Chem* 1. doi: 10.1038/nchem.136.
- Gunning, D., Maguire, J., and Burnell, G. (2016). The development of sustainable saltwaterbased food production systems: A review of established and novel concepts. *Water* (*Switzerland*) 8. doi: 10.3390/w8120598.
- Jurado, E., Jaward, F., Lohmann, R., Jones, K. C., Simó, R., and Dachs, J. (2005). Wet deposition of persistent organic pollutants to the global oceans. *Environ Sci Technol* 39. doi: 10.1021/es048599g.

- Keshavarz, M., Kamrani, E., Biuki, N. A., and Zamani, H. (2017). Study on the gonadosomatic indices of sea urchin Echinometra mathaei in Persian Gulf, Iran. *Pak J Zool* 49. doi: 10.17582/journal.pjz/2017.49.3.923.933.
- Klinger, T. S., Watts, S. A., and Forcucci, D. (1988). Effect of short-term feeding and starvation on storage and synthetic capacities of gut tissues of Lytechinus variegatus (Lamarck) (Echinodermata:Echinoidea). J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 117. doi: 10.1016/0022-0981(88)90056-1.
- Matranga, V., Zito, F., Costa, C., Bonaventura, R., Giarrusso, S., and Celi, F. (2010). Embryonic development and skeletogenic gene expression affected by X-rays in the Mediterranean sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus. *Ecotoxicology* 19. doi: 10.1007/s10646-009-0444-9.
- Mcedward, L. R. (1984). Morphometric and metabolic analysis of the growth and form of an echinopluteus. *J Exp Mar Biol Ecol* 82. doi: 10.1016/0022-0981(84)90109-6.
- Midilli, A., Kucuk, H., and Dincer, I. (2012). Environmental and sustainability aspects of a recirculating aquaculture system. *Environ Prog Sustain Energy* 31, 604–611. doi: 10.1002/EP.10580.
- Muir, D. C. G., and Howard, P. H. (2006). Are there other persistent organic pollutants? A challenge for environmental chemists. *Environ Sci Technol* 40. doi: 10.1021/es061677a.
- Pagano, G., Cipollaro, M., Corsale, G., Esposito, A., Ragucci, E., Giordano, G. G., et al. (1986). SEA URCHIN: BIOASSAY FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF DAMAGE FROM ENVIRONMENTAL CONTAMINANTS. in ASTM Special Technical Publication doi: 10.1520/stp23050s.
- Perez, M. F., and Lehner, B. (2019). Intergenerational and transgenerational epigenetic inheritance in animals. *Nat Cell Biol* 21. doi: 10.1038/s41556-018-0242-9.
- Pfaffl, M. W. (2001). A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT– PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res* 29, e45–e45.
- Pfaffl, M. W., Horgan, G. W., and Dempfle, L. (2002). Relative expression software tool (REST©) for group-wise comparison and statistical analysis of relative expression results in real-time PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res* 30, e36–e36.
- Pinsino, A., Roccheri, M. C., Costa, C., and Matranga, V. (2011). Manganese interferes with calcium, perturbs ERK signaling, and produces embryos with no skeleton. *Toxicol Sci* 123, 217–230. doi: 10.1093/TOXSCI/KFR152.
- Qiang, J., Zhong, C. Y., Bao, J. W., Liang, M., Liang, C., Li, H. X., et al. (2019). The effects of temperature and dissolved oxygen on the growth, survival and oxidative capacity of newly hatched hybrid yellow catfish larvae (Tachysurus fulvidraco♀ × Pseudobagrus vachellii♂). *J Therm Biol* 86. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2019.102436.
- Roccheri, M. C., Agnello, M., Bonaventura, R., and Matranga, V. (2004). Cadmium induces the expression of specific stress proteins in sea urchin embryos. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 321, 80–87. doi: 10.1016/J.BBRC.2004.06.108.

- Santos, P. M., Silva, J. A., Costa, J. L., and Pombo, A. (2022). Effect of salinity on somatic growth and gonadal enhancement of the sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus (Lamarck, 1816). *Aquaculture* 560, 738593. doi: 10.1016/J.AQUACULTURE.2022.738593.
- Shpigel, M., McBride, S. C., Marciano, S., and Lupatsch, I. (2004). The effect of photoperiod and temperature on the reproduction of European sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus. *Aquaculture* 232. doi: 10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00539-8.
- Siikavuopio, S. I., Dale, T., Mortensen, A., and Foss, A. (2007). Effects of hypoxia on feed intake and gonad growth in the green sea urchin, Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis. *Aquaculture* 266. doi: 10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.02.028.
- Steffen, W., Crutzen, P. J., and McNeill, J. R. (2007). The anthropocene: Are humans now overwhelming the great forces of nature? *Ambio* 36. doi: 10.1579/0044-7447(2007)36[614:TAAHNO]2.0.CO;2.
- Valiela, I. (2016). Marine ecological processes. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-79070-1.
- Xia, Z., Wang, Q., She, Z., Gao, M., Zhao, Y., Guo, L., et al. (2019). Nitrogen removal pathway and dynamics of microbial community with the increase of salinity in simultaneous nitrification and denitrification process. *Science of the Total Environment* 697. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134047.
- Zang, C., Huang, S., Wu, M., Du, S., Scholz, M., Gao, F., et al. (2011). Comparison of relationships between pH, dissolved oxygen and chlorophyll a for aquaculture and non-aquaculture waters. *Water Air Soil Pollut* 219. doi: 10.1007/s11270-010-0695-3.
- Zhang, X., Zhang, Y., Zhang, Q., Liu, P., Guo, R., Jin, S., et al. (2020). Evaluation and analysis of water quality of marine aquaculture area. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 17. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17041446.
- Zohar, Y., Tal, Y., Schreier, H. J., Steven, C. R., Stubblefield, J., and Place, A. R. (2005). "Commercially feasible urban recirculating Aquaculture: Addressing the marine sector," in *Urban Aquaculture* doi: 10.1079/9780851998299.0159.

Chapter 4





Article Gene Expression Detects the Factors Influencing the Reproductive Success and the Survival Rates of Paracentrotus lividus Offspring

Serena Federico^{1,†}, Francesca Glaviano^{2,3,†}, Roberta Esposito^{1,3}, Bruno Pinto³, Maissa Gharbi^{3,4}, Anna Di Cosmo³, Maria Costantini^{1,*} and Valerio Zupo^{2,*}

- Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Department of Ecosustainable Marine Biotechnology, Via Ammiraglio Ferdinando Acton n. 55, 80133 Napoli, Italy
- ² Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Department of Ecosustainable Marine Biotechnology, Ischia Marine Centre, 80077 Napoli, Italy
- ³ Department of Biology, University of Naples Federico II, Via Cinthia, 80126 Naples, Italy
- ⁴ General Fisheries Commission for the Mediterranean (GFCM) Palazzo Blumenstihl Via Vittoria Colonna, 1, 00193 Rome, Italy
- Correspondence: maria.costantini@szn.it (M.C.); vzupo@zn.it (V.Z.); Tel.: +39-081-5833315 (M.C.); +39-081-5833503 (V.Z.)
- + These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: The increase in the demand for *Paracentrotus lividus* roe, a food delicacy, causes increased pressure on its wild stocks. In this scenario, aquaculture facilities will mitigate the effects of anthropogenic pressures on the wild stocks of *P. lividus*. Consequently, experimental studies should be conducted to enhance techniques to improve efficient aquaculture practices for these animals. Here, we for the first time performed molecular investigations on cultured sea urchins. We aimed at understanding if maternal influences may significantly impact the life of future offspring, and how the culture conditions may impact the development and growth of cultured specimens. Our findings demonstrate that the outcomes of in vitro fertilization of *P. lividus* are influenced by maternal influences, but these effects are largely determined by culture conditions. In fact, twenty-three genes involved in the response to stress and skeletogenesis, whose expressions were measured by *Real Time qPCR*, were differently expressed in sea urchins cultured in two experimental conditions, and the results were largely modified in offspring deriving from two groups of females. The findings herein reported will be critical to develop protocols for the larval culture of the most common sea urchin, both for research and industrial production purposes for mass production.

Keywords: aquaculture; carryover effects; skeletogenesis; stress response

1. Introduction

1.1. Sea Urchins and Aquaculture

Sea urchins are a resource for the scientific research, besides their key role in the ecology of Mediterranean shallow ecosystems and their fishery importance. In fact, the Mediterranean *Paracentrotus lividus* has both an ecological and an economic importance, and an emerging demand for fresh animals characterizes the fish markets, because their gonads (also known as "roe") are considered a food delicacy worldwide and a substantial source of revenue. The roe consists not only of immature and mature gametes but also of germinal and connective tissues. Consequently, the number of gametes is not the only factor related to gonadal size, because the growth of nutritive phagocytes and accessory tissues also influence the size of gonads. This is important because it is possible to enhance the gonadal growth of farmed individuals by favoring the accumulation of nutrients independently from their actual reproductive power [1]. Aquaculture of echinoderms (sea urchins and sea cucumbers) is defined as "echinoculture", but this term often refers specifically to



Citation: Federico, S.; Glaviano, F.; Esposito, R.; Pinto, B.; Gharbi, M.; Di Cosmo, A.; Costantini, M.; Zupo, V. Gene Expression Detects the Factors Influencing the Reproductive Success and the Survival Rates of *Paracentrotus lividus* Offspring. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2022, 23, 12790. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijms232112790

Academic Editor: Alberto Cuesta

Received: 29 July 2022 Accepted: 14 October 2022 Published: 24 October 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). sea urchin culture in the laboratory. Wild populations of *P. lividus* are presently facing changing environmental conditions and overexploitation of their stocks. This issue urgently needs action to ensure correct management of the resource. The implementation of eco-friendly and efficient aquaculture systems could help in overcoming the overexploitation of marine resources, including sea urchins. In addition, sea urchins play a pivotal role in scientific research [2] because they are widely used for ecotoxicological, physiological and embryological studies due to their easy handling in the laboratory and to the transparency of their embryos, ensuring that the first developmental stages can be easily monitored [3–5]. Sea urchin larvae are also employed as live feed for other cultured organisms, such as fishes and filter feeders (e.g., shellfish larvae). Consequently, they represent a valuable resource for the culture of other economically-relevant species [6].

1.2. Factors Influencing Larval Development

Several factors, such as diet composition, larval density and quality of the culture environment, may deeply impact the reproductive success of this species [7–10]. Variable feed abundance, feeding frequencies and species of live microalgae used for larval diets can severely influence larval growth, survival and metamorphic success [8,9,11,12] according to the cultured species of sea urchin. In addition, the nutritional quality of microalgae can vary depending on culture factors influencing their cell size, digestibility and biochemical composition [13]. For example, *Chaetoceros* spp. and *Tisochrysis lutea* contain relatively high amounts of long-chain PUFAs, but neither are rich in both EPA and DHA [14], and in their research were found to decrease in the absence of Rhodomonas lens. Castilla-Gavillán et al. [10] demonstrated that P. lividus larvae fed on Rhodomonas sp. contained higher total lipid content than those fed on other microalgae. Similar dynamics could have positive implications for the development of larval echinoderms. Previous studies [15] indicated that Dunaliella sp. may be sufficient to sustain the complete development of *P. lividus* up to metamorphosis, although small additions of other feeds (e.g., *R. lens*) may represent a useful improvement towards complete success of the larviculture. In contrast, some microalgae may have deleterious effects on the growth of post-larvae [16].

However, maternal and zygotic factors also influence and control the early development of sea urchins. Maternal factors include messenger RNA and proteins expressed during oogenesis. mRNA is also necessary before activation of the embryonic genome for early development, as they are involved in the regulation of metabolism, cell cycle and development [17]. When genome activation occurs in embryos, zygotic factors begin to be expressed. The first known developmental genes are expressed at the reaching of 16-cell stage; before this stage any developmental process is completely driven by maternal factors [18,19]. Besides their genetic contribution, mother sea urchins control the phenotypic development of their offspring in response to environmental conditions [20]. These maternal influences, which result in the combined effect of maternal phenotype and genotype [21], can have significant effects on the fitness and performance of the offspring [22–24]. In addition, they can influence the sea urchin population ecology [21,25]. However, factors experienced by sea urchin females during early development can also affect the phenotypes and fitness of their offspring.

In addition, the size of culture vessels and the density of larvae may represent key factors in determining rates of survival of larvae up to metamorphosis. An experiment conducted in small-scale 1.3-L culture vessels revealed an inverse relationship between larval density of a sea urchin (*Diadema antillarum*) and growth [26]. Previous authors obtained variable rates of survival by approaching different larval-rearing systems [27]. Different studies were characterized by variable feeding protocols, fertilization techniques and rearing devices [28]. In particular, previous research has indicated culture experiences within tanks of different volumes, besides the influence of additional rearing devices (e.g., aeration systems, palettes, procedures, etc.). Hence, we aimed to investigate if tanks of the same shape but different sizes might influence the survival of larvae. In fact, keeping constant the larval density and the concentration of microalgae feed, tanks of different

volumes are characterized by variable hydrodynamic conditions. For example, larger tanks need faster bubbling to ensure sufficient gas exchanges, when compared to smaller tanks, but aeration may interfere with the limited swimming capabilities of planktonic larvae, pushing them into some sectors on the bottom. However, an appropriate determination of the most favorable stocking density within a production-oriented recirculating aquaculture system (RAS) has not been performed. Consequently, the size of culture vessels, the quality of larval nutrition and the stocking density remain extremely relevant for the larviculture of sea urchins, especially when considering the feasibility of production for fisheries, restoration and scientific research. For these reasons, we tested the effect of the tank size in order to detect any influence on survival rates during the early development of these sea urchins.

We had two distinct aims in our manuscript: (i) we aimed at understanding if maternal influences may significantly impact the life of future offspring; (ii) we aimed at detecting how and if slight variations in the culture conditions may impact the development and growth of cultured specimens. In addition, we aimed at evaluating the best production sizes, in terms of tank volumes, to ensure correct growth and higher survival rates of *P. lividus* embryos. On the whole, we aimed at understanding how genic resources interact with environmental stressors to ensure maximum reproductive performance in a marine invertebrate. Furthermore, and for the first time, we tested the effect of these production units by performing molecular analyses (*Real-Time qPCR*) to check the expression levels of several genes involved in stress responses and skeletogenesis. In particular, we followed the variation of expression levels of twenty-three genes, which were first isolated in sea urchin embryos in response to different stressors [3,5,29–33]. In this study, gene expression levels of gene expression.

2. Results

2.1. Survival Rates

Even if the survival rates of larvae deriving from females A-B in the first three weeks of growth were not significantly different from those deriving from females C–D, when analyzed by means of paired *t*-tests (Table 1):

Paired t Test	Smaller	Larger
<i>p</i> value	0.0830	0.1169
<i>p</i> value summary	n.s.	n.s.
t	1.980	1.758
df	8	8
Mean of differences (B-A)	-21.93	-8.778
SD of differences	33.22	14.98
SEM of differences	11.07	4.994
95% confidence interval	-47.46 to 3.610	-20.29 to 2.738
R squared (partial eta squared)	0.3289	0.2786
Correlation coefficient (r)	0.7608	0.8595
<i>p</i> value (one tailed)	0.0086	0.0015
<i>p</i> value summary	**	**
Significantly effective pairing	Yes	Yes

Table 1. Paired *t*-test (two-tailed *p* value) to compare the larval survivorships (A-B vs. C-D) in smaller and larger tanks. ** indicates p < 0.01.

The performances of the two sets of larvae exhibited different patterns of development (Figure 1).



(A) Smaller tank

Figure 1. Average survival rates of larvae obtained from the two pools of individuals (A+B vs. C+D) in smaller (**A**) and larger (**B**) tanks.

In particular, pool A-B exhibited higher survival rates in the smaller tanks (Figure 1A), completing the settlement after 17 days. In contrast, pool C-D exhibited lower survival rates during the first two weeks and the number of swimming larvae was strongly reduced after two weeks, due to higher mortality. In fact, in the last two weeks, larvae were absent in both groups of females considered. These differences were less evident in larger tanks (Figure 1B), where the number of larvae continuously decreased in the first 20 days, exhibiting a low number of settled individuals in both A-B and C-D groups (Figure 1B). The larval stage progression was initially similar in the two pools and the embryonic stages developed synchronously through the pluteus stage. However, from the onset of feeding through the larval stages, the development became increasingly less synchronous between pools A-B vs. C-D, and even among tanks of different sizes. After the first week, larvae from the pool A-B exhibited faster development, showed dark-green guts and after 10-12 days reached a six-arm stage, while larvae from the pool C-D exhibited slower development, about half of them arrested their development at a four-arm stage, and were characterized by partially-empty guts. In particular, larvae cultured in smaller tanks reached the advanced rudiment stage after about two weeks, while larvae in larger tanks showed lower mobility, sank to the bottom more often and their guts exhibited a pale color.

To evaluate the effect of maternal influences and the effect of tank size on the survival of larvae (removing the influence of settlers on the density of swimming larvae) only the first week of culture was analyzed and the slopes of linear regressions were compared (Figure 2).



(A) Smaller tank

Figure 2. Average larval survival rates evaluated during the first week in (**A**) smaller and (**B**) largertanks, referring to the recruits of females A+B vs. those of females C+D. The linear regressions are superimposed.

This representation permits the evaluation that in smaller tanks, during the first week, an 100% survival was exhibited by larvae deriving from females A and B, whilst, in the same period, females C and D produced a decline of larvae, down to 2.6% of the initial pool. When slopes were compared, the differences in the survival patterns of the two larval pools were significant at p < 0.05. In larger tanks a continuous decrease of the swimming larvae was observed during the first week for both larval pools (Figure 2B) and the differences in the survival patterns of the two larval pools were not significant (p > 0.05).

2.2. Molecular Analyses of Embryos Deriving from Various Females

The variation of expression levels of twenty-three genes, involved in the stress response and skeletogenesis and previously analyzed [3,5,34-38] (see Table S3) was followed by *Real Time qPCR* (see Table S4).

2.2.1. Genes Involved in Stress Response

Concerning the 18 genes analyzed, the results show that the plutei deriving from female A did not have variations in expression for any of the genes analyzed. The same results were found for the plutei deriving from female B, with the only exception being *CASP8* gene, which decreased its expression level. In the case of plutei deriving from female C, fifteen genes decreased their expression levels: *ARF1* (-3.5), *CASP8* (-5.5), *caspase 3/7* (-3.5), *ERCC3* (-3.9), *GRHPR* (-2.4), *hsp60* (-2.4), *hsp70* (-6.4), *HIF1A* (-2.0), *PARP-1* (-3.0), *p53* (-4.8) and *14-3-3* ε (-5.5). Only *cytb* gene showed an increase (2.5) of its expression level. Moreover, in the plutei deriving from female D, nine genes decreased their expression levels (*CASP8*, -2.7; *ERCC3*, -3.2; *hsp60*, -2.8; *hsp70*, -2.9; *p38MAPK*, -2.3; *SDH*, -2.7; *p53*, -4.4; and *14-3-3* ε , -3.4).

2.2.2. Skeletogenic Genes

None of the five genes analyzed was switched on in the plutei deriving from females A and B. Three genes were down-regulated in the plutei deriving from female C (*SM30*, -3.9; *SM50*, -4.0; *uni*, 4.0), whereas plutei deriving from female D showed a down-regulation of *SM50* (-7.3) and an up-regulation of *univin* (4.0).

2.3. Network Analysis

Interactomic analysis showed that eighteen genes of the twenty-three analyzed from *Real Time qPCR* are connected by functional point of view: ADP-ribosylation factor 1 (*ARF1*), caspase-8 (*CASP8*), Sp-Cspe3/7L (*CASPASE 3/7*), cytochrome b (*CYTB*), DNA-methyltransferase 1 (*MTase*), ERCC excision repair 3 (*ERCC3*), glutamine synthetase (*GS*), glyoxylate reductase/hydroxypyruvate reductase (*GRHPR*), heat shock protein 56 (*HSP56*), heat shock protein 60 (*HSP60*), heat shock protein 70 (*HSP70*), hypoxia inducible factor 1-alpha (*HIF1A*), *nuclear factor kappa light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells* (*NF-kB*), Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 (*PARP-1*), p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (*p38 MAPK*), succinate dehydrogenase (*SDH*), tumor protein p53 (*p53*). Only the skeletogenic genes 14-3-3 epsilon protein (*14-3-3 ε*), bone morphogenetic protein 5-7 (*BMP5-7*), and nectin (*Nec*) weren't included in network analysis because they have no orthologous genes in humans. Moreover, GRHPR is not linked to any gene under analysis.

As shown in the network reported in Figure 3, the genes are correlated as follows: *ARF1* with *hsp70*, *p53* and *PARP1*; *Caspase 3/7* with *CASP8*, *hsp70*, *p38 mapk*, *PARP1*; *CASP8* with *Caspase 3/7*, *p38 mapk*, *hsp70*, *p53*, *NF-kB*, *PARP1*; *p38 mapk* with *CASP8*, *Caspase 3/7*, *hsp60*, *hsp70*, *p53* and *PARP1*; *Hsp70* with *CASP8*, *p53*, *NF-kB*, *MTase*, *HIF1A*, *hsp60*, *SDH*; *p53* with *p38 mapk*, *CASP8*, *hsp70*, *HIF1A*, *ERCC3*, *NF-kB*, *MTase*, *PARP1*, *hsp56*; *PARP1* with *ARF1*, *Caspase 3/7*, *p38 mapk*, *CASP8*, *p53*, *HIF1A*, *NF-kB*, *ERCC3* and *MTase*; *Hsp56* with *p53*; *NF-kB* with *PARP1*, *p38 mapk*, *p53*, *hsp70*, *HIF1A*, *ERCC3*, *MTase*; *MTase* with *PARP1*, *nF-kB*, *p53*, *hsp70*, *ERCC3*; *ERCC3* with *MTase*, *PARP1* and *p53*; *HIF1A* with *NF-kB*, *PARP1*, *MTase*, *p53*, *hsp70* and *SDH*; *SDH* with *hsp70*, *HIF1A*, *hsp60* and *CytB*; *CytB* with *SDH* and *hsp60*; *Hsp60* with *CytB*, *SDH*, *p38 mapk*, *hsp70*, *p53* and *GS*; *GS* with *hsp60* and *hsp70*. The corresponding human orthologous genes are also reported.



(B)

Gene	P. lividus	H. sapiens
ADP-ribosylation factor	ARF1	ARF1
caspase-8	CASP8	CASP8
Sp-Cspe3/7L	caspase 3/7	CASP7
Cytochrome b	Cytb	MT-CYB
DNA-methyltransferase 1	Mtase	DNMT1
ERCC excision repair 3	ERCC3	ERCC3
Glutamine synthetase	GS	GLUL
Glyoxylate reductase/hydroxypyruvate reductase	GRHPR	GRHPR
Heat Shock Protein 56	hsp56	FKBP4
Heat Shock Protein 60	hsp60	HSPDI
Heat Shock Protein 70	hsp70	HSPA4
Hypoxia inducible factor 1-alpha	HIF1A	HIF1A
Nuclear factor kappalight-chain-enhancer of activated B cells	NF-Kb	RELA
Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1	parp-1	PARP1
p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase	p38 MAPK	MAPK14
Succinate dehydrogenase	SDH	SDHB
Tumor protein p53	p53	p53
14-3-3 epsilon protein	14-3-3 ε	YWHAE
Bone morphogenetic protein 5-7	BMP5-7	BMP7
Nectin	Nec	Nectin-1

Figure 3. (**A**) Interactomic analysis by STRING (https://string--db.org/; accessed on 30 April 2022). The network graphically displays the relationship between genes. The biological relationships between genes are indicated by different colors. Known interactions: reported by database = light blue and determined experimentally = pink. Expected interactions: gene proximity = green; gene fusion = red; and genes with similar pattern = light blue. (**B**) *Homo sapiens* gene names and the corresponding *P. lividus* orthologous genes. The most significant relations among genes (confidence score cut-off = 900) displaying experimental evidence are highlighted.

3. Discussion

Investigations of other echinoderms reported that the performance of one life history stage led to (positive or negative) carryover effects on the subsequent life stages [39]. In fact, carryover effects arising within a generation can influence next generations [40–42]. Carryover effects can also arise across a generation, an effect known as transgenerational plasticity (TGP) [43]. Due to environmental stresses [44] experienced by one or both parents during the development of their gametes [23,41], a transgenerational response can lead to phenotypic changes in the offspring [43,45]. Various evidence indicates that long-term exposure of adult sea urchins to thermal shocks impacts the embryo development of their offspring [39,46,47]. Here we aimed at checking and eventually confirming this hypothesis regarding *Paracentrotus lividus* embryos and larvae.

During the whole experiment the main abiotic descriptors were kept stable and did not achieve significant variations among replicates and treatments. Maternal effects on the survival rates of larvae were definitely observed in smaller culture vessels. Larger vessels prompt a negative influence on the survival, which is likely to be superimposed onto the material influence itself. This evidence indicates that both the maternal effects and the size of the culture tanks are critical to determine the reproductive success of this species, but the influence of the latter overwhelms that of the former.

Evidently the size of the tank matters, because the two experimental conditions produced significantly different results in terms of survival rates of larvae. The effect might be explained by taking into account that circulation of water and oxygen stratification change drastically according to the shape and the size of the culture vessels. In particular, deeper tanks exhibit a lower circulation of water and a higher stratification of gases, because the rate of aeration (air bubbling) cannot be proportionally changed to avoid damage to the delicate larvae swimming closer to the bubbling tubes [48-50]. We might also consider the need for larvae to remain in the upper levels and to avoid strong contact with the bottom of the tank, since it may contain algal and bacterial films which produce mucilage that promotes clogging and aggregation of larvae (personal observation; [51]). Since larger tanks require higher levels of aeration to guarantee sufficient gas exchanges, the fluxes produced by the air stone also promote the creation of sink areas where larvae aggregate close to the bottom. In contrast, the aeration may be very weak in the smaller tanks, permitting the larvae to swim towards the surface without interference. In fact, in smaller containers most larvae were continuously visible under the surface of the water, while in larger tanks they were actively transported by the currents and could accumulate in areas with lower perturbations, close to the bottom (personal observation). Attempts to reduce this effect by decreasing the flux of the air produced lower gas exchanges which were insufficient to guarantee consistency of the abiotic factors (including the saturation of oxygen in the seawater) that represented a pre-condition to evaluate other sources of stress [49,52].

As reported, the density of larvae deriving from females C-D exhibited a decrease in smaller tanks, as opposed to larvae deriving from females A-B, which performed best. In contrast, both groups of larvae showed mortality rates higher than 60% in the first week when cultured in larger tanks, and the differences were not significant in this condition. This may lead to the conclusion that the first factor determining survival rate is represented by the environmental conditions and that, in an optimal environment, maternal influences become determinant. The overlap of the growth conditions to the maternal influence may also explain the interannual differences in larval recruitment of this species observed in the field [53].

Molecular analyses were performed to understand if there were differences in the levels of gene expression associated with offspring deriving from different *P. lividus* females (see Figure 4). Molecular data strongly supported the low success of embryonic development for the plutei deriving from females 3 and 4. In fact, plutei deriving from females A and B did not show significant variations in their gene expressions.





In contrast, plutei deriving from females C and D exhibited a remarkable switch on in almost all the genes analyzed that are involved in stress response and in skeletogenic process, indicating negative maternal influences, as showed by the results of *Real Time qPCR*. In fact, the down-regulation of genes in the plutei deriving from *P. lividus* females C and D was evident compared to those deriving from females A and B. These effects in marine organisms are not new [23], because they have been widely investigated in various sea urchin species [54–56], but to the best of our knowledge such relationships have never been investigated in *P. lividus* [17].

Interactomic analyses showed that stress genes were functionally correlated among themselves. *GRHPR* was the only gene that appeared to have no correlation with others. Previous investigations indicated that this gene is correlated to *HSPA4* and *GLUL* through *CAT* [38], which was also analyzed in this research.

Changes of gene expression induced by environmental stressors on somatic cells can affect the physiology of exposed individuals. As a consequence, some alterations can be propagated to subsequent generations through the germline, occurring during the gametogenesis [57–59]. In particular, environmental stresses experienced by one or both parents may lead to aberrant patterns in F1, which can become evident from the early developmental stages [56,60]. It is known that a network of regulatory genes, the so called "defensome" [3,30,61], regulate the mechanisms of specification and differentiation during embryonic development.

Our findings show how changes in the levels of gene expression may be used as an early indicator of stressful conditions for sea urchins, and more generally for marine invertebrates and the marine environment itself. Furthermore, these findings demonstrate that changes in gene expression can help understand the health state of adult sea urchins. The identification of key genes and the molecular pathways in which they are involved represent fundamental tools for understanding how marine organisms attempt to protect themselves against toxicants in order to avoid deleterious consequences and irreversible damage. Furthermore, changes in the response to environmental stressors may contribute to an adaptive survival advantage of organisms through beneficial gene expression [39]. The findings herein demonstrated will be useful for the culture of the most common Mediterranean sea urchin, both for research purposes and for the needs of aquaculture. In fact, despite several established methods of commercially producing echinoderms from gametes [62,63], a scalable hatchery process for *P. lividus* has not yet been established. Attempts to culture this species over the last decades have been met with varying degrees of success, and speculative factors including environmental toxins, water quality and general culture methods precluded reliable development through metamorphosis [26]. This study was intended to develop *P. lividus* larval culture protocols within a laboratory or an industrial production plant capable of scaled production for aquaculture, restoration or scientific research. The culture conditions demonstrated are adequate for the larval development of *P. lividus*, but variables of interest, i.e., maternal influences and size of the culture vessels, are demonstrated to be critical factors to reach sufficient survival rates and complete development of this species. However, further investigations aimed at improving yields are necessary, as well as to understand how larval nutrition affects settlement and post-settlement success in order to further improve commercial production viability.

4. Materials and Method

4.1. Gamete Collection and Embryo Culture

Adult sea urchins were collected by scuba divers around the island of Procida (Italy) in February 2021, at 10 m depth. Collected specimens were transported in an insulated box to the laboratory and maintained in tanks with circulating sea water for ten days until testing. Sea urchins were injected with 1 mL of 2 M KCl through the peribuccal membrane to stimulate the emission of gametes. After the production of gametes, the specimens were restored in aerated recirculated tanks and released after a few days into the same area of collection. Eggs were collected in a glass dish, washed with filtered sea water (FSW) and kept in FSW until use. Concentrated sperm was collected from males by means of a plastic pipette and kept undiluted at 4 °C until use.

Eggs were fertilized and were kept at 20 °C in a controlled temperature chamber on a 12 h–12 h light–dark cycle. Forty-eight hours post-fertilization the embryos reached the pluteus stage, and these larvae were distributed in equal concentrations (1.5 plutei mL⁻¹) in triplicate tanks of two different volumes: (i) small scale, in 2 L beakers; (ii) larger scale, in 10 L tanks. Embryos deriving from individual females were paired two by two and kept separate, aiming at detecting any variation due to maternal influences and if the initial quality of the gametes influenced the larval development. In particular, the eggs deriving from four females were randomly pooled into two groups (females A-B and females C-D) prior to being fertilized with a pool of sperms deriving from five males. Four females were randomly chosen because TR-qPCR technique is useful to detect individual variations in the gene expression, avoiding the flattening of results due to variable gene expressions detected in larger populations.

Larvae were fed on *Dunaliella tertiolecta* (5000 cells ml⁻¹; [15]) along with a composed algal food (SHG Snow Reef, Super High Group, Ovada, Italy; www.superhigroup.com accessed on 28 July 2022) containing yeast, fish oils, *Chlorella* and various HUFAs reproducing the composition of natural marine snow in a suspension of particles sizing 5–10 μ m [15]. Larvae were filtered every two days onto a 60 μ m mesh sieve and transferred to a renewed culture medium using a Pasteur pipette. At the same time intervals, two 50 mL samples were collected to evaluate and record the survival rates, check the larval stage progression, the overall health conditions (mobility, malformations) and the gut fullness. During the experiment, seawater samples were collected biweekly and nitrites and phosphates were measured (using a photometer AL 450, Aqualytic, Alkimia Srl), as well as salinity and temperature (see Supplementary Table S1 in the Supplementary Materials).

4.2. Statistical Analyses

The survival rates of larvae deriving from two sets of females (pooling of individuals A-B vs. C-D) were calculated using GraphPad Prism 8 software (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA, www.graphpad.com, accessed 1 September 2021) using the following equation for one phase decay:

$$Y = (Y0 - Plateau) * exp(-K * X) + Plateau$$
(1)

where: Y0 is the Y value when X (time) is zero; Plateau is the Y value at infinite times; K is the rate constant, expressed in reciprocal of the X-axis time units. The survival rates obtained with A-B vs. C-D larvae, as well as those obtained in smaller vs. larger tanks, were compared and two-sided *p*-values were obtained by paired *t*-tests.

The slopes obtained from different individuals (A-B vs. C-D) in different types of culture tanks (smaller vs. larger) were compared by linear regression on the data limited to the first week, to avoid any influence of settlement (older larvae settle and the number of swimming individuals is reduced) and to determine the slope of a best-fit line. A value of p < 0.05 was chosen as a threshold level for significance. All data have been analyzed with the aid of GraphPad Prism 8.0 software.

4.3. RNA Extraction and cDNA Synthesis

About 5000 fertilized eggs from each of the four sea urchin females were collected at the pluteus stage, corresponding to 48 h post-fertilization (hpf). These samples were centrifuged at 3500 relative centrifugal force for 15 min in a swing-out rotor at 4 °C. Embryos were then placed in 60 microliters of the RNA-later (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) and then frozen in liquid nitrogen. Samples were kept at -80 °C until use. Total RNA was extracted using *Aurum Total RNA Mini Kit* (Bio–Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The amount of total RNA extracted was estimated by the absorbance at 260 nm and the purity by 260/280 and 260/230 nm ratios, using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (ND–1000 UV–VIS Spectrophotometer; NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA). The integrity of RNA was evaluated by observing the rRNA subunits (28S and 18S) on agarose gel electrophoresis. For each sample, 1000 ng of total RNA was retrotranscribed with an *iScript cDNA Synthesis kit* (Bio–Rad, Milan, Italy), following the manufacturer's instructions.

4.4. Real Time qPCR Experiments

The variations in the expression of twenty-three genes were followed by *Real Time qPCR* (see Supplementary Table S2 in the Supplementary Materials for their biological functions and Supplementary Table S3 for the sequence of the primers) in sea urchin embryos deriving from each of the four females collected at the pluteus stage, reached at 48 hpf. cDNA (1 μ L) was used as a template in a reaction containing a final concentration of 0.3 mM for each primer and $1 \times$ FastStart SYBR Green master mix (total volume of 10 μ L) (Applied Biosystems, Monza, Italy). PCR amplifications were performed in a ViiATM7 Real Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Monza, Italy) thermal cycler using the following thermal profile: 95 °C for 10 min, one cycle for cDNA denaturation; 95 °C for 15 s and 60 °C for 1 min, 40 cycles for amplification; one cycle for final elongation at 72 °C for 5 min; one cycle for melting curve analysis (from 60 $^{\circ}$ C to 95 $^{\circ}$ C) to verify the presence of a single product. Each assay included a no-template control for each primer pair. To capture intra-assay variability, all *Real-Time qPCR* reactions were carried out in triplicate. Fluorescence was measured using ViiATM7 software (Applied Biosystems, Monza, Italy). For all *Real-Time qPCR* experiments the data of each cDNA sample were normalized with the mRNA level of the ubiquitin [5] and 18S rRNA [64] genes, used as housekeeping genes. The expression of each gene was analyzed and normalized against the internal control by REST program (Relative Expression Software Tool), based on the Pfaffl method, reporting the expression values of the genes of interest with respect to the housekeeping

genes, using each time one of four different females as the reference group [65,66]. Relative expression ratios above two cycles were considered significant. Experiments are means between duplicates. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 8.00 for Windows (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA).

The network analysis on genes under analysis was performed by STRING [67], which aims to identify relationships on the basis of associated functions and data mining from experimental studies reported in the literature. Since sea urchin genes are not annotated in the STRING database, human orthologues were used to search for *P. lividus* genes.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/ijms232112790/s1.

Author Contributions: S.F. performed the experimental work and the statistical analyses and produced the first draft of the manuscript. F.G. performed and supervised the experimental work in Procida. R.E. contributed to molecular experiments and aided the production of the first draft and its revision and contributed statistical analyses and molecular investigations. B.P. and M.G. contributed to the experimental work in Procida. A.D.C. planned the research and supervised the production of the manuscript. M.C. planned the research, performed molecular tests, supervised the students and contributed to the production of the first draft and its final revision. V.Z. planned the research, revised the manuscript and supervised the experimental work in Procida. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: We acknowledge the private firm Echinoidea in Procida Island (Gulf of Naples), managed by Chiara and Michele Trapanese, where in vitro fertilization of the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* experiments were performed, including larval culture at various production scales. Thanks to the technical help of Mario Loffredo e Domenico Mattera. Francesca Glaviano was supported by a PhD (PhD in Biology, University of Naples Federico II) fellowship at the Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn. Roberta Esposito was supported by a PhD (PhD in Biology, University of State Stazione 2000) fellowship funded by the Photosynthesis 2.0 project of the Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

References

- Böttger, S.A.; Devin, M.G.; Walker, C.W. Suspension of Annual Gametogenesis in North American Green Sea Urchins (Strongylocentrotus Droebachiensis) Experiencing Invariant Photoperiod—Applications for Land-Based Aquaculture. *Aquaculture* 2006, 261, 1422–1431. [CrossRef]
- Adonin, L.; Drozdov, A.; Barlev, N.A. Sea Urchin as a Universal Model for Studies of Gene Networks. *Front. Genet.* 2021, 11, 627259. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Marrone, V.; Piscopo, M.; Romano, G.; Ianora, A.; Palumbo, A.; Costantini, M. Defensome against Toxic Diatom Aldehydes in the Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7, e31750. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ruocco, N.; Costantini, M.; Santella, L. New Insights into Negative Effects of Lithium on Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus Embryos. Sci. Rep. 2016, 6, 32157. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Romano, G.; Costantini, M.; Buttino, I.; Ianora, A.; Palumbo, A. Nitric Oxide Mediates the Stress Response Induced by Diatom Aldehydes in the Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus. *PLoS ONE* **2011**, *6*, e25980. [CrossRef]
- Luis, O.; Delgado, F.; Gago, J. Year-Round Captive Spawning Performance of the Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus: Relevance for the Use of Its Larvae as Live Feed. *Aquat. Living Resour.* 2005, 18, 45–54. [CrossRef]
- Hammer, H.; Hammer, B.; Watts, S.; Lawrence, A.; Lawrence, J. The Effect of Dietary Protein and Carbohydrate Concentration on the Biochemical Composition and Gametogenic Condition of the Sea Urchin Lytechinus Variegatus. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 2006, 334, 109–121. [CrossRef]
- Carboni, S.; Vignier, J.; Chiantore, M.; Tocher, D.R.; Migaud, H. Effects of Dietary Microalgae on Growth, Survival and Fatty Acid Composition of Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus throughout Larval Development. *Aquaculture* 2012, 324, 250–258. [CrossRef]

- 9. Cárcamo, P.F.; Candia, A.I.; Chaparro, O.R. Larval Development and Metamorphosis in the Sea Urchin Loxechinus Albus (Echinodermata: Echinoidea): Effects of Diet Type and Feeding Frequency. *Aquaculture* **2005**, *249*, 375–386. [CrossRef]
- 10. Castilla-Gavilán, M.; Buzin, F.; Cognie, B.; Dumay, J.; Turpin, V.; Decottignies, P. Optimising Microalgae Diets in Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus Larviculture to Promote Aquaculture Diversification. *Aquaculture* **2018**, 490, 251–259. [CrossRef]
- Kelly, M.S.; Hunter, A.J.; Scholfield, C.L.; McKenzie, J.D. Morphology and Survivorship of Larval Psammechinus Miliaris (Gmelin) (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) in Response to Varying Food Quantity and Quality. *Aquaculture* 2000, 183, 223–240. [CrossRef]
- 12. Liu, H.; Kelly, M.S.; Cook, E.J.; Black, K.; Orr, H.; Zhu, J.X.; Dong, S.L. The Effect of Diet Type on Growth and Fatty Acid Composition of the Sea Urchin Larvae, II. Psammechinus Miliaris (Gmelin). *Aquaculture* 2007, 264, 263–278. [CrossRef]
- 13. Guedes, A.C.; Malcata, F.X. Nutritional Value and Uses of Microalgae in Aquaculture. Aquaculture 2012, 10, 59–78.
- 14. Brown, M.R.; Jeffrey, S.W.; Volkman, J.K.; Dunstan, G.A. Nutritional Properties of Microalgae for Mariculture. *Aquaculture* **1997**, 151, 315–331. [CrossRef]
- 15. Zupo, V.; Glaviano, F.; Caramiello, D.; Mutalipassi, M. Effect of Five Benthic Diatoms on the Survival and Development of Paracentrotus Lividus Post-Larvae in the Laboratory. *Aquaculture* **2018**, *495*, 13–20. [CrossRef]
- Ruocco, N.; Costantini, S.; Zupo, V.; Lauritano, C.; Caramiello, D.; Ianora, A.; Budillon, A.; Romano, G.; Nuzzo, G.; D'Ippolito, G. Toxigenic Effects of Two Benthic Diatoms upon Grazing Activity of the Sea Urchin: Morphological, Metabolomic and de Novo Transcriptomic Analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 2018, *8*, 5622. [CrossRef]
- 17. Kipryushina, Y.O.; Yakovlev, K.V. Maternal Control of Early Patterning in Sea Urchin Embryos. *Differentiation* **2020**, *113*, 28–37. [CrossRef]
- Tu, Q.; Brown, C.T.; Davidson, E.H.; Oliveri, P. Sea Urchin Forkhead Gene Family: Phylogeny and Embryonic Expression. *Dev. Biol.* 2006, 300, 49–62. [CrossRef]
- 19. Yaguchi, S.; Yaguchi, J.; Angerer, R.C.; Angerer, L.M. A Wnt-FoxQ2-Nodal Pathway Links Primary and Secondary Axis Specification in Sea Urchin Embryos. *Dev. Cell* **2008**, *14*, 97–107. [CrossRef]
- Burton, T.; McKelvey, S.; Stewart, D.C.; Armstrong, J.D.; Metcalfe, N.B. Early Maternal Experience Shapes Offspring Performance in the Wild. *Ecology* 2013, 94, 618–626. [CrossRef]
- Venturelli, P.A.; Murphy, C.A.; Shuter, B.J.; Johnston, T.A.; van Coeverden de Groot, P.J.; Boag, P.T.; Casselman, J.M.; Montgomerie, R.; Wiegand, M.D.; Leggett, W.C. Maternal Influences on Population Dynamics: Evidence from an Exploited Freshwater Fish. *Ecology* 2010, *91*, 2003–2012. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 22. Green, B.S. Maternal Effects in Fish Populations. Adv. Mar. Biol. 2008, 54, 1–105. [PubMed]
- Marshall, D.J. Transgenerational Plasticity in the Sea: Context-dependent Maternal Effects across the Life History. *Ecology* 2008, 89, 418–427. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 24. Uller, T. Developmental Plasticity and the Evolution of Parental Effects. Trends Ecol. Evol. 2008, 23, 432–438. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Benton, T.G.; St. Clair, J.J.H.; Plaistow, S.J. Maternal Effects Mediated by Maternal Age: From Life Histories to Population Dynamics. J. Anim. Ecol. 2008, 77, 1038–1046. [CrossRef]
- Leber, K.M.; Lorenzen, K.; Main, K.L.; Moe, M., Jr.; Vaughan, D.; Capo, T.; Bardales, A.; Gillette, P. Developing Restoration Methods to Aid in Recovery of a Key Herbivore, Diadema Antillarum, on Florida Coral Reefs-2008/2009 Final Report (April 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009); Mote Marine Laboratory: Sarasota, FL, USA; University of Miami: Coral Gables, FL, USA, 2009.
- 27. Grosjean, P. Growth Model of the Reared Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus (Lamarck, 1816). Ph.D. Thesis, Université de Mons, Mons, Belgium, 2001.
- Grosjean, P.; Spirlet, C.; Jangoux, M. Experimental Study of Growth in the Echinoid Paracentrotus Lividus (Lamarck, 1816) (Echinodermata). J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 1996, 201, 173–184. [CrossRef]
- 29. Varrella, S.; Romano, G.; Ianora, A.; Bentley, M.G.; Ruocco, N.; Costantini, M. Molecular Response to Toxic Diatom-Derived Aldehydes in the Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus. *Mar. Drugs* **2014**, *12*, 2089–2113. [CrossRef]
- Varrella, S.; Romano, G.; Ruocco, N.; Ianora, A.; Bentley, M.G.; Costantini, M. First Morphological and Molecular Evidence of the Negative Impact of Diatom-Derived Hydroxyacids on the Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus. *Toxicol. Sci.* 2016, 151, 419–433. [CrossRef]
- 31. Ruocco, N.; Costantini, S.; Zupo, V.; Romano, G.; Ianora, A.; Fontana, A.; Costantini, M. High-Quality RNA Extraction from the Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus Embryos. *PLoS ONE* **2017**, *12*, e0172171. [CrossRef]
- Morroni, L.; Sartori, D.; Costantini, M.; Genovesi, L.; Magliocco, T.; Ruocco, N.; Buttino, I. First Molecular Evidence of the Toxicogenetic Effects of Copper on Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus Embryo Development. *Water Res.* 2019, 160, 415–423. [CrossRef]
- Albarano, L.; Zupo, V.; Guida, M.; Libralato, G.; Caramiello, D.; Ruocco, N.; Costantini, M. PAHs and PCBs Affect Functionally Intercorrelated Genes in the Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus Embryos. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2021, 22, 12498. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 34. Russo, R.; Pinsino, A.; Costa, C.; Bonaventura, R.; Matranga, V.; Zito, F. The Newly Characterized Pl-jun Is Specifically Expressed in Skeletogenic Cells of the Paracentrotus Lividus Sea Urchin Embryo. *FEBS J.* **2014**, *281*, 3828–3843. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 35. Varrella, S.; Romano, G.; Costantini, S.; Ruocco, N.; Ianora, A.; Bentley, M.G.; Costantini, M. Toxic Diatom Aldehydes Affect Defence Gene Networks in Sea Urchins. *PLoS ONE* **2016**, *11*, e0149734. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ruocco, N.; Varrella, S.; Romano, G.; Ianora, A.; Bentley, M.G.; Somma, D.; Leonardi, A.; Mellone, S.; Zuppa, A.; Costantini, M. Diatom-Derived Oxylipins Induce Cell Death in Sea Urchin Embryos Activating Caspase-8 and Caspase 3/7. *Aquat. Toxicol.* 2016, 176, 128–140. [CrossRef]

- Ruocco, N.; Annunziata, C.; Ianora, A.; Libralato, G.; Manfra, L.; Costantini, S.; Costantini, M. Toxicity of Diatom-Derived Polyunsaturated Aldehyde Mixtures on Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus Development. *Sci. Rep.* 2019, *9*, 517. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 38. Esposito, R.; Ruocco, N.; Albarano, L.; Ianora, A.; Manfra, L.; Libralato, G.; Costantini, M. Combined Effects of Diatom-Derived Oxylipins on the Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2020**, *21*, 719. [CrossRef]
- 39. Ross, P.M.; Parker, L.; Byrne, M. Transgenerational Responses of Molluscs and Echinoderms to Changing Ocean Conditions. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 2016, 73, 537–549. [CrossRef]
- Byrne, M.; Prowse, T.A.A.; Sewell, M.A.; Dworjanyn, S.; Williamson, J.E.; Vaïtilingon, D. Maternal Provisioning for Larvae and Larval Provisioning for Juveniles in the Toxopneustid Sea Urchin Tripneustes Gratilla. *Mar. Biol.* 2008, 155, 473–482. [CrossRef]
 Kovalchuk, I. Transgenerational Epigenetic Inheritance in Animals. *Front. Genet.* 2012, 3, 76. [CrossRef]
- Munday, P.L.; Warner, R.R.; Monro, K.; Pandolfi, J.M.; Marshall, D.J. Predicting Evolutionary Responses to Climate Change in the Sea. *Ecol. Lett.* 2013, *16*, 1488–1500. [CrossRef]
- 43. Byrne, M.; Selvakumaraswamy, P.; Ho, M.A.; Woolsey, E.; Nguyen, H.D. Sea Urchin Development in a Global Change Hotspot, Potential for Southerly Migration of Thermotolerant Propagules. *Deep. Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr.* **2011**, *58*, 712–719.
- 44. Shama, L.N.S.; Strobel, A.; Mark, F.C.; Wegner, K.M. Transgenerational Plasticity in Marine Sticklebacks: Maternal Effects Mediate Impacts of a Warming Ocean. *Funct. Ecol.* **2014**, *28*, 1482–1493. [CrossRef]
- 45. Hamdoun, A.; Epel, D. Embryo Stability and Vulnerability in an Always Changing World. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2007**, *104*, 1745–1750. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Suckling, C.C.; Clark, M.S.; Richard, J.; Morley, S.A.; Thorne, M.A.S.; Harper, E.M.; Peck, L.S. Adult Acclimation to Combined Temperature and pH Stressors Significantly Enhances Reproductive Outcomes Compared to Short-term Exposures. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 2015, 84, 773–784. [CrossRef]
- Zhao, C.; Zhang, L.; Shi, D.; Ding, J.; Yin, D.; Sun, J.; Zhang, B.; Zhang, L.; Chang, Y. Transgenerational Effects of Ocean Warming on the Sea Urchin Strongylocentrotus Intermedius. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 2018, 151, 212–219. [CrossRef]
- 48. Schlegel, P.; Havenhand, J.N.; Gillings, M.R.; Williamson, J.E. Individual Variability in Reproductive Success Determines Winners and Losers under Ocean Acidification: A Case Study with Sea Urchins. *PLoS ONE* **2012**, *7*, e53118. [CrossRef]
- Sato, K.N.; Andersson, A.J.; Day, J.M.D.; Taylor, J.R.A.; Frank, M.B.; Jung, J.-Y.; McKittrick, J.; Levin, L.A. Response of Sea Urchin Fitness Traits to Environmental Gradients across the Southern California Oxygen Minimum Zone. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 2018, *5*, 258. [CrossRef]
- 50. Vafidis, D.; Antoniadou, C.; Kyriakouli, K. Reproductive Cycle of the Edible Sea Urchin Paracentrotus Lividus (Echinodermata: Echinoidae) in the Aegean Sea. *Water* **2019**, *11*, 1029. [CrossRef]
- Zhang, W.; Chang, Y.; Luo, S.; Zhou, H.; Tian, X.; Ding, J.; Chen, X. Effects of Biofilms as the Main and as a Supplementary Food on the Survival, Somatic Growth and Gonad Enhancement of Sea Urchin Strongylocentrotus Intermedius. *Aquac. Int.* 2014, 22, 925–936. [CrossRef]
- Rinde, E.; Christie, H.; Fagerli, C.W.; Bekkby, T.; Gundersen, H.; Norderhaug, K.M.; Hjermann, D.Ø. The Influence of Physical Factors on Kelp and Sea Urchin Distribution in Previously and Still Grazed Areas in the NE Atlantic. *PLoS ONE* 2014, 9, e100222. [CrossRef]
- López, S.; Turon, X.; Montero, E.; Palacín, C.; Duarte, C.M.; Tarjuelo, I. Larval Abundance, Recruitment and Early Mortality in Paracentrotus Lividus (Echinoidea). Interannual Variability and Plankton-Benthos Coupling. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 1998, 172, 239–251. [CrossRef]
- Wang, H.; Ding, J.; Ding, S.; Chang, Y. Integrated Metabolomic and Transcriptomic Analyses Identify Critical Genes in Eicosapentaenoic Acid Biosynthesis and Metabolism in the Sea Urchin Strongylocentrotus Intermedius. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, 10, 1697. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Picard, V.; Mulner-Lorillon, O.; Bourdon, J.; Morales, J.; Cormier, P.; Siegel, A.; Bellé, R. Model of the Delayed Translation of Cyclin B Maternal MRNA after Sea Urchin Fertilization. *Mol. Reprod. Dev.* **2016**, *83*, 1070–1082. [CrossRef]
- Shi, D.; Zhao, C.; Chen, Y.; Ding, J.; Zhang, L.; Chang, Y. Transcriptomes Shed Light on Transgenerational and Developmental Effects of Ocean Warming on Embryos of the Sea Urchin Strongylocentrotus Intermedius. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, *10*, 7931. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Klosin, A.; Lehner, B. Mechanisms, Timescales and Principles of Trans-Generational Epigenetic Inheritance in Animals. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 2016, 36, 41–49. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 58. Bonduriansky, R.; Crean, A.J.; Day, T. The Implications of Nongenetic Inheritance for Evolution in Changing Environments. *Evol. Appl.* **2012**, *5*, 192–201. [CrossRef]
- Bertoldo, M.J.; Locatelli, Y.; O'Neill, C.; Mermillod, P.; Bertoldo, M.J.; Locatelli, Y.; O'Neill, C.; Mermillod, P. Impacts of and Interactions between Environmental Stress and Epigenetic Programming during Early Embryo Development. *Reprod. Fertil. Dev.* 2015, 27, 1125–1136. [CrossRef]
- Masullo, T.; Biondo, G.; Natale, M.D.; Tagliavia, M.; Bennici, C.D.; Musco, M.; Ragusa, M.A.; Costa, S.; Cuttitta, A.; Nicosia, A. Gene Expression Changes after Parental Exposure to Metals in the Sea Urchin Affect Timing of Genetic Programme of Embryo Development. *Biology* 2021, 10, 103. [CrossRef]

- Goldstone, J.V.; Hamdoun, A.; Cole, B.J.; Howard-Ashby, M.; Nebert, D.W.; Scally, M.; Dean, M.; Epel, D.; Hahn, M.E.; Stegeman, J.J. The Chemical Defensome: Environmental Sensing and Response Genes in the Strongylocentrotus Purpuratus Genome. *Dev. Biol.* 2006, 300, 366–384.
- 62. Harris, L.G.; Eddy, S.D. Sea Urchin Ecology and Biology. In *Echinoderm Aquaculture*; Wiley: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2015; Part I, Chapter 1, pp. 1–24.
- 63. McBride, S.C. Sea Urchin Aquaculture. In *American Fisheries Society Symposium*; American Fisheries Society: Bethesda, MD, USA, 2005; Volume 46, p. 179.
- 64. Ragusa, M.A.; Costa, S.; Gianguzza, M.; Roccheri, M.C.; Gianguzza, F. Effects of Cadmium Exposure on Sea Urchin Development Assessed by SSH and RT-QPCR: Metallothionein Genes and Their Differential Induction. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* **2013**, *40*, 2157–2167.
- 65. Pfaffl, M.W. A New Mathematical Model for Relative Quantification in Real-Time RT–PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2001, 29, e45. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Pfaffl, M.W.; Horgan, G.W.; Dempfle, L. Relative Expression Software Tool (REST[©]) for Group-Wise Comparison and Statistical Analysis of Relative Expression Results in Real-Time PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2002**, *30*, e36. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Szklarczyk, D.; Gable, A.L.; Lyon, D.; Junge, A.; Wyder, S.; Huerta-Cepas, J.; Simonovic, M.; Doncheva, N.T.; Morris, J.H.; Bork, P. STRING V11: Protein–Protein Association Networks with Increased Coverage, Supporting Functional Discovery in Genome-Wide Experimental Datasets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2019, 47, D607–D613. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Chapter 5





Two Benthic Diatoms, *Nanofrustulum shiloi* and *Striatella unipunctata*, Encapsulated in Alginate Beads, Influence the Reproductive Efficiency of *Paracentrotus lividus* by Modulating the Gene Expression

Francesca Glaviano ^{1,2,†}, Nadia Ruocco ^{1,†}, Emanuele Somma ^{1,3,†}, Giuseppe De Rosa ^{1,4}, Virginia Campani ⁴, Pasquale Ametrano ^{1,2}, Davide Caramiello ⁵, Maria Costantini ^{1,*} and Valerio Zupo ^{1,*}

- ¹ Department of Marine Biotechnology, Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Villa Comunale, 80121 Napoli, Italy; francesca.glaviano@szn.it (F.G.); nadia.ruocco@szn.it (N.R.); emanuele.somma@szn.it (E.S.); giuseppe.derosa2@unina.it (G.D.R.); pas.ametrano@studenti.unina.it (P.A.)
- ² Department of Biology, University of Naples Federico II, Complesso Universitario di Monte Sant'Angelo, Via Cinthia 21, 80126 Napoli, Italy
- ³ Department of Life Sciences, University of Trieste, 34127 Trieste, Italy
 - Department of Pharmacy, University of Naples Federico II, 80131 Naples, Italy; virginia.campani@unina.it
- ⁵ Department of Research Infrastructures for Marine Biological Resources, Marine Organisms Core Facility, Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, Villa Comunale, 80121 Napoli, Italy; davide.caramiello@szn.it
- * Correspondence: maria.costantini@szn.it (M.C.); vzupo@szn.it (V.Z.); Tel.: +39-081-583-3315 (M.C.); Fax: +39-081-764-1355 (M.C.)
- + These authors contributed equally to this work.

Abstract: Physiological effects of algal metabolites is a key step for the isolation of interesting bioactive compounds. Invertebrate grazers may be fed on live diatoms or dried, pelletized, and added to compound feeds. Any method may reveal some shortcomings, due to the leaking of woundactivated compounds in the water prior to ingestion. For this reason, encapsulation may represent an important step of bioassay-guided fractionation, because it may assure timely preservation of the active compounds. Here we test the effects of the inclusion in alginate (biocompatible and non-toxic delivery system) matrices to produce beads containing two benthic diatoms for sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus feeding. In particular, we compared the effects of a diatom whose influence on P. lividus was known (Nanofrustulum shiloi) and those of a diatom suspected to be harmful to marine invertebrates, because it is often present in blooms (Striatella unipunctata). Dried N. shiloi and S. unipunctata were offered for one month after encapsulation in alginate hydrogel beads and the larvae produced by sea urchins were checked for viability and malformations. The results indicated that N. shiloi, already known for its toxigenic effects on sea urchin larvae, fully conserved its activity after inclusion in alginate beads. On the whole, benthic diatoms affected the embryogenesis of *P. lividus*, altering the expression of several genes involved in stress response, development, skeletogenesis and detoxification processes. Interactomic analysis suggested that both diatoms activated a similar stress response pathway, through the up-regulation of hsp60, hsp70, NF-κB, 14-3-3 ε and MDR1 genes. This research also demonstrates that the inclusion in alginate beads may represent a feasible technique to isolate diatom-derived bioactive compounds.

Keywords: encapsulation; microalgae; modulated genes; sea urchin development

1. Introduction

Dietary uptake of organic and inorganic compounds influence the physiology [1,2], ecology [3] and the population dynamics [4] of several marine grazers. Besides pollution and other anthropogenic influences [5], which trigger specific effects on the physiology of planktonic and benthic consumers, algae are known to produce various defense metabolites,



Citation: Glaviano, F.; Ruocco, N.; Somma, E.; De Rosa, G.; Campani, V.; Ametrano, P.; Caramiello, D.; Costantini, M.; Zupo, V. Two Benthic Diatoms, *Nanofrustulum shiloi* and *Striatella unipunctata*, Encapsulated in Alginate Beads, Influence the Reproductive Efficiency of *Paracentrotus lividus* by Modulating the Gene Expression. *Mar. Drugs* **2021**, *19*, 230. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/md19040230

Academic Editor: Ipek Kurtboke

Received: 17 March 2021 Accepted: 15 April 2021 Published: 17 April 2021

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2021 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). characterized by a range of activities, from simple repulsive effects [6] to highly toxigenic effects against grazers [7] or their progeny [8,9].

The environmental impact of algal metabolites is often evaluated by forcing invertebrates to graze on given plants [10], or exposing small aquatic animals to the volatile organic compounds constitutively produced by algae, to record their behavioral reactions [11–13]. However, bioassay-guided fractionation is often required to isolate the active compounds triggering these reactions, and further elucidate their molecular structure, for biotechnological applications [14]. The administration of algal extracts and fractions may reveal some constraints, because it must be gathered through suitable feeds supplemented with polar or non-polar compounds. In seawater, some lipophilic compounds are stably stored in feeds, until their complete consumption by invertebrates [15]. Hydrophilic compounds, in contrast, are easily dispersed in the water after administration and cannot reach their target consumers if not ingested immediately [16].

A variety of encapsulation techniques may be adopted to stably conserve the secondary metabolites previously fractionated or isolated, and guarantee their correct vehiculation to the target organism. In particular, the development of encapsulation improves the efficiency of screening methods and offers a fast, simple and reliable tool (e.g., multiplexed screening methods) to test the effect of algal metabolites on their consumers. To this end, carboxylated microspheres [17] were used to immobilize various toxins on their surface and were easily vehiculated through compound feeds. An alternative approach is the adoption of microencapsulated feeds [18,19] since they may consistently and almost stably preserve various types of compounds avoiding contact with the seawater. Microencapsulated feeds, indeed, are commonly added to dry feeds and they can be stored in refrigerators maintaining their stable shapes. When they are added to humid feeds, or directly dispersed in the water (in the case of filter feeders or very small organisms), the lipidic capsules may slowly degrade and this may represent an issue, if experiments are supposed to last more than a few days.

For this reason, marine polysaccharides such as alginates and carragenates may be adopted to produce particles of variable size, able to preserve and deliver active compounds [20]. Marine polysaccharides are a large and quite complex group of macro-molecules sharing some interesting biological properties. The field of marine polysaccharides is constantly evolving over the last decades, thanks to a wide variety of compounds extracted from marine organisms that are tailored for these applications. Red macroalgae are mostly used for the extraction of polysaccharides, but alternative sources may be green and brown seaweeds, as well as marine prokaryotes. The use of seaweed-derived alginates embodies an additional advantage when feeds are prepared for grazers, because their chemical properties are normally suitable for the physiology of various consumers. Moreover, these compounds are widely recognized for their taste and toughness, besides their well-known non-cytotoxic characteristics, biodegradability and biocompatibility. For example, algae-produced hydrogels, based on cross-linked polysaccharides are often employed for drug delivery systems and tissue engineering. Polysaccharides derived from marine organisms may also be employed to produce superabsorbent/superporous hydrogels [20].

Marine polysaccharides are increasingly used for nutraceutical and cosmaceutical applications, particularly as tools for the incorporation of bioactive agents [21]. It is worth noting that sodium alginate, in combination with polyacrylics such as either poly(acrylic acid), poly(acrylamide) or both, forms interpenetrating networks that give rise to superabsorbent and superporous hydrogels [22], occasionally adopted to direct active compounds towards specific animal targets [23]. Alginate dressings maintain a physiologically moist microenvironment that is feasible for containing a variety of active compounds. Alginate is a naturally occurring polysaccharide of organic acids (guluronic and mannuronic), abundant in nature as a structural component of brown algae, but it may also be obtained from soil bacteria. Although the microencapsulation technique was initially developed for oral delivery of proteins and other compounds, which are quickly degraded in the acid gastric environment, this technique was demonstrated to produce interesting results

for bioassay-guided isolation of natural compounds [24]. In addition, sodium alginates may be modified with amine or acid moieties to optimize their efficiency for drug delivery applications. These modifications permit modulation of the erosion time, the release rates, and even their adhesion to specific substrates [21]. For example, using super-hydrophobic surfaces, polymer particles may be produced [25] allowing the loading of compounds into spherical structures (microspheres) with huge encapsulation efficiency [26]. Several benthic diatoms are commonly ingested by sea urchins, because they produce dense epiphytic layers on seagrasses and seaweeds, commonly grazed by these echinoderms. However, artificial feeds (e.g., agar blocks including specific diatoms) are needed to test the effect of individual microalgae on the reproductive physiology of sea urchins. Algae must be included when still fresh, to avoid rapid deterioration in the aqueous environment, prior to be ingested. Conserved algae (e.g., frozen diatoms) cannot be used for this purpose, because the loss of structural properties of their siliceous shells would immediately produce leaking of active compounds. This limitation imposes complex research procedures and various experimental limits.

Various diatoms contribute to toxic plankton blooms, including *Thalassiosira* spp., *Nitzschia* spp. and *Striatella* spp. [27] and their effects on planktonic consumers were extensively investigated [1]. Several harmful microalgae, known to produce biotoxins and cause fish and invertebrate deaths, were identified and documented. However, similar diatom genera are present in the periphytic benthos too [28], although their effects on benthic consumers are scarcely investigated. In particular, *S. unipunctata* is a benthic diatom often found in the gut content of various grazers and filter feeders [29] and its toxigenic properties are still to be investigated. This species appears in the list of most abundant taxa during harmful micro-phytoplankton blooms [30] but its direct effects on filter-feeders and grazers were never documented.

Previous investigations indicated that live marine benthic diatoms, *Nanofrustulum shiloi*, included in agar blocks produce clear physiological effects in the sea urchin, *Paracentrotus lividus* [8]. However, due to the several issues mentioned above, investigations may exclusively progress by using diets based on either frozen diatoms, diatom fractions, or both. Accordingly, this investigation attempted the administration of frozen benthic diatoms, *N. shiloi*, whose physiological effects were already demonstrated by simple inclusion of live diatoms, as a control for the inclusion in alginate hydrogel beads, never attempted before. In addition, *Striatella unipunctata* was tested in alginate beads because its physiological effects on sea urchins were never investigated. Consequently, we compared the known activity of *N. shiloi*, here considered as a positive control, to the effects of *S. unipunctata* and the seaweed *Ulva rigida*, adopted as control diet. Both diatoms may be seasonally abundant on the leaf surface of the seagrass, *Posidonia oceanica* [31–34], which represents a preferred food item for *P. lividus*. The toxigenic effects of encapsulated diatoms on sea urchin progenies were evaluated by morphological observations of plutei and gene expression analyses.

2. Results

2.1. Species Identification by Morphological and Molecular Analyses

The observation under SEM and optical microscopy revealed that the benthic diatom tested in the present study belonged to the araphid pennate species, *S. unipunctata* Agardh 1832 (Figure S1), whose first description was reported as *Fragilaria unipunctata* Lyngbye 1819. The diatom is about 70 μ m in length, flat and rectangular in shape and with truncated corners. *S. unipunctata* was easily recognizable through its valve ornamentation that consists of septate girdle bands covering all the surfaces of frustules. Under light microscopy, it was possible to observe the typical reticulate chloroplasts and the mucilaginous stalk, which is secreted through a corner of the frustule allowing for attachment to the bottom (Figure S1).

Molecular data totally agreed with the morphological characterization obtained by spicule observations. BLASTn alignments revealed about 99% pairwise-sequence similarity

to four strains of *S. unipunctata* ribosomal 18S RNA gene (accession numbers: JX419383.1, AB430609.1, AF525666.1 and HQ912643.1) with 100% query cover (Figure S2).

2.2. Diatom's Encapsulation

As reported in Table S1, the alginate beads without diatoms showed a mean diameter of about 3.8 mm, after preparation. The encapsulation of diatoms led to a very slight reduction of the mean diameter of ~3.7 mm. As expected, dehydration strongly reduced the size of the beads resulting in 1.3 mm and 1.2 mm for alginate beads and diatoms/alginate beads, respectively.

2.3. Effects of Feeding Tests on Sea Urchin Progeny

2.3.1. Fertilization/Cleavage Rates and Embryo Development

After a one month of feeding with *U. rigida*, *N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata*, eggs and sperms were collected prior to fertilization. The percentage of fertilized eggs and embryos at the two-cell stage resulted in 100% for all samples under analysis. These data were similar to those obtained for sea urchins collected from the wild and spooned at the beginning of the experiment (T_0). The morphological observations performed on sea urchin embryos 48 h post-fertilization (hpf) revealed that both diatoms induced several malformations affecting the apex and the arms [35] (Figure 1 and Figure S3). Firstly, *N. shiloi* exerted similar effects to those previously reported in Ruocco et al. [8], with a percentage of abnormal plutei of about 55% (p > 0.05) (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Percentages of normal and malformed plutei derived from sea urchins fed with the control diet (*U. rigida*), *N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata* encapsulated in alginate beads. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post hoc for multiple comparisons: **** p < 0.0001. Pairwise comparison was reported between control (*U. rigida* diets) vs. samples treated with *N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata*.

This result confirmed that diatom encapsulation, within the alginate beads, did not cause additional effects on embryonic development. Furthermore, *S. unipunctata* induced a significant increase in malformed plutei (70%), being statistically different from the percentages obtained in sea urchins fed on *U. rigida* (about 10%, p < 0.0001) (Figure 1). Interestingly, the toxicity of *S. unipunctata* diets on sea urchin progenies was found significantly higher than *N. shiloi* treated individuals (p < 0.0001) (Figure 1).

2.3.2. Gene Expression by Real Time (RT)-qPCR

Among the eighteen genes belonging to stress response, *N. shiloi* altered the expression of several genes, except for *Caspase 8*, *ERCC3*, *GRHPR* e *p38 MAPK* (Figure 2). On the contrary, *S. unipunctata* confirmed to induce the strongest effects by changing the expression levels of all stress genes under analysis (Figure 2). On the whole, both diatoms had a lot of common targets, down-regulating *ARF1*, *caspase 3/7*, *HIF1A*, *hsp56*, *Mtase*, *p53* and *SDH*, and up-regulating *cytb*, *GS*, *hsp60*, *hsp70*, *NF-*κ*B*, *PARP1* and 14-3-3 ε. Moreover, *S. unipunctata*



solely induced a variation of four stress genes with a decrease of *Caspase 8, ERCC3, GRHPR* and an increase of *p38 MAPK* (Figure 2).

Figure 2. Fold changes of stress response genes in plutei from sea urchin adults fed with *N. shiloi* (black bar) and *S. unipunctata* (gray bar) encapsulated in alginate beads. The dotted red line represents the cut-off (1.5). Values are reported as the average fold changes \pm SD (n = 3). Statistical differences were evaluated by nonparametric Mann–Whitney test. *p*-values < 0.05 were considered significant.

The functional class grouping development and differentiation processes was the most represented, with 28 genes analyzed. In particular, *N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata* induced the up-regulation of *Bra*, *Delta*, *FoxG*, *Foxo* and *Wnt6*, and the down-regulation of δ -2-*catenin*, *GFI1*, *Goosecoid*, H3.3, *KIF19* and *TCF7* (Figure 3a).

In contrast, different results were detected in the cases of *FOXA*, *TAK1* and *VEGF* genes, whose expression increased with *S. unipunctata* and decreased with *N. shiloi*; and *nodal* and *OneCut/Hnf6*, revealing the opposite effect (Figure 3b). Moreover, benthic diatoms individually switched on the expression of *Blimp* and *Notch* (*N. shiloi*), and *ADMP2* (*S. unipunctata*) (Figure 3b).

Concerning the eight genes involved in the skeletogenesis of sea urchin plutei, *N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata* had five common targets. Specifically, both diatoms up-regulated Nec and p19 and down-regulated *BMP5-7*, *SM30* and *uni* (Figure 4).

Different molecular effects were detected for *Jun*, since both the up- (*N. shiloi*) and down-regulation (*S. unipunctata*) was found (Figure 4). *S. unipunctata* also altered the expression of *p16* (up-regulation) and *SM50* (down-regulation) genes (Figure 4).

N. shiloi was able to change the expression of all genes belonging to detoxification processes, while half of them were significantly altered by *S. unipunctata*. Benthic diatoms shared the up-regulation of three genes, namely, *CAT*, *MDR1* and *MT5* (Figure 5).



Figure 3. Fold changes of development and differentiation genes in plutei from sea urchin adults fed with *N. shiloi* (black bar) and *S. unipunctata* (gray bar) encapsulated in alginate beads where (**a**) the two diatoms induced the same gene expression (up- or down-regulation for both diatoms) or (**b**) different gene expression (up- in one diatom and down-regulation in the other diatom). The dotted red line represents the cut-off (1.5). Values are reported as the average fold changes \pm SD (*n* = 3). Statistical differences were evaluated by nonparametric Mann–Whitney test. *p*-values < 0.05 were considered significant.



Figure 4. Fold changes of skeletogenesis genes in plutei from sea urchin adults fed with *N. shiloi* (black bar) and *S. unipunctata* (gray bar) encapsulated in alginate beads. The dotted red line represents the cut-off (1.5). Values are reported as the average fold changes \pm SD (n = 3). Statistical differences were evaluated by nonparametric Mann–Whitney test. *p*-values < 0.05 were considered significant.



Figure 5. Fold changes of detoxification genes in plutei from sea urchin adults fed with *N. shiloi* (black bar) and *S. unipunctata* (gray bar) encapsulated in alginate beads. The dotted red line represents the cut-off (1.5). Values are reported as the average fold changes \pm SD (n = 3). Statistical differences were evaluated by nonparametric Mann–Whitney test. *p*-values < 0.05 were considered significant.

Furthermore, the *MT8* gene was up-regulated by *S. unipunctata* and down-regulated by *N. shiloi* (Figure 5). Interestingly, *N. shiloi* was able to up-regulate all methallothioneins under study (*MT*, *MT4*, *MT5*, *MT6* and *MT7*), except for the *MT8* gene (Figure 5).

3. Discussion

In the present work we evaluated the harmful effects of diatom diets on the sea urchin P. lividus by encapsulating two diatom species, *N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata*, in alginate hydrogel beads, combining morphological and molecular approaches.

3.1. Effects of Feeding Tests by Morphological Observations

Our results showed that N. shiloi induced several malformations in sea urchin progenies with a percentage of about 60% of aberrant plutei (p < 0.0001), confirming our previous investigations [8] (Figure 1; see also Figure S3). Moreover, S. unipunctata was also toxic to sea urchins, inducing stronger effects (75% malformed plutei) than N. shiloi, with a high statistical significance (p < 0.0001; Figure 1). Interestingly, N. shiloi was previously found to produce several toxic compounds, named oxylipins, that together with other unknown compounds, could induce such negative effects [36]. The accumulation of these bioactive secondary metabolites could be responsible for reducing gamete quality, as well as interfering with the fertilization and embryonic development processes, as demonstrated by Ruocco et al. [36] through Pearson correlation analysis. For this reason, we encapsulated diatoms in alginate beads to preserve the active molecules and avoid any dispersion into the surrounding water. In fact, the encapsulation of extremely sensitive compounds, such as proteins, vitamins and dehydrated extracts, within alginate hydrogel beads protect them from the external environment [37,38]. Furthermore, calcium-alginate beads were used in this work since they represent a biocompatible and non-toxic delivery system, which is very easy to prepare through cost-effective procedures without applying high temperatures [39,40].

3.2. Effects of Feeding Tests on Gene Pathways

Concerning the molecular investigation of 62 genes belonging to stress response, development and differentiation, skeletogenesis and detoxification processes, benthic diatoms were able to switch on almost all genes under analysis (Figures 2–5; Table S2). These molecular results corroborated our observation under light microscopy showing that feeding on benthic diatoms induced several malformations in sea urchin plutei (Figure 1).

Among the 62 genes analyzed, more than half were positively or negatively altered by both diatoms, revealing a similar variation in gene expression and a huge number of shared targets (Figures 2–5). On the other hand, a few genes were impaired differently, particularly those involved in development and differentiation events, such as *FOXA*, *nodal*, *OneCut/Hnf6*, *TAK1* and *VEGF* (Figure 3b). These results could indicate that benthic diatoms affect some common molecular pathways by changing the normal biological mechanisms, which, in turn, generate aberrant progenies in sea urchins.

Interestingly, several genes followed by RT-qPCR in the present study were previously found to be functionally interconnected [41–43]. In particular, Varrella et al. [41] showed that both diatoms altered the expression of all genes belonging to the network, except for *Alix*, whose relative expression was not significant (Figure 6).

The majority of these correlated genes were similarly affected by both diatoms with the only exception of Blimp, which was up-regulated in *N. shiloi* (Figure 6a) and *sox9/p38 MAPK*, whose expression was up-regulated in *S. unipunctata* (Figure 6b).

On the whole, a similar stress response pathway, mediated by *hsp60*, *hsp70*, *NF-* κ *B*, 14-3-3 ε and *MDR1*, was activated since this group of interconnected genes was significantly up-regulated after the feeding with both benthic diatoms. Some of these genes were previously proposed to be involved in the same molecular pathway in response to UV-B radiation and, recently, after the exposure of polystyrene nanoparticles [44–46]. Moreover, after analyzing gene expression data, we found that both diatoms induced the up-regulation of *NF-* κ *B* signaling, which represent a fundamental cascade for the activation of the innate immune system following several stress events that causes DNA damage [47].



Figure 6. Gene network performed by STRING interactome of protein–protein interactions. Correlations with high confidence score cut-off (900) were reported. Among functionally correlated genes, those with up (red), down (green) and unchanged (blue) expression affected by *N. shiloi* (**a**) and *S. unipunctata* (**b**) were reported. Color shading depends on fold-change values. Gray spheres represent additional connections.

Concerning the gene network proposed by Ruocco et al. [42], in which mostly development and skeletogenesis genes were involved, interesting differences were brought to light (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Gene network performed by STRING interactome of protein–protein interactions. Correlations with high confidence score cut-off (900) were reported. Among functionally correlated genes, those with up (red), down (green) and unchanged (blue) expression affected by *N. shiloi* (**a**) and *S. unipunctata* (**b**) were reported. Color shading depends on fold change values. Gray spheres represent additional connections.

In fact, a key transcription factor that controls skeletogenesis in sea urchins (*Jun*) [48] was significantly up-regulated by *N. shiloi* (Figure 7a). The connected *Foxo*, *FoxG* and *nodal* genes were also up-regulated, suggesting that a molecular pathway probably mediated through these genes could be activated by this diatom (Figure 7a). On the contrary, *S. unipunctata* induced the down-expression of *Jun* and *JNK* (Figure 7b) that, in turn, could trigger the aberrations in the sea urchin embryos, since both genes were reported to exert key roles in skeletogenesis and development [48,49]. In addition, *S. unipunctata* was able to increase the relative expression of the *VEGF* gene (Figure 7b), which is demonstrated to be involved in sea urchin spiculogenesis [50]. However, recent data on sea urchin gene regulatory networks (GRN) reported that hypoxia-induced stress is able to perturb the

expression of *HIF1A*, *nodal* and *VEGF* pathways, inducing severe effects on the structure of larval skeletons [51]. This is also the case with our results, reporting a significant variation of these latter genes following diatom feeding, that might explain the anomalies in sea urchin plutei observed under light microscopy (Figure 1; see also Figure S3). In fact, we found a significant down-regulation of *HIF1A*, which is known to limit the expression of *nodal* to the ventral side of sea urchin embryos for the activation of down-stream transcription factors [52]. The dysregulation of *HIF1A* and *nodal* genes could be responsible for such malformations (Figure S3).

Significant differences between *N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata* were also found in the gene correlation analysis performed by Esposito et al. [43], since only *S. unipunctata* was able to target all connected genes, with the exception of only *Smad6* (Figure 8b).



Figure 8. Gene network performed by STRING interactome of protein–protein interactions. Correlations with high confidence score cut-off (900) were reported. Among functionally correlated genes, those with up (red), down (green) and unchanged (blue) expression affected by *N. shiloi* (**a**) and *S. unipunctata* (**b**) were reported. Full color shows greater fold change values. Gray spheres represent additional connections.

Again, we found that *Jun*, strongly connected with several genes [48], was specifically up-regulated by *N. shiloi*. This gene was probably at the basis of huge molecular cascade activated by this diatom (Figure 8a). Within this pathway, we also noticed the involvement of *hsp70*, *PARP1*, *GS*, *Delta*, *nodal*, *Bra* and *CAT* genes, since mRNA levels significantly increased in sea urchin plutei deriving from adults fed with *N. shiloi* (Figure 8a). Then, *S. unipunctata* was able to up-regulate a great number of genes that displayed a connection with several genes in the same biological pathway, such as *TAK1*, *hsp70*, *PARP1*, *GS*, *sox9*, *Wnt5*, *Wnt8*, *Delta*, *Bra* and *CAT* (Figure 8b).

More specifically, PARP1 level increased in sea urchin plutei, deriving from adults fed on both benthic diatoms (Figure 8).

The up-regulation of genes involved in DNA repair may be due to a potential genotoxic effect triggered by unknown or known [36] (e.g., oxylipins) compounds that were supplied through diatom diets [53]. Moreover, a significant activation of the *CAT* gene was observed (Figure 8), probably induced by the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in sea urchin eggs. The expression alteration of this gene might be connected to the clear aberrations of sea urchin embryos (Figure 1; see also Figure S3), since the mitochondrial redox signaling via H_2O_2 is well known to perturb *nodal* expression and the following oral-aboral axis specification [54].

Analyzing RT-qPCR data, we detected the alteration of *nodal*, *Delta*, *Bra* and *Goosecoid*, which are normally required for the early specification of ectodermal tissues [55]. Interestingly, *nodal* was found to influence the expression of BMP signaling and some dorsal marker genes, such as *Wnt5*, *Wnt8*, *smad6*, together with *sox9*, which is a transcription factor
involved in left-right asymmetry specification [55–57]. These experimental evidences were also corroborated by our results, since benthic diatoms induced the opposite regulation of *nodal* gene (up-regulated in *N. shiloi* and down-regulated in *S. unipunctata*) and, in turn, a different expression pattern in down-stream effectors (Figure 8).

Overall, the majority of genes, whose expression was modified by diatom feeding, are involved in the specification of ectodermal, endodermal and mesodermal cell fates during sea urchin embryo development. Despite several connections still being largely unknown due to the high complexity of molecular responses, some of them were experimentally demonstrated to join the same GRN [55–63].

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Ethics Statement

Paracentrotus lividus (Lamarck) adults were collected from a site in the Bay of Naples that is not privately owned or protected in any way, according to Italian legislation (DPR 1639/68, 19 September 1980, confirmed on 10 January 2000). Field studies did not include endangered or protected species. All experimental procedures on animals followed the guidelines of the European Union (directive 2010/63/EU).

4.2. Isolation of S. unipunctata and Culturing

S. unipunctata was isolated from samples of *P. oceanica* leaves collected in the field from the meadows located in Lacco Ameno (Island of Ischia, Gulf of Naples, Italy). Once in the laboratory, the lamina of each leaf was rinsed with filtered seawater (FSW) and then gently scraped with a glass slide in order to collect the epiphytic communities. The diatoms of interest were isolated under inverted microscope (Leica Microsystems), through sequential transfer of single cells, by means of a micromanipulator (Leica Microsystems). The isolated diatom was deployed in multi-well plates filled with sterile seawater in order to obtain axenic cultures. The monoclonal strains thus obtained were gently renovated under a laminar flow hood and cultured in 12-multiwell plates with Guillard's f/2 medium (Sigma-Aldrich, Milan, Italy) and kept in a thermostatic chamber at 18 °C, with a 12 h:12 h light:dark photoperiod. Light was provided by Silvania GroLux (Osram Sylvania Inc., Wilmington, Massachusetts, USA) at 140 μ E·m⁻²·s⁻¹ irradiance.

4.3. Species Characterization

4.3.1. Morphological Analysis of Frustules

Diatom identification was firstly performed using a morphological approach, through the analysis of the frustule ultrastructure on images captured through a scanning electron microscopy (SEM, JEOL 6700F, JEOL Ltd., Akishima, Tokyo, Japan). Diluted monoclonal cultures were collected in graduated Pyrex glass tubes and cleaned through acid treatment by adding H₂SO₄ (96%) and HNO₃ (65%). After six washing cycles with distilled water, the pH was evaluated using litmus paper. Once neutral pH was reached, the cleaned samples were mounted on stubs and sputter-coated with platinum for SEM observations.

4.3.2. Molecular Identification of Diatom Species

Cell cultures were collected from the multi-well plates and concentrated by centrifugation for 20 min at 1800 relative centrifugal force (rcf) at 4 °C for 15 min, then frozen in liquid nitrogen until use. About 20 mg of pellet was treated with lysis buffer containing 2% cetyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) and 2-mercaptoethanol (2-ME, Sigma-Aldrich). Then, DNA extraction was performed according the protocol reported in Ruocco et al. [8].

The total amount of DNA extracted was estimated by measuring the absorbance at 260 nm; purity was calculated using 260/280 and 260/230 nm ratios, using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer (ND-1000 UV-vis Spectrophotometer; NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA). The integrity of DNA was evaluated by agarose gel electrophoresis.

Polymerase chain reactions (PCRs) were performed using specific primers targeting the 18S rRNA region (528F/1055R [8,64]). Sequences were submitted to the NCBI (National

Center for Biotechnology Information) database through Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLASTn available at https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi, accessed on 1 February 2021 [65]) in order to identify the best hits with higher percentage of identity. In addition, PCR fragments were aligned to all 18S sequences found using the software MultiAlin (available at http://multalin.toulouse.inra.fr/multalin/, accessed on 1 February 2021 [66]).

4.4. Diatom Encapsulation in Alginate Beads

Monoclonal cultures of *N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata* were grown as reported above. For experimental purposes, massive cultures were inoculated in 14 cm Petri dishes containing 100 mL of f/2 medium. At the end of the exponential phase, cells were counted under a Neubauer chamber and biomass was evaluated as logC (quantity of intracellular carbon in picograms) = $-0.541 + 0.811 \times \log V$ (cell volume in μm^3) [8,67]. The same biomass previously used for the diatom *N. shiloi* in Ruocco et al. [8] was then collected and lyophilized.

Dried diatoms were then encapsulated in alginate hydrogel beads [38–40]. Alginate beads were prepared as described by Zhang et al. [37], with some modifications. Briefly, a 2% alginate solution (w/v) was prepared by dissolving sodium alginate powder in deionized water under magnetic stirring for about 3 h. Then, freeze-dried diatoms were dispersed in the sodium alginate solution at the predetermined concentration. Contemporarily, a calcium chloride solution (5% w/v) was prepared by melting calcium chloride powder in double distilled water under magnetic stirring at room temperature. Diatoms/alginate solution was then poured, drop by drop, into the corresponding 5% calcium chloride solution under continuous and gently stirring. The resulting alginate beads were then collected, washed with deionized water and dried for 48 h at room temperature. Dry beads were stored at 4 °C before use.

The diameter of alginate beads was measured after preparation, in the hydrated form, and immediately after dehydration, to evaluate whether diatoms were perfectly encapsulated. Measurements were carried out by analysis of digital images of alginate beads, using open-source software, Image J (Java 1.8.0_112). The mean diameters were calculated as the average values over three different measurements (n = 3).

4.5. Feeding, Gametes Collection, Evaluation of Fertilization/Cleavage Success and Detection of Abnormal Plutei

Alginate beads were included into a 2% agar substrate and used as food for sea urchins with a daily rate of 1 g of agar per sea urchin [8,68]. Twenty adult (12 females and 8 males) *P. lividus* were reared in each experimental tank with a continuous flow-through system [8] and fed with *U. rigida* (3 control replicates) and the 2 benthic diatoms tested (3 replicates for each species). After 1 month of feeding, eggs and sperm were collected. Eggs were washed three times with filtered seawater (FSW) and kept in FSW until use. Concentrated "dry" sperm was collected and kept undiluted at +4 °C until use. Eggs were fertilized utilizing sperm-to-egg ratios of 100:1. Fertilized eggs were kept at 20 °C in a thermostatic chamber on a 12 h:12 h light:dark cycle. After 48 hpf, morphological malformations were determined for at least 100 sea urchin plutei from each female (fixed in 0.5% glutaraldehyde) using a light microscope (Zeiss Axiovert 135TV, Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany).

4.6. Molecular Analysis on Sea Urchin Plutei

About 5000 eggs (in 50 mL of FSW) from each female fed on *U. rigida* and the two benthic diatoms were collected and fertilized. Embryos were then collected at 48 hpf by centrifugation at 1800 rcf for 10 min in a swing out rotor at 4 °C. Embryos were placed in at least 10 volumes of the RNAlater (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), and then frozen in liquid nitrogen. Samples were kept at -80 °C until use.

Total RNA was extracted using Aurum Total RNA Mini Kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), according to the manufacturer's instructions for RNA-seq experiments. For each sample, 600 ng of total RNA was retrotranscribed with an iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad, Milan, Italy), following the manufacturer's instructions.

Gene expression analysis was performed on three biological replicates. The levels of each gene were followed by real time-qPCR. The relative expression ratios were calculated from quantification cycles (Cq) through an efficiency (E) corrected calculation method $(E_{target} \Delta Cq target (Mean Control-Mean Sample) / E_{reference} \Delta Cq reference (Mean Control-Mean Sample) [69,70], using REST software (Version No., Relative Expression Software Tool, Weihenstephan, Germany).$ *Ubiquitin*[71] and 18S rRNA [46,72] were selected as reference genes, since no variation was assessed during the embryonic development of the sea urchin and between control and treated samples. Values larger than 1.5-fold were considered significant.

To elaborate the 3 gene networks previously published in literature [41–43], an interactomic analysis was performed by NetworkAnalyst 3.0 software [73] available at https://www.networkanalyst.ca/ (accessed on 1 February 2021), using STRING interactome of protein–protein interactions [74]. Human orthologs of selected genes were used to compute the network analysis. The most significant relations among genes (confidence score cut-off = 900) displaying experimental evidence were highlighted.

4.7. Statistical Analysis

Data-sets were analyzed by D'agostino and Pearson normality test to ensure that values were normally distributed. Statistical differences of normal and malformed embryos among testing groups were evaluated by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), followed by Tukey's post hoc test for multiple comparisons (n = 15). Regarding RT-qPCR data, a nonparametric Mann–Whitney test was applied to Δ Cq (Cq gene of interest—Cq reference) values between treated and control samples (n = 3).

p-Values larger than 0.05 were considered significant. Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism Software (version 9.00 for Windows, GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA, www.graphpad.com, accessed on 1 February 2021).

5. Conclusions

In the present work, we demonstrated that microencapsulation of diatoms for feeding purposes could be an efficient experimental system to vehicle toxic sensitive compounds, since we observed a clear negative effect on sea urchin progenies. The two benthic diatoms tested in the present work (*N. shiloi* and *S. unipunctata*), induced similar malformations, which were confirmed by the alteration of several genes involved in stress response, development, skeletogenesis and detoxification processes. The two diatoms shared several molecular targets thus supporting the hypothesis that they could probably activate the same molecular pathways. However, among those genes, previously found to be functionally interconnected [41–43], slight expression differences were observed. This result suggests that benthic diatoms under analysis did not necessarily trigger the same biological cascade, particularly in skeletogenesis and development processes.

Supplementary Materials: The following are available online at https://www.mdpi.com/article/10 .3390/md19040230/s1, Figure S1: Images of *S. unipunctata* under the optical microscope (a) and SEM (b,c). The diatom shows a big chloroplast in the middle of the cell (a), a frustule with rectangular shape and truncated corners (b), a mucilaginous stalk (b) and characteristic ornamental striae on the surface of each valve (c). Scale bars = $15 \mu m$ (a), $10 \mu m$ (b) and $1 \mu m$ (c). Figure S2: Alignment of *S. unipunctata* to the four annotated 18S rRNA sequences found in the BLASTn search with accession numbers JX419383.1 (a), AB430609.1 (b), AF525666.1 (c) and HQ912643.1 (d). Forward and reverse primers were highlighted by a green and sky-blue rectangle, respectively; Figure S3: Images of sea urchin embryos under optical microscope. Normal (a) and malformed (b,c) plutei were reported (Zeiss Axiovert135TV microscope, $10 \times /0.30$ magnification/numerical aperture). Scale bar: 50 μm ; Table S1: Diameter in millimeters (mm) of alginate beads before and after dehydration; Table S2: Fold change values of 62 genes belonging to stress response, development and differentiation, skeletogenesis and detoxification processes analyzed by RT-qPCR. Up-regulated genes and down-regulated genes were highlighted in red and blue, respectively.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.C., V.Z. and G.D.R.; methodology, F.G., N.R., E.S., V.C., P.A. and D.C.; formal analysis, F.G., N.R., E.S., V.C. and P.A.; resources, M.C., V.Z. and G.D.R.;

writing—original draft preparation, M.C., G.D.R., V.Z., N.R. and V.C.; writing—review and editing, all authors. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: Not applicable.

Acknowledgments: Francesca Glaviano was supported by a PhD (PhD in Biology, University of Naples Federico II) fellowship. Emanuele Somma was supported by a PhD from the University of Trieste fellowship. We are thankful to the Fishery Service of the Stazione Zoologica and Monitoring and Environmental Data Unit for providing sea urchins.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Miralto, A.; Barone, G.; Romano, G.; Poulet, S.A.; Ianora, A.; Russo, G.L.; Buttino, I.; Mazzarella, G.; Laablr, M.; Cabrini, M.; et al. The insidious effect of diatoms on copepod reproduction. *Nature* **1999**, 402, 173–176. [CrossRef]
- Zupo, V. Effect of microalgal food on the sex reversal of *Hippolyte inermis* (Crustacea: Decapoda). *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 2000, 201, 251–259. [CrossRef]
- 3. Zupo, V. Strategies of sexual inversion in *Hippolyte inermis* Leach (Crustacea, Decapoda) from a Mediterranean seagrass meadow. *J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol.* **1994**, *178*, 131–145. [CrossRef]
- Mutalipassi, M.; Maibam, C.; Zupo, V. The sex change of the caridean shrimp *Hippolyte inermis* Leach: Temporal development of the gonopore morphology. *Zoomorphology* 2018, 137, 377–388. [CrossRef]
- Estévez-Calvar, N.; Canesi, L.; Montagna, M.; Faimali, M.; Piazza, V.; Garaventa, F. Adverse effects of the SSRI antidepressant sertraline on early life stages of marine invertebrates. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 2017, 128, 88–97. [CrossRef]
- Maibam, C.; Fink, P.; Romano, G.; Buia, M.C.; Gambi, M.C.; Scipione, M.B.; Patti, F.P.; Lorenti, M.; Butera, E.; Zupo, V. Relevance of wound-activated compounds produced by diatoms as toxins and infochemicals for benthic invertebrates. *Mar. Biol.* 2014, 161, 1639–1652. [CrossRef]
- Peckol, P.; Putnam, A.B. Differential toxic effects of *Ulva lactuca* (Chlorophyta) on the herbivorous gastropods, *Littorina littorea* and *L. obtusata* (Mollusca). *J. Phycol.* 2017, 53, 361–367. [CrossRef]
- 8. Ruocco, N.; Costantini, S.; Zupo, V.; Lauritano, C.; Caramiello, D.; Ianora, A.; Budillon, A.; Romano, G.; Nuzzo, G.; D'Ippolito, G.; et al. Toxigenic effects of two benthic diatoms upon grazing activity of the sea urchin: Morphological, metabolomic and *de novo* transcriptomic analysis. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 5622. [CrossRef]
- Ruocco, N.; Cavaccini, V.; Caramiello, D.; Ianora, A.; Fontana, A. Noxious effects of the benthic diatoms *Cocconeis scutellum* and *Diploneis* sp. on sea urchin development: Morphological and *de novo* transcriptomic analysis. *Harmful Algae* 2019, *86*, 64–73. [CrossRef]
- 10. Johnson, L.E.; Paine, R.L. Consistency in a marine algal-grazer interaction over multiple scales. *J. Phycol.* **2016**, *52*, 942–950. [CrossRef]
- 11. Zupo, V.; Maibam, C.; Buia, M.C.; Gambi, M.C.; Patti, F.P.; Scipione, M.B.; Lorenti, M.; Fink, P. Chemoreception of the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* by benthic Invertebrates is altered by seawater acidification. *J. Chem. Ecol.* **2015**, *41*, 766–779. [CrossRef]
- 12. Jüttner, F.; Messina, P.; Patalano, C.; Zupo, V. Odour compounds of the diatom *Cocconeis scutellum*: Effects on benthic herbivores living on *Posidonia oceanica*. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* **2010**, 400, 63–73. [CrossRef]
- Mutalipassi, M.; Fink, P.; Maibam, C.; Porzio, L.; Buia, M.C.; Gambi, M.C.; Patti, F.P.; Scipione, M.B.; Lorenti, M.; Zupo, V. Ocean acidification alters the responses of invertebrates to wound-activated infochemicals produced by epiphytes of the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 2020, 530–531, 151435. [CrossRef]
- Cutignano, A.; Nuzzo, G.; Ianora, A.; Luongo, E.; Romano, G.; Gallo, C.; Sansone, C.; Aprea, S.; Mancini, F.; D'Oro, U.; et al. Development and application of a novel SPE-method for bioassay-guided fractionation of marine extracts. *Mar. Drugs* 2015, 13, 5736–5749. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 15. Corral, F.M.; Vilariño, N.; Louzao, M.C.; Botana, L.M. Sensitivity improvement of an immuno-detection method for azaspiracids based on the use of microspheres coupled to a flow-fluorimetry system. *Front. Mar. Sci.* **2014**, *1*. [CrossRef]
- Gackowska, A.; Studziński, W.; Kudlek, E.; Dudziak, M.; Gaca, J. Estimation of physicochemical properties of 2-ethylhexyl-4-methoxycinnamate (EHMC) degradation products and their toxicological evaluation. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2018, 25, 16037–16049. [CrossRef]
- 17. Rodríguez, L.P.; Vilariño, N.; Louzao, M.C.; Dickerson, T.J.; Nicolaou, K.C.; Frederick, M.O.; Botana, L.M. Microsphere-based Immunoassay for the detection of azaspiracids. *Anal. Biochem.* **2014**, *447*, 58–63. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 18. Liu, H.; Kelly, M.S.; Cook, E.J.; Black, K.; Orr, H.; Zhu, J.X.; Dong, S.L. The effect of diet type on growth and fatty-acid composition of sea urchin larvae, I. *Paracentrotus lividus* (Lamarck, 1816) (Echinodermata). *Aquaculture* 2007, 264, 247–262. [CrossRef]

- 19. Liu, H.; Kelly, M.S.; Cook, E.J.; Black, K.; Orr, H.; Zhu, J.X.; Dong, S.L. The effect of diet type on growth and fatty acid composition of the sea urchin larvae, II. *Psammechinus miliaris (Gmelin). Aquaculture* **2007**, *264*, 263–278. [CrossRef]
- 20. Laurienzo, P. Marine polysaccharides in pharmaceutical applications: An overview. Mar. Drugs 2010, 8, 2435–2465. [CrossRef]
- Laurienzo, P.; Malinconico, M.; Mattia, G.; Russo, R.; La Rotonda, M.I.; Quaglia, F.; Capitani, D.; Mannina, L. Novel alginate acrylic polymers as a platform for drug delivery. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part A 2006, 79, 963–973. [CrossRef]
- Guilherme, M.R.; Reis, A.V.; Paulino, A.T.; Fajardo, A.R.; Muniz, E.C.; Tambourgi, E.B. Superabsorbent hydrogel based on modified polysaccharide for removal of Pb²⁺ and Cu²⁺ from water with excellent performance. *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.* 2007, 105, 2903–2909. [CrossRef]
- 23. Pourjavadi, A.; Soleyman, R.; Bardajee, G.R.; Ghavami, S. Novel superabsorbent hydrogel based on natural hybrid backbone: Optimized synthesis and its swelling behavior. *Bull. Korean Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *30*, 2680–2686. [CrossRef]
- 24. Buttino, I.; De Rosa, G.; Carotenuto, Y.; Ianora, A.; Fontana, A.; Quaglia, F.; La Rotonda, M.I.; Miralto, A. Giant liposomes as delivery system for ecophysiological studies in copepods. *J. Exp. Biol.* **2006**, *209*, 801–809. [CrossRef]
- 25. Song, W.; Lima, A.C.; Mano, J.F. Bioinspired methodology to fabricate hydrogel spheres for multi-applications using superhydrophobic substrates. *Soft Matter* **2010**, *6*, 5868–5871. [CrossRef]
- 26. Costa, A.M.S.; Alatorre-Meda, M.; Oliveira, N.M.; Mano, J.F. Biocompatible polymeric microparticles produced by a simple biomimetic approach. *Langmuir* **2014**, *30*, 4535–4539. [CrossRef]
- 27. Macintyre, H.L.; Stutes, A.L.; Smith, W.L.; Dorsey, C.P.; Annabraham, A.; Dickey, R.W. Environmental correlates of community composition and toxicity during a bloom of *Pseudo-nitzschia* spp. in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *J. Plankton Res.* **2011**, *33*, 273–295. [CrossRef]
- Nenadović, T.; Šarčević, T.; Čižmek, H.; Godrijan, J.; Pfannkuchen, D.M.; Pfannkuchen, M.; Ljubešić, Z. Development of periphytic diatoms on different artificial substrates in the Eastern Adriatic Sea. Acta Bot. Croat. 2015, 74, 377–392. [CrossRef]
- Lok, A.; Metin, G.; Acarli, S.; Goulletquer, P. Harmful algal blooms (HABs) and black mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Linnaeus, 1758) culture in Izmir Bay (Iskele-Urla)-Turkey: Preliminary results on the annual feeding cycle using a qualitative approach. *Turk. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 2010, 10, 527–536. [CrossRef]
- 30. Tan, T.H.; Pin Leaw, C.; Chee, S.; Leong, Y.; Lim, L.P.; Chew, S.M.; Teng, S.T.; Lim, P.T. Marine micro-phytoplankton of Singapore, with a review of harmful microalgae in the region. *Raffles Bull. Zool.* **2016**, *34*, 78–96.
- 31. Mabrouk, L.; Ben, B.M.; Hamza, A.; Mahfoudhi, M.; Bradai, M.N. A comparison of abundance and diversity of epiphytic microalgal assemblages on the leaves of the seagrasses *Posidonia oceanica* (L.) and *Cymodocea nodosa* (Ucria) asch in Eastern Tunisia. *J. Mar. Biol.* **2014**, 2014, 1–10. [CrossRef]
- 32. Kanjer, L.; Mucko, M.; Car, A.; Bosak, S. Epiphytic diatoms on *Posidonia oceanica* (L.) Delile leaves from eastern Adriatic Sea. *Nat. Croat.* 2019, *28*, 1–20. [CrossRef]
- Mazzella, L.; Spinoccia, L. Epiphytic diatoms of leaf blades of the mediterranean seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (L.) delile. *G. Bot. Ital.* 1992, 126, 752–754. [CrossRef]
- de Stefano, M.; Marino, D.; Mazzella, L. Marine taxa of *Cocconeis* on leaves of *Posidonia oceanica*, including a new species and two new varieties. *Eur. J. Phycol.* 2000, 35, 225–242. [CrossRef]
- 35. Varrella, S.; Romano, G.; Ianora, A.; Bentley, M.G.; Ruocco, N.; Costantini, M. Molecular response to toxic diatom-derived aldehydes in the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *Mar. Drugs* **2014**, *12*, 2089–2113. [CrossRef]
- Ruocco, N.; Nuzzo, G.; D'Ippolito, G.; Manzo, E.; Sardo, A.; Ianora, A.; Romano, G.; Iuliano, A.; Zupo, V.; Costantini, M.; et al. Lipoxygenase pathways in diatoms: Occurrence and correlation with grazer toxicity in four benthic diatoms. *Mar. Drugs* 2020, 18, 66. [CrossRef]
- 37. Zhang, Z.; Zhang, R.; Zou, L.; McClements, D.J. Protein encapsulation in alginate hydrogel beads: Effect of pH on microgel stability, protein retention and protein release. *Food Hydrocoll.* **2016**, *58*, 308–315. [CrossRef]
- Santagapita, P.R.; Mazzobre, M.F.; Buera, M.P. Formulation and drying of alginate beads for controlled release and stabilization of invertase. *Biomacromolecules* 2011, 12, 3147–3155. [CrossRef]
- 39. Gombotz, W.R.; Wee, S.F. Protein release from alginate matrices. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 1998, 31, 267–285. [CrossRef]
- 40. Calvo, T.A.; Santagapita, P. Physicochemical characterization of alginate beads containing sugars and biopolymers. *J. Qual. Reliab. Eng.* **2016**, *2016*, 1–7. [CrossRef]
- 41. Varrella, S.; Romano, G.; Costantini, S.; Ruocco, N.; Ianora, A.; Bentley, M.G.; Costantini, M. Toxic diatom aldehydes affect defence gene networks in sea urchins. *PLoS ONE* **2016**, *11*, e0149734. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ruocco, N.; Maria Fedele, A.; Costantini, S.; Romano, G.; Ianora, A.; Costantini, M. New inter-correlated genes targeted by diatom-derived polyunsaturated aldehydes in the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 2017, 142, 355–362. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 43. Esposito, R.; Ruocco, N.; Albarano, L.; Ianora, A.; Manfra, L.; Libralato, G.; Costantini, M. Combined effects of diatom-derived oxylipins on the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2020**, *21*, 719. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 44. Bonaventura, R.; Poma, V.; Russo, R.; Zito, F.; Matranga, V. Effects of UV-B radiation on development and hsp70 expression in sea urchin cleavage embryos. *Mar. Biol.* **2006**, *149*, 79–86. [CrossRef]
- 45. Russo, R.; Bonaventura, R.; Matranga, V. Time- and dose-dependent gene expression in sea urchin embryos exposed to UVB. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 2014, *93*, 85–92. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Pinsino, A.; Bergami, E.; Della Torre, C.; Vannuccini, M.L.; Addis, P.; Secci, M.; Dawson, K.A.; Matranga, V.; Corsi, I. Amino-modified polystyrene nanoparticles affect signalling pathways of the sea urchin (*Paracentrotus lividus*) embryos. *Nanotoxicology* 2017, *11*, 201–209. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 47. Reinardy, H.C.; Chapman, J.; Bodnar, A.G. Induction of innate immune gene expression following methyl methanesulfonateinduced DNA damage in sea urchins. *Biol. Lett.* **2016**, *12*, 20151057. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Russo, R.; Pinsino, A.; Costa, C.; Bonaventura, R.; Matranga, V.; Zito, F. The newly characterized Pl-jun is specifically expressed in skeletogenic cells of the *Paracentrotus lividus* sea urchin embryo. *FEBS J.* 2014, 281, 3828–3843. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 49. Long, J.T.; Irwin, L.; Enomoto, A.C.; Grow, Z.; Ranck, J.; Peeler, M.T. Jun N-terminal kinase activity is required for invagination but not differentiation of the sea urchin archenteron. *Genesis* **2015**, *53*, 762–769. [CrossRef]
- Morgulis, M.; Gildor, T.; Roopin, M.; Sher, N.; Malik, A.; Lalzar, M.; Dines, M.; De-Leon, S.B.T.; Khalaily, L.; De-Leon, S.B.T. Possible cooption of a VEGF-driven tubulogenesis program for biomineralization in echinoderms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2019, 116, 12353–12362. [CrossRef]
- 51. Layous, M.; Khalaily, L.; Gildor, T.; De-Leon, S.B.T. The tolerance to hypoxia is defined by a time-sensitive response of the gene regulatory network in sea urchin embryos. *Biorxiv* 2020, 1–25. [CrossRef]
- 52. Chang, W.L.; Chang, Y.C.; Lin, K.T.; Li, H.R.; Pai, C.Y.; Chen, J.H.; Su, Y.H. Asymmetric distribution of hypoxia-inducible factor α regulates dorsoventral axis establishment in the early sea urchin embryo. *Development* **2017**, *144*, 2940–2950. [CrossRef]
- 53. Reinardy, H.C.; Bodnar, A.G. Profiling DNA damage and repair capacity in sea urchin larvae and coelomocytes exposed to genotoxicants. *Mutagenesis* **2015**, *30*, 829–839. [CrossRef]
- Coffman, J.A.; Coluccio, A.; Planchart, A.; Robertson, A.J. Oral-aboral axis specification in the sea urchin embryo III. Role of mitochondrial redox signaling via H₂O₂. *Dev. Biol.* 2009, 330, 123–130. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Saudemont, A.; Haillot, E.; Mekpoh, F.; Bessodes, N.; Quirin, M.; Ro, E.; Wincker, P.; Lepage, T. Ancestral regulatory circuits governing ectoderm patterning downstream of nodal and BMP2/4 revealed by Gene Regulatory Network analysis in an echinoderm. *PLoS Genet.* 2010, *6*, e1001259. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 56. Duboc, V.; Röttinger, E.; Lapraz, F.; Besnardeau, L.; Lepage, T. Left-right asymmetry in the sea urchin embryo Is regulated by nodal signaling on the right side. *Dev. Cell* **2005**, *9*, 147–158. [CrossRef]
- 57. Molina, M.D.; de Crozé, N.; Haillot, E.; Lepage, T. Nodal: Master and commander of the dorsal-ventral and left-right axes in the sea urchin embryo. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **2013**, *23*, 445–453. [CrossRef]
- Croce, J.; Lhomond, G.; Gache, C. Expression pattern of Brachyury in the embryo of the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *Dev. Genes Evol.* 2001, 211, 617–619. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gross, J.M.; McClay, D.R. The role of Brachyury (T) during gastrulation movements in the sea urchin *Lytechinus variegatus*. *Dev. Biol.* 2001, 239, 132–147. [CrossRef]
- Ben Tabou de-Leon, S.; Davidson, E.H. Experimentally based sea urchin gene regulatory network and the causal explanation of developmental phenomenology. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Syst. Biol. Med. 2009, 1, 237–246. [CrossRef]
- 61. Cui, M.; Siriwon, N.; Li, E.; Davidson, E.H.; Peter, I.S. Specific functions of the Wnt signaling system in gene regulatory networks throughout the early sea urchin embryo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **2014**, *111*, E5029–E5038. [CrossRef]
- 62. Erkenbrack, E.M. Divergence of ectodermal and mesodermal gene regulatory network linkages in early development of sea urchins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 2016, 113, E7202–E7211. [CrossRef]
- 63. Materna, S.C.; Davidson, E.H. A comprehensive analysis of Delta signaling in pre-gastrular sea urchin embryos. *Dev. Biol.* 2012, 364, 77–87. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Kooistra, W.H.C.F.; De Stefano, M.; Mann, D.G.; Salma, N.; Medlin, L.K. Phylogenetic position of *Toxarium*, a pennate-like lineage within centric diatoms (Bacillariophyceae). *J. Phycol.* **2003**, *39*, 185–197. [CrossRef]
- 65. Altschul, S.F.; Gish, W.; Miller, W.; Myers, E.W.; Lipman, D.J. Basic local alignment search tool. J. Mol. Biol. 1990, 215, 403–410. [CrossRef]
- 66. Corpet, F. Multiple sequence alignment with hierarchical clustering. Nucleic Acids Res. 1988, 16, 10881–10890. [CrossRef]
- 67. Menden-Deuer, S.; Lessard, E.J. Carbon to volume relationships for dinoflagellates, diatoms, and other protist plankton. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* **2000**, *45*, 569–579. [CrossRef]
- Fabbrocini, A.; Volpe, M.G.; di Stasio, M.; D'Adamo, R.; Maurizio, D.; Coccia, E.; Paolucci, M. Agar-based pellets as feed for sea urchins (*Paracentrotus lividus*): Rheological behaviour, digestive enzymes and gonad growth. *Aquac. Res.* 2012, 43, 321–331. [CrossRef]
- 69. Pfaffl, M.W. A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT–PCR. Nucleic Acids Res. 2001, 29, e45. [CrossRef]
- 70. Pfaffl, M.W.; Horgan, G.W.; Dempfle, L. Relative expression software tool (REST) for group-wise comparison and statistical analysis of relative expression results in real-time PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2002**, *30*, e36. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 71. Romano, G.; Costantini, M.; Buttino, I.; Ianora, A.; Palumbo, A. Nitric oxide mediates the stress response induced by diatom aldehydes in the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *PLoS ONE* **2011**, *6*, e25980. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ragusa, M.A.; Costa, S.; Gianguzza, M.; Roccheri, M.C.; Gianguzza, F. Effects of cadmium exposure on sea urchin development assessed by SSH and RT-qPCR: Metallothionein genes and their differential induction. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 2013, 40, 2157–2167. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- 73. Zhou, G.; Soufan, O.; Ewald, J.; Hancock, R.E.W.; Basu, N.; Xia, J. NetworkAnalyst 3.0: A visual analytics platform for comprehensive gene expression profiling and meta-analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2019**, *47*, W234–W241. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 74. Szklarczyk, D.; Gable, A.L.; Lyon, D.; Junge, A.; Wyder, S.; Huerta-Cepas, J.; Simonovic, M.; Doncheva, N.T.; Morris, J.H.; Bork, P.; et al. STRING v11: Protein-protein association networks with increased coverage, supporting functional discovery in genome-wide experimental datasets. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2019**, *47*, D607–D613. [CrossRef]

Chapter 6

Emerging molecular approaches as an alternative to traditional bioassays

Introduction

Several species are widely used in scientific research as model organisms to understand biological processes (Murthy & Ram, 2015). Most of these organisms are widely used for several research areas such as ecotoxicology, molecular biology, and biotechnological applications (Brenner, 2003) and, for this reason, numerous tools and detailed protocols are already available in the literature. However, in some cases there is a constrain closely related to the model organism. In fact, despite their eventually complexity, not easy maintenance in a laboratory and the absence of standardized available protocols, certain species are used as models because they are the only targets for specific compounds or for particular pathways (Howe et al., 2013). This is the case of *Hippolyte inermis* (Leach), a marine caridean protandric shrimp living on the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (L. Delile) meadows. Decapod crustaceans are often used as models in the study of sex differentiation, which is the process that leads to the development of either males or females. This is because of the unique functions of their androgenic gland, which produces an insulin-like hormone called the androgenic hormone which acts as a switch to control sexual development ((Grilo & Rosa, 2017; Levy & Sagi, 2020; Short et al., 2014). But even if sex differentiation is well studied in crustaceans, H. inermis in particular undergoes to a singular process of food determining sex reversal (Reverberi, 2009; Zupo et al., 2008) in which has been proposed that an algal compound can trigger the early development of the female phenotype as a result of a coevolutionary process with a specific diatom; Cocconeis spp. (Zupo, 1994). So, this protandric shrimp is characterised by two reproductive cycles, one in spring and one in autumn but, at the same time, it has developed a unique reproductive strategy that produces both immature males and females in the spring but only males in the fall, which eventually change their sex after a year (Zupo, 1994). According to Zupo (2000) it has been proposed that the early sexual shift from young male to female during the spring is related to a diet based on the *Cocconeis* spp. diatom (Zupo, 2000) that is abundant in their habitat in that period (Zupo, 1994, 2000). It has been suggested, in details, that this shift is consequence of an apoptogenic activity that act selectively on *H. inermis* androgenic gland and that is triggered by a specific compound present in this diatom (Zupo & Messina, 2007). This apoptogenic compound is actually under investigation, through bioassay-guided fractionation, to identify its molecular structure. Considering this strong correlation between this early sexual shift in this shrimp and the presence of *Cocconeis* apoptogenic compound, fractions obtained via various HPLC separations must be tested on *H. inermis* post-larvae in order to identify its presence (Nappo et al., 2012).

Unfortunately, the traditional bioassay consists in a long complex culture practice (Zupo, 2001) which needs heavy operational work. In fact, after around fifty culture days, the sex of the animals fed with different fractions is evaluated to detect the presence of the active compound. To obtain these data, it is necessary to sacrifice post-larvae of the proper size to discern the presence of masculine appendix on the second pleopods, by observation under the dissecting microscope (Levy et al., 2020; Mutalipassi et al., 2018; Zupo et al., 2008). To date, no molecular tools are available for *H. inermis*, with the only exception of the data reported in Levy et al. (2021), where eye and whole body RNA libraries of four representative stages during its protandric life cycle (immature, male, young female and mature female) was constructed. In details, the body libraries contained transcripts mainly related to the reproductive system, while the eye libraries contained transcripts related to the X-organ-sinus gland, which represents a central endocrine

complex that regulates crustacean reproduction. This is probably due to the fact that this shrimp is not a model organism commonly used. For these reasons, this work proposed a molecular approach, based on the identification of key genes and molecular pathways involved in sexual differentiation, to early detect this mechanism.

Firstly, we aimed to setting-up an RNA extraction method to obtain high quality and sufficient quantity of RNA, comparing two different RNA extraction protocols from post larvae after five days of their metamorphosis (PL_5 stage; Zupo et al., manuscript under publication). Then, housekeeping genes (to be used as control) and genes of interest (belonging to apoptosis, ferroptosis and insulin secretion) were identified from the transcriptome (Levy et al., 2021). Their expression levels were detected by Real Time qPCR and compared to the results obtained in the transcriptome for its validation.

Materials and methods

Samples collection and culture

Ovigerous females of *H. inermis* were collected in Lacco Ameno in the Ischia Island (Italy) in a *P. oceanica* meadow. Samples were identified in the laboratory under a Leica MZ6 stereomicroscope based on their morphological characters (Zupo, 1994). After the sorting, *H. inermis* ovigerous females were taken in culture in 1500 mL conical flasks until the release of the larvae. Larvae were then collected and moved in 800 mL conical flasks according to the standard culture protocol described by Zupo and Messina ((2007). After around 25 days, settled post-larvae were transferred into 500 mL crystallization dishes and passed from the alive feeding to the treatment diet, according to the culture protocol, for 5 days. In details, post-larvae were fed with basic food for the negative control and basic food plus lyophilized *Cocconeis* spp. for the positive control (Zupo & Messina, 2007), as previously done for all the traditional bioassays. All the

methodological tests for the optimization of the protocol were carried out on individuals fed with basic food. After five days from the settlement, post-larvae in PL₅ stage were sacrificed and fixed individually in RNAlater (RNA Stabilization Reagent, Qiagen, Germany).

RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Two different methods of RNA extraction were compared, using as starting material 1, 2, 3 e 5 PL₅.

i. RNeasy Mini Kit. Post-larvae were lysed with different quantity of Buffer RLT/2-ME (10 μ l β -mercaptoethanol for each ml of Buffer RLT), according to the number of PL₅: 350 μ L for 1, 400 μ L for 2 , 450 μ L for 3 and 600 μ L for 5 PL₅. The samples were homogenized with TissueLyser (Qiagen, Austin, US) at 20.1 Hz for 3 minutes. RNA was extracted following the kit manufacturer protocol (Qiagen, Austin, TX, US) and eluted with 30 μ L RNase-free water, then stored at -80°C.

ii. PureLink™ RNA Mini Kit

Post-larvae were collected from the RNA later and moved into a 2 mL eppendorf, each with a 3 mm sterile aluminium bead. Previously, 10 μ L β –mercaptoethanol were added for each 1 mL Lysis Buffer than we added this mix, according to the manufacturer instruction, 350 μ L Lysis Buffer/ β Me (350 μ L for 1 individual pool, 400 μ L for 2 individual pool, 450 μ L for 3 individual pool and 600 μ L for 5 individual pools, to promote the tissues disruption. The samples were than were homogenized using the TissueLyser (Qiagen, Austin, US) set at 20 Hz for 3 minutes. Following, RNA was extracted according to the kit manufacturer protocol. RNA was eluted with 30 μ L RNase-

free water provided by the kit. The samples obtained were then stored again at -80°C. The total RNA quantity extracted with both methods was estimated by the Nanodrop (ND-1000 UV Vis, NanoDrop Technologies; Riesgo et al., 2012), measuring the absorbance at 260 nm and 260/230 and 260/280 nm ratios, to exclude the presence of proteins, phenol and other contaminants. For each sample, 600 ng of total RNA extracted was retrotranscribed with an iScript cDNA Synthesis kit (Bio- Rad, Milan, Italy), following the manufacturer instructions.

Identification of genes

The sequences of nineteen genes were retrieved from *H. inermis* transcriptome (Levy et al., 20221). In particular the following genes were selected belonging to different molecular pathways: Apoptosis, Insulin secretion and Ferroptosis. The two housekeeping were *Cytochrome oxidase subunit* (*Coi*) and *18S ribosomal RNA* (Table 1). For each gene, specific primers were designed on the basis of nucleotide sequences and used to amplify the selected fragments with Taq High Fidelity PCR System (Roche, Italy). in a 30 µL final volume with 3 µL 10× PCR reaction buffer, 3 µL 10× 2 mM dNTP, 1 µL 5 U/µL Taq, 100 ng/µL of each oligo, template cDNA and nuclease free water to 30 µL. The PCR program consisted of a denaturation step at 95°C for 5 min, 35 cycles at 95°C for 45 s, 54-60°C for 1 min and 72°C for 30 s and a final extension step at 72°C for 10 min. The fragments were then purified from agarose gel using the QIAquick Gel Extraction kit (Qiagen, Milan, Italy), and their specificity were checked by DNA sequencing. PCR products were then aligned with gene sequences by MultAlin Software.

	Acronym	Gene name	Primer	Sequence 5'>3'
Housekeeping	Coi	auto chromo oridano subunit	Coi Hi El	CTGAAGAGGTATAGTAGGAA
Housekeeping	Col	cylochrome oxiaase subunii		С

			Coi_Hi_R1	CTCGGTGCCCCTGACATAGC
	18S	18S ribosomal RNA	18S_Hi_F1	CATGCATGTGTCAGTACAGGC
			18S_Hi_R1	CTTATCATATGAGAATCCAAC C
Apoptosis	Cyt-c	Cytochrome C	CYT_Hi_F1	GTGCAGAGATGTGCTCAGTGC
			CYT_Hi_R1	ACATCCAGAGTGTCATCTGC
	Atfc	Activating Transcription Factor	ATFC_Hi_F1	GGCTGGAGTTCTGACAGAGG
			ATFC_Hi_R1	CAGCCCAGCTCTTCCAGATTG
	CatB	Cathepsin B	CATB_Hi_F2	GGATCTTGTGGATCATGCTGG
			CATB_HI_R2	GTTCCAGCCATCCGCCATTAC
		High-temperature		
	HtrA 2	requirement A serine peptidase	HTRA2_Hi_F2	GACACAATGAAGCCAGAGCC
			HTRA2_Hi_R2	CGCCATCAGTTCTCTGCTAG
	Dronc	Death regulator Nedd2-like caspase	DRONC_Hi_F1	GGCATCATTATGACAGATATG C
		-	DRONC_Hi_F1	GTGTGATGATATCATGTAGAG C
	Tspo	Translocator Protein	TSPO_Hi_F1	GCAGGTGGCAAATGAAATGG AG
			TSPO_Hi_R1	CTGGCGTCCTCCTAACTGGAT G
Insulin secretion	Pclo	Protein scaffolding protein	PCLO_Hi_F1	GGCTGGTGATGGACGAAGAC
			PCLO_Hi_R1	CCGCGATCTGGAAACGTCAG
	Ac	Adenylyl cyclase	AC_Hi_F1	GTGTCTTACGTGGCTGAGGC
			AC_Hi_R1	CTGCGGTGGGTATAGTCTGC
	M3R	Auscarinic cholinergic receptor	M3R_Hi_F1	GGAGTCGATCTCAATGGATC
			M3R_Hi_R1	CTAGCAGTGTGGCGATGGAG
	Cckar	G-protein coupled receptor	CCKAR_Hi_F3	CCCTCCTGATACCTGAAGATG
			CCKAR_Hi_R3	GGATTCTCTGGTATTCTTGAC
	Vamp 3	Synaptobrevin/vesicle- associated membrane protein	VAMP3_Hi_F1	CTAGTGCCAGTGACTGTGAC
			VAMP3_Hi_R1	CCACCTCATTCACCTCTCTC
	Plc	Phospholipase C	PLC_Hi_F1	GCTGAGAGTCTGAGAGACTG
	Plc	Phospholipase C	PLC_Hi_F1 PLC_Hi_R1	GCTGAGAGTCTGAGAGACTG CTAGTCACTAAACGTCGTCGG

			SNP25_Hi_R1	GCAACGATCCGAACTACTAC
Ferroptosis	Gshi	Gamma Glutamylcysteine Synthetase	GSH1_Hi_F1	GCCGTGTGAAGTCCAGCTGA
			GSH1_Hi_R1	CATTCACGGACATCTGACTAG
		Six-transmembrane epithelial		
	Stea 3	antigen of prostate 3	STEA3_Hi_F1	GAGCATATGCAGATAACGTG
		metalloreductase		
			STEA3_Hi_R1	GGCTATTCCTGATGAGCATC
	Gpx4	Glutathione Peroxidase 4	GPX4_Hi_F1	GCTGAGAGTCTGAGAGACTG
			GPX4_Hi_R1	CTAGTCACTAAACGTCGTCGG
	Sat	Spermidine/spermine N1- Acetyltransferase 1	SAT_Hi_F1	CTGTGGATGTGACTCAGAAG
			SAT_Hi_R1	GCAGATTCTTGCTGATGCGG

Table 1. List of the nineteen genes, divided according to the pathways with acronym, primer sequences and lengths of PCR amplified fragments is reported.

Gene expression by Real- Time qPCR

The specificity of amplification reactions for the different pairs of primers was verified by melting curve analysis. The efficiency of each primer pair was calculated according to standard method curves using the equation E=10-1/ slope, by using five serial dilutions to determine Ct values to generate standard curves using Ct values versus the logarithm of each dilution factor. PCR efficiencies were calculated for control and target genes and were found to be 2. Diluted cDNA was used as a template in a reaction containing a final concentration of 0.3 mM for each primer and 1× FastStart SYBR Green master mix (total volume of 10 µL) (Applied Biosystems, Monza, Italy).

The thermal profile chosen was in details: one cycle of 95 °C (10 min) for the cDNA denaturation; 40 cycles of 95 °C (15 sec) and 60°C (1 min) for the amplification; one cycle of 72 °C (5 min), for the final elongation; one cycle from 60 to 95 °C for melting curve analysis to verify the presence of a single product. Three duplicates of each RT-

qPCR reaction were performed. Fluorescence was measured using the ViiATM7 software. The relative expression ratios were calculated from quantification cycles (Cq). Undiluted cDNA (1:1) was than chosen as template to proceed to compare the expression of the genes of interest in samples deriving from animals coming from the positive and the negative control. The relative expression ratios were elaborated from Cq through Relative Expression method using REST software. Results that showed a difference above 2 were considered significant.

Statistical analysis

The difference among quantity and quality of all the samples of total RNA obtained from the two RNA extraction methods were evaluated using the paired Student t test. P value lower than 0.05 was considered significant. All the statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad PRISM v.7 software (GraphPad Software, CA, USA, www.graphpad.com, accessed 22 September 2022).

Results

Evaluation of quantity/quality of RNA

Different results were achieved using the two different kits according to the different number of PL₅ used. Trough the RNeasy kit significantly higher quantity of total RNA was extracted (paired t test p=0,0384), with all the samples analysed. A significant difference was also found considering the RNA purity according to the A260/230 ratio (paired t test p= 0,0143), while there was no significant difference for the A260/280 ratio. The minimum amount of total RNA requested for cDNA synthesis, according to the the iScriptTM cDNA Synthesis kit (Bio-Rad, Milan, Italy), is ~30 ng/ μ L. For this reason, we chose RNeasy kit as the most efficient method to produce sufficient RNA for our analysis.

	PL5 number	ng/ μL	A260/280	A260/230
	1	60,9	1,99	0.32
DNagev Mini Kit	2	84,5	2,03	0,82
KINCASY WIIIII IXIL	3	161,6	2,08	0,55
	5	176,8	2,02	0,93
	1	29,9	2,03	1,47
PureLink™ RNA Mini	2	58,4	2,12	0,48
Kit	3	87	2,13	2,07
	5	146,7	2,11	2,07

Table 2. Total RNA quantity (ng/ μ L), purity (A260/280 and A260/230) and integrity obtained from the two extraction methods tested from four different pools (number of individuals).

After the specific primers were designed, PCRs reactions were performed to test their specificity. PCR bands obtained were then purified from agarose gel and checked by DNA sequencing. PCR products were aligned with gene sequences to confirm that the product obtained was corresponding to the target gene. All the products aligned to the original nucleotide sequences (Figure S2).

From the extraction with QIAGEN Kit derived from the pool with one individual, 600 ng and 1000 ng of total RNA were used for the retrotranscription resulting in: undiluted 20 μ L of cDNA and diluted 50 μ L of cDNA. Both were used to perform RT-qPCRs reactions with the housekeeping primers to test their efficiency. Efficiencies (E) for the *Coi* gene from samples obtained with the undiluted 20 μ L of cDNA deriving from the synthesis from 600 ng showed an E= 2,1 while for the one deriving from 1000 ng of total RNA, E was 5,2. RT-qPCRs reactions resulting from starting diluted samples of cDNA (50 μ L) from 600 ng had an E= Eff. 1,9 while for the one deriving from 1000 ng of total RNA, E was 1,6. These results demonstrate that good efficiency can be obtained with all tested dilutions. For this reason, we chose to proceed with the dilution of 50 μ L deriving from

600ng of total RNA in order to optimise the amount of total RNA obtained from the replicates. Standard curves were generated for each primers pair using Cq values vs. the logarithm of each dilution factor (Figure S1).

Gene expression

The expression level of the genes of interest in PL₅ of *H. inermis* fed with basic food plus lyophilized *Cocconeis* spp. diatom was detected against the PL₅ fed only with basic food (prepared using lyophilized Artemia enriched, Spirulina powder, Micropearls "SHG" and flake feed "Super High Red", all feeds distributed by Super High Group, Turin, Italy) as previously done for the transcriptomic analysis reported in Levy et al. (2021). The expression of each gene was analysed and internally normalized against the negative control and then compared with the transcriptome data (Figure 1). In the apoptosis pathway all the analysed genes were significantly up regulated in both samples analysed in the present work and in the transcriptome. In details, the results from the samples for the validation of the transcriptome showed the following levels of gene expression: *Cyt* (5.25), *Atfc* (3.02), *Htra2* (4.65), *Dronc* (2.23), *Tspo* (2.79). Concerning the expression of the other genes involved in the insulin secretion pathway, excepting *Vamp 3* (4.5), all of them were downregulated. In details the results from our samples shows: *Pclo* (-3.7), *Ac* (-3.58), *M3R* (-3,04), *Cckar* (-4.6), *Plc* (-4.61), *Snp25* (-4.82).

Another important process that showed an alteration in expression triggered by the ingestion of the *Cocconeis* diatom is the ferroptosis. In details the results here obtained were congruent with the results obtained in the transcriptome: *Gshi* (5.38), *Stea3* (3.1), Gpx4 (4.32), *Sat* (2.59). The difference between the results obtained from the samples of the transcriptome and the animals used for its validation are not significant (paired

Student t test), confirming that our result is in perfect agreement with those showed in the transcriptome analysis.



Figure 1. Heatmaps showing the expression profiles analysed by real-time qPCR deriving from the transcriptome and from the samples newly tested for its validation.

Discussion

This work aimed at optimizing of a new molecular approach for the investigations on *H*. *inermis* shrimp. This crustacean is of interest for the research because it undergoes a unique process of food determining sex reversal, in which an algal compound can trigger the early development of the female phenotype. This is a consequence of a coevolutionary process with a specific diatom: *Cocconeis* spp. The traditional bioassays, which permits to identify the molecular structure of this algal compound able to trigger an early sexual shift in this animal, result in a long and complex culture practice. This necessary culture protocol leads to various problems, such as the difficulty in finding an adequate number of ovigerous females, given the serious anthropic threat that afflicts the Posidonia meadows where these animals usually live (Zupo, Buia, et al., 2006; Zupo, Mazzella, et al., 2006). Furthermore, culturing such a large number of sensitive larvae and post-larvae, risking that such a long culture protocol could influence their health and stress status, is extremely difficult. It involves the risk of achieve the end of the long culture period with a statistically insufficient number of available animals to proceed with the evaluation of the distribution of the sexes in the treatment replicates. Another concrete risk is that, at the end of culture, animals are too stressed, giving a possible altered biological response to the treatment (Harper & Wolf, 2009; Lorenzon et al., 2000). For all these reasons, the set-up of a new molecular approach, to be an alternative and a support to the traditional bioassay, is essential to optimize the investigations to identify the molecular structure of this apoptogenic compound. The final step in optimizing a protocol for RNA extraction, cDNA synthesis, identifying genes of interest, and designing and testing the efficiency of primers for RT qPCR analysis is to validate the results obtained in the transcriptome.

According to the results obtained in the transcriptomes, these genes were chosen among the ones that showed significant difference in expression induced by the ingestion of diatoms and that play key roles in the three pathways proposed as involved in *H. inermis* early sex shift (Levy et al., 2021). The three pathways were: Apoptosis; Insulin secretion; Ferroptosis (Zupo et al., unpublished manuscript).

Apoptogenic activity was proposed to be responsible in the premature destruction of the androgenic gland of *H. inermis* (Zupo, 1994) as selective mechanism of programmed cell

death. In parallel, insulin secretion pathway has been proposed to be fundamental for the regulation of the metabolism of insulin-like hormones, produced by the androgenic gland, acting as a switch to control sexual differentiation of the crustaceans (Ventura et al., 2012).

Finally, ferroptosis is another form of cell death, which is the subject of studies in the last years. It is based on a highly conserved mechanism, and it was discovered only recently in *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Deline et al., 2015). It has been proposed that ferroptosis can plays a crucial role in leading additional apoptosis events in invertebrates ((Deline et al., 2015; Zupo et al., unpublished manuscript).

According to these results, our validation confirmed the patterns of expression that were expected. We found the six chosen genes involved in apoptosis pathway (Table 1) influenced by the algal ingestion. In parallel, the seven genes involved in the insulin secretion pathway (Table 1), which are part of the metabolism of insulin like hormone produced by the androgenic gland of the shrimps, were differentially expressed. Another pathway influenced by the ingestion of this diatom was ferroptosis with all the four selected genes upregulated (Table1).

These results here obtained support the hypothesis that during the early sex shift of *H*. *inermis* induced by the *Cocconesis* diet, a cascade of pro apoptotic signals is promoted, triggering the programmed destruction of the androgenic gland of this shrimp. Also, the switch-down of genes involved in the insulin pathway support the hypothesis that a cascade effect is induced leading to the inhibition of an insulin-like androgenic hormone (Levy & Sagi, 2020; Ventura et al., 2012). The chance to track the presence of the active compound evaluating the gene expression in the PL₅ could significantly optimize the time and the number of bioassays needed to achieve the identification of the molecular structure of this apoptogenic compound(s). This point could possibly lead to medical applications. In fact, previous *in vitro* investigations demonstrated that the crude extracts of these diatoms specifically activate a dose-dependent apoptotic process in human cancer cells (BT20 breast carcinoma) but not in human normal lymphocytes (Nappo et al., 2012). Once the molecular structure has been identified, the study and modulation of apoptotic processes in various types of cells will be possible, in order to develop new natural drugs useful for human anticancer therapies.

References

- Brenner, S. (2003). Nobel lecture. Nature's gift to science. *Bioscience Reports*, 23(5–6). https://doi.org/10.1023/b:bire.0000019186.48208.f3
- Deline, M., Keller, J., Rothe, M., Schunck, W. H., Menzel, R., & Watts, J. L. (2015). Epoxides Derived from Dietary Dihomo-Gamma-Linolenic Acid Induce Germ Cell Death in C. *elegans. Scientific Reports*, 5. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP15417
- Grilo, T. F., & Rosa, R. (2017). Intersexuality in aquatic invertebrates: Prevalence and causes. In Science of the Total Environment (Vol. 592). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.099
- Harper, C., & Wolf, J. C. (2009). Morphologic effects of the stress response in fish. In *ILAR Journal* (Vol. 50, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar.50.4.387
- Howe, K., Clark, M. D., Torroja, C. F., Torrance, J., Berthelot, C., Muffato, M., Collins, J. E., Humphray, S., McLaren, K., Matthews, L., McLaren, S., Sealy, I., Caccamo, M., Churcher, C., Scott, C., Barrett, J. C., Koch, R., Rauch, G. J., White, S., ... Stemple, D. L. (2013). The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. *Nature*, 496(7446). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12111
- Levy, T., & Sagi, A. (2020). The "IAG-Switch"—A Key Controlling Element in Decapod Crustacean Sex Differentiation. In *Frontiers in Endocrinology* (Vol. 11). https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.00651
- Levy, T., Tamone, S. L., Manor, R., Bower, E. D., & Sagi, A. (2020). The protandric life history of the Northern spot shrimp *Pandalus platyceros*: molecular insights and implications for fishery management. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-58262-6
- Levy, T., Zupo, V., Mutalipassi, M., Somma, E., Ruocco, N., Costantini, M., Abehsera, S., Manor, R., Chalifa-Caspi, V., Sagi, A., & Aflalo, E. D. (2021). Protandric Transcriptomes

to Uncover Parts of the Crustacean Sex-Differentiation Puzzle. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.745540

- Lorenzon, S., Francese, M., & Ferrero, E. A. (2000). Heavy metal toxicity and differential effects on the hyperglycemic stress response in the shrimp *Palaemon elegans*. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 39(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002440010093
- Murthy, M., & Ram, J. L. (2015). Invertebrates as model organisms for research on aging biology. *Invertebrate Reproduction and Development*, 59. https://doi.org/10.1080/07924259.2014.970002
- Mutalipassi, M., Maibam, C., & Zupo, V. (2018). The sex change of the caridean shrimp *Hippolyte inermis* Leach: temporal development of the gonopore morphology. *Zoomorphology*, 137(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00435-018-0405-z
- Nappo, M., Berkov, S., Massucco, C., di Maria, V., Bastida, J., Codina, C., Avila, C., Messina, P., Zupo, V., & Zupo, S. (2012). Apoptotic activity of the marine diatom *Cocconeis scutellum* and eicosapentaenoic acid in BT20 cells. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 50(4). https://doi.org/10.3109/13880209.2011.611811
- Reverberi, G. (2009). La situazione sessuale di *Hyppolyte viridis* e le condizioni che la reggono. 17(4–6), 91–94. https://doi.org/10.1080/11250005009436805
- Short, S., Yang, G., Guler, Y., Green Etxabe, A., Kille, P., & Ford, A. T. (2014). Crustacean intersexuality is feminization without demasculinization: Implications for environmental toxicology. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 48(22). https://doi.org/10.1021/es5050503
- Ventura, T., Manor, R., Aflalo, E. D., Weil, S., Rosen, O., & Sagi, A. (2012). Timing sexual differentiation: Full functional sex reversal achieved through silencing of a single insulinlike gene in the prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*. *Biology of Reproduction*, 86(3). https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.111.097261
- Zupo, V. (1994). Strategies of sexual inversion in *Hippolyte inermis* Leach (Crustacea, Decapoda) from a Mediterranean seagrass meadow. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 178(1), 131–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(94)90229-1
- Zupo, V. (2000). Effect of microalgal food on the sex reversal of *Hippolyte inermis* (Crustacea: Decapoda). *Marine Ecology Progress Series*. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps201251
- Zupo, V. (2001). Influence of diet on sex differentiation of *Hippolyte inermis* Leach (Decapoda: Natantia) in the field. *Hydrobiologia*. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1017553422113
- Zupo, V., Buia, M. C., Gambi, M. C., Lorenti, M., & Procaccini, G. (2006). Temporal variations in the spatial distribution of shoot density in a *Posidonia oceanica* meadow and patterns of genetic diversity. *Marine Ecology*, 27(4), 328–338. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0485.2006.00133.x
- Zupo, V., Mazzella, L., Buia, M. C., Gambi, M. C., Lorenti, M., Scipione, M. B., & Cancemi, G. (2006). A small-scale analysis of the spatial structure of a *Posidonia oceanica* meadow off the Island of Ischia (Gulf of Naples, Italy): Relationship with the seafloor morphology. *Aquatic Botany*, 84(2), 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquabot.2005.08.006

- Zupo, V., & Messina, P. (2007). How do dietary diatoms cause the sex reversal of the shrimp *Hippolyte inermis* Leach (Crustacea, Decapoda). *Marine Biology*, 151(3), 907–917. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0524-9
- Zupo, V., Messina, P., Carcaterra, A., Aflalo, E. d., & Sagi, A. (2008). Experimental evidence of a sex reversal process in the shrimp *Hippolyte inermis*. *Invertebrate Reproduction and Development*, 52(1–2). https://doi.org/10.1080/07924259.2008.9652276

Supplementary materials



A)

B)







D)











G)



H)







L)







N)







P)







R)



Figure S1. Efficiencies (E) for A) *AC*_Hi; B) *Atfc*_Hi; C) *CCKAR*_Hi; D) *Cyt*_Hi; E) *Dronc*_Hi; F) *Gpx4*_Hi; G) *Gshi*_Hi; H) *Htra*_Hi; I) *M3r*_Hi; L) *Pclo*_Hi; M) *Plc*_Hi; N) *Snp25*_Hi; O) *Stea3*_Hi; P) *Tspo*_Hi; Q) *Tspo*_Hi; R) *COI* genes. For those genes whose expression was detected significantly low, the efficiency was not measured.

A)

Consensus						•••••••		•••••			•••••		•••••	
	1041	1050	1060	1070	1080	1090	1100	1110	1120	1130	1140	1150	1160	1170
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 1F_SAT_Hi	ÅATTT	AGATOCT	ATGCAGG <mark>AGTA</mark> Agta	TGTCAAATG Tgtcaaatg	ATTACAAGTG ATTACAAGTG	GGAAGAA <mark>C</mark> T Ggaagaatt	TTCCCCTCATT	TCTACATTA TCTACATTA	TGAAGATATCAG TGAAGATATCAG	ATATACGTT ATATACGTT	TCCCATTCAAA TCCCATTCAAA	ITTCTGAC	TTTTCCGCAT	CAGCAAGAA Cagcaagaa
Consensus	•••••	•••••	AGTA	TGTCAAATG	ATTACAAGTG	GGAAGAA <mark>c</mark> t'	TTCCCCTCATT	TCTACATTA	TGAAGATATCAG	ATATACGTT	TC <mark>C</mark> CATTCAAA	TTCTGAC	TT <mark>ga</mark> CCGCAT	CAGCAAGAA
	1171	1180	1190	1200	1210	1220	1230	1240	1250	1260	1270	1280	1290	1300
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	TCTGC	TATTTT	AGGGAATTTGC	ATCGGCATG	АТТТТТСТАА	GAATCTGTT	rcaaaaggtat	ACAGTATTC	TCAAACACTAGT	TGTGATCAT	TTCTATTGTTA	AAAGATTI	ATATTTAATG	AAATTATAA
LF_SHI_H1 Consensus	TCTGC	. п а												

B)

Consensus	•••••			• • • • • • • • •										•••••
	911	920	930	940	950	960	970	980	990	1000	1010	1020	1030	1040
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 2Rev_Compl_SAT_Hi Consensus	CAAGA	CAAGTCTCAA	ITCTCGGAGG	AAATCGAT	GTGATTTTGCC	GTATTGGATT	IGGAATACTC	CAAGTATCGA	GTTCTACAAAC	CTCAAAGGGG	CTGTGGATGTG	ACTCAGAAGT GAAGT GAAGT	TTCATTTCTA TTCATTTCTA TTCATTTCTA	TCGAATG TCGAATG TCGAATG
	1041	1050	1060	1070	1080	1090	1100	1110	1120	1130	1140	1150	1160	1170
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 2Rev_Compl_SAT_Hi Consensus	AATTT AATTT AATTT	AGATGCTATG Agatgctatg Agatgctatg	CAGGAGTAT CAGGAGTAT CAGGAGTAT	GTCAAATG GTCAAATG GTCAAATG	GATTACAAGTGG Gattacaagtgg Gattacaagtgg	GAAGAACTTI GAAGAACCTI GAAGAACCTI	ICCCCTCATT ICCCCTCATC ICCCCTCATC	ICTAC-ATTA ICTACGATTG ICTAC ATTA	TGAAGATATCF Agaagata Agaagata	IGATATACGT	TTCCCATTCAA	ATTTCTGACT	TTTCCGCATC	AGCAAGA
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	1171 Атстб	1180 	1190 GGAATTTGC	1200 ATCGGCAT	1210 GATTTTTCTAA	1220 GAATCTGTT1	1230 ICAAAAGGTAT	1240 FACAGTATTC	1250 TCAAACACTAG	1260 TTGTGATCA	1270 TTTCTATTGTT	1280 AAAAAGATTA	1290 TATTTAATGA	1300 I Aattata

C)

D)

3F_SNP25_Hi 3F_SNP25 Consensus

3F_SNP25_Hi 3F_SNP25 Consensus 10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Consensus	•••••	•••••		•••••				•••••						•••••
	1431	1440	1450	1460	1470	1480	1490	1500	1510	1520	1530	1540	1550	1560
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 3Rev_Compl_SNP25_Hi Consensus	ссста	AAGCTT	TTCTTAAACTAC	AACACTĠCI	TCACCAATGAG	CAATTAAAAA GTAAAAAA aTaAAAAA	IAAAAGAATAG IAAAAGAATAG IAAAAGAATAG	ITGATAGAACA ITGATAGAACA ITGATAGAACA	GAAATCTCTC GAAATCTCTC GAAATCTCTC	CTTTGCTGGT CTTTGCTGGT CTTTGCTGGT	ATGTTAGGTA ATGTTAGGTA ATGTTAGGTA	GATAGATCAA GATAGATCAA GATAGATCAA	ATCTATGGTT ATCTA ATCTA	татастĠ
	1561 	1570	1580	1590	1600	1610	1620	1630		1650	1660	1670	1680	1690
3Rev_Comp1_SNP25_Hi	тніні	HHIHGU	HUIHUIIIHIHL	161816180	114614614611	LGGHILGIIG	10011101HHH	IHULUHLUILI	HIHIIGCHIH			6141414161	HINHINGHIN	LHILIGI

100

90

110

120

130

E)

	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	130
5F_DRONC_Hi	CACGC	ATGTCGCC	GGGTGTGCTC	TAATGACTGCT	GTATCT <mark>TAG</mark>	CTGTGCTAAG	STAGCATAATC	ATTAATTT	TTAATTGATAA	СТССТАТАА	TGATTTGAC	GAGAAACTCT	TCTCCCAAT	FGTACCC
5F_DRONC Consensus					TAG	CTGTGCTAAGO	STAGCATAATC STAGCATAATC	ATTAATTT <mark>A</mark> ATTAATTT A	TTAATTGATAA TTAATTGATAA	CTCGTATAAO	TGATTTGAC	GAGAAACTCT(GAGAAACTCT(TCTCCCAAT TCTCCCAAT	IGTACCC IGTACCC
oonoodo	101	1.40	150	160	170	100	190	200	91.0	990	920	940	950	900
	131			+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+		1
5F_DRONC_Hi 5F_DRONC	TAGAT TAGAT	TTTCTATG TTTC	AAGGTCAAAA	ACCCTGCTTTT	TCCAAGGGA	CGACAAGACCI	СТАТАЛААСТТ	CGCTTAACT	TAAAAATACTT	CCTCAGAAAA	AATTTAATT	TTAAAATAACT	TTAGCTGGG	GCGGCTĊ
Consensus	TAGAT	TTTC												

F)

	521	530	540	550	560	570	580	590	600	610	620	630	640	650
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 7F_TSPO_Hi Consensus	АААТG	GGTGTCCA	AATCCAATTG	IGAATGATTT	GGAATAGAAAA	AGTTTCAAA	GCAGGTGGCAF	ATGAAATGG	AGACAGGATA	ITCTGGAGAAT	CCAGCTCCAAC	CAAATTCTG	IATGACGCAT GACGCAT GACGCAT	AGCCCAT AGCCCAT AGCCCAT
	651	660	670	680	690	700	710	720	730	740	750	760	770	780
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 7F_TSPO_Hi Consensus	ACTAC ACTAC ACTAC	:AATATAGA :AATATAGA :AATATAGA	TACGTCCATA TACGTCCATA TACGTCCATA	CTGGG-CCAA CTGGGGCCCAA CTGGG.CCAA	ACATCCAGTTA ACATCCAGTTA ACATCCAGTTA	iggaggacgc iggaggacgc iggaggacgc	CAGTTTGGTTT	ICTTTATTGT	СТТАТАССАТ	GATGGAATAG	CACTTTTTGTF	ATGAATGCT	CGGCAATTC	CTCCGAG
	781	790	800	810	820	830	840	850	859					
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 7F_TSPO_Hi Consensus	ATTGG	GGAATATT	ACGGCAAATAI	ICATTGGAAG	TGAAAGCCAAC	CCATAACGT	GTGTGTTTTAC	CGTACTAGTC	төсстт					

G)

Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 8Rev_Compl_TSPO_Hi Consensus	521 AAATGO	530 GGTGTCC	540 CAAATCCAATTG	550 Agaatgattt	560 Ggaatagaaa	570 AAGTTTCAAAG	580 CAGGTGGCAF GGTGGCAF GGTGGCAF	590 ATGAAATGGA ATGAAATGGA ATGAAATGGA	600 Igacaggatai Igacaggatai Igacaggatai	610 CTGGAGAAT CTGGAGAAT	620 CCAGCTCCAAC CCAACTCCAAC CCAACTCCAAC	630 CAAATTCTG CAAATTCTG CAAATTCTG	640 FATGACGCATA TAGA TAGA TAga	650 1 GCCCAT
	651	660	670	680	690	700	710	720	730	740	750	760	770	780
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	ACTAC	ATATA	GATACGTCCATA	CTGGGCCAAA	CATCCAGTTA	GGAGGACGCCA	GTTTGGTTTC	TTTATTGTCI	TATACCATG	TGGAATAGC	ACTTTTTGTAF	ITGAATGCTC	CGGCAATTCCT	CCGAGA
H)														
	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	130
9F_STEA3_Hi 9F_STEA3 Consensus	AGACG	CGGTTGO	GGAATTAGGCG	GATGTGG <mark>TTT</mark> TTT	CGGTAGAGCGI CGGTAGAGCGI CGGTAGAGCGI	GTTTTGATGGG GTTTTGATGGG GTTTTGATGGG	TTTGAAGGGO TTTGAAGGGO TTTGAAGGGO	GTGCA-CTCF Gtgcanctcf Gtgca.ctcf	TGAGCGTTCO TGAGCGTTCO TGAGCGTTCO	ICTCACCGAT ICTCACCGAT ICTCACCGAT	ATCCTTGACCO ATCCTTGACCO ATCCTTGACCO	IGTCAGCTCG Igtcagctcg Igtcagctcg	ICGAATGACCA ICGAATGACCA ICGAATGACCA	CATCCC
	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260

I)



J)

	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	130
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	CTCCGF	ICTCAGCTGA	GAGTCTGA	GAGACTGAGACI	ГСААСТТАС	GTCTCGAGACT	CTCGACTCT	CGAACAGGAGT	CAGGACTCAG	GGAGTCAGG	AGACAAATTAA	TTAATTTT	TCCAATTGAA	ATCAATC
11F_GPX4_Hi Consensus	•••••								GGACTCAG	igene i cheei Igene tcheei	hghchhhtthe Agacaaattae	ATTAATTTTC	TCCAATTGAA	ATCAATC
	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	TTTAGE	CTTTATTCI	ТСАТТАТС	TTCGTGTAGT	INTGTTCAG	AGTTGCAGGTA	CCGACGACG	TTTAGTGACTA	GAGAG <mark>G</mark> AAAT	CCTTATCCT	TTTCGAGACCA	AGGAGTTTF	GCATATTAAC	1 Atttaat
11F_GPX4_Hi Consensus	TTTAGA TTTAGA	ICTTTATTC1 ICTTTATTC1	TCATTATCI TCATTATCI	ATTCGTGTAGTT ATTCGTGTAGTT	FATGTTCAG FATGTTCAG	AGTTGCAGGTA AGTTGCAGGTA	CGACGACG CGACGACG	TTTAGTGACTA TTTAGTGACTA	GAGA <mark>C</mark> TA GAGA <mark>cg</mark> A					

K)

	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	130
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	CTCCGA	CTCAG	TGAGAGTCT	GAGAGACTGA	GACTCAACTT	ACGTCTCGAG	ACTCTCGACT	CTCGAACAGGA	IGTCAGGACT	CAGGGAGTCA	GGAGACAAAT	ТААТТААТТТ	TGTCCAA-TI	rgaaatcaat
12Rev_Comp1_GPX4_Hi			TGAGAGTCT	GAGAGACTGA	GACTCAACTT	ACGTCTCGAG	ACTETEGACT	CTCGAACAGGA	AGTCAGGACT	CAGGGAGTCA	GGAGACAAAT	TAATTAATTT		ICONTCONT
consensus	•••••	•••••	, rununu ru r	unununcrum		ncurcreana	nerereaner	creannenaar		chadanarch	uununchinin		rurcciii, ri	
	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	CTTTAG	ACTIT	ттсттсятт	ATCATTCGTG	TAGTTATGTT	CAGAGTTGCA	GGTACCGACG	ACGTTTAGTGA	ICTAGAGAGG	АААТССТТАТ	CCTTTTCGAG	ACCAAGGAGT	TTAGCATATI	ГААСАТТТАА
12Rev_Comp1_GPX4_Hi Consensus	CTT-AG	iac iac												

L)

	521	530	540	550	560	570	580	590	600	610	620	630	640	650
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	тсатат	GTCTTACO	TGGCTGAGG	CTGACCCTGC	тсстатсасс	CTCCTCGCCAT	GGCTATCAT	CCTCACTGCCC	TCTTGGTCA	ICCTCCATTC	AAGGGTCATGA	IGGCATTCGT	ACCTGTTACC	TACATGC
13F_HC_H1 Consensus							HI AT	CCTCACTGCCC	TCTTGGTCH	TCCTCCATTC	AAGGGTCATGA	IGGCHTTCGT	ACCTGTTACC	TACATGC
	651	660	670	680	690	700	710	720	730	740	750	760	770	780
	1	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		+				1
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	TACCTC	CTCCTGG	ACTAGGGGC	AGTAGTGGTTI	ATCCTAGCTO	TACCAATGCCT	TCTACCTGG	GGATGGAAAGG	hatggcagac'	TATACCCACC	GCAGGACAAGO	GATTTGGCA	(GCCACGTTT)	GTGGCGŤ
13F_AC_Hi	TACCTC	CTCCTGG(ACTAGGGGC	AGTAGTGGTTI	ATCCTAGCTC	TACCAATGCCT	TCTACCTGG	GGATGGAAAGG	GATGGCAGAC	TATACCCA				
Consensus	TACCTC	CTCCTGG(ACTAGGGGC:	AGTAGTGGTTI	ATCCTAGCTC	TACCAATGCCT	TCTACCTGG	GGATGGAAAGG	GATGGCAGAC	TATACCCA				

M)

	521	530	540	550	560	570	580	590	600	610	620	630	640	650
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 14Rev_Compl_AC_Hi	TCATG	IGTCTTA	CGTGGCTGAGGC	TGACCCTG	СТССТАТСАСС	TCCTCGCCA	TGGCTATCATC	CTCACT GC	CCTCTTGGTCA	TCCTCCATT TCCTCCATT	CAAGGGTCATG CAAGGGTCATG	AGGCATTCG	racctgttac(CTACATG
Consensus	•••••	• • • • • • •		•••••	•••••	CCA	TGGCTATCATC	CTCACT.GC	CCTCTTGGTCA	TCCTCCATT	CAAGGGTCATG	AGGCATTCG	racctgttace	CTACATG
	651	660	670	680	690	700	710	720	730	740	750	760	770	780
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 14Rev_Compl_AC_Hi Consensus			GGCACTAGGGGC GGCACTAGGGGC GGCACTAGGGGC	AGTAGTCG AGTAGTAG AGTAGTAG	ITTATCCTAGCT(ITTATCCTAGCT(ITTATCCTAGCT(CTACCAATGC CTACCAAT CTACCAAT	CTTCTACCTG	GGATGGAAA	GGATGGĊAGAC	TATACCCAC	CGCAGGACAAG	GGATTTGGC	ITGCCACGTTI	TGTGGCG
						•••						•••••		

N)

	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 15F_CYT_Hi	GTGACT	TGCGATE	AAGGCAAGAAGA	TCTTCGTGC	IGAGATGTG	CTCAGTGCCAC	ICTGTAGAAG	CTGGTGGAAAO	CATAAGA <mark>CA</mark> Cau	GTCCCAACC GTCCACC	TTCACGGACTC TTCACGGACTC	TTTGGTCGCO TTTGGTCGCO	CAAACTGGACA CAAACTGGACA	AGCTAG
Consensus	•••••	• • • • • • •		•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	CAI	IGTCC ACC	TTCACGGACTC	TTTGGTCGC	CAAACTGGACA	AGCTAG
	261	270	280	290	300	310	320	330	340	350	360	370	380	390
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	TGGAT	ATGTCT	ICACAGATGCTAF	CAAAGCTAA	GGTATCAT	TTGGGCAGATGF	CACTCTGGA	IGTATACCTCA	САЛАТССТА	GAAGTACAT	CCTGGAACAA	AAATGGTTTI	TGCTGGTTT	AAGAAG
15F_CYT_Hi Consensus	TGGAT	ATGTCTE	ichchgh i gc i hf Icacagatgctaf	ichhhgcthh Icaaagctaa	GGTATCAT	TTGGGCHGHTGF TTGGGCAGATGF	ICHCTCTGGH ICACTCTGGA	IGTA						

O)

	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 16Rev_Compl_CYT_Hi Consensus	GTGACT	GCGATAAA	GCAAGAAGA	TCTT <mark>CGTGC</mark> GGTGC cGTGC	AGAGATGTGC Agagatgtgc Agagatgtgc	TCAGTGCCACA TCAGTGCCACA TCAGTGCCACA	ICTGTAGAAGO ICTGTAGAAGO ICTGTAGAAGO	tggtggaaai tggtggaaai tggtggaaai	SCATAAGACAI Scataagacai Scataagacai	GTCCCAACC GTCCCAACC GTCCCAACC	TTCACGGACT(TTCACGGACT(TTCACGGACT(CTTTGGTCGC(CTTTGGTCGC(CTTTGGTCGC(CAAACTGGACA CAAACTGGACA CAAACTGGACA	NAGCTAG Nagctag Nagctag
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 16Rev_Compl_CYT_Hi Consensus	261 I TGGATA TGGATA TGGATA	270 TGTCTACA TGTCT TGTCT	280 Cagatgctaa	290 CAAAGCTAA	300 GGGTATCATT	310 TGGGCAGATGA	320 ICACTCTGGAT	330 GTATACCTCI	340 100000000000000000000000000000000000	350 16AAGTACAT	360 CCCTGGAACA	370 Raaatggttt	380 TTGCTGGTTTG	390 1 GAAGAAG
P)														
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 17F_ATFC_Hi Consensus	1431 TCTGGT	1440 TTGATAGT	1450 GTACTGATA A A	1460 TCTTCGGTG TTTTCGGGG TcTTCGGgG	1470 TCAAGTACAT -CAAG-ACTT .CAAG.ACaT	1480 TGTAAGCCGAA GAACCGAA aaaccGAA	1490 TCATTTTCCA TATTTTCA TaaTTTCA	1500 GATGTCCTG IGA-GTCC IGA.GTCC	1510 AAAATGTATTI GAAAAGTATTI AAAAaGTATTI	1520 GCCAAACAGG GC-AAACAGG GC.AAACAGG	1530 TTGTTATTGC TTGTTATTGC TTGTTATTGC	1540 Atggcaggcc Atggcaggc Atggcaggc	1550 TAGGATCTCCT TAGGATCTCCT TAGGATCTCCT	1560 1 ITGCTTT ITGCTTT ITGCTTT
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 17F_ATFC_Hi Consensus	1561 CCATCCI CCATCCI CCATCCI	1570 AATCTGGA AATCTGGA AATCTGGA	1580 HGAGCTGGGC -GAGCTGGGC GAGCTGGGC	1590 TGTCATAAT TG TG	1600 TGACATCCAG	1610 + TTCTGAGGCAG	1620 AAGGCAGGTF	1630 #AGATGTTGC	1640 CTTGGCCCCCC	1650 AAGGGAAAAT	1660 cctgctcacc	1670 CTCGGGTAGC	1680 + CATGGGAGGCC	1690 1 CGGAATT
Q)														
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 18Rev_Compl_ATFC_Hi Consensus	1301 Tacag	1310 CATTTTGT	1320 CCAGGATAGA	1330 ICTACCTTCA	1340 CTCTCACAGA	1350 AGTTTTAGGAO	1360 Gagatggag	1370 6CTTGTGTAT	1380 TTGAGCAGCT	1390 GGTCCATATT	1400 TTTCT <mark>66CT6</mark> 666CT6 g <mark>66CT6</mark>	1410 GAGTTCTGAC GAGTTCTGAC GAGTTCTGAC	1420 Agaggtacaai Agaggtacaai Agaggtacaai	1430 I GCATGTCT GCATGTCT GCATGTCT
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 18Rev_Compl_ATFC_Hi Consensus	1431 TCTGG TCTGG TCTGG	1440 TTTGATAG TTTGATAG TTTGATAG TTTGATAG	1450 TGGTACTGAT TGGTACTGAT TGGTACTGAT	1460 ATCTTCGGT ATCTTCGGT ATCTTCGGT	1470 GTCAAGTACA GTCAAGTACA GTCAAGTACA	1480 TTGTAAGCCG/ TTGTAAGCCG/ TTGTAAGCCG/	1490 ATCATTTTC ATCATTTTC ATCATTTTC ATCATTTTC	1500 AGATGTCCT AGATGTCCT AGATGTCCT	1510 GAAAATGTAT GAAAATGTAT GAAAATGTAT	1520 TGCCAAACAG TGCCAAACAG TGCCAAACAG	1530 GTTGTTATTG GTTGTATG GTTGTaTG	1540 CATGGCAGGC CATGGCAG CATGGCAG	1550 	1560 CTTGCTTT
R)														
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 19F_65H1_Hi Consensus	1431 : GTGTGT	1440 TCATCGTA GTA GTA	1450 CTTTTGACAA CTTTTGACA- CTTTTGACA.	1460 GGGCTATCT GGGCTATCT GGGCTATCT	1470 TAACTTTCAA TAACTTTCAA TAACTTTCAA	1480 ATTGAATATGO ATTGAATATGO ATTGAATATGO	1490 TCATACCCA1 TCATACCCA1 TCATACCCA1	1500 TTCAAAGGT TTCAAAGGT TTCAAAGGT	1510 TGATGAAAATI TGATGAAAAATI TGATGAAAAATI	1520 ATGAAAAAAGA ATAAAAAAAGA ATAAAAAAAGA	1530 GCCAGAAGCG GCCAGAAGCG GCCAGAAGCG	1540 TAATTCTGTC TAATTCTGTC TAATTCTGTC	1550 CTAGACCAAAA CTAGACCAAAA CTAGACCAAAA	1560 Aattgtg Aattgtg Aattgtg Aattgtg
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 19F_GSH1_Hi Consensus	1561 I GTTCAGI GTTCAGI GTTCAGI	1570 GCGAGACA GCGAGACA GCGAGACA GCGAGACA	1580 FATTTCTCG FATTTCTCG FATTTCTCG	1590 TGAATGTGA TGAATGTGA TGAATGTGA	1600 TAAAGGGGAT TAAAGGGGAT TAAAGGGGAT	1610 GATGCTAGTCF GATGCTAGTCF GATGCTAGTCF	1620 IGATGTCCGTC IGATGTCCG IGATGTCCG	1630 AATGAAATT	1640 Gtaaatggca	1650 RGGGGAATGA	1660 GTTTATGGGT	1670 CTTGTTCCAT	1680 TGGTACGACAC	1690 1 Stattta
S)														
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 20Rev_Compl_GSH1_Hi Consensus	1431 GTGTGT	1440 TCATCGTA	1450 CTTTTGACAA AA	1460 GGGCTATCT GGGCTATCT GGGCTATCT	1470 TAACTTTCAA TAACTTTCAA TAACTTTCAA	1480 ATTGAATATGC ATTGAATATGC ATTGAATATGC ATTGAATATGC	1490 TCATACCCA1 TCATACCCA1 TCATACCCA1	1500 TTCAAAGGT TTCAAAGGT TTCAAAGGT	1510 	1520 +	1530 GCCAGAAGCG GCCAGAAGCG GCCAGAAGCG	1540 TAATTCTGTC TAATTCTGTC TAATTCTGTC	1550 CTAGACCARAA CTAGACCCTAA CTAGACCaaAA	1560 1 1ATTGTG 1A 1A 1A 1A
T)														
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 21F_M3R_Hi Consensus	1561 TTAGATI	1570 Acgtttag	1580 + Tggaggatat	1590 + Gatattctg	1600 HATGGGACCA	1610 ACTTCACCACT CACCACF CACCAC	1620 G-ATATAATA GGATATAATA G.ATATAATA	1630 	1640 GGATTTTGCTI GGATTTTGCTI GGATTTTGCTI	1650 CCAGTCATAG CCAGTCATAG CCAGTCATAG	1660 ATAGATATTC ATAGATATTC ATAGATATTC ATAGATATTC	1670 HATATATGAG HATATATGAG HATATATGAG	1680 ATCGTCCTGAT ATCGTCCTGAT ATCGTCCTGAT	1690 I TAGCTGT TAGCTGT TAGCTGT
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 21F_M3R_Hi Consensus	1691 I Atttgci Atttgci Atttgci	1700 CGGGTTCC CGGGTTCC CGGGTTCC	1710 FCTCCATCGC FCTCCATCGC FCTCCATCGC	1720 CACACTGCT CACACTGCT CACACTGCT	1730 Aggcaatcta Agtg Aggc	1740 Atggtcatgat	1750 Cagtttcaad	1760 Atagacaaa	1770 Caactacaaa	1780 Ctataagcaa	1790 Статттсстб	1800 TTCTCATTGG	1810 CTGTGGCTGAT	1820 1 Fatcact
U)														

	1431	1440	1450	1460	1470	1480	1490	1500	1510	1520	1530	1540	1550	1560
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	TTCTGG	AGTAGGA	CTCGATTCTC	CCCCGCCCTT	GAACTGGACT	GGGCTTGACC	TAGATGGGTAC	CCACTCGAT	ATTATCAATGG	CAGCTCTGA	TCCCGGCTCCA		CGATCTCAAT	GGATCT
Consensus	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	gGGAGT	CGATCTCAAT	GGATCT
	1561 	1570 +	1580	1590	1600	1610	1620	1630	1640	1650	1660	1670	1680	1690
Hippolyte_Body_IRINI 22Rev_Compl_M3R_Hi	TTAGAT	HCGITTH ACGTTTA ACGTTTA	GTGGAGGATAT GTGGAGGATAT CTCCOCCOTO	IGATATTCTG IGATATTCTG IGATATTCTC	HHIGGGHCCH AATGGGACCA AATGCCACCA	HUTTCHUU-H Acttcaccca Acttcacc	CTGATATAATA	IGH I GCHHCGI IGATGCAACGI ICATGCAACGI	GATTTTGCTCU GATTTTGCTC GATTTTGCTC	HGICHIHGH	THGHTHTTCHE	ITHTHTGHGH	CGICCIGHIH	IGCTGTH
consensus	THUN	ncarrin		Idniniticid	nniadancen	nu i runuu, n	Clanininnin	ian i acrinca	aniiiacie.	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	•••••
17)														
V)														
	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	1 Tactag	TGCCAGT	GACTGTGACA	CTCTAACGAG	GATTTATCAA	AGTTTGTGGC	ACTCACAGGTO	CAACTATTC	GACATACAATT	ACTT <mark>GAAAA</mark>	CTAAGTTGGAA	CANTGATGGE	TCCAGAGAAC	сссст
23F_VAMP3_Hi Consensus			•••••			• • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••		GAATA GAAaA	CTAAGTTGGAA CTAAGTTGGAA	ICA-TGATGGA ICA.TGATGGA	itccaga <mark>c</mark> aac itccaga <mark>c</mark> aac	T00000
	261	270	280	290	300	310	320	330	340	350	360	370	380	390
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 23F_YAMP3_Hi	TCCAGG TCCAGG	GATCCAG GATCCAG	CAAAGACTGC CAAAGACTGC	TGCAAACAGC Agtaaacagc	A <mark>n</mark> gctggatg Atgctggatg	CTACACAGAG CTACACAGAG	AGAGGTGAATO AAAGGGGGAATO	AGGTGGTTG AGGTG	GGATAATGAAA	ACGAATGTC	GAGCGAATTAT	GGAACGAGAA	IGAAAAACTTA	ICCCACC
Consensus	TCCAGG	GATCCAG	CAAAGACTGC	aGcAAACAGC	AaGCTGGATG	CTACACAGAG	AaAGGgGAATO	AGGTG	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	•••••	•••••
W)														
	131 	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260 1
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI 24Rev_Compl_YAMP3_Hi	TACTAG	TGCCAGT		CTCTAACGAG CTCTAACGAG	GATTTATCAA GATTTATCAA	AGTTTGTGGC AGTTTGTGGC	ACTCACAGGTO	CAACTATTC	GACATACAATT GACATACAATT	ACTTGAAAA Acttgaaaa	CTAAGTTGGAA CTAAGTTGGAA	ICAATGATGGF ICAATGATGGF	ITCCAGAGAAAC ITCCAGAG	CCCCCT
Lonsensus	•••••	•••••	••• 1616HCHC	LILINHLUHU	6411141044	H611161666	HCICHCH6611	ICHHCIHIIC	64641464411	нстъннн	L I HHG I I GGHH	ICHH I GH I GGI	11004646	•••••
X)														
	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260 1
Hippolyte_Body_IRINI 25F_PCLO_Hi Consensus	ելորը	THUUHHU	HLGILGLILL	ансинсанта GACA-CGATG GACA ссатс	HHGHHLLTGL AAGAACCTGC AAGAACCTGC	ACGTATTAAT ACGTATTAAT	GCCAGGGCATO	GTCCGTCAG	HHGHGGCHGGH AAGAGGCAGGA AAGAGGCAGGA	I GHG I GH I I I TGAGTGATT I TGAGTGATT	HTHCHCTTHGA ATACACTTAGA ATACACTTAGA	IGATGCTGCAC IGATGCTGCAC	нснытынтся АСАСТСАТСА АСАСТСАТСА	ITCTGAA ITCTGAA
conscisus	261	270	280	290	300	310	320	330	340	350	360	370	380	390
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	TTTTAA	AAAGATC	AGCTCAGCCCI	ATAGTGAAAC	TGACGTTTCC	AGATCGCGGA	AAACAAATAGA	TCACCTGGG	GACACCACTAG	CTGTAGGGG	AAGTGTAGAAG	AAGCTGCTGT	GACTCGCCGT	GAGTCA
25F_PCLU_Hi Consensus	TTTTAA	HTCGHTC IAaaGATC	AGCTCAGCCCI	ATAGTGAAAC	TGACGTTTCC	HGH I CGCGG Agatcgcgga	н А	•••••		•••••				•••••
Y)														
Wlate D-de TRINT	1	10	20 	30	40 	50 +	60	70	80 +	90	100	110	120	130
26Rev_Compl_PCLO_Hi	нннснн	HUGICHI	10080880		unnnuu I Chh	44 I C I H4H4H	11641100466	11166661616	LHLL& L&&L&	CTGGT	GATGGACGAAG GATGGACGAAG	ACAACGTGAT	AAATCCCGGG	AACGTC
00000000	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI	CTGCCG	TACCAAG	ACGTCGCTCC	GACAACGATG	AAGAACCTGC	ACGTATTAAT	GCCAGGGCAT	GTCCGTCAG	AAGAGGCAGGA	TGAGTGATT	ATACACTTAGA	GATGCTGCAC	ACAGTGATCA	ITCTGAA
26Kev_Lonp1_PLLU_H1 Consensus	CTGCCG	TACCAAG	ACGTCGCTCC	GACAACGATG	AAGAACCTGC	ACGTATTAAT	GCCAGGGCAT	GTCCGTCAG	AAGAGGCAGGA	TGAGTGATT	ATACACTTAGA	IGATGCTGCAC	ACAG	•••••
Z)														
	1 	10	20	30	40	50	60 +	70	80	90	100	110	120	130 I
lippolyte_Body_TRINI ilaviano_27F138166	CTCTGT	GGCAAAG	GGATGCTCTC ATTC	CGGCAGAATG TGGTTCTG	AAGGGTTTCC	-ATTGATTA	CACTTGTGGCT	GTGGCCTCGG GTGGCCTCGG CTCCCCTCGG	CCGATCTCCA	CCCACTTTC	rgatgagtata rgatgagtata rcatcactata	TTGAACAGA1 TTGAACAGA1	CAACAGTAGA	ICAATCTT ICAATCTT
Consensus	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
lippolyte_Body_TRINI	CATGGA	AGGCTGG	ACGTAATTTC	CCAGAAGACA	CTCCCATGGA	ATACCTAAG	IGGTCTTCTAG	GAGTATTGGA	AGGAAACGGA	GGTGTAACT	CTCCCTCGCAG	GCAGGGTATT	GTTCCCCATO	GATTTGC
ilaviano_27F138166 Consensus	CATGGA Catgga	AGGCTGG AGGCTGG	ACGTAATTTC ACGTAATTTC	CCAGAAGACA CCAGAAGACA	CTCCCATGGA CTCCCATGGA	iatacctaagi iatacctaagi	AGGTCTTCTAG AGGTCTTCTAG	GAGTATTGGA GAGTATTGGA						
AB)														
,														
	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	130
ilaviano_28R138162 lippolute Rody TPTMT	AAAGAT	TGTGGCA	AGGGATGCTO	CTCCGGCAGA	ATGAAGGGTT Atgaaggtt	TCCTATTGAT		CTGTGGCCT		CACCCACTT	TCTGATGAGTA	TATTGAACA	ATCAACAGTA	IGACAAT IGACAAT
Consensus	Cac	TGTGGCA	AGGGATGCTO	CTCCGGCAGA	ATGAAGGGTT	TCCTATTGAT	TACACTTGTG	CTGTGGCCT	CGGCCGATCTC	CACCCACTT	TCTGATGAGTA	TATTGAACA	ATCAACAGTA	IGACAAT
	131 	140 +	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260 1
ilaviano_28K138162 lippolyte_Body_TRINI	CTTCAT	uuHHUGC" GGAAGGC" GGAAGGC	I GGACGTAATT I GGACGTAATT I GGACGTAATT	TCCCAGAAG	HUH I <mark>GHCA</mark> Acacteccati Acacteccati	GGAATACCTA	AGAGGTCTTCI	AGGAGTATT	GGAAGGAAACG	GAGGTGTAA	CTCTCCCTCGO	CAGGCAGGGTA	ITTGTTCCCCF	ATGGATT
consensus	CITCH	Gamman	- aanoa mini fi		manegaea++			•••••		********		•••••	•••••	
AC)

	781	790	800	810	820	830	840	850	860	870	880	890	900	910
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Glaviano_29F138163 Consensus	бсстст	TCAATCCTA	ІĞCTCTTTACT	CGCACGTC	CCACCGATGAAA	CCACCĊCAA	CTGTTATCGTG GGCC cGcC	iTTG <mark>GA</mark> GAGG iCTGTCGG icTG <mark>gaG</mark> G	iGATAGAGGCGA iGTCTAAAGAGT iGacaaAaGaGa	TCCAAGCGO TGCGO TGCGO	CTGCCACAAAT CTGCCACAAAT CTGCCACAAAT	ITCTCCAGGAC ITCTCCAGGAC ITCTCCAGGAC	GCAGGTCATT GCAGGTCATT GCAGGTCATT	TGACATT TGACATT TGACATT
	911 	920	930	940	950	960	970	980	990	1000	1010	1020	1030	1040
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Glaviano_29F138163 Consensus	CCTAAI CCTAAI CCTAAI	AGAAATTGG Agaaattgg Agaaattgg Agaaattgg	ITTTCAGGTCA Itttcaggtca Itttcaggtca	TTACATTT TTACATTT TTACATTT TTACATTT	AATCCTGATGAG AATCCTGATGAG AATCCTGATGAG	AGCAAGGTC Agcaaggtc Agcaaggtc	CGATATGGCGT CGATATGGCGT CGATATGGCGT	CAATTTCTT CAATTTCTT CAATTTCTT	ICTACTACACCT ICTACTACACCT ICTACTACACCT	TCATATTC TCATATTC TCATATTC TCATATTC	IGAACCATTTT Igaaccatttt Igaaccatttt	IGTAACCTGAC Igtaacctgac Igtaacctgac	ATTAACTATA Attaactata Attaactata Attaactata	CTTGTTC ATAAAAA aTaaaaa
AD)														
	781	790	800	810	820	830	840	850	860	870	880	890	900	910
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Glaviano_29F138163 Consensus	GCCTCT	TCAATCCTA	ІĞCTCTTTACT	CGCACGTC	CCACCGATGAAA	CCACCCCAA	CTGTTATCGTG GGCC cGcC	iTTG <mark>GA</mark> GAGG iCTGTCGG icTGgaGG	iGATAGAGGCGA iGTCTAAAGAGT iGacaaAaGaGa	TCCAA <mark>gcg(</mark> T <mark>GCG(</mark> TGCG(CTGCCACAAAT CTGCCACAAAT CTGCCACAAAT	ITCTCCAGGAC ITCTCCAGGAC ITCTCCAGGAC	GCAGGTCATT GCAGGTCATT GCAGGTCATT	TGACATT TGACATT TGACATT
	911	920	930	940	950	960	970	980	990	1000	1010	1020	1030	1040
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Glaviano_29F138163 Consensus	CCTARI CCTARI CCTARI	AGAAATTGG Agaaattgg Agaaattgg Agaaattgg	ITTTCAGGTCA Itttcaggtca Itttcaggtca	TTACATTT TTACATTT TTACATTT	AATCCTGATGAG AATCCTGATGAG AATCCTGATGAG	AGCAAGGTC Agcaaggtc Agcaaggtc	CGATATGGCGT CGATATGGCGT CGATATGGCGT	CAATTTCTT CAATTTCTT CAATTTCTT	ICTACTACACCT ICTACTACACCT ICTACTACACCT	TCATATTC TCATATTC TCATATTC TCATATTC	IGAACCATTTT Igaaccatttt Igaaccatttt	IGTAACCTGAC Igtaacctgac Igtaacctgac	ATTAACTATA ATTAACTATA ATTAACTATA	CTTGTTC ATAAAAA aTaaaaa
AE)														
	1	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100	110	120	130
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Glaviano_30R138164 Consensus	CATAA	ATTTACAAA	ITTTCAGTAAA	CATAGTTA	TTATAAAGCAAT	TCAAAAGAT	CGTAAGCAATO TTTCAATO	igggcgaaga igggcgaaga igggcgaaga	IGGATGGTCATT IGGATGGTCATT IGGATGGTCATT	AACTGAGAA AAATGAGAA AAaTGAGAA	ITAGGGTCATA Itagggtcata Itagggtcata	1AAAGAACAGA 1AAAGAACAGA 1AAAGAACAGA	IAAATAAAAGA IAAATAAAAAGA IAAATAAAAAGA	AAAATGG AAAATGG AAAATGG
	131	140	150	160	170	180	190	200	210	220	230	240	250	260
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Glaviano_30R138164 Consensus	ACAATA ACAATA ACAATA	AACAGTT <mark>A</mark> C AACAGTTCC AACAGTT a C	AGCACTTTGA AGCACTTTGA AGCACTTTGA	ACAGTTTA Acagttta Acagttta	CCAAAATACATA CCAAAATACATA CCAAAATACATA	CAATCGAAG Caatcgaag Caatcgaag	CTTATCTAAAC CT-ATCTAAAC CT-ATCTAAAC	CTTTCTTCTA CTT-CTCTAG CTT.CTccaa	IAGAAATCAACA TATACTC aaaaAaTC	AATTTGCAT	raaaacagagc	CTACAGTTCAT	ТСАТСАТТАТ	тсттстб
AF)														
	261	270	280	290	300	310	320	330	340	350	360	370	380	390
Glaviano_33F139515 Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Consensus	AAATA	GATTTTTT	TTATCTGTAC	AATCAAGO	AGGCATAAAGTG	AGAAATTAA	CGAGAT TTCATGAGGAT caaGAT	TTAGTTTTC TTAGTTTTC TTAGTTTTC	CATTTCTTCTA CATTTCTTCTA CATTTCTTCTA	TGA <mark>c</mark> gata Tgacgata Tgacgata	TAAGGACGGT TAAGGACGGT TAAGGACGGT	IGAAATCGATA Igaaatcgata Igaaatcgata	ААТСАЛАЛТС ААТСАЛАЛТС ААТСАЛАЛТС ААТСАЛАЛТС	ACTTTAC ACTTTAC ACTTTAC
	391 	400	410	420	430	440	450	460	470	480	490	500	510	520
Glaviano_33F139515 Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Consensus	aaaagi Aaaagi Aaaagi	ATTCCCAGE Attcccage Attcccage	IAACAGGGATT IAACAGGGATT IAACAGGGATT IAACAGGGATT	CAGAATGT CAGAATGT CAGAATGT	CATGTGCCTGCT CATGTGCCTGCT CATGTGCCTGCT CATGTGCCTGCT	Cacagaaaa Cacagaaaa Cacagaaaa Cacagaaaa	GTGTGAATAGO GTGTGAATAGO GTGTGAATAGO	CCACCCC CTTATTTAT Ccaaccc	TATATTTCAGTC	TAATTGAAT	ICTTTTGAAAT	TCTACAGCTA	TGTGAAAAGG	AAATGTT
AG)														
	2471	2480	2490	2500	2510	2520	2530	2540	2550	2560	2570	2580	2590	2600
Hippolyte_Body_TRINI Glaviano_34R139517 Consensus	ATTGGG	GAT	TGAAGAGTCA TCGTGTCA TaGaGTCA	ГТАТСАТА ГТАТСАТА ГТАТСАТА	TTTGGTGTCATTO TTTGGTGTCATTO TTTGGTGTCATTO	CTGAAAGAC CTGAAAGAC CTGAAAGAC	CACGTTGAAC Cacgttgaac Cacgttgaac	CCAACAGGAO CCAACAGGAO CCAACAGGAO	CCTCCTCAAGGT CCTCCTCAAGGT CCTCCTCAAGGT	AATCTATG AATCTATG AATCTATG AATCTATG	GACTCGTTCAT Gactcgttcat Gactcgttcat	ITGTAGGTACT Itgtaggtact Itgtaggtact	CTTTTATTT CTTCTGCTTG CTTCTacTTg	CTAGTA ATTGAT aTaGaa

Figure S2. Alignment of primers to the original sequence of *SAT* F (A), *SAT* R (B), *SNP25* F (C), *SNP25* R (D), *DRONC* F (E), *DRONC* R (F), *TSPO* F (G), *TSPO* R (H), *STEA* F (I), *STEA* R (J), *GPX4* F (K), *GPX4* R (L), *AC* F (M), *AC* R (N), *CYT* F (O), *CYT* R (P), *ATFC* F (Q), *ATFC* R (R), *GSHI* F (S), *GSHI* R (T), *M3R* F (U), *M3R* R (V), *VAMP3* F

(W), VAMP3 R (X), PCLO F (Y), PCLO R (Z), CATB F (AB), CATB R (AC), HTRA F (AD), HTRA R (AE), CCKAR F (AF), CCKAR R (AG) genes.

Chapter 7

Automated culture techniques applied to a continuous rearing of an ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*

Introduction

Model organisms: rearing for scientific research

Model organisms (MOs) are commonly used in scientific studies to test biological, ecological, and evolutionary hypotheses (Brenner, 2003; Mutalipassi et al., 2019; Sahm et al., 2018). They range from bacteria to metazoans and are extensively employed as simpler systems to investigate complex scientific issues, providing solutions for challenging issues (Govind 2011; Bauermeister et al. 2018). Taking into account the relevance of model MOs for scientific research, several investigations focused on methods for improving culture procedures, involving practical aspects related to the proper maintenance techniques (Laudet & Ravasi, 2022; Mutalipassi et al., 2018). The increasing use of aquatic MOs in scientific investigations can be considered a challenge both for science and aquaculture, due to the need of optimising protocols and procedures that facilitate simpler, cheaper and more efficient facility management (Glaviano & Mutalipassi, 2022; Mutalipassi et al., 2018).

The need to monitor several chemical and physical parameters continuously, such as temperature, pH, salinity, photoperiod, light intensity, oxygen saturation, ammonia, nitrites and nitrates, imposes regularly the continuous contribution of human operators and this implies the need for a remarkable amount of skilled (consequently expensive) workers and resulting in time consuming operations (Calado et al., 2003, 2005; Mutalipassi et al., 2018). To reduce the need for personnel along with production costs, several investigations proposed automation processes. To this end, the use of sophisticated micro-controllers and programmable logic controllers (PLC) can be an

interesting alternative (Glaviano & Mutalipassi, 2022; Kolkovski et al., 2004; Mutalipassi et al., 2018). They permit to monitor several parameters at the same time (using specific probes), and to transmit collected data, by adding transmission modules to the PLC configuration. In general terms, specialised culture systems are set to meet the physiological requirements of target organism, also in order to control the concentration of pollutants and the abundance of decaying organic matter. However, they must also prevent the introduction of pathogens, and reduce stress that could alter behavioural and physiological patterns of MOs.

This study aimed at evaluating the opportunity to apply a patented programmable system (Patent W02016166696A1), developed at the Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn, for the rearing of the colonial ascidian *B. schlosseri*, due to its importance for the scientific research.

Botryllus schlosseri as model organism

Botryllus schlosseri is an ascidian belonging to the subphylum Urochordata. These last are considered a sister group of vertebrates (Craniata) since both are belonging to the Chordata clade Olfactores (Delsuc et al., 2006). Due to several unique characteristics, it is used by several research-groups as a model organism for several studies in the fields of genetic, physiology, age-related phenomena, developmental biology, and ecology. The class Ascidians includes both solitary and colonial species and they use several reproductive paths to produce an adult body. They have a swimming larva with structural traits that are in common with the chordates, such as the notochord, a segmented musculature, dorsal neural tube. After the embryonic development, it undergoes metamorphosis to become a sessile filter-feeding zooid, losing the abovementioned morphological traits (Manni et al., 2007). Then, the zooid starts an ongoing, cyclical asexual reproduction process called "budding" that can produce genetically identical individuals. After several synchronized waves of budding cycles, characterised by the regression and resorption of the previous filtering adults, the colony organised itself with all the clonal zooids (5-15) placed around a single cloacal syphon. All zooids are interconnected by a circulatory network and covered in a single tunic. On each adult zooid there are several buds growing, consisting in the next generation of juvenile budlets (Delsuc et al., 2006; Manni et al., 2019). In particular, B. schlosseri has emerged as an interesting species for experimental purposes also due to its peculiar regenerative plasticity (Tiozzo et al., 2006, 2008). It has become an effective model for research also for the possibility to follow in vivo long-lived primordial germ and somatic stem cells (Rosner et al., 2013). Moreover, B. schlosseri has also been explored as a promising model for in vivo investigations of apoptosis and toxicity because of its capacity to preserve colony homeostasis (Goldstein et al., 2021). Its wide distribution makes it relatively easy to find and be collected. In fact, these colonial ascidians are commonly found in the north-eastern Atlantic Ocean, including the coast of Europe and the Mediterranean Sea, but it is also found in the north-western Pacific Ocean, including the coast of Japan (Ben-Hamo & Rinkevich, 2021; Figure 1). It colonizes hard surfaces, such as rocks and shells, in the low intertidal and subtidal zones. It can be an ideal species for studying various aspects of marine biology and ecology. Scientists can easily collect samples of B. schlosseri using various techniques, such as manual sampling from harbours and cliffs as well as during underwater activities or also using a dredge from a small boat. Additionally, scientists can study the population structure and genetic diversity of the species in different regions, because of its wide distribution, and this can provide valuable insights into how different populations of this invertebrate adapt to different environmental conditions (Lee, 2002).



0.01 - 0.19 pmputer generated distribution maps of *B. schlosseri*, highlighting its relative probabilities of occurrence (AquaMaps (2019, October, <u>https://www.aquamaps.org</u>.) using Sealifebase database (https://www.sealifebase.ca).

Culture systems for research purposes:

Several authors developed various culture systems for wide variety of model organisms characterized by different level of automation. These systems, ranging from ones dedicated to zooplanktonic organisms as in the case of the pelagic tunicate *Oikopleura dioica* (Bouquet et al., 2009) to the ones dedicated to vagile and sessile invertebrates, as in the case of the seagrass shrimp *Hippolyte inermis* (Mutalipassi et al., 2018), the starlet anemone *Nematostella vectensis* (Genikhovich & Technau, 2009) or the vase tunicate *Ciona intestinalis* (Zupo et al., 2020), respectively. In some cases, complex systems have been developed to the rearing and breading of vertebrate model organisms as in the case of the Anemonefish *Amphiprion ocellaris* (Ryu et al., 2022) or the Zebrafish *Dario rerio* ((Lawrence, 2007)). In the case of *Botryllus schlosseri*, due to its intrinsic traits and unique possible applications of this model organism, several attempts have been made to

improve procedures and protocols for its rearing. Culture systems dedicated to this colonial ascidians were described starting from 1955 with Sabbadin, that opened the possibility for other laboratories to adopt *Botryllus* as a model (Ben-Hamo & Rinkevich, 2021; Tiozzo et al., 2006; Voskoboynik & Weissman, 2015). Despite the increasing scientific interest in the use of *B. schlosseri* as a model organism, across various disciplines, only a limited number of laboratories worldwide maintain in continuous its colonies in captivity. These laboratories include facilities located in California at the Hopkins Marine Station, Stanford University (Boyd et al. 1986), in Italy, at the University of Padova(Brunetti & Copello, 2009) and in Israel, at the National Institute of Oceanography, Haifa (Rinkevich & Shapira, 1998). Most colonies are located in facilities having direct access to the seawater, but rearing methods vary among laboratories. Consequently, one of the major obstacles to developing a breeding stock for research is the lack of standardized methodologies and facilities for maintaining the species in captivity (Ben-Hamo & Rinkevich, 2021).

Aims:

Our primary objective was to evaluate and improve an existing programmable experimental system (Mutalipassi et al., 2018; Zupo et al., 2020) to establish an optimal culture protocol, in an automatic system dedicated to ascidians. Classic management of marine organisms in the laboratory involves simple tanks that entirely rely on constant maintenance by a human operator, providing frequent water exchanges, measurement of water parameters, and daily monitoring and supervision. In order to evaluate the performances of our automatic system, we compared the results obtained in "automated system" with "traditional protocols" involving the presence of human operators. Mortality, growth, easy of management and healthy status were the parameters took into account to compare different systems.

Materials and methods

Collection of colonies

Colonies of *Botryllus schlosseri* were collected in the harbour of Ischia Island (Bay of Naples, Italy). They were carefully isolated, using a razorblade and a paddle from the surface of ropes and buoys. Further, they were transferred to the laboratory and the identification was confirmed observing the samples under the optical microscope. The identified specimens were gently laid down on a slide to let them attach on it, as an artificial substrate. After one week of acclimation in 15 litres tanks equipped with open flowthrough seawater, colonies were randomly sorted and distributed into replicates of two different culture systems. In addition, colonies that showed sexual maturity (visible presence of eggs, testes or embryos), were isolated in four different 15 litres tanks to obtain juveniles through sexual reproduction. For this purpose, all the surface of these tanks were covered with semi-rigid, atoxic, pvc plastic foils used as substrate for settlement of hatched tadpoles.

Due to the known effect of light stimulation on larval release (Bingham, 1997), the tanks with the mature colonies were kept in total darkness for 16h hours before exposure to intense light irradiation (Watanabe & Lambert, 1973). After the settlement of tadpoles, the PVC plastic foils were cut and separated in the replicates of the two different culture systems (Table 1). Both adult colonies and juveniles were located in the tanks in vertical position, to avoid the precipitation of faecal pellet or algae on the specimens (BOYD et al., 1986).

	Number of tanks	Liters	Adult Colonies in each rep.	Juveniles in each rep.
Automatic system	2	60	24	27
Traditional tanks	2	60	24	27

Table 1. Schematic description of the experimental. Two different systems for cultivating *B. schlosseri* were compared. The first system was an "Automatic system" that uses two 60- Lt tanks. The second is a "Traditional system" that uses as well two 60- Lt tanks. Each tank holds 24 adult colonies and 27 juvenile colonies in each replicate The adult colonies and juveniles were divided among the replicates based on the initial number of individuals obtained from the samples and the same proportion of animals to water was maintained in each replication.

Culture systems

The "traditional" system used as a control consisted in rearing the colonies in two 60- Lt tanks with aeration into a thermostatic chamber (18 °C; 12:12h day: night cycle). Partial water changes (with filtered and sterilised natural sea water, prepared in dedicated tank) were administered every two days to reduce concentration of nitrogen compounds and other waste product of organic degradation. Differently, the automatic system was represented by the patented device controlled by the CCU Zelio Logic (model SRC2261BD; Schneider Electric, France). It may use both analogic and digital input channels to operate different sensors and probes, and several effectors connected via relay outputs. This culture system (Figure 2) is small, modular, and equipped with a central control unit (CCU), which can be programmed in Function Block Diagram (FDB) language to tune culture protocols and be adapted to the needs of several species (Mutalipassi et al. 2018). FDB programming permits: a) the use of "on / off" peripherals;

b) the use of analogic or digital inputs and outputs; c) the possibility to modulate the data obtained and re-elaborate them to create real complex programs; d) all of it combined with relative simplicity of programming and management as well as modification (Frey and Litz 2000). It was used to assess the feasibility of an easy and effective continuous culture of B. schlosseri. Using Zeliosoft programming system (Zelio Soft, Version 5.4.0, France), starting from the different input variables, it is possible to use several types of intermediate blocks to obtain the desired logic diagram to make the culture process independent from the constant presence and intervention of an operator. The culture system (Figure 2) itself consists of four 60 L tanks. The tank "A" receives continuously pumped seawater for the storage. In the tank "B" the water is sterilised and filtered. The tanks "C" and "D" are both dedicated to the culture of organisms, as replicates or also independently (if different organisms or internal conditions are imposed). To adapt the existing system, new inputs and outputs were added to pursuit this experiment after a proper reprogramming of the software. Each tank is connected to other tanks through several pumps (Multi 800, Sicce, Italy). Two water pumps placed in the tank "B" move the water to tanks "C" and "D", when operated by the CPU. In addition, each tank is equipped with a chiller (Tr-10 260 w, Teco srl, Italy) set at 18 °C, a canister filter (Whale 350, Sicce, Italy) loaded with perlon wool and activated carbon, two sensors of minimum and maximum level connected via 0-to-10-volt digital inputs, an aerator and a protein skimmer (Division 125, Seachem Aquavitro, Italy). Moreover, the tank "B" is equipped with an ozone generator (Ozonizer Certizon C200, Aqua-Sander, Germany) to assure sterilization of water.

Since *B. schlosseri* is usually found in low intertidal and subtidal zones (Zupo et al 2006), characterised by important tidal and wave motion, such a constant movement of water can help colonies keeping their surface properly clean (Ben-Hamo et al 2021). For this

reason, propeller pumps (XStream SDC, Sicce, Italy) have been positioned in both culture tanks (tanks A and B in figure X?) to ensure proper water movements. These pumps have the possibility of setting several programs, including the "custom wave profile", which has been applied, with sinusoidal increase and decrease of power. These pumps can be managed through any smartphone or smart device by using the app Sicce ContrAll (freely available on app stores), which connects the pumps and the smart device through a Wi-Fi connection. The app also provides real-time feedback on the status of the pumps and an alarm system in case of anomalies. Additionally, the system is equipped with fluorescent lighting over the culture tanks (12:12h day: night cycle) by means of a Sylvania Gro Lux light.

The system managed by the CCU was set up to operate automatically and coordinate all the pumps, skimmers, chillers, filters, light, and aerators. To fulfil daily partial changes of water, culture tanks were equipped with pumps, one for each tank, for the water discharge. The CCU controlled both the partial emptying of the culturing tanks "C" and "D" and their gradual refilling with previously filtered and sterilised water pumped from tank "B". Moreover, this whole activity was continuously monitored by level sensors, to prevent the excessive draining or the overfilling of each tank. When a level sensor alerted CCU that tank "B" was emptied, using a Boolean logic subroutine activity, it was filled again with the water stored in tank A and then disinfected with ozone. The skimmer and ozoniser in tank "B" were turned on to begin the ozonation process. The ozoniser was switched off after a few hours, but the skimmer was kept running to enhance and assure the ozone removal. To ensure the disinfection and removal of any residual ozone, during the preliminary test running of the system, the redox potential was monitored three times a day, i.e., before, during, and after the planned automated ozonation operations.



Figure 2 Schematic representation of the automatic culture system. It is composed of four 60-Lt tanks. Tank "A" is used for storing seawater that is continuously pumped in. In tank "B" the water is sterilized and filtered. Tanks "C"" and "D" are both used for the cultivation of organisms, either as replicates or independently. The tanks are connected to one another through pumps, with two water pumps in tank "B" moving water to tanks "C" and "D" as controlled by the CCU. Each tank is also equipped with a chiller, a canister filter, an aerator, and a protein skimmer. In addition, tank "B" is equipped with an ozone generator to ensure water sterilization.

Feeding

Alive microalgae, *Dunaliella tertiolecta* and *Isochrysis galbana*, obtained in axenic cultures set in the algal collections of the Stazione Zoologica Anton Dohrn and cultured in the laboratory, were used to feed the colonies (Rinkevich and Shapira 1998). Microalgae were cultivated in 5 L Erlenmeyer flasks containing Guillard's f/2 medium without silicates (Sigma-Aldrich, Milan, Italy) and kept in a thermostatic chamber (18°C, 12/12 h of photoperiod, ~1500 lux). Our batch cultures were weekly renovated to remain

in a stationary growth phase (Krishnan et al., 2015). This corresponded, for *Dunaliella*, to a density of 7×10^6 cells/ml cell (Fábregas et al., 1995), while for *Isochrysis* it was 9×10^6 cells/ml (Fabregas et al., 1986). In the automated system, the feeding supply was administered by a peristaltic pump (G328, Grothen, China) controlled by the CCU delivering the microalgae mix (stored in the phytoplankton tank next to the system and refilled, when necessary, from the main batches) to culture tanks, to obtain 5×10^6 cells/ml final concentration in the tanks. Every 2-3 days, this concentration was monitored and adjusted manually by an operator, to maintain the required phytoplankton cellular concentration. However, also this measure could be automated by adding a turbidity sensor in future versions of the apparatus. A timer was set in the programme to deliver the algal mix to the culture tanks at a rate of approximately 50 ml/min for two minutes, two times a day. For the traditional system, the feeding was supplied by an operator in one administration every two days, in conjunction with manual water changes, following the amount of algal mix given to the automatic system, in the same ratio.

Experimental set-up

The experimental period lasted 20 days for juveniles and 60 days for adults. Every 2-3 days the specimens were monitored by an operator to evaluate growth rates and health status of juveniles. We evaluated survival rates in percentage, over time, while for adults we determined the growth rates as the increase in number of zooids of the colonies on each slide, deriving from asexual budding, during the experimental period. Specimens were observed every 2-3 days, under a MZ6 stereo-microscope (Leica, Germany), to count the specimens and monitor the health status of both juveniles and adults, as well. To evaluate the health status of adult colonies, four categories were set, according to Brunetti et al 1980, to describe the physiological state of the specimens. A positive score

was set for each category according to a scale. According to Sharp (1984), the highest score was given to normal conditions, which could first disappear in case of adverse environmental conditions. A lower score was given to characteristics which would modify only with worse altered conditions. Lowest scores referred to different levels of abnormalities.

The features chosen to define the four categories were:

• Circulatory system; zooids are linked by a vascular network that exhibits well defined traits. We considered as anomalous every situation where the vessels connecting the zooids were collapsed or absent. Every situation in which the vessels linking the zooids were lacking or collapsed was considered as abnormal.

• Morphology of ampullae; they typically have bottle shape, so every other morphology was considered as abnormal.

• Cardiac contractions; By analysing how cardiac contractions affected blood flow, we were able to assess its effectiveness.

• General aspect of the colony; generally, the tunic is compact, but under some unusual circumstances, it may show hollows that are filled with water.

All the scores assigned to each condition are listed in Table 2.

Features	Categories	Scores
Circulatory system	normal	15
	abnormal	4
Ampullae	bottle-shaped	18
	spherical	6

	spindle-shaped	5.5
	atrophic	5
Cardiac contractions	normal	12
	not too efficient	3
	endocardiac vibrations only	1
	absent	0
General aspect of colony	normal	12
	swollen	2

Table 2. Description of the features and the categories indicating to the health status of the colonies (modified from Sharp, 1984).

Water parameters

Regular measurements of the biotic and abiotic conditions were taken throughout the experiment.

Every two to three days, measurements of the physical and chemical properties of the seawater from both the automatic and the traditional system were made. Beakers (50 ml) were used to collect water samples from each tank. Chemical tests for nitrites (NO^{2–} -N), ammonium (NH³ -N) and phosphates were performed using a spectrophotometer and preprepared kits (DR/2010, Hach DR/2010, USA). Redox potential was measured using a portable ORP meter, (ORP57WP, Martini Instruments, Italy), pH was measured using a pH portable tester (S62, Mettler Toledo, Italy) while salinity was measured through a refractometer model (Bioeropeak RFT PA Series).

Statistical analyses

Data for both the variation of number of zooids in the adult colonies, juveniles' survival rate and health status of specimens cultured in the automatic system and specimens cultured in the traditional tanks, were tested for normality and homogeneity of variances by the D'Agostino & Pearson normality test, then the significance was evaluated using paired t test performed using GraphPad Prism 8.0.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA). All the graphs and the regression lines were calculated through the same software.

Results

Water parameters

The temperature measured in the culture tanks of the automatic system during the eight weeks of the experimental period remained stable around $17.95^{\circ}C$ (± 0.38) in the tanks of the automatic system, thanks to the chiller, and in the traditional tanks, $17.8^{\circ}C$ (± 0.33), kept into the thermostatic chamber (Figure S1). There was no significant difference for all the replicates in each condition. Similarly, the salinity in the automatic tanks was 38.19 (± 0.4) while in the traditional tanks was 38.29 (± 0.4) with no significant difference (Figure S1). The pH, as well, in the automatic system was 8.16 (± 0.04) during the experiment while in the traditional tanks was more unstable with 8.09 (±0,8) and some drops till 7.9 in the 17th and 39th day (Figure S1). The unpaired t-test showed a significant difference (p= 0.0007). Redox potential in the automatic system was 268.96 (± 11.9) while in the traditional tanks was 261.83 (± 20.33). This difference was significant (p= 0.0198; Figure S1). The maximum phosphate, nitrite, and ammonium concentrations in

the automatic system were 0.15, 0.003 and 0.03 mg/l, respectively. In the traditional tanks they were 0.16, 0.004 and 0.04 mg/l (Figure S2). The t-test revealed no significant difference between replicates in each condition.

Juveniles' survival rate and health status

Our study demonstrated that both systems were characterized by a linear decrease of survival rates during the time. Specifically, the traditional tank system exhibited a rapid decrease in the number of individuals, with an average survival rate of 51.96% (\pm 2.64) after 13 days and 26.65% (\pm 2.02) after 20 days. Only 5.38% (\pm 1.95) of juveniles survived until the end of the experiment. In contrast, the automatic system had significantly higher survival rates. After 13 days of culture, the replicates in the automatic system had an average survival rate of 61.8% (\pm 3.47) and 58.86% (\pm 2.76) after 20 days. At the end of the experiment, 41.59% (\pm 2.24) of juveniles survived. The survival rates in the automatic system (p = 0.0034).



Figure 3 Juveniles' survival rate in percentage of *B. schlosseri* cultured in the automatic system and in the traditional tanks as control.

Juveniles' health status was evaluated by observations under the stereomicroscope, using the criteria outlined in Table 1. However, not all the features in the table were considered, as it was not possible to assess the circulatory system since the juveniles had not yet formed a colony. As a result, only the following criteria were considered throughout the experiment: morphology of ampullae, cardiac contractions, and general appearance of the juveniles. A score was assigned based on the different categories of each feature in Table 1, with the sum of all scores representing the general health status of the specimens in the two different systems (Figure 4). At the beginning of the experimental period, all the juveniles were in optimal condition with a score of 42. However, during the experimental period, scores for specimens reared in the traditional tanks showed a gradual decrease in all replicates. The score in the traditional tanks on the 10th day was 25 (\pm 7.38) and on the 20th day, at the end of the experiment, it was 17.8 (\pm 8.01). In contrast, in the automatic system, the score remained consistent throughout the experiment. On the 10th day, it was 39.6 (\pm 5.36) and at the end of the experiment, it was 38.4 (\pm 4.92). The difference between the two systems, according to a paired *t*-test, was significant (p=0.0168).



Figure 4. The health status of the juveniles in the two systems was assessed by the sum of the single scores assigned based on the categories in Table 1, according to Brunetti et al 1980. R^2 for the automatic tanks was 0.3742 while for the traditional tanks was 0.8419.

Adult growth rates and health status

The growth rates of adult colonies were evaluated by measuring the increase in the number of zooids (on average per slide). During the first week, both systems had an average of $5.1 (\pm 1.2)$ zooids per slide. However, colonies cultured in the automatic system exhibited a rapid increase, reaching 17.2 (± 4.54) zooids per slide by the fourth week and 34.8% (± 4) zooids per slide by the eighth week (Figure 5). In contrast, the "traditional" tank system showed a relatively constant number of zooids without any significant increase, resulting in 8.4 (± 1.9) zooids per slide by the fourth week and 7.6% (± 3.4) zooids per slide by the eighth week. The difference between the two systems, according to a paired *t*-test, was significant (p = 0.0064).



Figure 5 Time increases in number of zooids of *B. schlosseri* colonies, over each slide, cultured in the automatic system and in the traditional tanks, as controls. R^2 for the results of the automatic system is 0.9719 while for the traditional tanks is 0.6437.

The health status of colonies was evaluated by observing them under a microscope, using the criteria outlined in Table 1. A score was assigned based on the different categories of each feature in Table 1. At the beginning of the experimental period, all colonies were in optimal condition with a score of 57. However, during the eight weeks, scores for colonies reared in the traditional tanks showed a decrease in all replicates. The score obtained for the traditional tanks at 20 days was 36 (\pm 3.95), at 40 days was 25 (\pm 5.72), and at 60 days, at the end of the experiment, it was 12 (\pm 3.96). On the other hand, in the automatic system, the score remained relatively consistent throughout the experiment, with a slight decrease mainly in the last 10 days (Figure 6). In detail, at 20 days, the score was 57 (\pm 2.62), at 40 days it was again 57 (\pm 2.94) and at 60 days, at the end of the experiment, it was 38 (\pm 5.98). The difference between the two systems, according to a paired *t*-test, was highly significant (p <0.0001).



Figure 6. The health status of the adult colonies, in the two systems, was assessed through the sum of the single scores assigned based on the different categories of the features in Table 1, according to Brunetti et al 1980. R^2 for the automatic tanks is 0.446 while for the traditional tanks is 0.9342.

Discussion

This research was aimed at defining an automatic culture system sufficient to improve the rearing of small invertebrates in different life stages, in the laboratory. Automation has the purpose to lead to a type of culture that fulfils the necessities of a species while minimising the involvement of experienced biologists implied for the daily maintenance. According to this premise, we collected data on the growth and health conditions of Botryllus schlosseri juveniles and adult colonies, chosen as model organisms, cultured in two different systems. We compared an automatic culture system controlled by a CCU programmed *ad hoc* to optimise the culture of this species, to traditional systems consisting in simple tanks relying totally on the operator maintenance, resulting in a type of culture highly time consuming and with limited efficiency. In fact, considering the results obtained evaluating both the growth rates and health status of the specimens during two life stages, in both cases significant improvements were obtained. The survival rates of the juveniles raised in the automatic system were significantly higher than the ones cultured in the traditional thanks. Furthermore, the scores obtained observing their conditions reflected the gradual decrease in the numbers of specimens surviving in time with an important decrease, as well, in their health status.

Similarly, *Botryllus* colonies grew most rapidly in the automatic system, maintaining a constant good health status for the entire experimental period. The combination of daily automatic maintenance together with the reduced and temperature levels allowed for the growth of many contaminating organisms in this treatment tank, which apparently contributed to the eventual demise of the colonies.

Physical and chemical properties of the water recorded during the experiment to evaluate eventual influences on the specimens cultured even if, generally, *B. schlosseri* is considered a species with a wide range tolerance in chemical and physical values fluctuations in the water (Epelbaum et al., 2009; Gregorin et al., 2020). Temperatures and

salinity were stable in both the systems. On the other hand, variation in pH and ORP were significantly different.

Even if the statistical analysis provided evidence of not significant differences between the two systems, for phosphate, nitrite, and ammonium concentrations, it is still possible to observe that the values obtained in the case of the traditional tanks, characterized by lower frequency of water changes, had a larger fluctuation range, leading to a slightly worse quality of water. Nonetheless, there is still lack of data on this species susceptibility to nitrite and nitrate pollution, although its spread in the harbour and along coastlines (where river outflows release significant amounts of ammonium forms into the seawater) suggests that it is not particularly sensitive to these pollutants (Gregorin et al., 2020).

On the other side, the consideration that *B. schlosseri* is a species that lives in areas very affected by the movement of water (Young et al 2012), we can hypothesise that the reduction of individuals who survive over time and the reduction in their grow rate could be mainly related to the inadequate water movement in the traditional tank, supporting previous studies (Brunetti & Copello, 1978; MILKMAN, 1967). In fact, biofilms and debris on the surface of colonies can induce obstruction of the inhaling oral syphon, impeding normal feeding and even triggering premature death. For these reasons, Boyd et al., (1986) and Rinkevich & Shapira, (1998) proposed frequent zooids delicate cleaning using a tool like a soft, tiny paintbrush. This approach is frequently used in the culture of this species; however, it is extremely time consuming and potentially harmful if not done with adequate care and delicacy. On the other hand, our automatic system has managed to successfully carry out the culture of these specimens without the need for an operator to carry out this cleaning.

Moreover, in the system there was a continuous addition of feeding alternating with daily (partial) water changes without the specimen ever being handled. On the opposite, in the

197

classic tank the water change and feeding are administered by the operator once every two days and often these changes involve handling the specimens. Consequently, this automatic system may represent a possible solution to automate and simplify the rearing of small invertebrates in different life stages, in the laboratory.

References

- Ben-Hamo, O., & Rinkevich, B. (2021). Botryllus schlosseri A model colonial species in basic and applied studies. In Handbook of Marine Model Organisms in Experimental Biology: Established and Emerging. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003217503-21
- Bingham, B. L. (1997). Light Cycles and Gametogenesis in Three Temperate Ascidian Species. *Invertebrate Biology*, 116(1). https://doi.org/10.2307/3226925
- Bouquet, J. M., Spriet, E., Troedsson, C., Otter, H., Chourrout, D., & Thompson, E. M. (2009). Culture optimization for the emergent zooplanktonic model organism *Oikopleura dioica*. *Journal of Plankton Research*, 31(4), 359–370. https://doi.org/10.1093/PLANKT/FBN132
- BOYD, H. C., BROWN, S. K., HARP, J. A., & WEISSMAN, I. L. (1986). GROWTH AND SEXUAL MATURATION OF LABORATORY-CULTURED MONTEREY BOTRYLLUS SCHLOSSERI . The Biological Bulletin, 170(1). https://doi.org/10.2307/1541383
- Brenner, S. (2003). Nobel lecture. Nature's gift to science. *Bioscience Reports*, 23(5–6). https://doi.org/10.1023/b:bire.0000019186.48208.f3
- Brunetti, R., & Copello, M. (1978). Growth and senescence in colonies of *Botryllus schlosseri* (Pallas) (Ascidiacea). *Bolletino Di Zoologia*, 45(4), 359–364. https://doi.org/10.1080/11250007809440143
- Brunetti, R., & Copello, M. (2009). Growth and Senescence in Colonies of *Botryllus Schlosseri* (Pallas) (Ascidiacea). *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/11250007809440143*, 45(4), 359–364. https://doi.org/10.1080/11250007809440143
- Calado, R., Figueiredo, J., Rosa, R., Nunes, M. L., & Narciso, L. (2005). Effects of temperature, density, and diet on development, survival, settlement synchronism, and fatty acid profile of the ornamental shrimp *Lysmata seticaudata*. *Aquaculture*, 245(1–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2004.11.034
- Calado, R., Narciso, L., Morais, S., Rhyne, A. L., & Lin, J. (2003). A rearing system for the culture of ornamental decapod crustacean larvae. *Aquaculture*, 218(1–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(02)00583-5
- Delsuc, F., Brinkmann, H., Chourrout, D., & Philippe, H. (2006). Tunicates and not cephalochordates are the closest living relatives of vertebrates. *Nature*, 439(7079). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04336
- Epelbaum, A., Therriault, T. W., Paulson, A., & Pearce, C. M. (2009). Botryllid tunicates: Culture techniques and experimental procedures. *Aquatic Invasions*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.3391/ai.2009.4.1.12

- Fabregas, J., Herrero, C., Cabezas, B., & Abalde, J. (1986). Biomass production and biochemical composition in mass cultures of the marine microalga *Isochrysis galbana* Parke at varying nutrient concentrations. *Aquaculture*, 53(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(86)90280-2
- Fábregas, J., Patiño, M., Arredondo-Vega, B. O., Tobar, J. L., & Otero, A. (1995). Renewal rate and nutrient concentration as tools to modify productivity and biochemical composition of cyclostat cultures of the marine microalga *Dunaliella tertiolecta*. *Applied Microbiology* and Biotechnology, 44(3–4). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00169918
- Genikhovich, G., & Technau, U. (2009). In situ hybridization of starlet sea anemone (Nematostella vectensis) embryos, larvae, and polyps. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols*, 4(9). https://doi.org/10.1101/pdb.prot5282
- Glaviano, F., & Mutalipassi, M. (2022). Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science. *Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture*.
- Goldstein, O., Mandujano-Tinoco, E. A., Levy, T., Talice, S., Raveh, T., Gershoni-Yahalom, O., Voskoboynik, A., & Rosental, B. (2021). *Botryllus schlosseri* as a unique colonial chordate model for the study and modulation of innate immune activity. *Marine Drugs*, 19(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/MD19080454
- Gregorin, C., Musco, L., Somma, E., & Zupo, V. (2020). Behavioural responses of the colonial sea squirt *Botrylloides violaceus* oka to suspended food micro- particles in laboratory cultures. *Journal of Marine Science and Engineering*, 8(12). https://doi.org/10.3390/jmse8121021
- Kolkovski, S., Curnow, J., & King, J. (2004). Intensive rearing system for fish larvae research: I. Marine fish larval rearing system. *Aquacultural Engineering*, 31(3–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaeng.2004.05.004
- Krishnan, V., Uemura, Y., Thanh, N. T., Khalid, N. A., Osman, N., & Mansor, N. (2015). Three types of Marine microalgae and *Nannocholoropsis oculata* cultivation for potential source of biomass production. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 622(1), 012034. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/622/1/012034
- Laudet, V., & Ravasi, T. (2022). Evolution, development and ecology of anemonefishes: model organisms for marine science. CRC Press.
- Lawrence, C. (2007). The husbandry of zebrafish (*Danio rerio*): A review. *Aquaculture*, 269(1–4), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AQUACULTURE.2007.04.077
- Lee, C. E. (2002). Evolutionary genetics of invasive species. In *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* (Vol. 17, Issue 8). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(02)02554-5
- Manni, L., Anselmi, C., Cima, F., Gasparini, F., Voskoboynik, A., Martini, M., Peronato, A., Burighel, P., Zaniolo, G., & Ballarin, L. (2019). Sixty years of experimental studies on the blastogenesis of the colonial tunicate *Botryllus schlosseri*. In *Developmental Biology* (Vol. 448, Issue 2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2018.09.009
- Manni, L., Zaniolo, G., Cima, F., Burighel, P., & Ballarin, L. (2007). Botryllus schlosseri: A model ascidian for the study of asexual reproduction. Developmental Dynamics, 236(2), 335–352. https://doi.org/10.1002/DVDY.21037
- MILKMAN, R. (1967). GENETIC AND DEVELOPMENTAL STUDIES ON *BOTRYLLUS* SCHLOSSERI. The Biological Bulletin, 132(2). https://doi.org/10.2307/1539891

- Mutalipassi, M., di Natale, M., Mazzella, V., & Zupo, V. (2018). Automated culture of aquatic model organisms: shrimp larvae husbandry for the needs of research and aquaculture. *Animal : An International Journal of Animal Bioscience*, 12(1), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117000908
- Mutalipassi, M., Mazzella, V., & Zupo, V. (2019). Ocean acidification influences plant-animal interactions: The effect of *Cocconeis scutellum* parva on the sex reversal of Hippolyte inermis. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(6), e0218238. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218238
- Rinkevich, B., & Shapira, M. (1998). An improved diet for inland broodstock and the establishment of an inbred line from *Botryllus schlosseri*, a colonial sea squirt (Ascidiacea). *Aquatic Living Resources*, 11(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0990-7440(98)80113-7
- Rosner, A., Moiseeva, E., Rabinowitz, C., & Rinkevich, B. (2013). Germ lineage properties in the urochordate *Botryllus schlosseri* - From markers to temporal niches. *Developmental Biology*, 384(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2013.10.002
- Ryu, T., Herrera, M., Moore, B., Izumiyama, M., Kawai, E., Laudet, V., & Ravasi, T. (2022). A chromosome-scale genome assembly of the false clownfish, *Amphiprion ocellaris*. G3 (*Bethesda*, Md.), 12(5). https://doi.org/10.1093/g3journal/jkac074
- Sahm, A., Almaida-Pagan, P., Bens, M., Mutalipassi, M., Lucas-Sanchez, A., Ruiz, J. de C., Görlach, M., & Cellerino, A. (2018). Clownfishes are a genetic model of exceptional longevity and reveal molecular convergence in the evolution of lifespan. *BioRxiv*. https://doi.org/10.1101/380709
- Sharp, P. J. (1984). Combined effects of temperature and salinity on sexual reproduction and colonial growth of *Botryllus schlosseri* (Tunicata). *Bolletino Di Zoologia*, *51*(3–4). https://doi.org/10.1080/11250008409439481
- Tiozzo, S., Ballarin, L., Burighel, P., & Zaniolo, G. (2006). Programmed cell death in vegetative development: Apoptosis during the colonial life cycle of the ascidian *Botryllus schlosseri*. *Tissue and Cell*, *38*(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tice.2006.02.003
- Tiozzo, S., Brown, F. D., & de Tomaso, A. W. (2008). Regeneration and stem cells in ascidians. In *Stem Cells: From Hydra to Man.* https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8274-0_6
- Voskoboynik, A., & Weissman, I. L. (2015). *Botryllus schlosseri*, an emerging model for the study of aging, stem cells, and mechanisms of regeneration. *Invertebrate Reproduction* and Development, 59. https://doi.org/10.1080/07924259.2014.944673
- WATANABE, H., & LAMBERT, C. C. (1973). LARVA RELEASE IN RESPONSE TO LIGHT BY THE COMPOUND ASCIDIANS DISTAPLIA OCCIDENTALIS AND METANDROCARPA TAYLORI . *The Biological Bulletin*, 144(3). https://doi.org/10.2307/1540308
- Zupo, V., Scibelli, S., Mutalipassi, M., Ruocco, N., Esposito, F., Macina, A., Polese, G., di Cosmo, A., & Costantini, M. (2020). Coupling feeding activity, growth rates and molecular data shows dietetic needs of *Ciona robusta* (Ascidiacea, Phlebobranchia) in automatic culture plants. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), undefined-undefined. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41598-020-68031-0

Supplementary materials



Figure S1. Average values of Temperature, Salinity, pH and ORP concentrations in the Automatic system (triangles) and in the Traditional tanks (squares).



Figure S2. Weekly average of Phosphate, Ammonium and Nitrite concentrations in the Automatic system (triangles) and in the Traditional tanks (squares).

Chapter 8

A smart automated culture system for aquatic model organisms tested on the isopod *Idotea baltica basteri*

Abstract

The automation of culture systems for aquatic model organisms has the potential to transform the way scientific research is conducted. The ability to control and monitor the environment where these organisms are grown can improve the quality and the consistency of the data collected, as well as reduce the need for expensive daily care or the involvement of experienced operators. The use of a CR1000X data logger is a powerful tool in automating these systems, as it allows for the collection, analysis, and storage of data, as well as the control of various sensors and effectors.

Here, we investigated the potential set up of an automatic culture system for aquatic model organism, using a CR1000X data logger. The system was designed to control two tanks through the use of various sensors to monitor the tanks and effectors to control and react to changes in desired parameters. Our aim was to make this system fully automatic, with the ability to analyse data and adjust settings to optimize the culture and the set-up. The data logger was programmed to perform data analyses, such as calculating averages, determining maximum and minimum values, and more. This could allow for the identification of patterns and trends in the data, which can be used to optimize the need for significant daily care or the involvement of experienced operators, and to make it possible to monitor and control the system remotely. The data logger was configured to

send data via a communication protocol such as Ethernet, which allowed for remote monitoring and control of the system.

This chapter aimed at describing the details the system and its logic along with the results obtained applying it to the culture of a model species for the marine research. In order to investigate its potential use for scientific research, we tested the system with the culture of the isopod *Idotea baltica basteri*. However, this is intended to be a proof of concept, because it can be applied to other aquatic model organisms.

Introduction

Automatic culture of model organisms

Automatic culture systems have become increasingly popular in several scientific fields as a means for maintaining and studying model organisms in a controlled environment. They can offer several advantages over traditional manual methods of maintaining animals (Mutalipassi et al., 2018). These systems use computer-controlled equipment to monitor and adjust environmental conditions such as chemical and physical parameters. This ensures that the organisms are maintained in optimal conditions, which can improve the reproducibility and reliability of experimental results (Calado et al., 2008; Glaviano & Mutalipassi, 2022). One of the most significant advantages of automatic systems is their ability to automate repetitive tasks such as feeding, water changes and dynamic parameter adjustments. This reduces the need for constant human supervision and allows researchers to focus on other aspects of their research. Additionally, they can be programmed to perform complex experiments, such as exposing organisms to various environmental stressors, which would be difficult or impossible to accomplish manually (Zupo et al., 2016). According to this evidence, researchers can use these systems to study the effects of pollution and climate change on the physiology, reproduction, and survival of specific model organisms. These studies can provide insights into the potential impacts of these environmental stressors on other, more complex, organisms, including humans (Mutalipassi et al., 2022). This is important for understanding the impacts of human activities on the coastal environment and for developing effective conservation and management strategies (Guinotte & Fabry, 2008).

Automation can be accomplished by using a combination of hardware and software tools (Vogel-Heuser et al., 2014). Hardware tools that may be used to include central control units (CCU), sensors to monitor water quality such as temperature and pH, as well as pumps and valves to control the flow of water and nutrients. Software tools that may be used include control systems to automate the process of adjusting the water flow and different parameter levels based on the sensor data (Jones et al., 2022).

The state of the art in automated culture systems for model organisms is constantly evolving, with new technologies and techniques being developed to improve their precision, efficiency, and versatility (Eckhause et al., 2015; Wilson & Sangster, 1992). One area of recent breakthrough is in the use of machine learning and artificial intelligence (AI) to optimize and control the culture system (Chang et al., 2021; Vo et al., 2021). For example, researchers are using AI algorithms to analyse sensor data and predict the growth and health of the organisms, which can be used to optimize the culture protocol over time, enabling it to learn from itself (Vo et al., 2021).

Another area of recent development is the use of microfluidic and lab-on-a-chip technologies to create highly miniaturized and automated culture systems. These systems are able to culture small numbers of organisms in very small volumes of liquid, which can be useful for applications such as high-throughput screening and toxicity testing

206

(Francesko et al., 2018). There are also new technologies for monitoring the organisms, such as imaging and tracking systems, which can provide real-time data on the growth and health of the organisms, and can also be used to study their behaviour and physiology (Glaviano & Mutalipassi, 2022; Ubina et al., 2021). Recent advancement is also the use of to create complex and customizable scaffolds for cell culture. This technology allows for the creation of highly porous and biocompatible structures that can mimic the microenvironment of the cells *in vivo*, which can be useful for applications such as tissue engineering (Li et al., 2014). In addition, the use of automation and robotic systems are becoming more common, with the goal of increasing the efficiency and reproducibility of experiments, and reducing the labour and expertise required to run them (Eckhause et al., 2015).

Finally, the innovation includes also the use of cloud-based data management and analysis platforms that are becoming more common, allowing researchers to easily store, share, and analyse large amounts of data, and to collaborate with others around the world (Schadt et al., 2010). Overall, the field of automated culture systems for model organisms is highly interdisciplinary and involves a wide range of technologies and techniques.

State of art

Various studies related to water quality monitoring have been conducted, as demonstrated by a study by Guerrero and Fernandez (2018) which discussed the main problems and alarms in particular in the aquaculture and water sector. Water quality is one of the critical criteria for the growth and survival of freshwater and marine life, but is often set aside by aquaculture farmers due to the lack of resources for water quality testing. A Real-time water monitoring and automation system created by Harun et al. (2018) focused on different parameters such as temperature, pH, and dissolved oxygen (DO) levels and interfaced with aerating and water supply pumps utilizing Arduino. The data were later sent to the preferred communication or gadget at a certain period of time through the internet. Simbeye and Yang (2014) concentrated their study on temperature, dissolved oxygen, pH, ammonia, nitrates, salinity, and alkalinity that are the vital parameters needed to be monitored and regulated, since they directly affect animal's wellbeing, feed usage, growth rates and carrying abilities. A wireless sensor network (WSN) monitoring and control system was designed for this study. The research in references (Galido et al., 2019; L. K. Tolentino et al., 2017) employed ISFET and glass electrodes as devices for measuring water pH in their aquaponic systems (a combination of aquaculture and hydroponics). The smart sensors for Real-time water quality monitoring design by Cloeta et al. (2016) developed a system that can inform the user of the monitored water quality parameters in real-time setting. This system monitors various water parameters such as pH, water flow, temperature, conductivity, and ORP to detect various contaminants in water. Tolentino et al. (2019) designed a project that emphasized the importance of water quality to the community, bodies of water, and marine species. It is a profiling buoy network that allows the government and nearby industries to monitor the water quality. The network can coordinate and send information to a main station that records the data for monitoring by the use of LoRaWAN technology, employing a point-to-multipoint networking protocol utilizing the LoRa modulation scheme for its efficient and practical method of transmitting data. Nocheski and Naumoski (2018) focused on sustaining the maintainable setting of fishponds for particular fish types by doing the tasks quickly by an IoT (Internet of Things) based system. The IoT system monitors temperature, light intensity, and water level though sensors. It also uses an Arduino Mega2560 to analyse the parameters and provide sound and visual notifications to the user. For the study of Saha et al. (2018) the progression of IoT is applied and implemented for determining water quality through the use of Raspberry Pi and Arduino (as data processors and IoT servers), different sensors, smart phone camera, and an Android app. The previous reference studies were analysed and taken into account in our study to create an innovative system that is, at the same time, easy and fully programmable, adaptable, modular and economically accessible, that can be useful for the automatic culture for research purposes.

Development of the smart automatic culture system

In our study, we aimed at investigating the potential of the Datalogger CR1000X (Campbell Scientific Inc., USA; Figure 1) as a central control unit (CCU) to enhance the performance of an innovative culture system for aquatic model organisms, that is at the same time, easy and fully programmable, adaptable, modular and economically accessible. The CR1000X (Figure 1) is a high-performance data logger that is capable of collecting and analysing a wide range of data. This makes it an ideal tool for monitoring and controlling the conditions of cultures.



Figure 1. The Campbell Scientific CR1000X Datalogger. Image edited from the official datasheet.

The CR1000X (Figure 1) is a data logger manufactured by Campbell Scientific Inc. It features a central control unit (CCU), inputs for measuring analog and digital signals, outputs for controlling external devices, and memory for storing data. This data logger is operated by a firmware that coordinates its various functions in conjunction with its onboard clock and the CRBasic application program and it can measure a wide range of sensors, communicate with other devices, process and reduce data, perform calculations, and control external devices. Then it stores measurements in non-volatile memory and can also summarize data in statistical forms like averages and standard deviations, based on the instructions of the program. The application program for the CR1000X is written
using CRBasic, a programming language that includes measurement, data processing, and analysis routines.

Sensors convert physical phenomena into measurable electrical forms by changing voltage, current, resistance, status, or pulse output signals. This logger supports analog inputs, digital inputs, and pulse inputs. The analog inputs can be configured for voltage, current, resistance, and thermocouple measurements, while the digital inputs can be used to measure contact closures, frequency, and duty cycle. The pulse input can be used to measure frequency and period of a pulse signal. The CR1000X also has a variety of communication options, including Ethernet, Cellular, and Radio. It can be configured to transmit data to a remote location via these communication methods. Additionally, it has a built-in web server that allows users to access and configure the data logger remotely. It is also programmable using the proprietary datalogger programming language (CDL), which is a text-based language that allows users to create custom programs to control the data logger and process the data. Moreover, it also supports the use of various libraries (CRBasic, Python, and .NET) for programming and data processing.

The automatic culture system utilizes a hybrid power supply system to ensure efficient and reliable operation. The system is composed of two main components: the grid power supply and the AC-DC power supply unit (Figure 2). The grid power supply, which operates at 230VAC 50Hz, is responsible for providing power to a variety of system components such as the filter pumps, water motion pumps, chiller, and lights. This power supply is essential for the proper functioning of these components and ensures that they are able to operate at optimal levels. The AC-DC power supply unit is responsible for converting the alternate current from the grid power supply into direct current, providing 12VDC stabilized tension. This is achieved through the use of an electronic switching system, which is designed to ensure efficient and accurate power conversion. The direct current output from the AC-DC power supply unit is then used to energize the CR1000X device.

The CR1000X is a very low energy consumption device that is used for data acquisition and sensor control. It is able to provide the right amount of energy to the sensors connected to the wiring panel, ensuring that they are able to function properly. The energy provided by the CR1000X is stabilized and can be distributed to the sensors with a controlled duration pulse. This technique, known as pulse energizing, allows the system to conserve energy and reduce sensor deterioration by only providing energy to the sensors when they are in use.



Figure 2. Block diagram of electric power distribution

Overall, the hybrid power supply system used in the automatic culture system is designed to ensure efficient and reliable operation, while minimizing energy consumption and sensor deterioration.

We equipped our automatic system with two CR1000X, one for each tank (Figure 2).

Programming with CRBasic

CRBasic is a proprietary programming language developed by Campbell Scientific for use with their data loggers. It is a text-based language with a simple syntax and a variety of built-in commands and functions. The language is designed to work seamlessly with Campbell Scientific data loggers, allowing for control and interfacing with various types of sensors and equipment, as well as data storage and retrieval. The language can support several communication protocols, such as RS-232, RS-485, and Ethernet, which allows the logger to communicate with other devices.

To program the CR1000X data loggers in our automatic culture system, we used CRBasic to control and monitor various aspects of the system, such as water temperature, pH, ORP, and water flow. Furthermore, the data logger was programmed to control equipment such as pumps, filters, and other equipment to maintain the desired conditions for the aquatic culture. In addition, CRBasic was used to log data to an external computer, for later analysis. The data logger was also configured to be able to send data (if requested) to remote locations via Ethernet communication protocol allowing: remote monitoring; remote control of the system; management of alarms via E-Mail that can be sent to a series of addresses. Moreover, the data logger can perform data analysis, such as calculating averages, determining maximum and minimum values. This allows for the identification of patterns and trends in the data, which can be used to optimize the conditions for the aquatic culture.

Culture system and sensors

The culture system consisted of two tanks of 50 L (Figure 3A): Tank A and Tank B. Both were filled with fresh sea water that had been previously sterilized and filtered. At the

center of both tanks, a cylinder (Figure 3B) dedicated to animal culture was installed. These cylinders were a modification of a standard tronco-conical larval rearing unit commonly used in aquaculture practices. It measured 350 mm in height and 180 mm in diameter, with a total volume of approximately 10 litres. It was equipped with two holes, one located laterally and measuring 36 mm in diameter, and the other located on the bottom measuring 50 mm in diameter. The lateral hole had a 50 μ m net, while the bottom hole was connected to a pump (Multi 400, Sicce, Italy) in the middle of the tank that drew filtered water from the main tank, to promote water exchange in this culture area.

According to the Bureau of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources-National Inland Fisheries Technology Center (BFAR-NIFTC), the following parameters are considered necessary for water monitoring: pH Sensor, which measures the acidity or alkalinity of water and is commonly used for aquaponics, aquaculture, and environmental water testing; Oxidation-Reduction Potential Sensor, a combination sensor with a measuring electrode and a reference electrode; Water Temperature Sensor, used to measure the temperature of the water. For these reasons, each tank was equipped with a variety of other tools to ensure optimal water quality and conditions. Being an experimental project, to reduce the costs commercial sensors were used. These included:

- A chiller (Micro, Teco srl, Italy) set to 18 C° linked to a probe to constantly monitor and regulate the water temperature.
- An external canister filter (Whale 350, Sicce, Italy) filled with perlon wool and activated carbon to remove impurities and debris. It was equipped with a water flux sensor (YF-S201, Arceli, Italy) to monitor the flow of water through the filter, ensuring that it was operating at the proper level. This could help to prevent issues such as clogging.
- An under-gravel filter as an additional filtration system.

- Two level sensors (GP2Y0A21YK0F, Sharp, Deutschland) to monitor the water levels both in the tank and in the cylinder.
- A pump (Multi 600, Sicce, Italy) connecting the culture tanks to an additional extra tank filled with distilled water.
- Aerators (Askoll Holding Srl, Italy).
- A protein skimmer (Seachem Aquavitro, Acquariomania, Italy) which is linked to an ozone generator (Ozonizer Certizon C200, Aqua-Sander, Germany) to ensure that the water is clean and disinfected. A sock micron bag filled with activated carbon was placed in the outflow of the skimmer. This was to speed up the elimination of remaining, possibly harmful, ozone and to help filter out any remaining impurities from the water before it is returned to the tank.
- A pump (XStream SDC, Sicce, Italy), installed in the tank and positioned towards the lateral opening of the cylinder, dedicated to the cleaning of the net. This pump could be activated to perform a backwash by turning it on for several seconds at a time, as needed (for example, when the cylinder level sensor detected a water level too high). This allowed to continuously eliminate any debris or impurities that may accumulate on the net, ensuring optimal filtration performance.
- An ORP probe (Lab Grade, Atlas scientific, US)
- A pH probe (Lab Grade, Atlas scientific, US)
- A fluorescent light (12:12h day: night cycle).



Figure 3. A) Automated culture system scheme B) Detailed scheme of the cylinder

During the culture, the system managed by the CCU was set up to operate automatically and coordinate all this equipment.

Logic configuration of the system

The data logger was programmed to follow a specific logic according to our culture protocol, to ensure optimal conditions of the cultured animals, of the tanks and the equipment present in the system. This scheme included specific parameters and variables that needed to be monitored, as well as specific actions that needed to be taken (such as turning on or off certain equipment or adjusting settings). The logic of this scheme (Figure 4) is explained below.

The starting set-up refers to the initial configuration or arrangement of equipment and settings when a system is started. It may include turning on certain devices, adjusting settings, and configuring the system in a specific way to ensure that it functions properly and achieves the desired outcome.

The starting set-up of our system was defined as follow: The pump linked to the under gravel filter (SS) was turned on to circulate water through the tank; the external filter was also turned on to constantly filter impurities and debris from the water; the chiller was turned on to regulate the water temperature; the skimmer was turned on; the aerator was turned on; lighting was turned on and set to a 12:12 hours timer to mimic natural daylight cycles. Furthermore, the CCU received constantly inputs from various probes and sensors in the system. Based on these inputs, the CCU could determine the appropriate action to take. For example, if a sensor detected a problem, the CCU may have sent an alarm signal to alert the operator. Alternatively, if the input indicated that a certain effector should be activated, the CCU may have sent a signal to turn on that effector. This process was explained more in detail below, where the different types of input the CCU received were listed as well as the actions that the CCU took in response to each of them. The logic followed by the CCU in explained in detail below:

• The input from the **level** sensor that monitors the level of water in the tank. If the sensor indicates that the level is normal or "OK" the CCU will continue with normal operation and no action will be taken. If the sensor indicates that the level is LOW (lower than 5mm), the CCU will activate the pump linked to the distilled water tank. The pump will continue to run until the level returns to the normal range, at which point the pump will

217

be turned off. If the sensor indicates that the level is below the lowest threshold, the CCU will trigger an alarm to alert the operator. Additionally, the CCU will turn off the filter, skimmer and pumps in order to prevent any further damage.

This way the CCU is able to manage the different actions needed to keep the system running and prevent any damage on it.

- The input from the **level** sensor that monitors the level of water in the cylinder. If the sensor indicates that the level is normal or "OK" the CCU will continue with normal operation and no action will be taken. If the sensor indicates that the level is HIGH (higher than 5mm from the normal level set), the CCU will activate the pump responsible for cleaning the net. The cleaning process, in backwash, is carried out by turning the pump on for a series of five cycles, each lasting three seconds. This should effectively remove any debris or impurities that have accumulated on the net, preventing the cylinder from overflowing. If the level of the cylinder is still not back to normal after the first series of cycles, the process will repeat three more times. If it still does not return to normal, the CCU will trigger an alarm to alert the operator.
- The input from the **pH** sensor. The lower limit is set on 7,9. If the sensor indicates that the level was over the threshold or "OK" the CCU will continue with normal operation and no action will be taken. If the sensor indicates that the level is LOW (lower than 7,9), the CCU will activate the second extra aerator and will trigger an alarm to alert the operator. Increasing the aeration in the aquarium can help to reduce the amount of carbon dioxide in the water. The aerator will continue to run until the level returns to the normal range, at which point it will be turned off.
- The input from the **ORP** sensor. The lower limit is set on 50 mV while the limit for the normal value is set on 100mV. If the sensor indicates that the level was over the normal value or "OK" the CCU will continue with normal operation and no action will be taken.

If the sensor indicates that the level is LOW (lower than 50 mV), the CCU will activate the ozone generator and will trigger an alarm to alert the operator. The ozone generator will continue to run until the level returns to the normal value (100mV), at which point it will be turned off.

- The input from the **Temperature** sensor. The highest limit is set on 25 °C. If the sensor indicates that the level is "HIGH" the CCU will trigger an alarm to alert the operator.
- The input from the water **Flux** sensor. If the sensor indicates that the level is normal or "OK" the CCU will continue with normal operation and no action will be taken. If the sensor indicates that the level is 0%, the CCU will turn off the filter, skimmer in order to prevent any further damage and additionally it will trigger another alarm to alert the operator.



Figure 4. The overall Block Diagram of the proposed Logic in the automatic culture system.

Water parameters

Throughout the experimental time, regular measurements of the system were taken. Every three days, physical measurements of the seawater were made in both the automatic tanks. Water samples were collected using 50ml beakers from each tank. The redox potential was monitored using a portable ORP meter (ORP57WP, Martini Instruments, Italy), while pH and temperature were measured using a portable pH tester (S62, Mettler Toledo, Italy).

Experimental Evaluation

To demonstrate the reliability of the CCU sensors' data processing, we conducted an experimental evaluation where we compared the readings of the automatic sensor with those of laboratory sensors manually operated by an operator. The main objective of this comparison was to prove that the automatic measurements were providing accurate and reliable data. We chose to test both sensors in the same water environment (automatic system's tanks), this was done to eliminate any variation in the water conditions that could affect the readings. By doing this, we were able to ensure that any differences in the readings were a result of the sensors and not the environment. We conducted several concurrent measurements over the course of a month for a total of twelve measurements. The trends are illustrated in Figure 5. To confirm that the readings were comparable, we performed a series of statistical analyses. In details, data were tested for normality and homogeneity of variances by the D'Agostino & Pearson normality test, then the significance was evaluated using paired t test performed using GraphPad Prism 8.0.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA).



Figure 5. Trends to compare the data obtained through the automatic measurements of the system and the concurrent manual measurements of the operator.

The results of the comparison showed a high level of correlation between the readings of the automatic sensor and the laboratory sensors. This provided strong evidence that the automatic sensor was providing accurate and reliable data. The statistical analyses confirmed that the differences between the two sets of readings were not statistically significant, indicating that the automatic sensor was performing just as well as the laboratory sensors. Additionally, it was also found that the automatic sensor had several advantages over the laboratory sensors. For example, it was able to provide continuous monitoring of the water environment, whereas the laboratory sensors could only provide occasional readings. The automatic sensor was also much more convenient to use, as it did not require an operator to manually take readings. Overall, the experimental evaluation provided strong evidence that the automatic sensor was a reliable and convenient tool for monitoring water quality.

Discussion

Automatic culture systems have become an important tool in the field of marine biology. They offer several advantages over traditional manual methods of maintaining and studying model organisms, including the ability to automate repetitive tasks, perform complex experiments, and study the effects of different environmental conditions on the physiology, reproduction, and survival of marine organisms (Glaviano & Mutalipassi, 2022; Mutalipassi et al., 2018). The use of these systems has greatly improved the reproducibility and reliability of experimental results and has allowed researchers to focus on other aspects of their research. The Datalogger CR1000X can be considered as a useful tool for monitoring and controlling the culture of aquatic model organisms. It's ability to collect and analyse data in real-time, as well as its ability to detect and alert to potential problems, makes it an essential tool for researchers working with aquatic model organisms.

Overall, our preliminary study shows that the Datalogger CR1000X is a potential valuable tool for automating and improving the culture of aquatic model organisms. Additionally, we found that the CR1000X was able to detect and alert us to potential problems, such as fluctuations in temperature or pH, before they became critical. This allowed us to take corrective action and avoid potential losses in the culture. The evaluation of the type of sensors used in the system is an important aspect of the study. In this case, commercial sensors were used due to their relatively lower cost. However, even if the results obtained from the measurements obtained both from the automatic system and the manual operator

222

were comparable it was found that these commercial sensors were more challenging to manage during the initial set-up from a programming perspective. This means that extra steps were needed to increase the accuracy of the measurements. This suggests that the use of commercial sensors, while cost-effective, may not be the best choice for experimental projects where fast and simple management of programming is a priority. Therefore, researchers need to be aware of the trade-offs between cost and accuracy when choosing sensors for their experimental projects.

In conclusion, even though the system described in this work is currently set up to work with two small tanks, it can be still considered a potential valuable tool for aquaculture as well. In fact, the size of the tanks does not affect the basic instrumental composition of the system. This means that the system is flexible and can be used to monitor fish farming tanks of different sizes. Additionally, it is noted that the system can be supplemented with other parameters, such as conductivity, salinity, and chlorophyll, which are important for the healthy development of the animal with are relevant for the market. These parameters are related to the water quality and can indicate the suitability of the environment for any aquaculture species. By monitoring these parameters, operators can ensure that the animals are living in conditions that are conducive to their growth and development, which is crucial for the success of the fish farming operation.

Further studies will be needed to explore the full potential of this technology and to identify the best practices for using the CR1000X in aquatic culture systems. We are currently working to test the efficiency of this automatic system on the cultivation of the *Idotea baltica* species in particular.

Idotea baltica as a model organism

Idotea baltica, commonly known as the Baltic isopod, is a species of isopod crustacean that is found in the Baltic Sea, in the North Sea and in other coastal regions of Europe, such as the English Channel and the North Atlantic coast (Leidenberger et al., 2012). They are generally found in rocky or sandy areas in the intertidal zone and can be found attached to rocks or other hard surfaces. They are known to feed on algae and other small organisms and are an important part of the coastal ecosystem (Orav-Kotta & Kotta, 2004). This species is a member of the family Idoteidae, which includes several other species of isopods found in coastal regions around the world (Leidenberger et al., 2020a). These isopods are known for their hard, protective exoskeleton and their ability to survive in harsh conditions such as high temperatures and low oxygen levels (Vetter et al., 1999). They are known to be able to tolerate a wide range of environmental conditions, including temperature fluctuations, waves, currents, and differing salinities, which allows them to live in a variety of environments (Wood et al., 2014). Moreover, this animal is important to the coastal ecosystem because it is a keystone species (Leidenberger et al., 2012). Keystone species play a crucial role in maintaining the structure and function of an ecosystem. They can have a disproportionate effect on the community and their loss can lead to a cascade of effects that can alter the ecosystem (Orav-Kotta & Kotta, 2004). In addition, *I. baltica* plays an important role in the food web of the coastal ecosystem as it is both a primary consumer and a secondary consumer. As a primary consumer, it feeds on algae, which are at the base of the food web, and as a secondary consumer, it is an important food source for a variety of organisms. Moreover, it is important for controlling the growth of algae in the intertidal zone, which can otherwise become overgrown and smother other organisms. They also help to control the growth of invasive species of algae that can outcompete native species. As a secondary consumer, it is an important food source for a variety of organisms, from many other invertebrates to birds such as seagulls,

oystercatchers, fish such as flounders and plaice, and other crustaceans (Leidenberger et al., 2012; Orav-Kotta & Kotta, 2004). In addition, *I. baltica* also plays a role in nutrient cycling by breaking down dead algae and other organic matter, which releases nutrients back into the ecosystem. It has also a role in maintaining the quality of the water removing the organic matter and prevents it from decomposing anaerobically, which can lead to the production of harmful compounds such as hydrogen sulphide (Leidenberger et al., 2020b).

This species is also important also for biofouling control, as they feed on microorganisms and other small organisms that attach to ships, pier pilings and other structures in the water. This prevents the build-up of these organisms, which can cause damage to the structures and promote the growth of other invasive species. I. baltica is often used as a model organism for scientific research due to its hardiness and ability to tolerate a wide range of environmental conditions. Moreover, it is a widely distributed species and can be found in many coastal regions around the world. In fact, model organisms are often chosen for their wide distribution in the wild (Leidenberger et al., 2012; Salemaa, 1979). This allows researchers to study the effects of pollution and climate change on organisms across different geographical regions, which can help identify regional variations in the impacts of these environmental stressors. Moreover, this widespread distribution makes it relatively easy to collect samples and, the fact that they are found in the intertidal zone which is easily accessible, facilitates even more their sampling and collection (Salemaa, 1979). This makes it possible for researchers to conduct field studies and experiments in a range of different habitats and environments, allowing them to investigate how variations in environmental conditions affect the physiology, reproduction, and survival of marine organisms. In addition, *I. baltica* is a relatively small and hardy species, making it easy to handle and maintain in laboratory conditions. All these factors make I. baltica a valuable model organism and, for these reasons, it has been chosen for the tests of our smart system (Leidenberger et al., 2012, 2020b; Salemaa, 1979).

Experimental plan

Classic management of marine organisms in the laboratory involves simple tanks that entirely rely on constant maintenance by a human operator, providing frequent water exchanges, measurement of water parameters, and daily monitoring and supervision. In order to further evaluate the performances of this automatic system, we want to compare the results obtained in the continuous culture of *I. baltica* in the automated system and we will compare it with traditional protocol rearings involving the presence of human operators. Mortality, easy of management and healthy status of this species will be took into account to compare different systems. Health status in particular will be assessed through molecular approach. Several steps were necessary to optimise a molecular protocol for first obtain sufficient quality and quantity of RNA for Real Time-qPCR analysis. Then it was necessary to identify suitable housekeeping genes (for which the expression levels remain constant along all the different developmental stages of the organisms), as well as genes of interest involved in the stress response (Table 1).

Acronym	Gene name	OLIGO	Sequence 5'=>3'	
ALDH	Aldehyde dehydrogenase	ALDH(NAD)_Ib_F1	GGTGGATTTGGGGGGTTTCGG	
		ALDH(NAD)_Ib_R1	CGGGAAACAATAGCTCTGAC	
ALDH(NAD)	Aldehyde dehydrogenase	ALDH_Ib_F1	GCGAACGAGCTCGTGAGGAG	
		ALDH_Ib_R1	GATGGTCTGACTTCTTTCGC	
HSP 70	Heat Shock Protein 70	Hsp70_Ib_F1	GCCCAATCATAGCACTGAGAC	
		Hsp70_Ib_R1	CGCAACAAAATGGTGTGGTC	
HSP 90	Heat Shock Protein 90	Hsp90_Ib_F1	CTGGGAGGATTGAGTTACAG	
		Hsp90_Ib_R1	CCACAGTCACTCTTCCTCCT	
Casp	caspase	casp_Ib_F1	GCCTACGCTACAACAGTGTG	
		casp_Ib_R1	CCCATCGTGCCTTCATCGATGC	
Cytp450	Cytochrome P450	CytP450_Ib_F1	GGATCGCACAACTAGAAGACTG	
		CytP450_Ib_R1	GATGAGAAGGTGTCTCTCGTCG	
Cytc	Cytochrome	Cyt_c_Ib_F1	GATATCTCCCCGAGTGCTAG	
		Cvt c Ib R1	CAGGTGACATTCTGTCGCTCG	

Met	Methoprene-tolerant	Met_Ib_F1	CACGCAAGGTATACTGGGATC
		Met_Ib_R1	GTGCCATACCCTGTCGATGC
GSS	Glutamine synthetase	GSS_Ib_F1	CATCGTACAGCAGACCCGAG
		GSS_Ib_R1	GCATTCCACACCTCTGCAGAG
GST	Glutathione-S-transferase	GST_Ib_F1	CCCATATGACGATCCTGCAAAAC
		GST_Ib_R1	GTTCCATACACAGAGCCCGTG
GSTter	Glutathione-S-transferase	GSTCter_Ib_F1	CTCCGTGATGCGAAGAGCAG
		GSTCter_Ib_R1	GAAGTCAGAGCAATGGGGCG
HIF1A	hypoxia inducible factor 1 subunit alpha	HIF1A_Ib_F1	CGCTGGATCTCGCCAGATTTG
		HIF1A_Ib_R1	CATGATCATCCGCCTCCAGCAC
NFAT	NFAT nuclear factor	NFAT_Ib_F1	GAACGCGATGATCTGGACGAG
		NFAT_Ib_R1	CGCAAGCGCAGCAGAAAGCG
Parp	Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase 1	PARP_Ib_F1	CAGATTCCCGCACCCGCGCAG
		PARP_Ib_R1	GATTTCTGTCCTCCCACGAC
MAPK	mitogen activated kinase- like protein	MAPK_Ib_F1	GAAGATCAACATCTGCGCAGTC
	_	MAPK_Ib_R1	GCCCTTTTTGTCTTCGACCTC
SDH	Sorbitol dehydrogenase	SDH_Ib_F1	GTGGCAATCGCGATGGAGGC
		SDH_Ib_R1	CCGACAACGACAAGCGCTGC
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor alpha	TNF_Ib_F1	GATCGTCGTTTGACCGTGCG
		TNF_Ib_R1	TTGCAGCCACTCTGTGCATG
P53	Tumor protein p53	p53_Ib_F1	CGACACGCATGATTTTGCCG
		p53_Ib_R1	GTGGGTAGTGTTGGACGAGG
ABC	ATP_bind transport system	ABC_Ib_F1	TCGTGGATTCGTACAGCGAG
		ABC_Ib_R1	GAAGGTTTTCGGTAGGGGCATC
Perm	permease	Perm_Ib_F1	CCCTCGACATCTCCAAAGCA
		Perm_Ib_R1	CATCGATAACAACGGCGATGG
KIF	KIF-binding protein-like	KIF_Ib_F1	CTATCGCGCATCGAATCAGC
		KIF_Ib_R1	GCCACGATTTGCTCCACTTCG
18S	18S ribosomal RNA	18S_Ib_F1	GGTTCTGGCACAGGTCGTATAC
		18S_Ib_R1	CGGTGCAGGATGTCGTTCTG
Ubi	ubiquitin	Ubi_Ib_F1	GCGATCTCGGCTATCTCAGG
		Ubi_Ib_R1	CGGATATCGATGAACGGGGT
28S	28S ribosomal RNA	28S_Ib_F1	CTCGACGATGCGGTTATGG
		28S Ib R1	GGGAGGTCGGTAAAACGGAG

Table 1. Genes name, acronym, function and reference.

For each gene, specific primers were designed on the public transcriptome nucleotide sequences and PCRs (Taq High Fidelity PCR System, Roche, Italy) were performed to test the specificity of the product. PCR fragments were then purified from agarose gel using the QIAquick Gel Extraction kit and are going to be checked by DNA sequencing.

PCR products will then be aligned with gene sequences by MultAlin Software. Once verified, through all the previous steps, that the performance of the RT-qPCR reactions will be tested.

References

- Calado, R., Pimentel, T., Vitorino, A., Dionísio, G., & Dinis, M. T. (2008). Technical improvements of a rearing system for the culture of decapod crustacean larvae, with emphasis on marine ornamental species. *Aquaculture*, 285(1–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.08.019
- Chang, C. C., Wang, J. H., Wu, J. L., Hsieh, Y. Z., Wu, T. D., Cheng, S. C., Chang, C. C., Juang, J. G., Liou, C. H., Hsu, T. H., Huang, Y. S., Huang, C. T., Lin, C. C., Peng, Y. T., Huang, R. J., Jhang, J. Y., Liao, Y. H., & Lin, C. Y. (2021). Applying Artificial Intelligence (AI) Techniques to Implement a Practical Smart Cage Aquaculture Management System. In *Journal of Medical and Biological Engineering* (Vol. 41, Issue 5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40846-021-00621-3
- Cloete, N. A., Malekian, R., & Nair, L. (2016). Design of smart sensors for real-time water quality monitoring. *IEEE Access*, 4, 3975–3990.
- Eckhause, T., Al-Hallaq, H., Ritter, T., Demarco, J., Farrey, K., Pawlicki, T., Kim, G. Y., Popple, R., Sharma, V., Perez, M., Park, S., Booth, J. T., Thorwarth, R., & Moran, J. M. (2015). Automating linear accelerator quality assurance. *Medical Physics*, 42(10). https://doi.org/10.1118/1.4931415
- Francesko, A., Cardoso, V. F., & Lanceros-Méndez, S. (2018). Lab-on-a-chip technology and microfluidics. In *Microfluidics for Pharmaceutical Applications: From Nano/Micro Systems Fabrication to Controlled Drug Delivery*. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812659-2.00001-6
- Galido, E., Tolentino, L. K., Fortaleza, B., Corvera, R. J., de Guzman, A., Española, V. J.,
 Gambota, C., Gungon, A., Lapuz, K. T., Arago, N., Felasco, J., & Jorda Jr, R. (2019).
 Development of a solar-powered smart aquaponics system through internet of things (IoT). *Lecture Notes on Research and Innovation in Computer Engineering and Computer Sciences, October.*
- Glaviano, F., & Mutalipassi, M. (2022). Automatic Culture of Crustaceans as Models for Science. *Crustaceans: Endocrinology, Biology and Aquaculture*.
- Guerrero, R. D., & Fernandez, P. R. (2018). Aquaculture and water quality management in the Philippines. In *Global Issues in Water Policy* (Vol. 8). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70969-7_7
- Guinotte, J. M., & Fabry, V. J. (2008). Ocean acidification and its potential effects on marine ecosystems. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1134*, 320–342. https://doi.org/10.1196/annals.1439.013

- Harun, Z., Reda, E., & Hashim, H. (2018). Real time fish pond monitoring and automation using Arduino. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, 340(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/340/1/012014
- Jones, A. S., Jones, T. L., & Horsburgh, J. S. (2022). Toward automating post processing of aquatic sensor data. *Environmental Modelling and Software*, 151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2022.105364
- Leidenberger, S., Harding, K., & Jonsson, P. R. (2020). Erratum: Ecology and distribution of the isopod genus *Idotea* in the Baltic sea: Key species in a changing environment (Journal of Crustacean Biology (2012) 32:3 (359-389) DOI: 10.1163/193724012X626485). In *Journal of Crustacean Biology* (Vol. 40, Issue 4). https://doi.org/10.1093/jcbiol/ruaa036
- Li, X., Cui, R., Sun, L., Aifantis, K. E., Fan, Y., Feng, Q., Cui, F., & Watari, F. (2014). 3Dprinted biopolymers for tissue engineering application. In *International Journal of Polymer Science* (Vol. 2014). https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/829145
- Mutalipassi, M., di Natale, M., Mazzella, V., & Zupo, V. (2018). Automated culture of aquatic model organisms: shrimp larvae husbandry for the needs of research and aquaculture. *Animal : An International Journal of Animal Bioscience*, 12(1), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117000908
- Mutalipassi, M., Mazzella, V., Schott, M., Fink, P., Glaviano, F., Porzio, L., Lorenti, M., Buia, M. C., von Elert, E., & Zupo, V. (2022). Ocean acidification affects volatile infochemicals production and perception in fauna and flora associated with Posidonia oceanica (L.) Delile. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 9, 809702.
- Nocheski, E., Eng, -R, & Naumoski, A. (2018). WATER MONITORING IOT SYSTEM FOR FISH FARMING PONDS. *Industry 4.0, 3*(2).
- Orav-Kotta, H., & Kotta, J. (2004). Food and habitat choice of the isopod *Idotea baltica* in the northeastern Baltic Sea. *Hydrobiologia*, *514*. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:hydr.0000018208.72394.09
- Saha, S., Rajib, R. H., & Kabir, S. (2018). IoT Based Automated Fish Farm Aquaculture Monitoring System. 2018 International Conference on Innovations in Science, Engineering and Technology, ICISET 2018. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICISET.2018.8745543
- Salemaa, H. (1979). Ecology of *Idotea* spp. (isopoda) in the northern baltic. *Ophelia*, *18*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/00785326.1979.10425495
- Schadt, E. E., Linderman, M. D., Sorenson, J., Lee, L., & Nolan, G. P. (2010). Computational solutions to large-scale data management and analysis. In *Nature Reviews Genetics* (Vol. 11, Issue 9). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2857
- Simbeye, D. S., & Yang, S. F. (2014). Water quality monitoring and control for aquaculture based on wireless sensor networks. *Journal of Networks*, 9(4). https://doi.org/10.4304/jnw.9.4.840-849
- Tolentino, L. K., Lapuz, K. T., Corvera, R. J., de Guzman, A., Espanola, V. J., Gambota, C., & Gungon, A. (2017). AQUADROID : AN APP FOR AQUAPONICS CONTROL AND MONITORING. 6th Pacific-Asia Conference on Mechanical Engineering (6th PACME 2017) 6th International Conference on Civil Engineering (6th ICCE 2017) AQUADROID:
- Tolentino, L. K. S., Fernandez, E. O., Jorda, R. L., Amora, S. N. D., Bartolata, D. K. T., Sarucam, J. R. v., Sobrepena, J. C. L., & Sombol, K. Y. P. (2019). Development of an IoT-

based Aquaponics Monitoring and Correction System with Temperature-Controlled Greenhouse. *Proceedings - 2019 International SoC Design Conference, ISOCC 2019.* https://doi.org/10.1109/ISOCC47750.2019.9027722

- Ubina, N. A., Cheng, S. C., Chen, H. Y., Chang, C. C., & Lan, H. Y. (2021). A visual aquaculture system using a cloud-based autonomous drones. *Drones*, *5*(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/drones5040109
- Vetter, R. A. H., Franke, H. D., & Buchholz, F. (1999). Habitat-related differences in the responses to oxygen deficiencies in *Idotea baltica* and *Idotea emarginata* (Isopoda, Crustacea). *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 239(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0981(99)00049-0
- Vo, T. T. E., Ko, H., Huh, J. H., & Kim, Y. (2021). Overview of smart aquaculture system: Focusing on applications of machine learning and computer vision. In *Electronics* (*Switzerland*) (Vol. 10, Issue 22). https://doi.org/10.3390/electronics10222882
- Vogel-Heuser, B., Diedrich, C., Fay, A., Jeschke, S., Kowalewski, S., Wollschlaeger, M., & Göhner, P. (2014). Challenges for Software Engineering in Automation. *Journal of Software Engineering and Applications*, 07(05). https://doi.org/10.4236/jsea.2014.75041
- Wilson, R. A., & Sangster, A. (1992). The automation of accounting practice. *Journal of Information Technology*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1057/jit.1992.11
- Wood, H. L., Nylund, G., & Eriksson, S. P. (2014). Physiological plasticity is key to the presence of the isopod *Idotea baltica* (Pallas) in the Baltic Sea. *Journal of Sea Research*, 85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2013.05.009
- Zupo, V., Mutalipassi, M., Fink, P., & di Natale, M. (2016). Effect of Ocean Acidification on the Communications among Invertebrates Mediated by Plant-Produced Volatile Organic Compounds. *Global Journal of Ecology*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.17352/gje.000002

Section 3

During my Ph.D., I spent three months abroad in Portugal collaborating with Professor Rui Rosa, who is based at Laboratório Marítimo da Guia, in Cascais and a Professor at the University of Lisbon. The goal of Professor Rosa research is to comprehend the effects of climate change on marine life, encompassing everything from cells to ecosystems, through a multi-disciplinary and comprehensive approach. His team is actually investigating the collective impact of climate change stressors such as ocean warming, acidification, and hypoxia on marine invertebrates and vertebrates of ecological significance.

In line with the objective of my Ph.D. project, I took advantage of this opportunity to engage with a new field of biological research and work with a new model organism (*Sepia officinalis*). My background allowed me to interface and optimize the experimental system for simulating hypoxic conditions to expose the model organisms for experimental purposes through programming an Arduino with C. The results shown here are preliminary and will be reviewed with additional analysis planned in our collaboration.

Lower hypoxia threshold can affect behaviour in early life stages of cuttlefish

Introduction

The global temperature is rising at an alarming rate and it is expected to increase between 3°C and 6°C by 2100 (Meehl et al., 2007). This temperature increase is expected to have negative effects on organisms at the individual level, as well as on phenology, diversity, and biogeography at the community level (Meehl et al., 2007; Rosa & Seibel, 2008). In coastal areas, many organisms already live close to their thermal tolerance limits, and ocean warming will negatively impact their performance and survival. Carbon dioxide levels in the atmosphere have also increased since the industrial revolution and are expected to continue to rise to 730–1020 ppm by 2100 (Rosa et al., 2012; Rosa & Seibel, 2008). This increase in carbon dioxide reacts with seawater, resulting in decreased pH levels, and is projected to decrease the pH of surface waters between 0.14 and 0.5 units by the end of the century. This process, known as ocean acidification, is expected to pose problems for key calcifying organisms (Rosa et al., 2012). In parallel, higher temperatures induce a decrease of the saturation concentrations for most gases, including oxygen and this may lead to hypoxia, in conjunction with other physical and biological effectors. Marine hypoxia has also become a major ecological concern in recent decades (Figure 1). Low oxygen levels in the ocean are a growing problem in many coastal and open ocean regions around the world. It is caused by a variety of factors, including excessive inputs of organic matter from human activities, as well as climate-related changes (Breitburg et al., 2018). When oxygen levels in the ocean become too low, this can lead to major declines in local biodiversity, with some areas becoming "dead zones" where the marine life is highly impacted resulting in a very low surviving level (Levin et al., 2009; Pörtner & Farrell, 2008; Pörtner & Knust, 2007; Vaquer-Sunyer & Duarte, 2008). One of the main causes of marine hypoxia is the excessive input of nutrients and organic matter into coastal ecosystems, often from human activities such as agriculture and sewage discharge. These nutrients can lead to phytoplankton blooms, followed by death of microalgae and sink to the ocean floor, where they are decomposed by bacteria (Grantham et al., 2004; Siikavuopio et al., 2007). This process consumes large amounts of oxygen, leading to further decreases of dissolved oxygen. Additionally, climate-related changes such as ocean warming and changes in ocean circulation patterns can also lead to marine hypoxia. Warmer water holds less dissolved oxygen, and changes in ocean circulation can lead to the formation of low-oxygen zones in certain regions (Vaquer-Sunyer & Duarte, 2008).

Marine hypoxia may have several negative impacts on marine life. Many species are unable to tolerate low oxygen levels and die or migrate to other areas. Those species that can tolerate low oxygen levels may still suffer from reduced growth and reproductive potential, and early life stages are often more sensitive to oxygen stress than older life one(Levin et al., 2009). In addition to impacts on marine life, marine hypoxia can also have negative economic and societal impacts, such as decreased fish catches and reduced tourism opportunities in affected areas.



Figure 1. Local representation of zones of reduced oxygen concentration (mainly in the coastal zone of the Pacific Ocean and coastal zone of the Indian Ocean) and zones of hypoxia (distributed along the coastal zone of the continents) throughout the globe (Breitburg et al., 2018).

The combined effects of temperature and elevated CO_2 on hypoxic thresholds of marine biota are currently not well understood (Breitburg et al., 2018).

Biodiversity response to climate change: physiology and behaviour

Several studies have proven that the concentration of CO₂ has doubled compared to preindustrial times, affecting marine life (Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2007). According to recent studies, several species among echinoderms, bryozoans, and cnidarians showed a reduction in calcification, growth, and survival due to the decrease in pH (Kwiatkowski et al., 2020) as well as inhibition of aragonite formation (the main crystalline form of calcium carbonate deposited in coral skeletons; Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2007). With the increase in atmospheric temperature, also the ocean has increased its annual medium temperature. This heating results in negative effects due to the increase in ocean stratification leading to a decrease in nutrient availability and subsequently a reduction in primary production affecting phytoplankton and all primary and higher trophic levels such as zooplankton and large predators (Kwiatkowski et al., 2020; Levin et al., 2009). With climate change, the concentration of O_2 will decrease and influence the physiological and behavioural responses of various organisms, primarily obligate aerobic organisms, causing; i) a decrease in growth rates; ii) a reduction in fertility (due to the reduction of energy for the production of gametes) and iii) an increase in mortality (Hughes et al., 2020).

Exposure to different types of stress in organisms can have very negative effects, such as the case of temperature, whose increase causes a decrease in oxygen availability. This combination of phenomena will cause a change in the distribution of various fish and invertebrate species that will tend to migrate towards the poles. The increase in acidification together with the reduction of O_2 can cause a decrease in various species of fish important for human consumption (Fabry et al., 2008; Kroeker et al., 2010).

Different organisms have different thresholds of resistance to lack of oxygen, resulting these effects lethal or sublethal (Diaz & Rosenberg, 2008). These limits can be balanced with the regulation of enzymatic activity through energy metabolism, such as the negative regulation of ion pumps (Na+/K+-ATPase) (Farhat et al., 2022). The key of the adaptation, found in various organisms exposed to hypoxia phenomena, is their ability to reverse metabolic depression, reducing the production and consumption of ATP (Farhat et al., 2022).

The limitation of oxygen availability can lead to severe damage in the eye development of individuals, especially when this limitation occurs during embryonic development. Mollusca have a high level of visual complexity, but in contrast, they have less tolerance to oxygen limitation (Jereb et al., 2015). The decrease in available oxygen is an important factor for physiological limits in the visual level, specifically damaging the photoreceptor function. This damage can affect the behaviour of individuals, their distribution, and interaction with other species. The decrease of oxygen led to a depolarization of the cellular current as a result of insufficient ATP production in squid (*Loligo pealii*), reduces the size of the eye in mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) and damages eye development in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) leading to the absence of eyes (McCormick & Levin, 2017).

Sepia offiicinalis

Sepia officinalis, known as common cuttlefish, is a nekto-benthic decapod that is predominantly found on sandy and muddy bottoms. The species can be found from the coastline (2-3 m depth) to approximately 200 m depth, with the greatest abundance in the upper 100 m (Guerra, 2006). It has a broad distribution, ranging from the North Atlantic, throughout the English Channel, and South into the Mediterranean Sea to the coast of West Africa (Guerra, 2006; Jereb et al., 2015; Schaeffel et al., 1999).

This species is relatively tolerant to environmental changes, including salinity (Gutowska et al., 2008; Mattiello et al., 2012). Younger specimens have greater ecophysiological plasticity and can tolerate greater environmental instability, allowing them to colonize the upper zones, avoiding intraspecific competition (Pérez-Losada et al., 2002). However, they are not very tolerant of low oxygen concentrations and their temperature limits range from 10 °C to 30 °C. Temperatures below 10 °C induce not feeding behaviour in the individuals, with consequent inactivity and resulting in their death in a couple of days (Guerra, 2006).

The common cuttlefish life cycle can last between 12 to 24 months but can vary depending on environmental conditions (Domingues et al., 2006). This species is gonochoristic (separate sexes) and the mating process begins with an elaborate and ritualized courtship, which includes stereotyped visual displays and "mate guarding"

237

(Sykes et al., 2014). During the mating season, cuttlefish undertake seasonal migrations between inshore waters (spring and summer) and offshore waters (autumn and winter) to depths of about 100 m (Sykes et al., 2014). Mature large females are typically the first to leave deeper waters and spawn, followed by mature large males. Smaller mature individuals arrive and spawn later, throughout the summer. This leads to two distinct spawning periods (Domingues et al., 2006; Guerra, 2006).

In general, the spawning period of this species occurs between late March and early December, with peaks at water temperatures between 13 °C to 18 °C (these parameters can vary depending on location). After mating, the eggs are laid one by one through the funnel with a ring-shaped elongation of the envelope (Sykes et al., 2014) and in grape-like clusters, which simplifies the process of attaching them to seaweed, shells, debris, and other surfaces like drowned trees, cables, or nets (Reid et al., 2005; Guerra, 2006). The encased eggs are typically black or dark brown due to the ink layers added to the gelatinous envelopes, but can be translucent if there is a lack of this black pigment (Jereb et al., 2015; Schaeffel et al., 1999). The gelatinous and opaque capsule provides physical and chemical buffering between the embryo microenvironment and the surrounding, ensuring protection against microbial attack and predation. After spawning, females die, resulting in a massive post-spawning mortality and a predominance of males in the population (von Boletzky, 2003). The remaining and new individuals return to offshore waters, but the youngest animals only go to depths of about 50 to 80 m because their cuttlebones cannot withstand high water pressure (Reid et al., 2005).

Hiding in the substrate, changing colour, and changing arms disposition, with the dorsal arms stretched upwards and ventral arms downwards are the primary responses that cuttlefish has to protect itself (Messenger, 1968; Sykes et al., 2014; von Boletzky, 2003).

Another way of defence is by ink ejection, creating a cloud to push away the attacking predators (Palumbo et al., 1997, 1998, 2000).

Among the defensive responses, there is also the freezing behaviour, defined as temporary cessations of body movement or ventilation, often co-occurring with background matching and visual displays to evade predation by both visual and non-visual predators(Bedore et al., 2015; Messenger, 1968; Moura et al., 2019). Freezing has been noted in a diversity of taxa, including cephalopods. As an example, the longfin squid *Loligo pealeii* reduces its movement and settles on the seafloor to minimize its presence to predatory teleosts, thus reducing the risk of attracting their attention (Bedore et al., 2015). Cephalopods, and in particular *S. officinalis*, represent an ideal system for studying non-visual crypsis as they fall prey to a diverse group of predators, many of which employ acute, non-visual sensory modalities while foraging (Palumbo et al., 2000).

This study aimed to explore the innate chemical recognition abilities of newly hatched cuttlefish in both normal and severe hypoxia conditions. This was accomplished by exposing the cuttlefish to odors from both predator (*Scyliorhinus canicula*) and non-predator (conspecific *S. officinalis*) sources. The research aimed to shed light on the effect of hypoxia on the chemical recognition abilities of cuttlefish and its potential implications for their survival and behaviour in their natural habitats. The results of this study would provide insights into the impact of hypoxia on the sensory abilities of marine organisms and how it affects their interactions with their environment.

Materials and methods

Collections

Egg masses of the common cuttlefish *S. officinalis* were collected in October 2022 from Caldeira de Tróia, a shallow water habitat near the mouth of the Sado estuary in Portugal. The eggs were immediately transferred to aquaculture facilities in Laboratório Marítimo da Guia, Cascais, and placed in two life support systems, with 60 egg capsules per system (30 L tanks) and replenished daily with fresh seawater. The water contained in semiclosed systems was filtered (0.35 μm) and UV-irradiated, with a 14-hour light and 10hour dark cycle. Water quality was kept sufficient through wet-dry filters (bioballs matured with nitrifying bacteria), protein skimmers (Schuran, Jülich, Germany), and UV sterilizers (30W TMC, Chorleywood, UK).

New hatched cuttlefishes were randomly divided into 6 small boxes (16 cm $L \times 9.5$ cm W) for a total of twelve animals in each one (Figure 2).

Experimental system

Six tanks were used, of which three were used for the hypoxia treatment replicates and three as control replicates., Ten animals were kept in culture in each tank for the duration of the experimental period (Table 1). During the behavioural tests, the animals from each tank were divided equally and randomly exposed to either predator or conspecific odour stimuli (according to Mezrai et al., 2020), resulting in five animals being tested with predator odour and five animals being tested with conspecific odour for each replicate. The hypoxia treatment simulated acute exposures of severe hypoxia (2 mg L -1 O₂) according to Terova et al (2008) for 12h.

conditions	Number of rep. tanks	Animals in each rep.	tested odours
Control	3	10 ind	Predator (5 ind)
			Conspecific (5 ind)

Hypoxia	3	10 ind	Predator (5 ind)
			Conspecific (5 ind)

Table 1. Experimental plan. Six tanks corresponded to the hypoxia treatment and its control, resulting in three replicate each condition. In each tank, ten animals were taken in culture for all the duration of the experimental period. During the behavioural tests, individuals coming from each tank where equally divided to be randomly exposed to two different odour stimuli.

These systems were supplied with natural seawater that was pumped from the sea, filtered with a 0.35 μ net and UV radiation, and kept under a semi-closed system to minimize bacterial activity. The systems were also equipped with biological filtration using bioballs matured with nitrifying bacteria. The temperature was controlled using extra tanks, a bain-marie system, and water chillers (Hailea, Guangdong, China) to maintain an average temperature of 18°C. Room illumination was provided through overhead fluorescent lighting (MASTER TL-D Super 80, 4000K, 3350 lumen) under a photoperiod of 12:12 day night. The experimental O₂ levels were adjusted automatically using solenoid valves controlled by an Arduino system (ATmega8, Arduino, Italy) connected to individual oxygen sensors (Strathkelvin 929, Mainz, Germany) immersed in each treatment sump, and to a power bar that sends the order from the Arduino to the solenoid valves, activating or deactivating them. The O₂ of natural seawater was reduced by injecting a certified nitrogen (N₂) gas mixture (Air Liquide, Miraflores, Algés, Portugal) via air stones (Figure 2). The hypoxia exposure in accordance with Terova et al (2008) lasted 12h.



Figure 2. Experimental set up for one of the tanks for hypoxia treatment. Each replicate had an individual seawater supply with filtration of 0.35 μ m net and UV filter and an individual sump with bioballs, oxygen sensor linked to the Arduino controller and one air stone to nitrogen gas mixture (only in hypoxia treatment), a pump to ensure mixing/circulation of water (P1) and another to elevate the water from the sump to the treatment tank (P2). Besides that, each sump had a sand filter and a skimmer.

To evaluate the innate chemical recognition capabilities of new hatched cuttlefishes in normal and hypoxia treatment, animals were exposed to predator and non-predatory odour. To obtain predatory odour, we used water coming from a *S. canicula* tank while for the non-predatory odour we used water coming from conspecific tank. According to previous test, the dilution factor used was 1:25.

The behaviour was evaluated in two different ways:

1) ventilation rate (VR), which is the number of ventilations per minute, rather than mantle contractions. VR was chosen as a measure because it can be used to monitor more

subtle responses to low-intensity stimuli, as suggested by Boal and Ni (1996). Additionally, decreased ventilation and bradycardia can be observed in cuttlefish after sudden visual or chemical stimulation, as reported by King and Adamo (2006). Unlike heart rate, VR is easily and directly observable in cuttlefish, either by noting the rhythmic motion of the collar flaps circulating oxygenated water to the gills, or by the movement of the funnel in response to pressure changes resulting from respiratory movements (inhalation and exhalation).

2) Behavioural response choices to the stimulus divided in: freeze, escape (sudden, erratic movement made as an attempt to flee the immediate area) and inking.

Behavioural tests

After the 12h exposure to the treatment, the new-borns were gently singularly transferred to the 50mL beaker where the behavioural tests were performed. Every individual was used in only one experimental session. The cuttlefish were placed in the beaker and acclimated for about 10 minutes, until they rested quietly on the glass bottom. The beaker was dimmed on lateral sides and on top to prevent visual inputs that could disturb the cuttlefish during the tests. Only the bottom of the beaker was left uncovered to permit the inspection by the still camera (Vixia HF R800 HD, Canon, Tokio, Japan; Figure 3). During the test, the camera was not moved to avoid adding any additional visual inputs to the animal. After 10 minutes of acclimation, the water from the tank containing predators or conspecifics (depending on the test) was gently added to the centre of the beaker using a transparent glass dropper. Previous tests were conducted to verify that this method of adding water did not cause any disturbance or reaction in the animals. Data collection was carried out by evaluating the response choices to the stimulus and manually counting the VR from videos. VR was recorded before the stimulation (VRbf), after 30

seconds (VR0.30), after one minute (VR1), after 3 minute (VR3) and after 10 minutes (VR10). Response choices to the stimulus were divided in: freeze, escape and inking.



Figure 3. Behavioural tests. Animals were recorded from the bottom with a camera. All the data were evaluated using the records.

Statistical analyses

Data were tested for normality and the homogeneity of variances by the D'Agostino and Pearson normality test. Further, the significance of differences among replicates was evaluated using two-way ANOVA. A value of p < 0.05 was chosen as a threshold for significance using GraphPad Prism 8.0.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA).

Results

Ventilation rate

To evaluate the innate chemical recognition capabilities of new hatched cuttlefishes, previously cultured in the experimental set up in control tanks and in hypoxia treatment tanks for 12h, were exposed to predator and non-predatory odour. Each subject was used in a single experimental session and data was collected by observing their behaviour choices and manually counting their ventilation rate (VR) from videos. VR was recorded at several intervals: before the stimulation (VRbf), 30 seconds after stimulation (VR0.30), one minute after stimulation (VR1), 3 minutes after stimulation (VR3), and 10 minutes after stimulation (VR10). The data collected from the videos showed that there was no significant difference among all the cases. The data collected from the videos showed that there was no significant difference between animals exposed to hypoxia treatment and control animals, nor between animals exposed to the predator odour and non-specific odour. The VR remained always within the range from a maximum of 36 VR to a minimum of 31 VR (Figure 4).



Figure 4. VR recorded at different intervals: before the stimulation (VRbf), 30 seconds after stimulation (VR0.30), one minute after stimulation (VR1), 3 minutes after stimulation (VR3), and 10 minutes after stimulation (VR10). In graph A) there are the results for animals from the control tanks exposed to predator ordour; B) there are the results for animals from the hypoxia treatment tanks exposed to conspecific ordour; C) there are the results for animals for animals from the control tanks exposed to conspecific odour; D) there are the results for animals from the hypoxia treatment tanks exposed to predator ordour; D) there are the results for animals from the hypoxia treatment tanks exposed to predator ordour; D)
Behavioural response choices to the stimulus

As for the VR data, response choices to the stimulus were evaluated for each trial from the recorded videos. Response choices were divided in freeze, escape (sudden, erratic movement made as an attempt to flee the immediate area) and inking (Figure 5-6).



Figure 5. These graphs shows in proportion the different behavioural responses in animals coming from the control tanks and hypoxia tanks exposed to predator ordor (A) and conspecific odour (B).

Comparing the response choices coming from cuttlefish reared in the control tanks and hypoxia tanks, both exposed to predator odour stimuli, we can find a significant difference (p=0~0,0022; Figure 5A) with 90% of animals from the control that chose the freezing response against the 40% of animals which did the same choice from the hypoxia treatment. 50% of animals from hypoxia preferred the escape choice. Similarly, comparing the responses coming from cuttlefish from the control tanks and hypoxia tanks, but exposed to conspecific odour stimuli, we found again a significant difference (p=0,0474; Figure 5B) with 70% of animals from the control that chose the freezing

response against the 50% of animals which did the same choice from the hypoxia treatment.



Figure 6. These graphs show in proportion the different behavioural responses in animals coming from hypoxia tanks exposed to predator and conspecific odour (A) and animals from the control tanks exposed to predator and conspecific odour (B).

On the other side, considering only cuttlefish reared in the hypoxia tanks and comparing the choices to predator vs conspecific odour stimuli, we found there was no significant difference (Figure 6A). Animals exposed to predator odour that chose to freeze where 40% versus 45% for animals exposed to conspecific odour. Similarly, considering only cuttlefish reared in the control tanks and comparing the choices to predator vs conspecific odour stimuli, we found again that there was no significant difference (Figure 6B). Animals exposed to predator odour that chose to freeze where 80% versus 75% for animals exposed to conspecific odour.

Discussion

Several studies have been conducted on various model organisms to evaluate the effects of future climate scenarios (Breitburg et al., 2018; Chan et al., 2008; Levin et al., 2009; Vaquer-Sunyer & Duarte, 2008). These studies aim to understand how changes in temperature, pH, and other environmental factors may impact the survival and reproduction of different species. Climate change is expected to have a significant impact on the world ecosystems and biodiversity, and it is important to understand how different organisms will be affected in order to develop conservation and management strategies. Some studies have focused on the effects of ocean acidification, which is a direct result of increasing carbon dioxide (CO₂) levels in the atmosphere. As CO₂ dissolves in seawater, it creates carbonic acid, which leads to a decrease in pH. This can have a variety of negative effects on marine organisms, such as reducing growth and reproduction, altering behaviour, and impacting the development of their shells and skeletons (Diaz & Rosenberg, 2008; Eabry et al., 2008; Grantham et al., 2004; Kroeker et al., 2010; Seibel

Rosenberg, 2008; Fabry et al., 2008; Grantham et al., 2004; Kroeker et al., 2010; Seibel & Walsh, 2001). Other studies have investigated the effects of warming on different species, such as fish, amphibians, and reptiles. Warmer temperatures can lead to changes in the timing of reproduction, altered growth rates, and changes in the distribution of species(Helmuth et al., 2006). Some studies have also looked at the combined effects of different climate change-related stressors, such as increased temperature and ocean acidification. These studies aim at understanding how a range of stressors may interact and compound one another to affect the organisms.

Only recently, there have been new investigations focused on evaluating the effects of marine hypoxia. Hypoxia refers to low oxygen levels in the water, which can occur due to a variety of factors such as nutrient pollution and climate change (Levin et al., 2009; Vaquer-Sunyer & Duarte, 2008). Marine hypoxia can have serious consequences for marine organisms and ecosystems, as many species require oxygen to survive and thrive.

These studies aim to understand how different species and ecosystems may be affected by marine hypoxia, and how this stressor may interact with other environmental changes such as ocean acidification and warming. They investigate the changes in physiology and behaviour of the organisms exposed to low oxygen levels.

The aim of this study was to investigate how exposure to severe hypoxia could alter a fundamental behaviour such as predator response in model organism such as the cuttlefish. To evaluate the behavioural response, two different factors were considered: VR and response choices to the odour stimulus. In the case of comparing the ventilation rate obtained from all trials and with different stimuli, no significant difference was ever found. The choice of evaluating the VR was probably not good because it is a parameter that is difficult to evaluate as it had to be manually counted later on the video recorded during the trial. Since the operator must avoid any movement and any extra intervention during the test to avoid altering the behaviour response, in the case the animal moves even a little during the recording, there is a risk of losing the right focus of the camera, making it extremely complicated to accurately calculate the VR in a second moment. Instead, by taking into account the different behavioural responses such as freezing, ink or escape, the evaluation through video recording was much simpler. In this case, there was a more interesting result. Although there was no significant difference comparing the responses obtained from animals exposed to hypoxia treatment and tested with predator and conspecific odour stimuli as well as comparing responses from animals from control tanks tested with predator and conspecific odour stimuli, there were significant differences when comparing the responses between animals coming from the control tanks and hypoxia tanks exposed to predator odour and as well conspecific odour. These results show that the variable that cause the difference is not given by the stimulus of predator and conspecific odour, but rather by the exposure to hypoxia that made the animals more prone to escape rather than settling on the bottom of the beaker. In fact, during the collection of data, the animals exposed to the hypoxia treatment were found to be much more stressed, difficult to handle and less inclined to stay still (as happened for the animals from the control group). This aspect will require further future tests and the search for a different evaluative parameter or further support for the choice of evaluating the ventilation rates.

References

- Bedore, C. N., Kajiura, S. M., & Johnsen, S. (2015). Freezing behaviour facilitates bioelectric crypsis in cuttlefish faced with predation risk. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282(1820). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1886
- Breitburg, D., Levin, L. A., Oschlies, A., Grégoire, M., Chavez, F. P., Conley, D. J., Garçon, V., Gilbert, D., Gutiérrez, D., Isensee, K., Jacinto, G. S., Limburg, K. E., Montes, I., Naqvi, S. W. A., Pitcher, G. C., Rabalais, N. N., Roman, M. R., Rose, K. A., Seibel, B. A., ... Zhang, J. (2018). Declining oxygen in the global ocean and coastal waters. In *Science* (Vol. 359, Issue 6371). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam7240
- Chan, F., Barth, J. A., Lubchenco, J., Kirincich, A., Weeks, H., Peterson, W. T., & Menge, B. A. (2008). Emergence of anoxia in the California current large marine ecosystem. In *Science* (Vol. 319, Issue 5865). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1149016
- Diaz, R. J., & Rosenberg, R. (2008). Spreading dead zones and consequences for marine ecosystems. In Science (Vol. 321, Issue 5891). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1156401
- Domingues, P. M., Bettencourt, V., & Guerra, A. (2006). Growth of *Sepia officinalis* in captivity and in nature. In *Vie et Milieu* (Vol. 56, Issue 2).
- Fabry, V. J., Seibel, B. A., Feely, R. A., & Orr, J. C. (2008). Impacts of ocean acidification on marine fauna and ecosystem processes. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 65(3). https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsn048
- Farhat, N., Kim, L., Mineta, K., Alarawi, M., Gojobori, T., Saikaly, P., & Vrouwenvelder, J. (2022). Seawater desalination based drinking water: Microbial characterization during distribution with and without residual chlorine. *Water Research*, 210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117975
- Grantham, B. A., Chan, F., Nielsen, K. J., Fox, D. S., Barth, J. A., Huyer, A., Lubchenco, J., & Menge, B. A. (2004). Upwelling-driven nearshore hypoxia signals ecosystem and oceanographic changes in the northeast Pacific. *Nature*, 429(6993). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02605
- Guerra, A. (2006). Ecology of Sepia officinalis. In Vie et Milieu (Vol. 56, Issue 2).

- Gutowska, M. A., Pörtner, H. O., & Melzner, F. (2008). Growth and calcification in the cephalopod *Sepia officinalis* under elevated seawater pCO2. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, *373*. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07782
- Helmuth, B., Mieszkowska, N., Moore, P., & Hawkins, S. J. (2006). Living on the edge of two changing worlds: Forecasting the responses of rocky intertidal ecosystems to climate change. In *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* (Vol. 37). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.37.091305.110149
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Mumby, P. J., Hooten, A. J., Steneck, R. S., Greenfield, P., Gomez, E., Harvell, C. D., Sale, P. F., Edwards, A. J., Caldeira, K., Knowlton, N., Eakin, C. M., Iglesias-Prieto, R., Muthiga, N., Bradbury, R. H., Dubi, A., & Hatziolos, M. E. (2007). Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. In *Science (New York, N.Y.)* (Vol. 318, Issue 5857). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1152509
- Hughes, D. J., Alderdice, R., Cooney, C., Kühl, M., Pernice, M., Voolstra, C. R., & Suggett, D. J. (2020). Coral reef survival under accelerating ocean deoxygenation. *Nature Climate Change*, *10*(4). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0737-9
- Jereb, P., Allcock, A. L., Lefkaditou, E., Piatkowski, U., Hastie, L. C., & Pierce, G. J. (2015). Cephalopod biology and fisheries in Europe: II. Species Accounts. *ICES Cooperative Research Report No. 325*, 325(32).
- Kroeker, K. J., Kordas, R. L., Crim, R. N., & Singh, G. G. (2010). Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. In *Ecology Letters* (Vol. 13, Issue 11). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01518.x
- Kwiatkowski, L., Torres, O., Bopp, L., Aumont, O., Chamberlain, M., R. Christian, J., P. Dunne, J., Gehlen, M., Ilyina, T., G. John, J., Lenton, A., Li, H., S. Lovenduski, N., C. Orr, J., Palmieri, J., Santana-Falcón, Y., Schwinger, J., Séférian, R., A. Stock, C., ... Ziehn, T. (2020). Twenty-first century ocean warming, acidification, deoxygenation, and upper-ocean nutrient and primary production decline from CMIP6 model projections. *Biogeosciences*, *17*(13). https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-17-3439-2020
- Levin, L. A., Ekau, W., Gooday, A. J., Jorissen, F., Middelburg, J. J., Naqvi, S. W. A., Neira, C., Rabalais, N. N., & Zhang, J. (2009). Effects of natural and human-induced hypoxia on coastal benthos. *Biogeosciences*, 6(10). https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-6-2063-2009
- Mattiello, T., Costantini, M., di Matteo, B., Livigni, S., Andouche, A., Bonnaud, L., & Palumbo, A. (2012). The dynamic nitric oxide pattern in developing cuttlefish *Sepia* officinalis. Developmental Dynamics, 241(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/dvdy.23722
- McCormick, L. R., & Levin, L. A. (2017). Physiological and ecological implications of ocean deoxygenation for vision in marine organisms. In *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* (Vol. 375, Issue 2102). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsta.2016.0322
- Meehl, G. A., Stocker, T. F., Collins, W. D., Friedlingstein, P., Gaye, A. T., Gregory, J. M., Kitoh, A., Knutti, R., Murphy, J. M., Noda, A., Raper, S. C. B., Watterson, I. G., Weaver, A. J., & Zhao, Z.-C. (2007). Global Climate Projections. In *Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.*
- Messenger, J. B. (1968). The visual attack of the cuttlefish, *Sepia officinalis*. *Animal Behaviour*, *16*(2–3). https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-3472(68)90020-1

- Mezrai, N., Arduini, L., Dickel, L., Chiao, C.-C., & Darmaillacq, A.-S. (2020). Awareness of danger inside the egg: Evidence of innate and learned predator recognition in cuttlefish embryos. *Learning & Behavior*, 48, 401–410.
- Moura, É., Pimentel, M., Santos, C. P., Sampaio, E., Pegado, M. R., Lopes, V. M., & Rosa, R. (2019). Cuttlefish early development and behavior under future high CO2 conditions. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *10*(JUL). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00975
- Palumbo, A., di Cosmo, A., Gesualdo, I., & Hearing, V. J. (1997). Subcellular localization and function of melanogenic enzymes in the ink gland of *Sepia officinalis*. *Biochemical Journal*, 323(3), 749–756. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ3230749
- Palumbo, A., Gesualdo, I., di Cosmo, A., & de Martino, L. (1998). The Ink Gland of Sepia officinalis as Biological Model for Investigations of Melanogenesis. New Developments in Marine Biotechnology, 147–149. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4757-5983-9_32
- Palumbo, A., Poli, A., di Cosmo, A., & D'Ischia, M. (2000). N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor stimulation activates tyrosinase and promotes melanin synthesis in the ink gland of the cuttlefish *Sepia officinalis* through the nitric oxide/cGMP signal transduction pathway. A novel possible role for glutamate as physiologic activator of melanogenesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(22). https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M909509199
- Pérez-Losada, M., Guerra, A., Carvalho, G. R., Sanjuan, A., & Shaw, P. W. (2002). Extensive population subdivision of the cuttlefish *Sepia officinalis* (Mollusca: Cephalopoda) around the Iberian Peninsula indicated by microsatellite DNA variation. *Heredity*, 89(6). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.hdy.6800160
- Pörtner, H. O., & Farrell, A. P. (2008). Ecology: Physiology and climate change. Science, 322(5902), 690–692. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1163156/ASSET/AFFD2058-9AEF-4ECD-A6AF-9DCFBF23FF5A/ASSETS/SCIENCE.1163156.FP.PNG
- Pörtner, H. O., & Knust, R. (2007). Climate change affects marine fishes through the oxygen limitation of thermal tolerance. *Science*, *315*(5808). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1135471
- Rosa, R., Pimentel, M. S., Boavida-Portugal, J., Teixeira, T., Trübenbach, K., & Diniz, M. (2012). Ocean warming enhances malformations, premature hatching, metabolic suppression and oxidative stress in the early life stages of a keystone squid. *PLoS ONE*, 7(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0038282
- Rosa, R., & Seibel, B. A. (2008). Synergistic effects of climate-related variables suggest future physiological impairment in a top oceanic predator. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 105(52). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806886105
- Schaeffel, F., Murphy, C. J., & Howland, H. C. (1999). Accommodation in the cuttlefish (Sepia officinalis). Journal of Experimental Biology, 202(22). https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.202.22.3127
- Seibel, B. A., & Walsh, P. J. (2001). Carbon cycle: Potential impacts of CO2 injection on deepsea biota. In Science (Vol. 294, Issue 5541). https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1065301
- Siikavuopio, S. I., Dale, T., Mortensen, A., & Foss, A. (2007). Effects of hypoxia on feed intake and gonad growth in the green sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis*. *Aquaculture*, 266(1–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2007.02.028

- Sykes, A. v, Domingues, P., & Andrade, J. P. (2014). Sepia officinalis. Cephalopod Culture, 175–204.
- Terova, G., Rimoldi, S., Corà, S., Bernardini, G., Gornati, R., & Saroglia, M. (2008). Acute and chronic hypoxia affects HIF-1α mRNA levels in sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax). *Aquaculture*, 279(1–4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2008.03.041
- Vaquer-Sunyer, R., & Duarte, C. M. (2008). Thresholds of hypoxia for marine biodiversity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 105(40). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0803833105
- von Boletzky, S. (2003). Biology of early life stages in cephalopod molluscs. *Advances in Marine Biology*, 44.

Section 4

General conclusions

Scientific research is aimed at discovering new information, understanding phenomena, and developing theories through the use of specific methods. It is often conducted by scientists in universities, government agencies, and private companies with the goal of expanding human knowledge, produce new ideas and understanding the natural world (Edquist, 2004; Hubbell et al., 2018). The scientific approach, while considered reliable, can have limitations such as researcher bias, lack of generalizability, and replicability issues. Additionally, scientific research can be highly time-consuming and expensive. However, the scientific approaches are continuously evolving and improving, and scientists are constantly working to address these limitations and improve the quality of research (Pinto, 2019; Schiffer, 2005).Innovation in scientific research can play a key role by leading to new discoveries and a deeper understanding of the studied subject. New and innovative approaches, such as multidisciplinary approach, can open up new areas of investigation and lead to new and unexpected discoveries that can have a significant impact on our understanding of the world (Milojevic, 2014; Schiffer, 2005).

According to Maul et al. (2017) and Payne et al. (2006), traditional protocols can have limitations in terms of "questions that can be asked", "methods that can be used", and the flexibility of the research design. This can lead to missed opportunities for important discoveries and potential biases in the research. To overcome these limitations, new approaches are intended to involve collaboration between researchers from different fields and the integration of different perspectives, methods, and techniques. This can lead to a more comprehensive understanding of research questions and the development of new and innovative methods.

In this thesis, I focused on marine research that is a complex and multi-disciplinary field that plays a crucial role in understanding the ocean, cover more than 70% of the Earth's surface and play a vital role in regulating the Earth's climate, providing food and resources for human populations (Penesyan et al., 2010). Innovative methods and technology improvements played a vital role in advancing our understanding of marine ecosystems, allowing for greater access to previously difficult to study areas and organisms. Advancements in underwater imaging, remote sensing, sensor technology and automated culture systems have already provided researchers with new tools to monitor marine environment, to study marine populations, oceanographic processes, and the distribution and abundance of marine organisms (Lacroix et al., 2016; Muller-Karger et al., 2018). These technologies are also part of the intent to reform the way aquatic model organisms are cultured, allowing for precise control of environmental conditions and highthroughput experimentation, which could lead to a deeper understanding of biological processes that are common to other species, including humans.

According to these preconditions, the main objective of my thesis was to explore how innovative methods and automated culture techniques can be used to further improve the efficiency and reproducibility of marine research. The specific goals in detail were to investigate the potential of incorporating new techniques and a multi-disciplinary approach in my research, as well as to develop innovative automatic culture techniques for aquatic model organisms.

Highlighting the limitation of traditional methods and opportunities associated with innovative approaches, in Section 2, I presented studies that focused on previously approached research questions that have the potential for the introduction of new, innovative approaches. I worked mainly with the sea urchin, *Paracentrotus lividus*, as a model organism in these studies. *P. lividus* is already used to study a wide range of biological processes, including developmental biology, response to stressors, and genetics and molecular biology (Boudouresque & Verlaque, 2001, 2020; Roccheri &

Matranga, 2010). For this reason, I selected it as a valuable model organism, and I used it to approach different questions and limitations.

Conventional ecotoxicity tests are useful for identifying the harmful effects of a single pollutant on a model species but, as main limit, they do not consider the impact of a mixture of pollutants, which are commonly found in the environment (Hellou, 2011). To fully understand the impacts of complex combinations of contaminants, I proposed the introduction of mesocosm experiments as a new method of investigation, to test the physiological responses of individuals and communities in a more realistic environment. In my study, an experimental mesocosm set-up was used to investigate the effects of organic pollution on the health and reproduction on P. lividus. The results we obtained showed that the mesocosm (Recirculating Aquaculture System - RAS) tanks, which had limited water volume and no water changes, experienced a gradual deterioration of water quality, leading to stress responses and mortality events in the sea urchins. We found that the progressive increase of organic pollution affected the reproduction success of P. lividus, leading to morphological malformations, detected also by alterations in expression of genes in key pathways, in their offspring. These findings demonstrated the real potential of using realistic mesocosm experiments and molecular analyses to understand the impacts of complex combinations of contaminants on marine ecosystems and their need to lead for effective management strategies to protect them.

It is important to highlight the potential of the integration of the molecular approach in studies of various fields. The molecular approach in fact can improve them in several ways:

i) Selectivity: Molecular methods can also be used to specifically target and measure the presence or expression of genes associated with a particular physiological or biochemical

response, providing more detailed information on the specific effects of a pollutant or chemical on an organism.

ii) Sensitivity and early detection: By measuring changes at the molecular level, ecotoxicity tests can detect the effects of pollutants or chemicals before they cause visible damage, allowing for early intervention and management.

iii) Non-invasive: Molecular methods can be used to detect a response also without harm to the marine organisms (in our case had we sacrificed only a small part of the larvae obtained from the tested adults).

Additionally, *P. lividus* larvae are an important resource for scientific research as well as for aquaculture, as they are easy to maintain in the laboratory and have a consistent developmental program that is easy to follow (Castilla-Gavilán et al., 2018; Zupo et al., 2018). According to the potential results obtained with the introduction of the approach from different fields, I chose to investigate, for the first time through a molecular approach, the impact of maternal influences and culture conditions on the development and growth of this sea urchin offspring. In my study I found that both the maternal effects and the size of the culture tanks are critical to determine the reproductive success of this species, but the influence of the latter overwhelms that of the former.

Additionally, the study found that molecular analysis of the gene expression could be used as an indicator of stressful conditions for sea urchins and other marine invertebrates. We strongly believe that these findings will be useful for developing successful culture protocols for *P. lividus* for both research and commercial aquaculture purposes, but still further research is needed to improve yields and understand all the causes and effects on the urchins' development and survival.

Previous research indicated *P. lividus* as a suitable model organism for biotechnological studies such as investigating the potential of algal metabolites (Ruocco et al., 2018). The

259

activity of these compounds is typically tested on target model organisms using biological assays, and bioassays-guided fractionation are used to isolate, characterize, and study them to proceed for further investigate their potential applications.

Indeed, traditional approach involves observing the behaviour of target animals forced to graze on them, but this method may reveal limitations, particularly in terms of how the compounds must be administered through suitable feeds and supplements and how to preserve their characteristics María et al., 2014 (María et al., 2014).

To this end, we tested a new approach for administering algal extracts to P. lividus as a model organism. Encapsulation techniques were proposed as an innovative method to preserve the active compounds and administer them to an aquatic model organism. Furthermore, this technique was tested with two types of benthic diatoms, and I investigated their effects when included in alginate matrices and fed to the sea urchins. The results confirm activity already preciously noticed, demonstrating that this inclusion in alginate beads was able to perfectly preserve diatoms characteristics. This means that this method may be a useful technique for isolating diatom-derived bioactive compounds. Ultimately, we concentrated on exploring the potential of incorporating a molecular approach in other areas of research. For this reason, we aimed to investigate the potential of using a molecular approach to better understand the mechanisms involved in the correlation between the early sexual shift in the shrimp Hippolyte inermis and the ingestion of *Cocconeis* spp. diatom, with the ultimate goal of optimizing the protocol for earlier identification of the molecular structure of the active compound. Traditional bioassays to identify this compound are a long and complex process that require significant manual labour, and also present difficulties such as the difficulty in finding enough ovigerous females and the risk of stress and altered biological response in the shrimp during the long culture period (Zupo & Messina, 2007). To address these limitations, we proposed a molecular approach to early track the presence of the active compound in shrimp post larvae (five days after the settlement), which could significantly optimize the time and number of bioassays needed to identify the molecular structure of the apoptogenic compound. This could also lead to medical applications, such as developing new natural drugs for human anticancer therapies (Nappo et al., 2012).

To validate our approach we aimed at identifying key genes and molecular pathways involved in sexual differentiation by detecting the expression levels of these genes and comparing them to results obtained from the recently published transcriptome (Levy et al., 2021). Our results confirmed the expected patterns of expression, supporting our hypothesis that this new approach can support the traditional bioassay and lead to improvement in the investigations on these species and their peculiar correlation. According to the specific goals of my thesis, I also focused on the development of innovative automatic culture techniques for aquatic model organisms. In fact, the use of smart monitoring and automation in marine environments and model organism culture is already a main part in the intent to revolutionize the way we manage and exploit these resources, but further research are still needed to fully realize their potential.

For this reason, in Section 3, I delved deeper into the implementation of automatic culture techniques for aquatic model organisms. These organisms, both animal and plant, are widely used in biological research to understand the functions of life forms and in aquaculture as live foods or as targets of production. Therefore, it is important to develop flexible, programmable, and modular culture systems that facilitate the automatic production of demanding species, both for scientific and aquaculture purposes (Mutalipassi et al., 2018). In fact, the use of these devices can greatly reduce production costs and the need for personnel and fixed setups by consistently and cost-effectively repeating standard operations with high precision.

In the system outlined in chapter 7, an existing and patented system was employed and focused on its optimization to make it applicable to innovative cultures. The aim was to obtain a culture system that meets the needs of the species while minimizing the involvement of experienced biologists for daily maintenance. Data was collected on the growth and health conditions of *Botryllus schlosseri* juveniles and adult colonies to compare the results from our automatic system versus traditional system consisting of simple tanks relying on operator maintenance. Results showed significant improvements in growth rates and health status of the specimens in both life stages when using the automatic system compared to the traditional system. The automatic system also resulted in higher survival rates and better water quality. This suggests that the automatic system may be a solution to automate and simplify the rearing of small invertebrates in different life stages in the laboratory.

According to this evidence, in chapter 8, I aimed at devising a quite new system with a technologically advanced central control unit (CR1000X data logger). As previously argued, a multidisciplinary approach and collaboration from multiple fields of study can revolutionize the way to face a research demand and can also lead to the development of new and innovative techniques. In line with this goal, we collaborated with a team of engineers to make it possible. The Datalogger CR1000X is a useful tool for monitoring and controlling the culture of aquatic model organisms, with its real-time data collection and analysis capabilities and its ability to detect and alert to potential problems. Our preliminary results also confirm that CR1000X is a potential valuable tool for automating and improving the culture of aquatic model organisms. Our tests also highlighted that while commercial sensors were used due to their lower cost, they did require additional programming steps to increase accuracy. This suggests that researchers should be aware of the trade-offs between cost and accuracy when choosing sensors for their projects.

Moreover, the system described in this study, although currently set up for small tanks, can be considered a potential valuable tool for aquaculture as well. The system is flexible and can be used to monitor fish farming tanks of different sizes, and can also be supplemented with other parameters such as conductivity, salinity, and chlorophyll which are important for the healthy development of the animals and relevant for the market.

Future studies will be needed to fully explore the potential of this technology and to identify best practices for using the CR1000X in aquatic culture systems. We are currently working on testing the efficiency of this automatic with the culture of *Idotea baltica* as a model organism.

References

- Boudouresque, C. F., & Verlaque, M. (2001). Ecology of *Paracentrotus lividus*. In *Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science* (Vol. 32, Issue C). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-9309(01)80013-2
- Boudouresque, C. F., & Verlaque, M. (2020). Paracentrotus lividus. Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science, 43, 447–485. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-819570-3.00026-3
- Castilla-Gavilán, M., Buzin, F., Cognie, B., Dumay, J., Turpin, V., & Decottignies, P. (2018). Optimising microalgae diets in sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* larviculture to promote aquaculture diversification. *Aquaculture*, 490, 251–259.
- Edquist, C. (2004). Reflections on the systems of innovation approach. *Science and Public Policy*, *31*(6). https://doi.org/10.3152/147154304781779741
- Hellou, J. (2011). Behavioural ecotoxicology, an "early warning" signal to assess environmental quality. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-010-0367-2
- Hubbell, B. J., Kaufman, A., Rivers, L., Schulte, K., Hagler, G., Clougherty, J., Cascio, W., & Costa, D. (2018). Understanding social and behavioral drivers and impacts of air quality sensor use. In *Science of the Total Environment* (Vol. 621). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.275
- Lacroix, D., David, B., Lamblin, V., de Menthière, N., de Lattre-Gasquet, M., Guigon, A., Jannès-Ober, E., Hervieu, H., Potier, F., Ragain, G., & Hoummady, M. (2016).
 Interactions between oceans and societies in 2030: Challenges and issues for research. *European Journal of Futures Research*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40309-016-0089-x
- Levy, T., Zupo, V., Mutalipassi, M., Somma, E., Ruocco, N., Costantini, M., Abehsera, S., Manor, R., Chalifa-Caspi, V., Sagi, A., & Aflalo, E. D. (2021). Protandric Transcriptomes

to Uncover Parts of the Crustacean Sex-Differentiation Puzzle. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.745540

- María, F. C., Natalia, V., M. Carmen, L., & Luis M., B. (2014). Sensitivity improvement of an immuno-detection method for azaspiracids based on the use of microspheres coupled to a flow-fluorimetry system. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 1. https://doi.org/10.3389/conf.fmars.2014.02.00166
- Maul, A. (2017). Rethinking Traditional Methods of Survey Validation. *Measurement*, 15(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/15366367.2017.1348108
- Milojevic, S. (2014). Principles of scientific research team formation and evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 111(11). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1309723111
- Muller-Karger, F. E., Miloslavich, P., Bax, N. J., Simmons, S., Costello, M. J., Pinto, I. S., Canonico, G., Turner, W., Gill, M., Montes, E., Best, B. D., Pearlman, J., Halpin, P., Dunn, D., Benson, A., Martin, C. S., Weatherdon, L. v., Appeltans, W., Provoost, P., ... Geller, G. (2018). Advancing marine biological observations and data requirements of the complementary Essential Ocean Variables (EOVs) and Essential Biodiversity Variables (EBVs) frameworks. In *Frontiers in Marine Science* (Vol. 5, Issue JUN). https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00211
- Mutalipassi, M., di Natale, M., Mazzella, V., & Zupo, V. (2018). Automated culture of aquatic model organisms: shrimp larvae husbandry for the needs of research and aquaculture. *Animal : An International Journal of Animal Bioscience*, 12(1), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731117000908
- Nappo, M., Berkov, S., Massucco, C., di Maria, V., Bastida, J., Codina, C., Avila, C., Messina, P., Zupo, V., & Zupo, S. (2012). Apoptotic activity of the marine diatom *Cocconeis scutellum* and eicosapentaenoic acid in BT20 cells. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 50(4). https://doi.org/10.3109/13880209.2011.611811
- Payne, R. W. (2006). New and traditional methods for the analysis of unreplicated experiments. *Crop Science*, 46(6). https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2006.04.0273
- Penesyan, A., Kjelleberg, S., & Egan, S. (2010). Development of novel drugs from marine surface associated microorganisms. *Marine Drugs*, 8(3), 438–459. https://doi.org/10.3390/md8030438
- Pinto, M. F. (2019). Scientific ignorance: Probing the limits of scientific research and knowledge production. *Theoria (Spain)*, 34(2). https://doi.org/10.1387/theoria.19329
- Roccheri, M. C., & Matranga, V. (2010). Cellular, biochemical and molecular effects of cadmium on marine invertebrates: Focus on *Paracentrotus lividus* sea urchin development. In *Cadmium in the Environment*.
- Ruocco, N., Costantini, S., Zupo, V., Lauritano, C., Caramiello, D., Ianora, A., Budillon, A., Romano, G., Nuzzo, G., & D'Ippolito, G. (2018). Toxigenic effects of two benthic diatoms upon grazing activity of the sea urchin: Morphological, metabolomic and de novo transcriptomic analysis. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1–13.
- Schiffer, D. (2005). The limits of scientific research. *Neurological Sciences*, 25(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-004-0371-8

- Zupo, V., Glaviano, F., Caramiello, D., & Mutalipassi, M. (2018). Effect of five benthic diatoms on the survival and development of *Paracentrotus lividus* post-larvae in the laboratory. *Aquaculture*, 495, 13–20.
- Zupo, V., & Messina, P. (2007). How do dietary diatoms cause the sex reversal of the shrimp *Hippolyte inermis* Leach (Crustacea, Decapoda). *Marine Biology*, *151*(3), 907–917. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00227-006-0524-9

Aknowledgments

Vorrei anzitutto ringraziare il Dottor Valerio Zupo per il suo supporto durante questo progetto di dottorato. Vorrei ringraziarlo per aver incoraggiato la mia ricerca e per avermi permesso di crescere dal punto di vista scientifico e professionale. Lo ringrazio per il suo contributo di tempo ed idee, per avermi fatto capire l'importanza di affrontare un problema con una visione d'insieme ampia, creativa e semplice.

Vorrei ringraziare la Dottoressa Maria Costantini, per la sua guida esperta, l'immensa disponibilità ed i consigli fondamentali per lo svolgimento di questo progetto, per la solidarietà e l'incoraggiamento con cui mi ha aiutato ad affrontare ogni problema.

Ringrazio la Professoressa Anna Di Cosmo, che merita la mia riconoscenza per la sua completa disponibilità, il supporto e per l'aiuto fornito durante la ricerca.

Ringrazio i ricercatori e lo staff intero dell'Ischia Marine Centre per il loro supporto intellettuale ed umano, e per l'aiuto sempre disponibile. Ringrazio anche il centro Echinos di Procida per l'accoglienza e la disponibilità.

Vorrei anche esprimere la mia profonda gratitudine al Dottor Mirko Mutalipassi per il suo supporto paziente, incoraggiamento entusiasta e per aver creduto in me e nelle mie capacità. Non potrò mai ringraziarlo abbastanza per il suo sostegno, per essere riuscito a motivarmi e stimolarmi a dare il meglio, per essere stato un esempio in laboratorio, nell'approccio al mondo della ricerca e non solo; lo ringrazio per essere stato disponibile ad aiutarmi a tutte le ore di qualsiasi giorno. Non avrei potuto chiedere un amico, un collega ed un esempio migliore.

Inoltre, desidero ringraziare i colleghi che hanno reso speciali questi anni. Senza la presenza di amici e compagni di laboratorio che mi hanno offerto il loro aiuto in ogni occasione, questi anni di lavoro e crescita non sarebbero stati possibili. Il dottorato è un periodo estremamente impegnativo e costituisce una costante sfida. Sebbene rappresenti un percorso di grande crescita personale e professionale, può anche richiedere molto non solo in termini di tempo ed energie, ma anche a livello personale. Proprio per questo motivo le amicizie e i legami che ho avuto la fortuna di costruire in questi anni sono estremamente preziosi per me, sia all'interno che al di fuori del laboratorio. Gli istanti trascorsi sorseggiando caffè, i pranzi e le cene in compagnia, i sorrisi e il tempo trascorso a studiare e lavorare insieme sono diventati per me dei veri e propri tesori. Abbiamo attraversato momenti di grande tensione ma anche di grande euforia, condividendo tutte queste emozioni in un clima di amicizia e collaborazione.

Vorrei esprimere la mia gratitudine in particolare a Marco, Nadia, Giulia, Sara, Roberta, Serena, Annarita, Luigi, Anna, Emanuele, Alice, Antonia e Valerio.

E, per concludere, desidero esprimere la mia gratitudine a tutte le persone che mi hanno sostenuto durante questo percorso e che hanno contribuito a rendere questi anni di crescita così significativi. Sia la mia famiglia biologica allargata che quella acquisita, amici e persone speciali hanno fatto la differenza. Non è stato un percorso facile, ma è grazie soprattutto a voi che ho raggiunto questo traguardo. Un ultimo ringraziamento in particolare a mio Padre per essere rimasto una roccia al mio fianco, ed a mia Madre. Anche se non ci sei più, spero di averti resa fiera.